Fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations, volume II?

Edited by Mahmoud Salama, Yasmin Jayasinghe and Asma Chattha

Published in Frontiers in Endocrinology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-4472-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-4472-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations, volume II?

Topic editors

Mahmoud Salama — Michigan State University, United States Yasmin Jayasinghe — The University of Melbourne, Australia Asma Chattha — Mayo Clinic, United States

Citation

Salama, M., Jayasinghe, Y., Chattha, A., eds. (2024). *Fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations, volume II*? Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-4472-3

Table of contents

04 Editorial: Fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations, volume II

Mahmoud Salama and Yasmin Jayasinghe

- 07 Survey of understanding and awareness of fertility preservation in pediatric patients: Is conversation about fertility preservation unpleasant for pediatric patients? Seido Takae, Yuriko Iwahata, Yodo Sugishita, Hideyuki Iwahata, Ryo Kanamori, Eriko Shiraishi, Kaoru Ito, Yuki Suzuki, Yoshiko Yamaya, Kunihide Tanaka, Kei Oyama, Dai Keino, Kentaro Nakamura, Kei Odawara, Yuki Horage, Lingbo Meng, Arby Igualada, Ahmad Mohd Faizal, Ludmilla Ogouma Aworet, Shigeyuki Furuta,
 - Miki Sakamoto, Tetsuya Mori, Hiroaki Kitagawa and Nao Suzuki
- 17 Trends and outcomes of fertility preservation for girls, adolescents and young adults with Turner syndrome: A prospective cohort study

Kenny A. Rodriguez-Wallberg, Fotios Sergouniotis, Hanna P. Nilsson and Frida E. Lundberg

25 Ovarian tissue cryopreservation in the pediatric with rare diseases- experience from China's first and the largest ovarian tissue cryobank

Xiangyan Ruan, Jiaojiao Cheng, Juan Du, Fengyu Jin, Muqing Gu, Rui Ju, Yurui Wu, Long Li, Yuejiao Wang, Lingling Jiang, Yu Yang, Yanqiu Li, Zecheng Wang, Jun Ma, Mingzhen Zhang and Alfred O. Mueck

- 32 Fertility preservation in pediatric healthcare: a review Lin Chen, Zirui Dong and Xiaoyan Chen
- 51 National oncofertility registries around the globe: a pilot survey

Noelle Ozimek, Mahmoud Salama and Teresa K. Woodruff

57 Setup of a cryobank for ovarian tissue in a university-based setting

Dunja M. Baston-Büst, Iwona Scheliga and Alexandra P. Bielfeld

63 Ovarian stimulation and oocyte cryopreservation in females and transgender males aged 18 years or less: a systematic review

> Marnie Slonim, Michelle Peate, Kira Merigan, Daniel Lantsberg, Richard A. Anderson, Kate Stern, Debra Gook and Yasmin Jayasinghe

77 Case Report: Longitudinal follow-up and testicular sperm extraction in a patient with a pathogenic *NR5A1* (SF-1) frameshift variant: p.(Phe70Serfs*5)

> Jordan Teoli, Delphine Mallet, Lucie Renault, Claire-Lise Gay, Elsa Labrune, Patricia Bretones, Sandrine Giscard D'Estaing, Béatrice Cuzin, Frédérique Dijoud, Florence Roucher-Boulez and Ingrid Plotton

86 Human immature testicular tissue organ culture: a step towards fertility preservation and restoration

Nagham Younis, Andre L. Caldeira-Brant, Tianjiao Chu, Shtaywy Abdalla and Kyle E. Orwig

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Sally Radovick, Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Mahmoud Salama Salamam2@msu.edu

RECEIVED 17 January 2024 ACCEPTED 25 January 2024 PUBLISHED 01 February 2024

CITATION

Salama M and Jayasinghe Y (2024) Editorial: Fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations, volume II. *Front. Endocrinol.* 15:1372225. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2024.1372225

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Salama and Jayasinghe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations, volume II

Mahmoud Salama¹* and Yasmin Jayasinghe^{2,3,4}

¹Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Biology, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, United States, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Melbourne, Royal Women's Hospital, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³Oncofertility Program, Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁴Murdoch Children's Research Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

KEYWORDS

oncofertility, cancer, fertility preservation, pediatric, adolescent

Editorial on the Research Topic

Fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations, volume II

The Frontiers in Endocrinology Research Topic on fertility preservation (FP) in the pediatric and adolescent populations invited authors from across the globe to participate in the dissemination of knowledge and awareness regarding the best fertility preservation principles in the pediatric and adolescent populations.

This Research Topic serves as a dedicated research publication, or part thereof, to highlight the important aspects of missing research information in pediatric and adolescent fertility preservation programs and aims to advance the science considerably. Since many centers, nationally and internationally, are not even aware of best practice guidelines for pediatric and adolescent fertility preservation in children and adolescents facing fertility threatening diagnoses and treatment plans, disseminating knowledge regarding the same in both providers and thus the population at large, is much needed.

The importance of FP is being increasingly recognized, with many international guidelines now removing the lower age limit for offering FP (1-4). This Research Topic demonstrates the significant knowledge gains in oncofertility that continue to be achieved in the young population.

A review by Chen et al. demonstrates the continuing progress in fertility preservation technologies. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation is deemed innovative, however continues to advance with over 200 births estimated to have been achieved by 2020 (5), with average live birth rates around 23% (6). Consecutive pregnancies (the highest being four) from the same graft have been seen, making it a very efficient fertility preservation method (7). Research efforts to protect against malignant contamination after tissue grafting are ongoing. Recurrence of malignancy has been reported in 3.9-7%, and none thought to be related to the ovarian tissue grafting process (8, 9).

Recent cases of successful prepubertal oocyte collection have been reported (in a 7year-old patient with Turner's mosaicism who collected 6 oocytes (10), and a transgender male under 12 years who collected 9 oocytes) (11) raising questions about best fertility preservation options for young birth-assigned female patients. This is addressed further in the first systematic review of oocyte collection in 468 females and transgender males \leq 18 years (median age 15.2 years) by Slonim et al.. The majority of stimulation cycles (96.3%) successfully obtained oocytes and complications were rare. The highest success was seen in the transgender population (compared to those about to receive gonadotoxic therapy or those with Turner syndrome). Only one live birth from cryopreserved oocytes has been reported in this age group (12), with the authors recommending that oocyte collection in post-pubertal adolescents be regarded as innovative, while for prepubertal patients it should be considered experimental due to unknown oocyte quality.

For birth-assigned males, over 1000 testicular tissue biopsies were reported by 2020 (13). However successful human birth after testicular tissue cryopreservation has not been seen. Following on from the success of the first primate birth in 2019 (14), Younis et al. describe *in vitro* maturation of immature testicular tissue from both pre and peripubertal males to primary spermatocyte stage after being maintained in organotypic culture for 32 days. While complete spermatogenesis was not seen, these findings provide increasing hope that by the time a prepubertal male reaches adulthood, realistic attempts at parenthood may be made.

Populations who can potentially benefit from fertility preservation procedures continue to expand. In this Research Topic, Rodriguez-Wallberg et al. reported on outcomes of 100 women with Turner syndrome and recommend referral for fertility preservation counselling after onset of puberty to maximize yield. Follicles were seen in 25% of ovarian tissue biopsies analyzed and were more likely present in adolescents compared to prepubertal children or adults. Similarly, reports on quality of ovarian and testicular biopsies in those with rare diagnoses such as mucopolysaccharidoses and Diamond Blackfan syndrome and disorders of sexual differentiation (frameshift mutations) are reported by Ruan et al. and Teoli et al. respectively, which can further help clinicians with fertility preservation counselling for these patients.

One of the most complex aspects of fertility preservation in children is the triadic nature of decision making (between the parent, patient and the clinician). The clinician plays an important role assessing comorbidities, mitigating risk and communicating clear and unbiased medical recommendations to families in order to support informed decision-making. Parents who are the surrogate decision makers for younger children may experience conflict and concern around making choices that might be incongruent with the child's future wishes (15). In this new Frontiers Research Topic Takae et al. report findings from a novel study examining comprehension and attitudes of children and adolescents towards fertility preservation before and after ageappropriate explanation, tailored to the understanding of the individual child. This included the use of storytelling for very



Ovarian tissue cryopreservation process from laparoscopic biopsy (A), (overnight) transport (B), to preparation and freezing of the cortical biopsies (C–J) (Baston-Büst et al.).

young children. The majority of participants were females with median age of 14 (6-17) years. Before the intervention, the majority of children under 11 years (63.4%) did not know if they wanted children in the future and were non-committal about learning about fertility preservation options, but this changed after education, with over 90% wanting to hear more about fertility preservation options. While children should not be relied upon to take responsibility or consent to fertility preservation procedures, for those who are submature and have some understanding, it is appropriate to have their agreement or at least not have their disagreement prior to having a surgical intervention.

Finally, implementation of fertility preservation programs and cryobanks is another priority in order to address disparities in care (16). In this Research Topic Baston-Büst et al. discuss their stepwise approach for implementing a cryobank in Germany in a university-based setting, including engagement of keystakeholders and development of standard operating procedures for ovarian tissue cryopreservation (Figure 1). Quality assurance and audit is a regulation in most laboratories but should also be part of any clinical fertility preservation program through the development of national oncofertility registries to enable collaboration and meaningful evaluation of long-term outcomes of fertility preservation interventions. Accordingly, Ozimek et al. concluded that although oncofertility services are expanding globally, very few countries have well-established official national oncofertility registries. The authors highlight the urgent need for having a well-established official national oncofertility registry in each country to monitor oncofertility services in a way that best serves patients.

References

1. Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Taylor HS, et al. Fertility preservation in patients with cancer: ASCO clinical practice guideline update. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(19):1994–2001. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.1914

2. Lambertini M, Peccatori FA, Demeestere I, Amant F, Wyns C, Stukenborg JB, et al. Fertility preservation and post-treatment pregnancies in post-pubertal cancer patients: ESMO clinical practice guidelines(dagger). *Ann Oncol* (2020) 31(12):1664–78. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.09.006

3. ESHRE Guideline Group on Female Fertility Preservation, Anderson RA, Amant F, Braat D, D'Angelo A, Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM, et al. ESHRE guideline: Female fertility preservation. *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020(4):hoaa052. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoaa052

 Suzuki N. Clinical practice guidelines for fertility preservation in pediatric, adolescent, and young adults with cancer. Int J Clin Oncol (2019) 24(1):20–7. doi: 10.1007/s10147-018-1269-4

5. Dolmans MM, Falcone T, Patrizio P. Importance of patient selection to analyze in *vitro* fertilization outcome with transplanted cryopreserved ovarian tissue. *Fertil Steril* (2020) 114(2):279–80. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.04.050

 Donnez J, Dolmans MM, Diaz C, Pellicer A. Ovarian cortex transplantation: time to move on from experimental studies to open clinical application. *Fertil Steril* (2015) 104(5):1097–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.08.005

7. Meirow D, Ra'anani H, Shapira M, Brenghausen M, Derech Chaim S, Aviel-Ronen S, et al. Transplantations of frozen-thawed ovarian tissue demonstrate high reproductive performance and the need to revise restrictive criteria. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106(2):467-74. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.04.031

 Dolmans MM, von Wolff M, Poirot C, Diaz-Garcia C, Cacciottola L, Boissel N, et al. Transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in a series of 285 women: a review of five leading European centers. *Fertil Steril* (2021) 115(5):1102–5. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2021.03.008

Author contributions

MS: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. YJ: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Acknowledgments

We'd like to thank all of the authors who submitted to this Research Topic and the expert reviewers who helped shape this Research Topic.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. YJ is funded by the Royal Children's Hospital Foundation and the Medical Research Future fund MRFAR0000308.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Jensen AK, Kristensen SG, Macklon KT, Jeppesen JV, Fedder J, Ernst E, et al. Outcomes of transplantations of cryopreserved ovarian tissue to 41 women in Denmark. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(12):2838–45. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev230

10. Azem F, Brener A, Malinger G, Reches A, Many A, Yogev Y, et al. Bypassing physiological puberty, a novel procedure of oocyte cryopreservation at age 7: a case report and review of the literature. *Fertil Steril* (2020) 114(2):374–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.03.009

11. Barrett F, Shaw J, Blakemore JK, Fino ME. Fertility preservation for adolescent and young adult transmen: A case series and insights on oocyte cryopreservation. *Front Endocrinol* (2022) 13:873508. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.873508

12. Kim TJ, Hong SW. Successful live birth from vitrified oocytes after 5 years of cryopreservation. J Assist Reprod Genet (2011) 28(1):73-6. doi: 10.1007/s10815-010-9487-3

13. Goossens E, Jahnukainen K, Mitchell RT, van Pelt A, Pennings G, Rives N, et al. Fertility preservation in boys: recent developments and new insights (†). *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020(3):hoaa016. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoaa016

14. Fayomi AP, Peters K, Sukhwani M, Valli-Pulaski H, Shetty G, Meistrich ML, et al. Autologous grafting of cryopreserved prepubertal rhesus testis produces sperm and offspring. *Science* (2019) 363(6433):1314–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aav2914

15. Jayasuriya S, Peate M, Allingham C, Li N, Gillam L, Zacharin M, et al. Satisfaction, disappointment and regret surrounding fertility preservation decisions in the pediatric and adolescent cancer population. *J Assist Reprod Genet JARG* (2019) 36 (9):1805–22. doi: 10.1007/s10815-019-01536-4

16. Rashedi AS, de Roo SF, Ataman LM, Edmonds ME, Silva AA, Scarella A, et al. Survey of fertility preservation options available to patients around the globe. *JCO Global Oncol* (2020) 6:JGO.2016.008144. doi: 10.1200/JGO.2016.008144 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mahmoud Salama,

Mahmoud Salama, Michigan State University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Alison Ting, Oregon Health and Science University, United States Achmad Kemal Harzif, University of Indonesia, Indonesia Seul Ki Kim, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, South Korea

*CORRESPONDENCE Nao Suzuki Mao@marianna-u.ac.jp

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 19 October 2022 ACCEPTED 05 December 2022 PUBLISHED 06 January 2023

CITATION

Takae S, Iwahata Y, Sugishita Y, Iwahata H, Kanamori R, Shiraishi E, Ito K, Suzuki Y, Yamaya Y, Tanaka K, Oyama K, Keino D, Nakamura K, Odawara K, Horage Y, Meng L, Igualada A, Faizal AM, Aworet LO, Furuta S, Sakamoto M, Mori T, Kitagawa H and Suzuki N (2023) Survey of understanding and awareness of fertility preservation in pediatric patients: Is conversation about fertility preservation unpleasant for pediatric patients? *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1074603. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1074603

Survey of understanding and awareness of fertility preservation in pediatric patients: Is conversation about fertility preservation unpleasant for pediatric patients?

Seido Takae¹, Yuriko Iwahata¹, Yodo Sugishita¹, Hideyuki Iwahata¹, Ryo Kanamori¹, Eriko Shiraishi^{1,2}, Kaoru Ito¹, Yuki Suzuki¹, Yoshiko Yamaya¹, Kunihide Tanaka³, Kei Oyama³, Dai Keino^{4,5}, Kentaro Nakamura¹, Kei Odawara¹, Yuki Horage¹, Lingbo Meng¹, Arby Igualada¹, Ahmad Mohd Faizal^{1,6}, Ludmilla Ogouma Aworet¹, Shigeyuki Furuta³, Miki Sakamoto⁶, Tetsuya Mori⁷, Hiroaki Kitagawa³ and Nao Suzuki^{1*}

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, St. Marianna University School of Medicine, Kawasaki, Kanagawa, Japan, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The Jikei University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan, ³Department of Pediatric Surgery, St. Marianna University School of Medicine, Kawasaki, Japan, ⁴Department of Hematology and Oncology Pediatric Department Kanagawa Children's Medical Center, Yokohama, Kanagawa, Japan, ⁵Department of Pediatrics, St. Marianna University School of Medicine, Kawasaki, Kanagawa, Japan, ⁶Department of ObGyn, UKM Medical Centre, Cheras, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, ⁷Department of Anesthesiology, St. Marianna University School of Medicine, Kawasaki, Kanagawa, Japan

Objective: To verify understanding and awareness of fertility preservation (FP) in pediatric patients undergoing FP treatments.

Methods: A questionnaire survey was conducted before and after explanation of fertility issues and FP treatments for patients 6–17 years old who visited or were hospitalized for the purpose of ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC) or oocyte cryopreservation (OC), or sperm cryopreservation between October 2018 and April 2022. This study was approved by the institutional review board at St. Marianna University School of Medicine (No. 4123, UMIN000046125).

Result: Participants in the study comprised 36 children (34 girls, 2 boys). Overall mean age was 13.3 ± 3.0 years. The underlying diseases were diverse, with leukemia in 14 patients (38.9%), brain tumor in 4 patients (11.1%). The questionnaire survey before the explanation showed that 19 patients (52.8%) wanted to have children in the future, but 15 (41.7%) were unsure of future wishes to raise children. And most children expressed some degree of

understanding of the treatment being planned for the underlying disease (34, 94.4%). Similarly, most children understood that the treatment would affect their fertility (33, 91.7%). When asked if they would like to hear a story about how to become a mother or father after FP which including information of FP, half answered "Don't mind" (18, 50.0%). After being provided with information about FP treatment, all participants answered that they understood the adverse effects on fertility of treatments for the underlying disease. Regarding FP treatment, 32 children (88.9%) expressed understanding for FP and 26 (72.2%) wished to receive FP. "Fear" and "Pain" and "Costs" were frequently cited as concerns about FP. Following explanations, 33 children (91.7%) answered "Happy I heard the story" and no children answered, "Wish I hadn't heard the story". Finally, 28 of the 34 girls (82.4%) underwent OTC and one girl underwent OC.

Discussion: The fact that all patients responded positively to the explanations of FP treatment is very informative. This is considered largely attributable to the patients themselves being involved in the decision-making process for FP.

Conclusions: Explanations of FP for children appear valid if age-appropriate explanations are provided.

KEYWORDS

fertility preservation, pediatric cancer, ovarian tissue cryopreservation, oocyte cryopreservation, oncofertility, children's response to fertility preservation explanations

1 Introduction

In recent years, interest in post-treatment quality of life and the late complications of cancer survivors has been increasing. Furthermore, with the aim of popularizing and developing fertility preservation (FP), the "Oncofertility Consortium" and "FertiPROTEKT" were established in 2006, followed by the International Society for Fertility Preservation in 2009, the Japan Society for Fertility Preservation (JSFP) in 2012, and the Asian Society for Fertility Preservation in 2015 (1). The importance of FP has also been recognized more widely in society, and public financial support for FP became available in Japan in 2021. The number of patients desiring FP is thus expected to increase in the future. In particular, the number of cases involving prepubertal children, for whom FP has been difficult to implement, seems likely to increase markedly. Further, major organizations such as the American Society of Clinical Oncology (2) (3) (4),, European Society of Medical Oncology (5), and European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (6) have all published FP guidelines, and in Japan, the Japan Society of Clinical Oncology and JSFP have jointly published FP guidelines (7) and were revising these guidelines as of October 2022. These advanced guidelines have eliminated lower age limits, but do not provide specific methods for implementing FP in infants and prepubertal children (8). This is understandable, since FP initially continued to develop technologically for adults such as breast cancer patients. However, since pediatric patients with blood diseases are increasingly major targets of FP measures, clarifying specific methods of dealing with pediatric patients is crucial. In fact, the spread of FP to pediatric patients is reportedly delayed in Asia compared to adult patients, due to difficulties with providing information, a lack of explanatory materials, and lack of cooperation with pediatricians (1). In addition, when a child receives information about FP in the first place, the intention of the parent has a substantial influence, and the parent may act as a barrier and not provide information to the child. Unsurprisingly, parents consider various factors such as the age of the child, the degree of intellectual development, context and timeline for decision-making, costs, the mental health of the child, the invasiveness of potential FP interventions, and culture. At some point, medical staff may finally arrive at the point of providing information on FP to the child (9). Few clinical studies

Abbreviations: FP, fertility preservation; OC, oocyte cryopreservation; OTC, ovarian tissue cryopreservation; GnRHa, gonadotropin releasing hormone agonist.

with comparisons to adults have been conducted, and no reports have described the psychological problems and comprehension of pediatric patients themselves due to the difficulties inherent in conducting such investigations.

We therefore undertook a preliminary survey on the perception of FP in pediatric patients, the degree of understanding of FP after provision of an explanation, and feelings toward FP. We believe that this survey will provide basic insights into the actual feelings of pediatric patients and should contribute to the implementation of high-quality FP for pediatric patients.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Patients

Participants in this study were children between 6 and 17 years old who visited our hospital for the purposes of FP consultation or who were hospitalized for the purpose of OTC between October 2018 and July 2022. All children had a malignant disease such as leukemia or a disease such as aplastic anemia or chronic active Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection, in which there was a possibility that treatment of the primary disease with chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy would greatly impair future fertility.

2.2 Explanation of FP

Before providing an explanation of FP, we gave the parents and child a leaflet created by the JSFP. After reading the leaflet, the parents and child were given an explanation about FP alike telling a story (suppl. 1). However, we did not verify whether parents had told the child about the contents of the leaflet before the explanation. During the actual explanation, a male FP doctor specializing in reproductive medicine (including FP) and endoscopic surgery subjectively evaluated the development status of child while talking with the child and explaining FP by drawing pictures on a piece of paper. So, the explanation of the FP seemed to tell the story. Moreover, it was remarkable when explaining to younger children. Also, he and young female assistant doctors also provided explanation using an original animated movie currently under development as a supplement. The method of explanation was changed taking into consideration not only age but also comprehension. Basically, after having girls in their teens and beyond puberty read the leaflet, we explained it including a certain degree of specialized knowledge. For elementary school students, we asked their parents to explain without reading the leaflet, and for younger children, we mainly explained with parable. When the subject of the explanation for FP was a girl, consideration was given to female doctors and nurses in attendance as much as possible, so that the explanation would not be given only by male doctors.

2.3 Questionnaire survey

Before and after the explanation of FP, a questionnaire survey was conducted to evaluate the feelings and perceptions of the child. There was no age-specific version of the survey, and for children who could not read or write sufficiently, parents explained the content and filled it out. Children who can read and write on their own were basically included while confirming the content with their parents. Most of the children after puberty checked the contents by themselves and answered by themselves. Therefore, it cannot be denied that the reliability of this survey declines with low age. The contents of questions before the explanation of FP consisted of 10 questions, including the sex and age of the child. The contents were "Do you know about the planned treatment for your illness?", "Do you know that treating your illness may make it harder for you to become a mother or father in the future?", and so on. Details of the questions before providing the explanation about FP are shown in Table 1. The number of questions posed after the explanation about FP was smaller than before the explanation, in consideration of the physical and mental burden of the child. There were 8 questions, with the contents designed to elucidate changes in knowledge, such as "Do you understand the effect of treatment for your illness on your chances of being a mother or father in the future?", and "Do you understand the medical technology to preserve your chances of being a mother or father in the future?", and so on. In addition, questions such as "Do you want to receive medical technology to preserve your chances of being a mother or father in the future?", and "After these explanations, have you noticed any change in your desire to become a mother or father?", were posed. Questions asking about the psychological state of the child, such as "Please tell us how you felt after listening to the story." were also set. Details of the questions after the explanation about FP are shown in Table 2. The questionnaires used in this study were evaluated and modified by the researchers and psychologists specializing in reproductive medicine and FP.

2.4 Ethical considerations

Since the content of the questions set in this study was very sensitive, the questionnaire was filled out with the parents after guaranteeing the right to refuse to answer at any time. In addition, the questionnaire was conducted under careful observation by the medical staff to see if the child exhibited

Pre	Questions	Answers		
Q1	Please tell me your gender.	(boy, girl)		
Q2	How old are you?	() years old		
Q3	Do you want to have your own children when you grow up? (Would you like to be a mother or father)?	(I really think so, I think so, I don't know yet, I don't think so, I really don't think so)		
Q4	Do you know about the planned treatment for your illness?	(Know well, Know, Know a little, Don't really know, Don't know anything)		
Q5*	Please indicate what you know about treatment for Q4.	(Surgery, Chemotherapy (drugs), Radiotherapy, Hematopoietic cell transplantation, Other, Don't know)		
Q6	Do you know that treating your illness may make it harder for you to become a mother or father in the future?	(Know well, Know, Know a little, Don't really know, Don't know anything)		
Q7	Do you know what you came to hear?	(Know well, Know, Know a little, Don't really know, Don't know anything)		
Q8	Would you like to hear a story about how to become a mother or father in the future (after FP)?	(Really want to hear, Want to hear, Don't mind, Don't really want to hear, Don't want to hear at all)		
Q9	Do you know that there are medical technologies that can help you become a mother or father in the future?	(Know well, Know, Know a little, Don't really know, Don't know anything)		
Q10*	Please indicate what treatments you know for Q9.	(OC, OTC, Ovarian suppression, Sperm cryopreservation, Testicular tissue cryopreservation, Gonadal shielding, Don't know)		
		*Multiple selections allowed		

TABLE 1 Questionnaire pre-explanation of fertility preservation.

OC, oocyte cryopreservation; OTC, ovarian tissue cryopreservation; FP, fertility preservation.

any physical or mental changes while answering the questionnaire. This study was conducted under the approval of the Institutional Review Board at St. Marianna University School of Medicine (approval no. 4123, UMIN000046125).

3 Results

3.1 Characteristics of patients

A total of 36 pediatric patients participated in this study, with a response rate of 100%. All children and parents agreed to participate in this study. Thirty-four of the 36 patients were girls and the other 2 were boys. The overall median age was 13.3 ± 3.0 years old. The median age of girls was 14 years (range, 6-17 years). The boys were 14 and 15 years old and the primary illness in both cases was ALL. Of these 36 patients, 11 were <11 years old (Group A), 9 were 12–14 years old (Group B), and 16 were 15–17 years old (Group C). Figure 1 shows the age distribution of study participants. In addition, the primary diseases of girls were diverse, with 14 leukemias (38.9%), 4 brain tumors (11.1%), 4 rhabdomyosarcomas (11.1%), 4 other sarcomas (11.1%, such as Ewing's sarcoma and osteosarcoma), and 3 malignant lymphomas (8.3%). In addition, anaplastic anemia was present in 2 children, and myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), mediastinal tumors, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), chronic active Epstein-Barr virus infection (CAEBV), and thalassemia in 1 patient each. Most were primary cases, but two patients (including one boy) were relapse cases. In addition, 25 patients (69.4%) were already undergoing chemotherapy at the time of their visit, and most of the remaining patients had already undergone surgery, immunosuppressant therapy, blood transfusion therapy, etc.; only one patient was completely untreated.

As a result of the explanation about FP, two boys chose sperm cryopreservation, but one was already suffering chemotherapy-induced azoospermia. In addition, 28 girls (82.4%) underwent OTC and one underwent OC, whereas two girls thought that treatment of the underlying disease would have no significant effect on their own ovarian reserve and decided to follow-up on ovarian reserve. Notably, one girl initially chose OTC and was hospitalized, but her feelings changed immediately before the procedure and she eventually declined to undergo OTC. In addition, two girls prioritized

Post	Questions	Answers
Q1	Do you understand the effect of treatment for your illness on your chances of being a mother or father in the future?	(Understand well, Understand, Understand a little, Don't really understand, Don't understand at all)
Q2	Do you understand the medical technology to preserve your chances of being a mother or father in the future?	(Understand well, Understand, Understand a little, Don't really understand, Don't understand at all)
Q3	Do you want to receive medical technology to preserve your chances of being a mother or father in the future?	(Really want to receive FP treatment, Maybe want to receive FP treatment, Don't know, Don't really want to receive FP treatment, Don't want to receive FP treatment at all)
Q4	Please indicate the medical technologies you may receive.	(OC, OTC, Ovarian suppression with GnRH agonist, Sperm cryopreservation, Testicular tissue cryopreservation, Gonadal shielding against radiation, Don't really understand)
Q5*	What are your concerns about receiving the treatment you selected in Q4?	(Fear, Worried about pain, Not sure what to do, Worried about costs, Don't want to be transferred, Don't understand the need for FP, Don't want to receive any more burdensome treatments, Worried but unsure why)
Q6	After these explanations, have you noticed any change in your desire to become a mother or father?	(Yes, No, Don't know)
Q7	If there were any changes in Q6, please tell us what they are.	(Greater desire to have children, Greater desire to not have children, Other)
Q8	Please tell us how you felt after listening to the story.	(Happy I heard the story, Wish I hadn't heard the story, Didn't really understand, Other)
		*Multiple selections allowed
		ns, concerns, and impressions of the child to the explanation were examined. P, fertility preservation, GnRH, gonadotropin-releasing hormone.

TABLE 2 Questionnaire post-explanation of fertility preservation.

treatment of the underlying disease and did not choose any FP. Generally, at our institution, OTC is performed by single-port laparoscopic surgery, and the most important thing is to perform minimally invasive and safe procedures based on the policy of reduced-port surgery.



3.2 Questionnaire survey results before explanation about FP

All children were able to answer about their age and biological sex (Q1 and 2). Regarding Q3 (desire to have children in the future), more than half of Groups B and C answered, "I really think so" or "I think so". However, although no negative answers were seen in the younger Group A, 7 children (63.6%) answered that "I don't know yet" (Figure 2A). Regarding Q4, in Groups B and C, patients knew the treatment for the underlying disease that they were planning to receive, but in Group A, 5 of the 11 respondents (45.5%) said they "Know a little". A small number of children were unaware of the treatment being planned (one patient each in Groups A and C) (Figure 2B). Q5 asked for details about the subsequent planned treatment. Of the 36 patients, 17 (47.2%) responded that the treatment would be surgical, 21 (58.3%) responded chemotherapy, 12 (33.3%) responded radiation therapy, and 8 (22.2%) responded hematopoietic cell transplantation (multiple answers allowed). In addition, most children understood that treatment for the underlying disease would adversely affect fertility (Q6), with 8 of 11 (72.2%) in younger Group A, 8 of 9 (88.9%) in Group B, and 12 of 16 (75%) in Group C answering that they "Know well" or "Know". In Group C, which is the



upper grades, the percentage of those answering "Know well" was high, at 5 of 16 children (31.2%). One child in each age group answered "Don't really know" or "Don't know anything" (Figure 2C). In Q7, which asked about the purpose of coming to our hospital, most children answered that they "Know well", "Know", or "Know a little" (Figure 3A). Regarding Q8, which asked whether they would like to hear explanation about the process from FP to assisted reproductive medicine, less than half of the children answered "Really want to hear" or "Want to hear", and many answered "Don't mind" (Figure 3B). This tendency was particularly noticeable in Groups A and B, who were younger, with 6 of 11 (54.5%) children in Group A and 5 of 9 (55.6%) children in Group B responding "Don't mind". Many children were aware of the existence of FP treatment (Q9), especially among the older children in Group C, and all were at least somewhat aware (Figure 3C). Regarding Q10, the most common FP treatments they knew of were OC (21 of 36, 58.3%) and OTC (18 of 36, 50.0%). Five patients were also aware of sperm cryopreservation (13.9%), including one boy, and three were aware of testicular tissue cryopreservation. All 4 girls who knew about sperm cryopreservation and all 3 girls who knew about testicular tissue cryopreservation were Group C girls. Regarding medical terminology, were given to the children by medical staffs or parents as appropriate. Therefore, there were no major difficulties in conducting present clinical studies

3.3 Questionnaire survey results after explanation about FP

After the explanation, most children understood the effects on fertility of the treatment for the underlying disease (post-Q1). None of the children answered, "Don't really understand" or "Don't understand at all" (Figure 4A). Regarding FP treatment, everyone answered that they understood to some degree, including "Understand a little" (post-Q2) (Figure 4B). When asked if they



patients, 11 were <12 years old (Group A), 9 were 12–14 years old (Group B), and 16 were 15–17 years old (Group C).



would like to receive FP treatment (post-Q3), 10 of 11 children (90.9%) in Group A, 8 of 9 children (88.9%) in Group B, and 9 of 16 (56.3%) in Group C answered they "Really want to receive FP treatment" or "Maybe want to receive FP treatment". In addition, a girl who answered that "Don't want to receive FP treatment at all" was not indicated for FP treatment because the treatment for the primary disease had not so large effect on fertility. A boy who answered "Don't really want to receive FP treatment" underwent sperm cryopreservation (Figure 4C). Regarding FP treatments that they may receive (post-Q4), 7 of 36 children (19.4%) responded "OC", 30 of 36 (83.3%) responded "OTC", 2 responded "Sperm

cryopreservation", and 2 responded "Ovarian suppression with GnRH agonist". In addition, no children answered, "Testicular tissue cryopreservation" or "Gonadal shielding against radiation", but 3 of 36 (8.3%) responded that "Don't really understand" (2 in Group A and 1 in Group C). Post-Q5 asked about anxiety factors related to FP treatment. Ten of the 36 children (27.8%) did not answer this question (Figure 5A). The most common anxiety factor was "Fear" (14 of 36, 38.9%), followed by "Worried about pain" (13 of 36, 36.1%). The next most common answer was "Worried about costs". Two of 11 respondents (18.1%) in Group A and 5 of 16 (31.3%) in Group C answered "Worried about costs". After



FIGURE 5

Questionnaire results after FP explanation (post-Q5 and 8). Key concerns about FP involved fear and pain, followed by financial concerns. No age-related differences were seen in these results (A: post-Q5). After the explanation, all children showed a positive reaction. The results also included patients (5 girls) who did not receive FP and the patients (one girl and boy) who responded that they did not wish to undergo FP (B: post- Q8). Of these 36 patients, 11 were <11 years old (Group A), 9 were 12–14 years old (Group B), and 16 were 15–17 years old (Group C). explaining about FP, only 3 children reported a change in their desire to have children, with a positive change in 2 of the 3 children, and no response in the remaining (post-Q6 and 7). Finally, in post-Q8, which asked about impressions of the explanations for FP, 33 of the 36 children (91.7%) answered "Happy I heard the story" and 2 children (6- and 11-year-old girls) from Group A answered, "Didn't really understand". None of the children answered, "Wish I hadn't heard the story" (Figure 5B).

4 Discussion

FP treatment for pediatric patients has gained popularity in recent years, and the number of cases has been increasing (10-14). This trend is spreading not only in Europe and the United States, but also throughout Asia and worldwide (15, 16). In addition, most reports have been on ovarian tissue freezing in pediatric FP, with only a few reports on OC or sperm freezing, as was the case in this study (17). Pediatric FP, whether OTC or OC, shows many scientific and medical differences from adult FP. The scientific aspects have been partially clarified with the gradual accumulation of knowledge about FP in children, but many years will be required to demonstrate its efficacy. Regarding medical care, pediatric patients reportedly often have systemic diseases, making OTC difficult to implement. Therefore, risk management at the time of surgery, ingenuity in surgical techniques, and cooperation among clinical departments have been shown to be necessary for success (18, 19). Particular attention should also be paid to ethical considerations, and due consideration of psychological issues is extremely important (14, 20). This study focused on and investigated psychological aspects of decision making for children considering FP, because the stress and fear of considering FP while battling a disease is likely to be much greater than that in adults. This is compounded by a lack of understanding or misunderstanding of FP due to the young age of the patients, underlying disease, and inadequate explanations from medical staff.

The results of this study showed that even minors who have not faced pregnancy, childbirth, or marriage have a strong desire to have children in the future (Q3). However, the lower the age, the more often the answer was "I don't know yet". Previous studies have reported that children over 12 years old have a strong desire to have genetic children, consistent with the present results (21). However, such results should be interpreted with caution as parental interventions cannot be ignored as a limitation of this study. In addition, in Q4 and Q5, a question was asked about the treatment being planned, and the proportion of those answering, "Know well" or "Know" increased with age. However, whether children understand correctly and how much detail they know has not been verified, so caution is also required regarding the interpretation of this result. Question 6 asked about the risk of impairing fertility during treatment of the underlying disease.

This was a question that could be psychologically stressful to children. As expected, the ratio of "Know well" and "Know" was high and increased with age. This indicates the possibility that the content of information provided by doctors who treat primary diseases changes according to age. Similarly, a tendency was seen for an increasing understanding of the reason for visiting the FP hospital and knowledge about FP with increasing age. However, when asked if they would like to hear an explanation about FP, a certain proportion of respondents answered "Don't mind". In fact, some children may not have been positive about FP. As a post-explanation questionnaire, questions were first asked about the effect of treatment for the primary disease on fertility and the understanding of FP treatment. The survey with post-Q1 and -Q2 found no answers of "Don't really understand" or "Don't understand at all", suggesting that basic understanding was relatively high in all age groups, showing the validity of providing explanations regarding FP. As in Q4 and Q5 above, this result has not been objectively confirmed. Therefore, one limitation is that the level of actual comprehension remains unclear. In addition, most children had not undergone objective evaluation of intelligence. Some diseases, such as brain tumors, cause developmental problems, and in this study only one patient with brain tumor (10 years old) had been tested for intelligence (Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, fourth edition). Intellectual development is an important factor that influences the significance of FP, and cannot be ignored, especially regarding FP for children. After the explanation of FP, willingness to receive FP was confirmed in post-Q3. Almost all children showed a willingness to undergo FP. The reason why children who were scheduled to undergo OTC also responded to OC was that the combined procedure was explained (post-Q4). In addition, since some respondents answered "Don't really understand" regardless of age, tools to promote better understanding seem desirable. In any case, the majority of positive responses were attributed to the participation of the child in their own decision-making (21-23). In addition to pain and fear, cost concerns were raised as an issue for FP (post-Q5). Economic problems have been reported as a typical barrier for adults (24, 25) and this result is very important, since children can struggle with financial problems for FP in the same manner as adults. In addition, in post-Q6, -Q7, and -Q8, the lack of negative reactions to the explanations about FP indicates that direct explanation about FP to children is not harmful, regardless of whether they undergo FP. This was attributed to the participation of the child in the decision-making process, as described above. However, in post-Q8, some children (ages 6 and 11) said they did not really understand, indicating a need to develop even higher quality explanation methods. Finally, as mentioned above, the results of this survey cannot deny the influence of parental intervention. In other words, it is possible that the child gave the answer that the parent wanted. Of course, we asked the parents not to impose their opinions on the

10.3389/fendo.2022.1074603

children, and basically only asked them to explain the questions. Therefore, it is presumed that the patient's intention is basically reflected. However, it was not possible to exclude completely the involvement of parents due to issues of ethics and comprehension, but in the future, it would be desirable to plan a survey that children can complete by themselves using devices such as tablets using age-appropriate animation. Such developmental research will reveal actual children's perceptions, understandings, and feelings. In addition, parental validation is important in research on FP for children. In terms of comprehension, perception, and attitude, I think we should also test our parents. Also, it is also necessary to collect more cases for boys. It is necessary to consider the differences between boys and girls in understanding and attitudes regarding fertility.

5 Conclusion

Categorically determining the lower age and intelligence limits at which explanations of FP can be understood is difficult. One challenge of pediatric FP is precisely the need to tailor explanations of procedures according to the understanding of the individual child.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation. Please contact Nao Suzuki, nao@marianna-u.ac.jp.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by institutional review board at St. Marianna University School of Medicine. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal

References

1. Takae S, Lee JR, Mahajan N, Wiweko B, Sukcharoen N, Novero V, et al. Fertility preservation for child and adolescent cancer patients in Asian countries. *Front endocrinol* (2019) 10:655. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00655

2. Lee SJ, Oktay K, Schover LR, Partridge AH, Patrizio P, Wallace WH, et al. ASCO recommendations on fertility preservation in cancer patients: Guideline summary. J Oncol Pract (2006) 2(3):143–6. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2006.2.3.143

3. Loren AW, Mangu PB, Beck LN, Brennan L, Magdalinski AJ, Partridge AH, et al. Fertility preservation for patients with cancer: American society of clinical oncology clinical practice guideline update. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(19):2500–10. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.49.2678

guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

ST drafted the manuscript. ST, SF, MS, YY, TM, HK and NS designed the research and contributed to the critical discussion. ST, YI, YoS, HI, RK, ES, KI, YuS, KT, KOy, DK, KN, KOd, YH, LM, AI, AF, LA contributed to collecting and analyzing data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by a research grant from the Kanto Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

4. Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Taylor HS, et al. Fertility preservation in patients with cancer: ASCO clinical practice guideline update. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(19):1994–2001. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.1914

5. Lambertini M, Peccatori FA, Demeestere I, Amant F, Wyns C, Stukenborg JB, et al. Fertility preservation and post-treatment pregnancies in post-pubertal cancer patients: ESMO clinical practice guidelines(dagger). *Ann Oncol* (2020) 31 (12):1664–78. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.09.006

6. Preservation EGGoFF, Anderson RA, Amant F, Braat D, D'Angelo A, Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM, et al. ESHRE guideline: Female fertility preservation. *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020(4):hoaa052. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoaa052

7. Suzuki N. Clinical practice guidelines for fertility preservation in pediatric, adolescent, and young adults with cancer. *Int J Clin Oncol* (2019) 24(1):20–7. doi: 10.1007/s10147-018-1269-4

8. McDougall RJ, Gillam L, Delany C, Jayasinghe Y. Ethics of fertility preservation for prepubertal children: Should clinicians offer procedures where efficacy is largely unproven? *J Med ethics* (2018) 44(1):27–31. doi: 10.1136/ medethics-2016-104042

9. Tishelman AC. Pediatric fertility counseling. J Adolesc Health (2019) 64 (5):547–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2019.02.004

10. Armstrong AG, Kimler BF, Smith BM, Woodruff TK, Pavone ME, Duncan FE. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation in young females through the oncofertility consortium's national physicians cooperative. *Future Oncol* (2018) 14(4):363–78. doi: 10.2217/fon-2017-0410

11. Lotz L, Barbosa PR, Knorr C, Hofbeck L, Hoffmann I, Beckmann MW, et al. The safety and satisfaction of ovarian tissue cryopreservation in prepubertal and adolescent girls. *Reprod biomed online* (2020) 40(4):547–54. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2020.01.009

12. Poirot C, Brugieres L, Yakouben K, Prades-Borio M, Marzouk F, de Lambert G, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation for fertility preservation in 418 girls and adolescents up to 15 years of age facing highly gonadotoxic treatment. twenty years of experience at a single center. *Acta obstetricia gynecologica Scandinavica* (2019) 98(5):630–7. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13616

13. Moravek MB, Appiah LC, Anazodo A, Burns KC, Gomez-Lobo V, Hoefgen HR, et al. Development of a pediatric fertility preservation program: A report from the pediatric initiative network of the oncofertility consortium. *J Adolesc Health* (2019) 64(5):563–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.10.297

14. Burns KC, Hoefgen H, Strine A, Dasgupta R. Fertility preservation options in pediatric and adolescent patients with cancer. *Cancer* (2018) 124(9):1867-1876. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31255

15. Ruan X, Cheng J, Du J, Jin F, Gu M, Li Y, et al. Analysis of fertility preservation by ovarian tissue cryopreservation in pediatric children in China. *Front endocrinol* (2022) 13:930786. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.930786

16. Takae S, Furuta S, Iwahataa H, Iwahata Y, Keino D, Kanamori R, et al. Cryopreservation of paediatric ovarian tissue with an updated version of the Edinburgh criteria for appropriate patient selection. *Reprod biomed online* (2022) 44(4):667–76. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2021.10.009

17. Abir R, Ben-Aharon I, Garor R, Yaniv I, Ash S, Stemmer SM, et al. Cryopreservation of *in vitro* matured oocytes in addition to ovarian tissue freezing for fertility preservation in paediatric female cancer patients before and after cancer therapy. *Hum reproduction* (2016) 31(4):750–62. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/dew007 18. Takae S, Furuta S, Keino D, Shiraishi E, Iwahata Y, Oyama K, et al. Surgical management of unilateral oophorectomy for ovarian tissue cryopreservation in high-risk children and adolescents with varied backgrounds. *Pediatr Surg Int* (2021) 37(8):1021–9. doi: 10.1007/s00383-021-04900-7

19. Rowell EE, Corkum KS, Lautz TB, Laronda MM, Walz AL, Madonna MB, et al. Laparoscopic unilateral oophorectomy for ovarian tissue cryopreservation in children. *J Pediatr surg* (2019) 54(3):543–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2018.06.005

20. Klipstein S, Fallat ME, Savelli S, Committee On B, Section On HO, Section On S. Fertility preservation for pediatric and adolescent patients with cancer: Medical and ethical considerations. *Pediatrics* (2020) 145(3):e20193994. doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-3994

21. Sullivan-Pyke CS, Carlson CA, Prewitt M, Gracia CR, Ginsberg JP. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC) in prepubertal girls and young women: An analysis of parents' and patients' decision-making. *J assisted Reprod Genet* (2018) 35 (4):593–600. doi: 10.1007/s10815-018-1123-7

22. Barlevy D, Wangmo T, Ash S, Elger BS, Ravitsky V. Oncofertility decision making: Findings from Israeli adolescents and parents. *J Adolesc young adult Oncol* (2019) 8(1):74–83. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2018.0016

23. Bayefsky M, Vieira D, Caplan A, Quinn G. Navigating parent-child disagreement about fertility preservation in minors: Scoping review and ethical considerations. *Hum Reprod update* (2022) 28(5):747–62. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmac019

24. Panagiotopoulou N, Ghuman N, Sandher R, Herbert M, Stewart JA. Barriers and facilitators towards fertility preservation care for cancer patients: a meta-synthesis. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl)* (2018) 27(1). doi: 10.1111/ecc.12428

25. Jones G, Hughes J, Mahmoodi N, Smith E, Skull J, Ledger W. What factors hinder the decision-making process for women with cancer and contemplating fertility preservation treatment? *Hum Reprod Update* (2017) 23(4):433–57. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmx009

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Takae, Iwahata, Sugishita, Iwahata, Kanamori, Shiraishi, Ito, Suzuki, Yamaya, Tanaka, Oyama, Keino, Nakamura, Odawara, Horage, Meng, Igualada, Faizal, Aworet, Furuta, Sakamoto, Mori, Kitagawa and Suzuki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mahmoud Salama, Michigan State University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Christina Bothou, University Hospital Zurich, Switzerland Laura Melado, ART Fertility Clinics LLC, United Arab Emirates

*CORRESPONDENCE Kenny A. Rodriguez-Wallberg Kenny.rodriguez-wallberg@ki.se

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 31 December 2022 ACCEPTED 16 February 2023 PUBLISHED 03 March 2023

CITATION

Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Sergouniotis F, Nilsson HP and Lundberg FE (2023) Trends and outcomes of fertility preservation for girls, adolescents and young adults with Turner syndrome: A prospective cohort study. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1135249. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1135249

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Rodriguez-Wallberg, Sergouniotis, Nilsson and Lundberg. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Trends and outcomes of fertility preservation for girls, adolescents and young adults with Turner syndrome: A prospective cohort study

Kenny A. Rodriguez-Wallberg^{1,2*}, Fotios Sergouniotis^{1,2}, Hanna P. Nilsson¹ and Frida E. Lundberg^{1,3}

¹Department of Oncology-Pathology, Laboratory of Translational Fertility Preservation, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden, ²Department of Reproductive Medicine, Division of Gynecology and Reproduction, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden, ³Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden

Background: In Scandinavian countries, programs for fertility preservation (FP) are offered free of charge at tertiary-care university hospitals to all patients facing infertility risks due to malignant diagnoses or benign conditions. In this prospective study we aimed to investigate trends and outcomes of FP indicated by a diagnosis of Turner syndrome.

Methods: Prospective cohort study of patients with Turner karyotype receiving fertility preservation counselling at the Karolinska University Hospital between 1 January 1999 and 31 December 2021.

Results: The cohort included 100 women and girls that received counselling, whereof 27% were prepubertal girls, 59% were adolescents and 14% of adult age. Before 2006 all patients were referred for fertility counselling at the time of Turner diagnosis. Based on updated guidelines, mainly patients who showed signs of puberty were referred after 2006. As a result, spontaneous menarche was more common in the later period. In total, 39% of the cohort had monosomal karyotype (45X), 20% had 45X/46XX or 45X/47XXX mosaicisms and 36% had an X-chromosomal structural anomaly. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation was planned for 73% of all patients, and oocyte cryopreservation following gonadotropin stimulation was planned for 10% of the patients. Follicles were present in 25% of all biopsies analyzed. Adolescents were more likely to have follicles present (30%) than prepubertal girls (16%) or adult women (17%). The ten patients that underwent gonadotropin stimulation for oocyte cryopreservation underwent a total of 15 cycles and eight patients successfully preserved oocytes. In total, 26% of the cohort has undergone fertility treatment or expressed further interest in fertility preservation. Six women have given birth using donated oocytes and three following spontaneous conception. Two women have undergone re-transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue, without regaining ovarian function, and none of the women that have cryopreserved oocytes has returned to use them.

Conclusion: Fertility counselling for girls with Turner syndrome should ideally be offered at onset of spontaneous puberty to improve the chances of fertility preservation. Since the girls and women in this cohort are still young, the return rate and utilization of the preserved tissue and oocytes is expected to increase with time.

Clinical Trial Registration: Clinical Trials.gov, identifier NTC04602962.

KEYWORDS

fertility preservation, Turner syndrome, fertility, ovarian tissue cryopreservation, prepubertal girls, adolescents

Introduction

Turner syndrome is the most common sex chromosome abnormality in women, with a prevalence of 1/2500. Diagnosis is most common in early childhood or adolescence, but in some cases the syndrome is diagnosed later in life, often related to an infertility work-up. The syndrome has a wide phenotypic spectrum caused by complete or partial absence of an X chromosome. Due to the range of possible abnormalities, including mosaicisms, Turner syndrome does not always present phenotypically and may remain undiagnosed throughout life (1). However, as widely acknowledged, Turner syndrome has a direct negative effect on fertility and most girls diagnosed with Turner syndrome will not undergo spontaneous puberty. It is estimated that approximately 20% of the girls diagnosed with Turner syndrome will spontaneously present initial puberty development, usually breast development, but only 16% of the girls will proceed to menarche (2). The likelihood to present with clinically evident ovarian function is higher in patients with X-chromosome mosaicisms (45X/46XX, 45X/47XXX) than in those having other Xchromosome variants (46X with ring chromosome, 46X with deletion, 46X with isochromosome, or 45X monosomy) (3). Girls with diagnosed Turner syndrome who show signs of ovarian function in childhood and early adolescence most often develop premature ovarian failure around the time of puberty due to rapid atresia of the follicles (4). It is currently recommended to offer reproductive counselling when a Turner diagnosis is confirmed and also to perform a careful cardiac evaluation to exclude comorbidities (5-7).

In women with Turner syndrome cardiac features may contraindicate a future pregnancy. Congenital heart abnormalities and aortic dilatation, which are strongly associated with lifethreatening aortic dissection, are more common in Turner patients, where the incidence of maternal and postpartum death has been reported as high as 2% (8–10). If congenital heart abnormalities or acquired aortic dilation is present in women with Turner syndrome, medical assistance to achieve pregnancy is not recommended and other options for parenthood should be advised (5). While data are still heterogeneous, retrospective studies have indicated that with adherence to health care guidelines pregnancies can proceed without increase in cardiovascular complications (8-14).

In Sweden, a National Healthcare Program for patients with Turner diagnosis has been established since 1994, updated subsequently in 2000 and 2013, and is currently known as the Swedish Turner Academy. The program includes recommendations on how girls and women with Turner syndrome should be followed-up throughout life by multidisciplinary teams at the Turner centers established at all university hospitals (15). Since 2013, the program recommends that discussions regarding reproductive options should be initiated soon after diagnosis, and routinely revisited at the time of transition from pediatric to adult healthcare. In all patients that receive a Turner diagnosis irrespective of age, a thorough cardiac evaluation is performed with echocardiography and/or magnetic resonance imaging. This way the cardiovascular status is known before fertility preservation discussions would take place (5).

In order to preserve fertility in patients with Turner syndrome, fertility preservation (FP) should be offered at an early age, before oocyte depletion (6, 16, 17). However, there are no reliable methods to predict the progress of atresia, nor can it be determined if the follicles in pre-pubertal girls are functional or not. This makes routine implementation of FP difficult in patients with Turner syndrome. In most FP programs it is established that if a girl reaches spontaneous menarche, ovarian stimulation and collection of oocytes can be considered (18, 19). In young pre-pubertal girls, it is more difficult to establish an optimal method for FP. A previous Swedish study reporting on ovarian biopsies and ovarian tissue cryopreservation in Turner patients revealed that the probability of identifying ovarian follicles in the biopsies increased if the Turner karyotype showed a mosaicism, if the girls had developed spontaneous puberty, and if the serum Follicle-Stimulating Hormone (FSH) and Anti Müllerian Hormone (AMH) concentrations were normal for age (8). As shown in that study, biopsies were feasible in 47 of 57 girls and follicles were identified in 15 cases. Finding follicles in the ovarian biopsies supports future fertility treatment, e.g., by re-transplantation of the tissue, or, if ovarian function is evident during adolescence or early adulthood, by ovarian stimulation as a complementary option to girls who have previously cryopreserved ovarian tissue (16). A reason to offer

ovarian stimulation is the high efficacy of vitrified oocytes, while retransplantation of ovarian tissue from women and girls with a reduced ovarian reserve at time of cryopreservation is expected to have low success rate.

At Karolinska University Hospital in Stockholm, fertility counselling and FP have been offered to girls and women with the Turner syndrome as part of a clinical study at the Karolinska University Hospital in Stockholm (3), and the center has also been the national reference center for fertility preservation for children. In this study we present treatment outcomes and long-term followup of a large cohort of women and girls with Turner syndrome.

Material and methods

The study cohort included all girls and women presenting with Turner syndrome who were referred for fertility preservation counselling at the Karolinska University Hospital, Section of Reproductive Medicine, in Stockholm, Sweden between 1 January 1999 and 31 December 2021. Data on referral, clinical characteristics and utilization of cryopreserved oocytes and tissues have been collected prospectively.

Counselling of girls and teenagers

According to the recommendation of the Swedish Turner multidisciplinary program, adolescent girls who present with spontaneous start of puberty should be referred for appropriate counselling on fertility preservation, and if possible, individualized fertility preservation (15). Nevertheless, no girls referred to the clinic have been excluded from the study, independently of age or pubertal development. Over the years, women and adolescent girls have been predominantly counselled towards clinically established methods. However, the methods for fertility preservation have improved over time as have the methods to determine the female ovarian reserve. Routine hormonal measurements started to be implemented at our center around 2006 using validated clinical methods at Karolinska University Laboratory. Earlier measurements were executed at either the Research Laboratory for Women's Health, Karolinska Institutet (FSH, LH, AMH) or the Central Laboratory for Clinical Chemistry, Karolinska University Hospital (FSH) as previously described by Borgström et al., 2009 (3). As most patients before 2006 were referred for fertility preservation regardless of hormonal status, we have divided the cohort over time before and after 2006.

In most cases, counselling was provided to the patients and their families by a pediatrician and also a reproductive medicine specialist. Written age-adapted information, in two versions (for children and adolescents) was provided. Parents of minors were asked to sign an informed consent form; when teenagers were counselled and they assented, both the parents and the child signed the form. Counselling also included information on alternatives to becoming a parent, such as using egg donation or adoption. The possibility to undergo fertility preservation at a later stage was also discussed, in case the patients elected not to undergo FP at time of referral (20). At the time of counselling, if deemed appropriate and if the patients agreed to these examinations, ovarian reserve was evaluated by counting antral follicles through transvaginal ultrasound and by measuring serum concentrations of anti-Müllerian hormone. In several cases the results of the exams were also used to evaluate the long-term benefit of undergoing FP.

Girls and teenagers were most often counselled to laparoscopic retrieval of ovarian tissue for cryopreservation, where the need of future re-transplantation through additional surgeries in order to regain tissue functionality and fertility was explained. Patients were also informed on the possible advances in methods for *in vitro* tissue culturing of follicles to mature oocytes. The amount of ovarian tissue retrieved was individualized in all cases and discussed with the patients. After 2009 stimulation for oocyte cryopreservation through vitrification was also offered as an option to adolescent patients, if the girls had developed puberty and proceeded through menarche and wished to undergo the procedure, which includes monitoring with transvaginal ultrasound examinations and transvaginal follicular aspiration (19). The expected efficacy of the FP methods according to the current state of knowledge was explained.

Ethical approval for the study was granted by the Ethical Review Board of Karolinska University Hospital (Dnr 427/03) and the Regional Ethics Committee of Stockholm (Dnr 2011/1158-31/2, 2014/470-32, 2016/2530-32 and 2018/2255-32). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants, or by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Results

In total, 100 patients with Turner karyotype were counselled for fertility preservation between 1999 and 2021. The majority (59%) of the patients were between 13 and 17 years of age, 27% were prepubertal and 14% were adults. More than half (65%) the patients were referred for fertility counselling between 1999-2005 (Table 1).

Of all patients with Turner karyotype, 39% had monosomal karyotype (45X), 20% had 45X/46XX or 45X/47XXX mosaicism and 36% had an X-chromosome structural anomaly. After 2006 only 20% of the referred girls had a 45X monosomy (Table 1).

Fertility preservation methods applied

Ovarian tissue cryopreservation was planned for 74% of all patients; 89% of the prepubertal girls, 71% of adolescents and 54% of adult women. Oocyte cryopreservation was planned for 10% of adolescents and 15% of adults. In total, 18% of the patients did not undergo any fertility preservation treatment; 11% of girls, 19% of adolescents and 31% of adult women. Two patients who cryopreserved tissue also returned to cryopreserve oocytes later (Table 2).

Among the 73 patients with Turner karyotype who were planned for ovarian tissue biopsy, no ovarian pathologies were detected for 51% of patients, streak ovaries were found in 42% and 7% had no ovaries TABLE 1 Description of the cohort by calendar period of referral.

	1999-2005 N=65	2006-2021 N=35	All patients N=100
Age - Mean ± SD	13.8 ± 0.35	14.5 ± 0.84	14.0 ± 0.4
Age group			
Girls (1-12y)	21 (32%)	6 (17%)	27 (27%)
Adolescents (13-17y)	37 (57%)	22 (63%)	59 (59%)
Women (18-27y)	7 (11%)	7 (20%)	14 (14%)
Turner Syndrome karyotype			
Monosomy 45X	32 (49%)	7 (20%)	39 (39%)
Mosaic 45X/46XX, 45X/47XXX	8 (12%)	12 (34%)	20 (20%)
X-chromosome structural anomaly ^a	23 (35%)	23 (35%)	36 (36%)
Missing	2 (3%)	3 (9%)	5 (5%)
Spontaneous start of puberty			
Not yet (at time of counselling)	9 (14%)	5 (14%)	14 (15%)
Yes	19 (29%)	26 (74%)	45 (45%)
No	32 (49%)	4 (11%)	36 (36%)
Missing	5 (8%)	0 (0%)	5 (5%)
Tanner stage (after puberty)			
2	3 (16%)	0 (0%)	3 (7%)
3	2 (11%)	1 (4%)	3 (7%)
4	3 (16%)	3 (12%)	6 (13%)
5	11 (58%)	21 (81%)	32 (71%)
Missing	0 (0%)	1 (4%)	1 (2%)
Spontaneous menarche (after puberty)			
Yes	13 (68%)	26 (100%)	39 (87%)
No	6 (32%)	0 (0%)	6 (13%)
Fertility preservation planned			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
None	2 (3%)	16 (46%)	18 (18%)
Ovarian tissue cryopreservation ^b	63 (97%)	10 (29%)	73 (73%)
Oocyte cryopreservation	0 (0%)	9 (26%)	9 (9%)

^aIncludes isochromosome, ring chromosome, deletions and translocations of X, or Y-fragment.

^bOne patient who cryopreserved ovarian tissue at ages 12 returned for oocyte cryopreservation at age 16, only counted as ovarian tissue cryopreservation in the table.

(Table 2). In a minority of patients, the uterus was either small (3%) or non visualized (11%). In 11 cases, no ovarian tissue could be retrieved due to absent ovaries or streak ovaries observed during the laparoscopic procedure. In total, 85% of the patients had ovarian cortical tissue cryopreserved (Table 2).

Between 1999 and 2005, 65 girls were referred for fertility preservation, 57 of them as part of a study to evaluate fertility potential in Turner patients through measurements of fertility markers and through follicle counts in biopsied tissue (3). Among these 65 girls, 29% had spontaneous start of puberty and 97% were planned for ovarian tissue cryopreservation (Table 1). Follicles were found in 15 of the 57 biopsies analyzed (26%). In these 15 biopsies, the number of follicles

varied from $0.7-1200/\text{mm}^3$. All but one patient with streak ovaries did not have observable follicles. Adolescents were more likely to have follicles present (30%) than girls (16%) and adult women (17%) (Table 2).

Since 2006, 35 Turner patients have been referred for fertility counselling. 26 (74%) patients had both spontaneously entered puberty and had menarche, 5 (14%) had not yet entered puberty but were below the age of twelve, and 4 (11%) had not entered puberty. Among them 19 (54%) proceeded with fertility preservation measures (Table 1). 10 (29%) underwent biopsies for ovarian tissue cryopreservation and 10 (29%) were stimulated for oocyte cryopreservation (Table 2). All patients undergoing oocyte

TABLE 2 Ovarian tissue biopsy by year of referral.

	1999-2005 N=63	2006-2021 N=10	All patients N=73
Age group			
Girls (1-12y)	21 (33%)	3 (30%)	24 (33%)
Adolescents (13-17y)	35 (56%)	7 (70%)	42 (58%)
Women (18-27y)	7 (11%)	0 (0%)	7 (10%)
Ovaries			
No abnormalities detected	28 (44%)	9 (90%)	37 (51%)
Streak ovaries	30 (48%)	1 (10%)	31 (42%)
Ovaries absent	5 (8%)	0 (0%)	5 (7%)
Uterus			
No abnormalities detected	53 (84%)	10 (100%)	63 (86%)
Small uterus	2 (3%)	0 (0%)	2 (3%)
Uterus non visualized	8 (13%)	0 (0%)	8 (11%)
Biopsy taken			
Yes	52 (83%)	10 (100%)	62 (85%)
No	11 (17%)	0 (0%)	11 (15%)
Follicles in biopsy			
Not analyzed	6 (10%)	10 (100%)	16 (22%)
No	42 (67%)	0 (0%)	42 (58%)
Yes	15 (23%)	0 (0%)	15 (21%)

cryopreservation had spontaneously entered puberty and also had spontaneous menarche. Among the 16 (46%) that have not yet done any FP measures, five (28%, currently at a mean age of 14) are planned for follow up, five (28%, with a mean age of 17 at counselling) had spontaneous puberty and menarche with hormonal levels indicating remaining fertility but are currently not planned for fertility preservation, six (35%, with a mean age of 19 at counselling) had low hormonal levels and are not planned for fertility preservation, among them one diseased. Among the six with low hormonal levels three had a monosomy.

The 10 patients that proceeded with oocyte cryopreservation, underwent a total of 15 cycles of controlled ovarian stimulation. 8 patients successfully cryopreserved oocytes. The mean age at stimulation was 17.2 years. In the seven patients with AMH measurements, the mean level was 1.1 μ g/l. The mean number of mature oocytes cryopreserved in each stimulation cycle was 5.1 (range 0-19) (Table 3). The oocytes were cryopreserved using vitrification.

Fertility treatments and follow-up

At the end of follow-up, 14 girls and adolescents were below 20 years of age, 41 women were in their 20's and 42 in their 30's. Three patients were lost to follow up; one deceased and two emigrated. A total of 26 adolescents and women had documented contact with

healthcare concerning their fertility, and 20 returned to the reproductive medicine unit. Eight girls and women returned for further fertility counselling, three women underwent a new fertility preservation and seven women elected fertility treatments using egg donation. To date, six women have given birth following fertility treatment using donated oocytes, whereof two had treatments abroad. Three women have reportedly had children following spontaneous conception; one woman with X-chromosome

TABLE 3 Oocyte cryopreservation.

	Adolescents and women N=10 **
Age, y	17.2 ± 2.6 (14–22)
AMH, μg/l	1.1 ± 1.0 (0.3-3.2)
Number of stimulations, n	$1.5 \pm 0.5 (1-2)$
Oocytes cryopreserved* per cycle, n	5.1 ± 5.4 (0-19)
Oocytes cryopreserved* per patient, n	7.4 ± 7.0 (0-19)

Data from patients referred for Fertility Preservation (FP) at Karolinska University Hospital between 1998 and 2021, who underwent controlled hormonal stimulation for oocyte cryopreservation. Numbers presented are mean \pm SD (range). The stimulation cycles were performed 2011-2022 and all oocytes were cryopreserved using vitrification. AMH, Anti-Müllerian hormone.

*Information on number of oocytes missing for one patient, no oocytes could be cryopreserved for two patients.

** 5 patients underwent repeated treatments.

structural anomaly, one woman with mosaicism and one woman with monosomy. No births following the use of stored oocytes have been achieved so far.

Ovarian tissue transplantation

Two women in this cohort have undergone re-transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue. In one case the karyotype showed X-chromosome structural anomaly and in the other case a mosaicism. None of the women have regained ovarian functionality as measured by repeated blood samples estimating levels of hormone secretion (Serum Estradiol, AMH, FSH, LH, Progesterone).

Discussion

This unique cohort provides insight into the fertility choices and options available for young girls with Turner syndrome. In Sweden fertility counselling and fertility preservation is tax-funded and girls and women with Turner syndrome are currently followed up throughout life by multidisciplinary teams at Turner centers established at all university hospitals according to the National Healthcare Program for Turner syndrome. Reproductive options are discussed soon after diagnosis and also at the transition from pediatric to adult healthcare. In presence of any congenital heart or vessel disease pregnancy is not recommended. The current recommendations are that a girl that has a spontaneous start of puberty should be referred for reproductive counselling, and if feasible, based on health and fertility status, stimulated for oocyte cryopreservation before her oocyte reserve is too much reduced by the rapid atresia.

This cohort has been assembled from the fertility preservation unit at Karolinska University Hospital over a period of 22 years. It should be noted that most of the patients who were included before 2006 (57 of 65) underwent ovarian tissue cryopreservation independent of age and pubertal status, as part of a study to evaluate the fertility potential of Turner girls (3). Based on the results from that study, as well as national and international guidelines, most girls included from 2006 and onwards have been referred for fertility preservation only at signs of spontaneous puberty or at expected start of puberty due to a karyotype with mosaicism. When possible, oocyte cryopreservation has been the fertility preservation method of choice, as the method gained recognition as a clinically established method earlier than ovarian tissue cryopreservation, which was still considered experimental until very recently (21).

A majority of the counselled patients underwent fertility preservation, most often through ovarian tissue cryopreservation. Nearly half the patients who underwent a tissue biopsy had observed abnormalities of the ovaries and one in ten patients had no uterus. In total 11 laparoscopies to obtain ovarian biopsies had to be terminated without tissue retrieval. Following the implementation of stricter criteria for referral, all planned biopsies could proceed successfully.

The implementation of more accurate methods of estimating the female ovarian reserve, such as using biochemical markers including serum AMH, and the adherence to updated guidelines drastically reduced the referral rate and only 35 girls and women with Turner syndrome have been counselled between 2006 and 2020. In this later cohort, 74% had spontaneous menarche, ten patients have cryopreserved ovarian tissue, eight patients have undergone successful oocyte cryopreservation, most in late adolescence, and six are planned for follow-up. Only six patients referred after 2006 have been counselled to proceed with other options for family planning due to low hormonal levels or other health issues. This can be compared to the 65 girls counselled between 1999 and 2005 where 71% did not have signs of spontaneous puberty, no ovarian stimulations for oocyte cryopreservation were performed and 97% of patients were planned for ovarian tissue cryopreservation, whereof 15 patients (24%) had observable follicles the in biopsied tissue.

The live birth rate after re-transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue has been estimated to 33-38% in several other patient groups (22–24). However, the potential for pregnancy and live birth is directly correlated with the number of functional primordial follicles available in the biopsied ovarian tissue (25). To date outcome data are limited when ovarian tissue cryopreservation is performed at a very young age (26–28). In patients with Turner syndrome, where rapid atresia is common, the success rate of ovarian tissue re-transplantation is uncertain. While age alone was previously shown as a non-significant factor in predicting the occurrence of follicles in girls above 12 years of age, it should be noted that these results were from a cohort where the patients where all below the age of 20 (3).

Six women in the cohort have given birth following assisted reproduction with donated oocytes. In addition, we have observed five spontaneous pregnancies followed by live births in three women from the cohort (3%), but cannot exclude the possibility of additional undocumented cases. A large French study by Bernard et al. (29) reported a live birth rate of 3.8% (18/480) and an overall 5.6% (27/480) prevalence of spontaneous pregnancies in women with Turner syndrome. Most of these pregnancies occurred in women with mosaic karyotype and only 0.4% (2/480) in women with a non-mosaic (45X) karyotype. Among the three women with children after spontaneous pregnancy in our cohort, one had a monosomy, one an X-chromosome structural anomaly and one a mosaicism. In a recent UK study including 127 pregnancies in 81 women with Turner syndrome (30), 58% (73/127) of pregnancies were spontaneously conceived and all others were conceived using oocyte donation. Among pregnancies in women with monosomy (45X), 29% (9/31) were spontaneously conceived. To our knowledge, there is only one report so far on a successful fertility treatment using cryopreserved oocytes in a woman with Turner syndrome (31).

This study has amassed a large prospective cohort of Turner patients but is limited by the lack of data on follicle status in the biopsies taken after 2006 and incomplete information on spontaneous births. Further, most patients in the cohort are still relatively young. The return rate in the cohort is expected to increase as all patients are still eligible for fertility preservation and some are still prepubertal or adolescent. All patients that have proceeded with fertility treatments can be found among the 42 patients in their thirties. None of the patients that have preserved oocytes have yet reached 30 years of age.

We report two attempts at re-transplantation of ovarian tissue, but as of yet there has been no successful re-transplantation nor any use of the cryopreserved oocytes in our cohort. As the scarcity of promising followup data discourages routine use of early ovarian tissue cryopreservation, Turner girls with early onset atresia currently lack promising FP prospects. However, the implementation of the current guidelines with counselling and follow up from onset of puberty has proven useful for identifying Turner girls eligible for fertility preservation.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because the datasets could possibly identify the individual participants due to the limited cohort size. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to kenny.rodriguez-wallberg@ki.se.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Review Board of Karolinska University Hospital (Dnr 427/03) and the Regional Ethics Committee of Stockholm (Dnr 2011/1158-31/2, 2014/470-32, 2016/2530-32 and 2018/2255-32). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

Conceptualization, KR-W. Methodology, KR-W and FL. Formal Analysis, FL. Data Curation, KR-W and FL. Writing -

References

1. Huang AC, Olson SB, Maslen CL. A review of recent developments in turner syndrome research. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis (2021) 8(11) 138. doi: 10.3390/jcdd8110138

2. Pasquino AM, Passeri F, Pucarelli I, Segni M, Municchi G. Spontaneous pubertal development in turner's syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1997) 82(6):1810–3. doi: 10.1210/jcem.82.6.3970

3. Borgstroöm B, Hreinsson J, Rasmussen C, Sheikhi M, Fried G, Keros V, et al. Fertility preservation in girls with turner syndrome: Prognostic signs of the presence of ovarian follicles. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2009) 94(1):74–80. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0708

4. Jeve YB, Gelbaya T, Fatum M. Time to consider ovarian tissue cryopreservation for girls with turner's syndrome: an opinion paper. *Hum Reprod Open* (2019) 2019(3): hoz016. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoz016

5. Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Landin-Wilhelmsen K. The complexity of fertility preservation for women with turner syndrome and the potential risks of pregnancy and cardiovascular complications. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2020) 99(12):1577–8. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13999

 Oktay K, Bedoschi G, Berkowitz K, Bronson R, Kashani B, Mcgovern P, et al. Fertility preservation in females with turner syndrome: A comprehensive review and practical guidelines HHS public access. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. (2016) 29(5):409–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2015.10.011 Original Draft Preparation, KR-W, HN and FL. Writing – Review & Editing, KR-W, FS, HN, FL. Funding Acquisition, KR-W. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research has been funded by grants from The Swedish Cancer Society, The Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, The Cancer Research Funds of Radiumhemmet, the Stockholm County Council and Karolinska Institutet (to KR-W).

Acknowledgments

We wish to thank Dr Birgit Borgström for her important contribution to the development of the pediatric section of the Swedish Turner Academy program for girls and adolescents.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

7. Folsom LJ, Fuqua JS. Reproductive issues in women with turner syndrome. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2015) 44(4):723-37. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2015.07.004

8. Hagman A, Källén K, Bryman I, Landin-Wilhelmsen K, Barrenäs M, Wennerholm U. Morbidity and mortality after childbirth in women with turner karyotype. *Hum Reprod* (2013) 28(7):1961–73. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det113

9. Bryman I, Sylvén L, Berntorp K, Innala E, Bergström I, Hanson C, et al. Pregnancy rate and outcome in Swedish women with turner syndrome. *Fertil Steril.* (2011) 95(8):2507–10. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.12.039

10. Ramage K, Grabowska K, Silversides C, Quan H, Metcalfe A. Maternal, pregnancy, and neonatal outcomes for women with turner syndrome. *Birth Defects Res* (2020) 112(14):1067–73. doi: 10.1002/bdr2.1739

11. Calanchini M, Aye CYL, Orchard E, Baker K, Child T, Fabbri A, et al. Fertility issues and pregnancy outcomes in turner syndrome. *Fertil Steril.* (2020) 114(1):144–54. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.03.002

12. Karnis MF, Zimon AE, Lalwani SI, Timmreck LS, Klipstein S, Reindollar RH. Risk of death in pregnancy achieved through oocyte donation in patients with turner syndrome: A national survey. *Fertil Steril.* (2003) 80(3):498–501. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(03)00974-9

13. Chevalier N, Letur H, Lelannou D, Ohl J, Cornet D, Chalas-Boissonnas C, et al. Materno-fetal cardiovascular complications in turner syndrome after oocyte donation: Insufficient prepregnancy screening and pregnancy follow-up are associated with poor outcome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96(2):E260–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0925

14. Grewal J, Valente AM, Egbe AC, Wu FM, Krieger EV, Sybert VP, et al. Cardiovascular outcomes of pregnancy in turner syndrome. *Heart.* (2021) 107(1):61–6. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2020-316719

15. Svenska Turnerakademin. The Swedish turner healthcare program. In: *Turner syndrome*. Internetmedicin, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Gothenburg, Sweden (2021). Available at: https://www.internetmedicin.se/behandlingsoversikter/pediatrik/turner-syndrome/.

16. Schleedoorn MJ, Mulder BH, Braat DDM, Beerendonk CCM, Peek R, Nelen WLDM, et al. International consensus: Ovarian tissue cryopreservation in young turner syndrome patients: outcomes of an ethical Delphi study including 55 experts from 16 different countries. *Hum Reprod* (2020) 35(5):1072. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deaa007

17. van der Coelen S, van der Velden J, Nadesapillai S, Peek R, Braat D, Schleedoorn M, et al. The decision-making process regarding ovarian tissue cryopreservation in girls with turner syndrome by patients, parents, and healthcare providers: A mixed-methods study. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2022) 95(4):374–83. doi: 10.1159/000525374

18. Talaulikar VS, Conway GS, Pimblett A, Davies MC. Outcome of ovarian stimulation for oocyte cryopreservation in women with turner syndrome. *Fertil Steril.* (2019) 111(3):505–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.11.010

19. Oktay K, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Sahin G. Fertility preservation by ovarian stimulation and oocyte cryopreservation in a 14-year-old adolescent with turner syndrome mosaicism and impending premature ovarian failure. *Fertil Steril.* (2010) 94(2):753.e15–753.e19. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.01.044

20. Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Marklund A, Lundberg F, Wikander I, Milenkovic M, Anastacio A, et al. A prospective study of women and girls undergoing fertility preservation due to oncologic and non-oncologic indications in Sweden – trends in patients' choices and benefit of the chosen methods after long-term follow-up. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2019) 98(5):604–15. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13559

21. Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Electronic address: asrm@asrm.org. Fertility preservation in patients undergoing gonadotoxic therapy or gonadectomy: A committee opinion.. *Fertil Steril.* (2019) 112 (6):1022-1033. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.09.013

22. Pacheco F, Oktay K. Current success and efficiency of autologous ovarian transplantation: A meta-analysis. *Reprod Sci* (2017) 24(8):1111–20. doi: 10.1177/1933719117702251

23. Jadoul P, Guilmain A, Squifflet J, Luyckx M, Votino R, Wyns C, et al. Efficacy of ovarian tissue cryopreservation for fertility preservation: lessons learned from 545 cases. *Hum Reprod* (2017) 32(5):1046–54. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dex040

24. Dolmans MM, Donnez J, Cacciottola L. Fertility preservation: The challenge of freezing and transplanting ovarian tissue. *Trends Mol Med* (2021) 27(8):777–91. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2020.11.003

25. Roness H, Meirow D. Fertility preservation: Follicle reserve loss in ovarian tissue transplantation. *Reproduction* (2019) 158(5):F35-44. doi: 10.1530/REP-19-0097

26. Matthews SJ, Picton H, Ernst E, Andersen CY. Successful pregnancy in a woman previously suffering from β -thalassemia following transplantation of ovarian tissue cryopreserved before puberty. *Minerva Ginecol.* (2018) 70(4):432–5. doi: 10.23736/S0026-4784.18.04240-5

27. Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Milenkovic M, Papaikonomou K, Keros V, Gustafsson B, Sergouniotis F, et al. Successful pregnancies after transplantation of ovarian tissue retrieved and cryopreserved at time of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia - a case report. *Haematologica*. (2021) 106(10):2783-7. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2021.278828

28. Demeestere I, Simon P, Dedeken L, Moffa F, Tsépélidis S, Brachet C, et al. Live birth after autograft of ovarian tissue cryopreserved during childhood. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(9):2107–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev128

29. Bernard V, Donadille B, Zenaty D, Courtillot C, Salenave S, Brac de la Perrière A, et al. Spontaneous fertility and pregnancy outcomes amongst 480 women with turner syndrome. *Hum Reprod* (2016) 31(4):782–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew012

30. Cauldwell M, Steer PJ, Adamson D, Alexander C, Allen L, Bhagra C, Brac de la Perrière A, et al. Pregnancies in women with turner syndrome: A retrospective multicentre UK study. *BJOG Int J Obstet Gynaecol.* (2022) 129(5):796–803. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.17025

31. Strypstein L, Van Moer E, Nekkebroeck J, Segers I, Tournaye H, Demeestere I, et al. First live birth after fertility preservation using vitrification of oocytes in a woman with mosaic turner syndrome. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2022) 39:543–9. doi: 10.1007/s10815-022-02420-4

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yasmin Jayasinghe, The University of Melbourne, Australia

REVIEWED BY Thomas Rabe, Heidelberg University Hospital, Germany Ludwig Kiesel, University of Münster, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiangyan Ruan Mruanxiangyan@ccmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 05 January 2023 ACCEPTED 22 March 2023 PUBLISHED 03 April 2023

CITATION

Ruan X, Cheng J, Du J, Jin F, Gu M, Ju R, Wu Y, Li L, Wang Y, Jiang L, Yang Y, Li Y, Wang Z, Ma J, Zhang M and Mueck AO (2023) Ovarian tissue cryopreservation in the pediatric with rare diseasesexperience from China's first and the largest ovarian tissue cryobank. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1137940. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1137940

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ruan, Cheng, Du, Jin, Gu, Ju, Wu, Li, Wang, Jiang, Yang, Li, Wang, Ma, Zhang and Mueck. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ovarian tissue cryopreservation in the pediatric with rare diseases- experience from China's first and the largest ovarian tissue cryobank

Xiangyan Ruan^{1,2*†}, Jiaojiao Cheng^{1†}, Juan Du¹, Fengyu Jin¹, Muqing Gu¹, Rui Ju¹, Yurui Wu³, Long Li⁴, Yuejiao Wang¹, Lingling Jiang¹, Yu Yang¹, Yanqiu Li¹, Zecheng Wang¹, Jun Ma¹, Mingzhen Zhang¹ and Alfred O. Mueck^{1,2}

¹Department of Gynecological Endocrinology, Beijing Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing Maternal and Child Health Care Hospital, Beijing, China, ²Department for Women's Health, University Women's Hospital and Research Center for Women's Health, University of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany, ³Department of Thoracic Surgery and Surgical Oncology, Children's Hospital, Capital Institute of Pediatrics, Beijing, China, ⁴Department of Pediatric Surgery, Children's Hospital, Capital Institute of Pediatrics, Beijing, China

Background: There is limited information about the efficacy of ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC) in children. In the present study, we report eight patients with rare diseases who underwent OTC in China's first and largest ovarian tissue cryobank.

Procedure: Data from girls with rare diseases who underwent OTC between September 2020 and November 2022 were retrospectively analyzed. We also compared the number of cryopreserved cortex pieces, follicle number, and AMH in those with rare diseases and age-matched children with non-rare diseases who also underwent OTC in our cryobank.

Results: The median age of the children was 5.88 \pm 3.52 (range 2-13) years old. Unilateral oophorectomy was undertaken *via* laparoscopy in all of the children. The diseases in the 8 patients were: 4 mucopolysaccharidoses (MPS I two cases, IVA two cases), 1 Diamond-Blackfan anemia (DBA), 1 Fanconi anemia (FA), 1 hyperimmunoglobulin E syndrome (HIES), 1 Niemann-Pick disease. The number of cryopreserved cortex pieces was 17.13 \pm 6.36, and the follicle count per 2 mm biopsy was 447.38 \pm 524.35. No significant difference in age, the count of cryopreserved cortex pieces, follicle number per 2 mm biopsy, and AMH level was seen between the 20 children with non-rare diseases and those with rare diseases.

Conclusions: The reports help practitioners counsel girls with rare diseases about fertility preservation. The demand for OTC in pediatrics will likely grow as a standard of care.

KEYWORDS

ovarian tissue cryopreservation, children, fertility preservation, rare diseases, hematopoietic stem cell therapy

1 Introduction

Diseases with an incidence of fewer than 1/10,000 newborns, a prevalence of less than 1/10,000, and a number of patients less than 140,000 are classified as rare diseases (RD). As of February 2022, there are more than 7,000 known rare diseases worldwide, accounting for about 10% of all human diseases. About 72%-80% of rare diseases are caused by structural changes or abnormal regulation of genetic material (1). China has over 20 million rare disease patients, with over 200,000 new patients yearly (2). Around the world, the treatment of rare diseases is probably the most significant medical challenge facing humanity today. Treatment of some rare diseases requires hematopoietic stem cell therapy (HSCT) (3). Advances in HSCT technology and supportive care have increased the number of long-term survivors (4), so fertility preservation (FP) for these patients is also essential.

Ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC) is the only FP method for prepubertal girls (5). OTC includes laparoscopic surgery to remove part or the whole ovary, followed by transport to the ovarian tissue cryobank for cryopreservation and storage (6, 7). Professional institutions must have the necessary equipment, trained personnel, and sufficient frozen stock to conduct OTC safely and with consistent quality. More than 200 babies worldwide have been born through this technique, including reports of frozen ovarian tissue collected before puberty and frozen-thawed ovarian tissue transplantation (OTT) after puberty (8–10). In 2019, the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM) recommended that OTC technology no longer be considered experimental (11). Minimal complications have been reported after laparoscopic surgery (12).

The Oncofertility Consortium's National Physicians' Cooperative (ON-NPC) published its experience with OTC in 114 girls<15 years old in 2018 (13). Germany's UniCareD cryobank stored frozen ovarian tissue from 104 girls with a mean age of 14 years between 2018 and May 2022 (14). Our center has cryopreserved ovarian tissue from more than 50 children (12).

Studies on FP in RD are limited. Because of the high incidence of POI for patients with genetic abnormalities, such as galactosemia and Turner syndrome (TS), experts recommend starting FP as soon as possible (15–19). FP counseling is also needed for children with RD who plan to undergo HSCT. This paper reports on the cryopreservation of ovarian tissue in 8 patients with RD to give medical workers more information and confidence and introduce patients to the FP center for consultation. A multidisciplinary team should always be involved in treating and managing RD patients.

2 Methods

2.1 Ethics statement

The Ethics Committee of Beijing Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Capital Medical University, approved the provision of centralized OTC (2017-KY-020-01; March 15, 2017). Ovarian tissue was received from different hospitals and transported to the centralized cryobank. The parents of each patient signed an agreement and informed consent for their child.

2.2 Ovarian tissue retrieval, transportation, and preparation

Eight girls with RD underwent OTC in our cryobank between September 2020 and November 2022 (mean \pm SD, range, 5.88 \pm 3.52 years, 2-13 years). Unilateral oophorectomy was undertaken *via* laparoscopy in the eight children. No complications were reported after laparoscopic surgery in the eight children.

After retrieval, the ovarian tissue was immediately put into the cooled Custodiol (HTK). The temperature was maintained at 4-8 °C during ovarian tissue transportation. The mean temperature on reaching the cryobank was 5.44 °C, and the transport time was no more than 12 hours. In a sterile laminar flow cabinet, ovarian tissue was prepared at HTK solution, maintained at 4 °C. The ovarian cortex was handled to be 1 mm thick, cut to 6 mm x 3 mm slices, and cryopreserved. After slow programmed freezing, the tubes were stored in a liquid nitrogen tank with a gas phase. In ovarian tissue preparation, standardized cortical biopsies with a diameter of 2 mm from different areas were evaluated for follicle density and viability assay. The procedures were according to the previous publications (12, 20).

Twenty age-matched children who underwent OTC because of non-rare diseases were selected to compare the number of cryopreserved ovarian cortex pieces, follicle number per 2 mm biopsy, and the level of AMH between patients with RD and those with non-rare diseases. They did not undergo gonadotoxic treatment before OTC.

2.3 Hormone levels before OTC

The levels of follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH), and AMH in serum before OTC were evaluated. The details can be seen in our previous publication (15).

2.4 Analysis of follicle density

The number of surviving resting follicles was evaluated in biopsies by Calcein-AM assay, which method has been described in the previous publication (21).

2.5 Statistical analyses

SPSS 22.0 was applied for analysis. The data following normal distribution were expressed by "mean \pm Standard deviation (SD)"; otherwise, "mean \pm Standard Error of Mean (SEM)". The differences between groups were compared by independent sample t-test. P < 0.05 indicates that the difference was statistically significant.

3 Results

3.1 Characteristics

3.1.1 Ages and diseases diagnosis

Characteristics of the 8 girls with OTC are shown in Table 1. The age of the 8 children was 5.88 ± 3.52 years old, range 2 to 13 years. The diseases in the 8 patients were: 4 mucopolysaccharidoses (MPS I two cases, IVA two cases), 1 Diamond-Blackfan Aanemia (DBA), 1 Fanconi anemia (FA), 1 hyperimmunoglobulin E syndrome (HIES), 1 Niemann-Pick disease. Ovarian tissue was cryopreserved because of planned HSCT.

3.1.2 Ovarian tissue retrieval, transportation, cryopreservation, follicle number, FSH, LH, and AMH

Unilateral oophorectomy was undertaken *via* laparoscopy in the children. The temperature during transport to a centralized cryobank was 5.44 ± 0.96 °C. The number of cryopreserved cortex pieces was 17.13 ± 6.36 (mean \pm SD), the follicle number per 2 mm biopsy was 447.38 ± 524.35 (mean \pm SD) (Figure 1). The FSH was 3.46 ± 2.14 IU/L (mean \pm SD), LH was 0.55 ± 0.53 IU/L (mean \pm SEM), and AMH was 1.60 ± 1.21 ng/ml (mean \pm SD).

3.2 The comparisons between rare diseases and non-rare diseases

TABLE 1 Patient Characteristics before OTC.

In Figure 2, no significant difference in age, the number of cryopreserved cortex pieces, follicle number per 2 mm biopsy, and AMH level between 20 children with non-rare diseases and those with rare diseases (mean \pm SD, 7.05 \pm 3.16 vs. 5.88 \pm 3.52, *P*=0.396; mean \pm SD, 20.70 \pm 7.39 vs. 17.13 \pm 6.36, *P*=0.241; mean \pm SEM,

947.35 ± 200.30 vs. 447.38 ± 185.39, *P*=0.153; mean ± SEM, 2.15 ± 0.36 vs. 1.60 ± 0.43, *P*=0.616, respectively).

4 Discussion

No studies have described OTC for DBA, FA, MPS-I, MPS-IVA, HIES, and Niemann-Pick disease. Patients with these diseases required high-dose chemotherapy with alkylating agents and/or total body irradiation as pre-treatment for HSCT. Therefore, the present study includes important information for OTC in children with RD.

With the development of Assisted Reproductive Technology (ART), embryos that do not carry explicit disease-causing genes can be transferred back to the maternal uterine cavity after embryo preimplantation genetic testing (PGT) for families with evident genes for RD/genetic disorders. This is an essential technical tool for the primary prevention and control of congenital disabilities and can stop the transmission of RD/genetic disorders in the family from the source and produce healthy offspring (22). Secondary prevention is prenatal screening, which requires amniocentesis during pregnancy to ensure again that the fetus does not carry the disease-causing genes. Tertiary prevention is post-birth screening.

DBA is a rare congenital intrinsic erythroid hypoplasia, with 7 cases/million live births, acknowledged in 2005 as the first human ribosomopathy (23, 24). The median age of diagnosis is two to three months, with 95% of the DBA cases diagnosed before two years and 99% before five years of age (25, 26). HSCT is safe and efficient in DBA and should be considered if a matched sibling or unrelated donor is available (26, 27). FA is a challenging disease, and HSCT is the only curative therapy for the hematologic complications associated with this disease (28). The favorable mean overall survival was 80.9%, and event-free survival was 79.3% (29).

Patients	Disease	Age at OTC	Transport temperature	Number of cryo- preserved cortex pieces	Follicle number per 2mm biopsy	FSH (IU/L) before OTC	LH (IU/L) before OTC	AMH (ng/ ml) before OTC
Case 1	Diamond-Blackfan anemia	7	4.7	10	128	3.47	0.01	0.48
Case 2	Fanconi anemia	7	5.8	17	122	2.2	0	1.15
Case 3	Mucopolysaccharidosis I	5	7.1	21	229	-	-	2.65
Case 4	Mucopolysaccharidosis IVA	3	6.2	17	1581	4.31	0.02	1.31
Case 5	Mucopolysaccharidosis IVA	3	4.9	13	437	6.83	0	0.67
Case 6	Mucopolysaccharidosis I	7	4.0	20	851	1.22	0	4
Case 7	hyper Ig E syndrome	13	5.3	29	133	1.02	3.75	1.88
Case 8	Niemann-Pick disease	2	5.5	10	98	5.16	0.06	0.65

OTC, ovarian tissue cryopreservation; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; LH, luteinizing hormone; AMH, anti-Müllerian hormone.

frontiersin.org



MPS is a group of rare genetic diseases with abnormal glycosaminoglycan (GAG) catabolism (30). The overall incidence of MPS is estimated to be 1/100,000 live births, which varies according to region and race (31). HSCT has been used in patients with MPS I, II, IVA, VI, and VII, showing increased acceptance and therapeutic benefits (32). In 2011, a retrospective study evaluated the outcome of HSCT in 45 patients with MPS VI, with a 1-and 3-year survival rate of 66%. Patients who received HSCT had a longer life expectancy than those who did not receive

treatment or enzyme replacement therapy (ERT) (33). The overall survival rate after transplantation was 90% (30). Standardized follow-up and a multidisciplinary team help accurately assess long-term post-transplantation outcomes and improve the quality of life (34).

HIES is primary immunodeficiency that results from heterozygous mutations in the signal transducer and activator of the transcription 3 genes. Some patients with HIES have been reported to be treated with HSCT. However, the efficacy of HSCT



Comparison of age, number of cryopreserved cortex pieces, follicle number per 2 mm biopsy, and AMH in children with and without rare diseases.

for autosomal dominant HIES is inconsistent (35). HSCT potentially benefits the severe phenotype of Niemann-Pick disease patients (36). However, pre-treatment with radiotherapy and high-dose chemotherapy before HSCT can seriously harm the ovaries, and 70~100% of young females develop premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) (37, 38).

Our study found no significant difference in ovarian size, follicle number, and AMH level before OTC between children with rare diseases and age-matched children with non-rare diseases. However, it did not include children with Turner syndrome who have accelerated follicle depletion prior to puberty (39–41). Also, further evaluation is necessary after increasing the sample size. The measurement of AMH levels is controversial because the assessment of ovarian reserve in children and adolescents using AMH levels has limitations (9, 42).

Ovarian size varies with age and pubertal development. The prepubertal ovary is smaller than the reproductive ovary; therefore, the entire unilateral ovary is usually removed (43). Many pediatric surgeons and gynecologists perform unilateral laparoscopic oophorectomy, using an ultrasonic advanced energy device to segment the ovarian artery and mesovarium. No major surgical complications have been observed with this technique (44).

With increasing evidence of live births and recovery of endocrine function, a British Fertility Society guideline concluded that prepubertal girls should be considered for OTC (45, 46). OTC and transplantation are now the only FP option for prepubertal girls (47, 48).

Our center is the first and largest ovarian tissue cryobank in China. Nearly 500 cases of ovarian tissue have been successfully preserved, 10 cases have been successfully transplanted, and the ovarian function has recovered after OTC and OTT (49). One patient with MDS successfully conceived naturally and delivered a healthy baby girl after OTC and OTT (50). With the cooperation of pediatrics, OTC in children in our center has increased in the last two years (12).

The limitation of this study is the lack of data regarding outcomes such as later fertility following the use of cryopreserved ovarian tissues. This should be mentioned when counseling by practitioners. The outcome in these patients will hopefully be reported on long-term follow-up. It should stimulate further research within this challenging scientific field.

5 Conclusion

To conclude, reporting information helps practitioners counsel girls with RD about FP and the preservation of ovarian endocrine function supported by OTC. The demand for OTC in pediatrics will likely grow as a standard of care.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Beijing Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Capital Medical University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

All authors qualify for authorship by contributing substantially to this article. XR: project leader, and project supervisor, evaluated the ovarian reserve function of each child, supervised and guided ovarian tissue biopsy, transport, preparation, cryopreservation, follow-up, interpretation of results, and provided critical comments and revised the first draft. JC: article preparation, ovarian tissue transportation, preparation, and cryopreservation. JD, FJ, and MG: ovarian tissue preparation and cryopreservation. RJ, YRW, and LL: biopsied ovarian tissue. YJW, LJ, YY, YL, ZW, JM, and MZ: ovarian tissue transportation, AM: experimental supervision, interpretation of results, and article revision. All authors reviewed the article's final version and approved it for publication.

Funding

This study was supported by Capital's Funds for Health Improvement and Research (2020-2-2112), Beijing Natural Science Foundation (7202047), and Beijing Municipal Administration of Hospitals' Ascent Plan (DFL20181401).

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge Markus Montag and Jana Liebenthron for their technical assistance. The authors thank Liu Rong, Li Junhui, and Shi Xiaodong (Department of Hematology, Children's Hospital, Capital Institute of Pediatrics), Qin Maoquan and Yang Jun (Hematology Oncology Center, Beijing Children's Hospital, Capital Medical University), and Sun Yuan, Sun Qingzhen, and Chen Jiao (Beijing JingDu Children's Hospital) for referring patients for fertility preservation counseling and performing ovarian tissue biopsy.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Chung C, Chu A, Chung B. Rare disease emerging as a global public health priority. *Front Public Health* (2022) 10:1028545. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1028545

2. Ying Z, Gong L, Li C. An update on china's national policies regarding rare diseases. *Intractable Rare Dis Res* (2021) 10:148–53. doi: 10.5582/irdr.2021.01027

3. Stoller JK. The challenge of rare diseases. Chest (2018) 153:1309-14. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.12.018

4. Majhail NS, Rizzo JD. Surviving the cure: Long term followup of hematopoietic cell transplant recipients. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2013) 48:1145–51. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2012.258

5. Jadoul P, Dolmans MM, Donnez J. Fertility preservation in girls during childhood: Is it feasible, efficient and safe and to whom should it be proposed? *Hum Reprod Update* (2010) 16:617–30. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmq010

6. Ruan X. Chinese Society of gynecological endocrinology affiliated to the international society of gynecological endocrinology guideline for ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2018) 34:1005-10. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2018.1488957

7. Hinkle K, Orwig KE, Valli-Pulaski H, Taylor S, van Leeuwen K, Carpentieri D, et al. Cryopreservation of ovarian tissue for pediatric fertility. *Biopreserv Biobank* (2021) 19:130–5. doi: 10.1089/bio.2020.0124

8. Dolmans MM, von Wolff M, Poirot C, Diaz-Garcia C, Cacciottola L, Boissel N, et al. Transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in a series of 285 women: A review of five leading European centers. *Fertil Steril* (2021) 115:1102–15. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.03.008

9. Takae S, Furuta S, Iwahataa H, Iwahata Y, Keino D, Kanamori R, et al. Cryopreservation of paediatric ovarian tissue with an updated version of the Edinburgh criteria for appropriate patient selection. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2021) 44:667–76. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2021.10.009

10. Poirot C, Abirached F, Prades M, Coussieu C, Bernaudin F, Piver P. Induction of puberty by autograft of cryopreserved ovarian tissue. *Lancet* (2012) 379:588. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61781-9

11. Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Fertility preservation in patients undergoing gonadotoxic therapy or gonadectomy: A committee opinion. *Fertil Steril* (2019) 112:1022–33. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.09.013

12. Ruan X, Cheng J, Du J, Jin F, Gu M, Li Y, et al. Analysis of fertility preservation by ovarian tissue cryopreservation in pediatric children in China. *Front Endocrinol* (2022) 13:930786. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.930786

13. Armstrong AG, Kimler BF, Smith BM, Woodruff TK, Pavone ME, Duncan FE. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation in young females through the oncofertility consortium's national physicians cooperative. *Future Oncol* (2018) 14:363–78. doi: 10.2217/fon-2017-0410

14. Baston-Bust DM, Bielfeld AP. Fertility preservation in the pediatric populationexperience from a German cryobank for ovarian tissue. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:995172. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.995172

15. Bedoschi G, Navarro PA. Oncofertility programs still suffer from insufficient resources in limited settings. J Assist Reprod Genet (2022) 39:953–5. doi: 10.1007/s10815-022-02452-w

 Gornet ME, Chen LX, Christianson MS. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation for emerging primary ovarian insufficiency: Expanding indications outside of cancer to preserve fertility and increase access to care. *Fertil Steril* (2022) 118:985–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2022.09.002

17. Gravholt CH, Viuff M, Just J, Sandahl K, Brun S, van der Velden J, et al. The changing face of turner syndrome. *Endocr Rev* (2023) 44:33-69. doi: 10.1210/endrev/bnac016

18. Cheng J, Ruan X, Du J, Jin F, Gu M, Wu Y, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation for a 3-year-old girl with mosaic turner syndrome in China: First case report and literature review. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:959912. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2022.959912

19. Vash-Margita A, Szymanska-Vandendriessche K, Gunther K, Rodriguez-Buritica DF, Christison-Lagay E, Saluja S, et al. Laparoscopic ovarian tissue harvesting for cryopreservation from a child with galactosemia. *Fertil Steril* (2022) 118:982–4. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2022.08.005

20. Liebenthron J, Montag M. Chapter 15 development of a nationwide network for ovarian tissue cryopreservation. *Methods Mol Biol* (2017) 1568:205–20. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-6828-2_15

21. Li Y, Ruan X, Liebenthron J, Montag M, Zhou Q, Kong W, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation for patients with premature ovary insufficiency caused by cancer treatment: Optimal protocol. *Climacteric* (2019) 22:383–9. doi: 10.1080/13697137.2018.1554644

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

22. van der Schoot V, Dondorp W, Dreesen J, Coonen E, Paulussen ADC, de Wert G, et al. Preimplantation genetic testing for more than one genetic condition: Clinical and ethical considerations and dilemmas. *Hum Reprod* (2019) 34:1146–54. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez059

23. Leger-Silvestre I, Caffrey JM, Dawaliby R, Alvarez-Arias DA, Gas N, Bertolone SJ, et al. Specific role for yeast homologs of the diamond blackfan anemia-associated Rps19 protein in ribosome synthesis. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:38177–85. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M506916200

24. Liu JM, Ellis SR. Ribosomes and marrow failure: Coincidental association or molecular paradigm? *Blood* (2006) 107:4583-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-12-4831

25. Vlachos A, Ball S, Dahl N, Alter BP, Sheth S, Ramenghi U, et al. Diagnosing and treating diamond blackfan anaemia: Results of an international clinical consensus conference. *Br J Haematol* (2008) 142:859–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07269.x

26. Da CL, Leblanc T, Mohandas N. Diamond-blackfan anemia. Blood (2020) 136:1262-73. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000947

27. Strahm B, Loewecke F, Niemeyer CM, Albert M, Ansari M, Bader P, et al. Favorable outcomes of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in children and adolescents with diamond-blackfan anemia. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4:1760–9. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019001210

28. Bonfim C, Nichele S, Loth G, Funke VAM, Nabhan SK, Pillonetto DV, et al. Transplantation for fanconi anaemia: Lessons learned from Brazil. *Lancet Haematol* (2022) 9:e228-36. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(22)00032-1

29. Xu L, Lu Y, Hu S, Li C, Tang Y, Wang H, et al. Unmanipulated haploidentical haematopoietic cell transplantation with radiation-free conditioning in fanconi anaemia: A retrospective analysis from the Chinese blood and marrow transplantation registry group. *Br J Haematol* (2022) 199:401–10. doi: 10.1111/bjh.18408

30. Sawamoto K, Stapleton M, Almeciga-Diaz CJ, Espejo-Mojica AJ, Losada JC, Suarez D, et al. Therapeutic options for mucopolysaccharidoses: Current and emerging treatments. *Drugs* (2019) 79:1103–34. doi: 10.1007/s40265-019-01147-4

31. Burlina AB, Gragnaniello V. Newborn screening of mucopolysaccharidosis type I. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci (2022) 59:257-77. doi: 10.1080/10408363.2021.2021846

32. Kharbanda S, Dvorak CC. The beginning of the end of allogeneic transplantation for hurler syndrome? N Engl J Med (2021) 385:2003–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe2116020

33. Turbeville S, Nicely H, Rizzo JD, Pedersen TL, Orchard PJ, Horwitz ME, et al. Clinical outcomes following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for the treatment of mucopolysaccharidosis VI. *Mol Genet Metab* (2011) 102:111–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2010.09.010

34. Wang J, Luan Z, Jiang H, Fang J, Qin M, Lee V, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in thirty-four pediatric cases of mucopolysaccharidosis-a tenyear report from the China children transplant group. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2016) 22:2104–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbmt.2016.08.015

35. Yanagimachi M, Ohya T, Yokosuka T, Kajiwara R, Tanaka F, Goto H, et al. The potential and limits of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for the treatment of autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome. *J Clin Immunol* (2016) 36:511–6. doi: 10.1007/s10875-016-0278-1

36. Quarello P, Spada M, Porta F, Vassallo E, Timeus F, Fagioli F, et al. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in niemann-pick disease type b monitored by chitotriosidase activity. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2018) 65:e26811. doi: 10.1002/pbc.26811

37. Ruan X. Expert consensus on fertility preservation in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in girls in China. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2022). doi: 10.1080/09513590.2022.2146671

38. Mulder RL, Font-Gonzalez A, Hudson MM, van Santen HM, Loeffen EAH, Burns KC, et al. Fertility preservation for female patients with childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer: Recommendations from the PanCareLIFE consortium and the international late effects of childhood cancer guideline harmonization group. *Lancet Oncol* (2021) 22:e45–56. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30594-5

39. Mastellari E, Marca A LA. Genetic conditions impairing female fertility. Panminerva Med (2020) 62:260-7. doi: 10.23736/S0031-0808.20.04208-1

40. Nourollahpour SM, Cassinerio E, Modarres M, Zareiyan A, Hamzehgardeshi Z, Moghadam ZB. Reproductive health issues in female patients with beta-thalassaemia major: A narrative literature review. *J Obstet Gynaecol* (2020) 40:902–11. doi: 10.1080/01443615.2019.1692802

41. La Marca A, Mastellari E. Fertility preservation for genetic diseases leading to premature ovarian insufficiency (POI). J Assist Reprod Genet (2021) 38:759–77. doi: 10.1007/s10815-021-02067-7

42. Anderson RA, Cameron D, Clatot F, Demeestere I, Lambertini M, Nelson SM, et al. Anti-mullerian hormone as a marker of ovarian reserve and premature ovarian insufficiency in children and women with cancer: A systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2022) 28:417–34. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmac004

43. Takae S, Furuta S, Keino D, Shiraishi E, Iwahata Y, Oyama K, et al. Surgical management of unilateral oophorectomy for ovarian tissue cryopreservation in highrisk children and adolescents with varied backgrounds. *Pediatr Surg Int* (2021) 37:1021–9. doi: 10.1007/s00383-021-04900-7s

44. Rowell EE, Corkum KS, Even KA, Laronda MM. Ovarian tissue health after laparoscopic unilateral oophorectomy: A porcine model for establishing optimized fertility preservation techniques in children. *J Pediatr Surg* (2020) 55:1631–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2019.12.014

45. Khattak H, Malhas R, Craciunas L, Afifi Y, Amorim CA, Fishel S, et al. Fresh and cryopreserved ovarian tissue transplantation for preserving reproductive and endocrine function: A systematic review and individual patient data meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2022) 28(3):400–16. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmac003

46. Yasmin E, Balachandren N, Davies MC, Jones GL, Lane S, Mathur R, et al. Fertility preservation for medical reasons in girls and women: British fertility society policy and practice guideline. *Hum Fertil (Camb)* (2018) 21:3–26. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2017.1422297

47. Masciangelo R, Chiti MC, Camboni A, Amorim CA, Donnez J, Dolmans MM. Mitochondrial content, activity, and morphology in prepubertal and adult human ovaries. J Assist Reprod Genet (2021) 38:2581–90. doi: 10.1007/s10815-021-02282-2

48. Donnez J, Dolmans MM. Fertility preservation in women. N Engl J Med (2017) 377:1657–65. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1614676

49. Ruan X, Cheng J, Korell M, Du J, Kong W, Lu D, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation prevents iatrogenic premature ovarian insufficiency: First 10 cases in China. *Climacteric* (2020) 23:574–80. doi: 10.1080/13697137.2020.1767569

50. Ruan X, Du J, Lu D, Jin F, Kong W, Wu Y, et al. First live birth in China after cryopreserved ovarian tissue transplantation to prevent premature ovarian insufficiency. Climacteric (2022) 25:421-4. doi: 10.1080/13697137.2022.2064215

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yasmin Jayasinghe, The University of Melbourne, Australia

REVIEWED BY

Tianren Wang, The University of Hong Kong, China Seok-Yeong Yu, University of Nebraska Medical Center, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Xiaoyan Chen Chenxiaoyan@cuhk.edu.hk; chenxiaoyan1214@yahoo.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 19 January 2023 ACCEPTED 12 April 2023 PUBLISHED 03 May 2023

CITATION

Chen L, Dong Z and Chen X (2023) Fertility preservation in pediatric healthcare: a review. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1147898. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1147898

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Chen, Dong and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Fertility preservation in pediatric healthcare: a review

Lin Chen¹, Zirui Dong^{2,3} and Xiaoyan Chen^{4,5}*

¹Reproductive Medical Center, The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ³Shenzhen Research Institute, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shenzhen, China, ⁴Maternal-Fetal Medicine Institute, Shenzhen Baoan Women's and Children's Hospital, Shenzhen University, Shenzhen, China, ⁵The Fertility Preservation Research Center, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China

Survival rates for children and adolescents diagnosed with malignancy have been steadily increasing due to advances in oncology treatments. These treatments can have a toxic effect on the gonads. Currently, oocyte and sperm cryopreservation are recognized as well-established and successful strategies for fertility preservation for pubertal patients, while the use of gonadotropinreleasing hormone agonists for ovarian protection is controversial. For prepubertal girls, ovarian tissue cryopreservation is the sole option. However, the endocrinological and reproductive outcomes after ovarian tissue transplantation are highly heterogeneous. On the other hand, immature testicular tissue cryopreservation remains the only alternative for prepubertal boys, yet it is still experimental. Although there are several published guidelines for navigating fertility preservation for pediatric and adolescent patients as well as transgender populations, it is still restricted in clinical practice. This review aims to discuss the indications and clinical outcomes of fertility preservation. We also discuss the probably effective and efficient workflow to facilitate fertility preservation.

KEYWORDS

fertility preservation, oocyte cryopreservation, ovarian tissue cryopreservation, testicular tissue cryopreservation, pediatric

Introduction

Long-term survival for children and adolescents diagnosed with malignancy has steadily increased and exceeded 80% over the past decade (1–3). As these cancer survivors reach adulthood, a substantial proportion of them experience infertility associated with previous gonadotoxic chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy (4, 5). In addition to oncology treatment, other non-oncological conditions and related therapy may raise fertility problems, including nephrotic syndrome (6), Turner Syndrome (7) and systemic lupus erythematosus (8). Currently, fertility issues have been increasingly recognized as a major concern for those newly diagnosed patients and their families (9, 10). Failing to achieve parenthood raises tremendous psychosocial stress on patients and their families and impairs their well-being. While scientists have established a range of methods for fertility preservation, including embryo cryopreservation, gamete cryopreservation, and gonad tissue cryopreservation (11), the clinical practice is not as satisfactory as expected (12, 13). This review aims to discuss the indications, methods, and clinical outcomes of fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations. The potential effective and efficient workflow to facilitate fertility preservation is discussed as well.

Indications for fertility preservation in the pediatric and adolescent populations

Oncological causes

The incidence of pediatric and adolescent cancers is estimated to range between 50 to 200 cases per million children per year (14, 15) and more than 80% of these cancers are now potentially curable with current treatments (1, 2). Chemotherapy and radiotherapy in cancer treatments can lead to temporary, long-term and permanent gonadal toxicity, making fertility impairment another issue that distresses cancer survivors and their families (16). Alkylating agents are highly gonadotoxic and are associated with premature ovarian insufficiency (17, 18) and oligo- or azoospermia (19) depending on agent and dose (17, 20).

In females, these treatments substantially accelerate the activation and atresia of primordial follicles, leading to premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) and permanent amenorrhea (18, 21–24). Depending on agents and regimes, Impact on fertility may be broadly classified in low (<20%), medium (20-80%), or high (>80%) (25). A 13-fold increased chance of developing premature menopause was observed in a childhood cancer survivor study (26). Ovarian radiation, on the other hand, can cause 50% of follicle depletion at the dosage of 2 Gy and 60% chances of ovarian insufficiency at 2.5-5 Gy (25). Besides, long-term follow up of pediatric patients also demonstrated significant decline in anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) after cancer therapy (23, 27), suggesting fertility losses and future fertility problems.

Spermatogenesis is particularly sensitive to chemotherapy and radiotherapy (28). Long-term follow up observed 25% and 28% of adult survivors of childhood cancer suffered from azoospermia and oligospermia after chemotherapy with cyclophosphamide equivalent dose less than 4000 mg/m² (29). In some regimes, several agents were administrated together, when cyclophosphamide is given > 7500 m g/m², almost all patients developed permanent azoospermia (16). Similarly, exposure to radiation causes germ cell loss in a dose-dependent manner (30), with immature spermatogonia the most radiosensitive, followed by spermatocyte and spermatid (28). Radiation at 0.1 Gy can result in morphological and quantitative changes to spermatogonia, increasing the dosage leads to spermatocyte and spermatid reduction (31). The threshold of radiation dose leading to permanent azoospermia remains unclear. But Castillo et al. found that all boys with acute lymphoblastic leukemia receiving testis radiotherapy at dose over 12 Gy developed azoospermia (19). A more recent study suggests that testicular radiation > 6 Gy may lead to permanent infertility (31).

Non-oncological causes

Younger patients affected by certain non-oncological medical conditions which require gonadotoxic treatments are potential candidates for fertility preservation as well (17, 32, 33). For example, gonadotoxic alkylating agents are widely used for diseases including nephrotic syndrome (6), systemic lupus erythematosus (34, 35), refractory idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (36). Also, a range of hematopoietic disorders, including thalassemia major, sickle cell anemia, aplastic anemia and myeloproliferative diseases, may be treated with hematopoietic stem cell transplant, which preconditions alkylating chemotherapy with or without radiotherapy (37, 38). In addition, some diseases can affect patients' fertility at an early age, including Turner syndrome (7, 39), Klinefelter's syndrome (40), fragile X syndrome (33), endometriosis (41), and gonad injury (42). Transgender populations receiving gender-affirming treatments may also require fertility preservation (43). Some of the most common non-oncological conditions which may require consideration of fertility preservation is presented in Table 1.

Potential risks for fertility impairment vary depending on patients' age, gender, body mass index, medical condition, and subsequent treatment scheme. A comprehensive and individual assessment is essential to determine the appropriate timing and methods for fertility preservation (46). Previous guidelines have extensively discussed the fertility risk assessment of specific agents

TABLE 1	Non-oncological	indications f	or fertility	preservation.
---------	-----------------	---------------	--------------	---------------

Conditions	Diseases
Autoimmune diseases (35, 44)	Systemic lupus erythematosus, Crohn's disease, Behcet's disease, Sjogren's syndrome, systemic scleroderma, nephrotic syndrome, multiple sclerosis, acute progressive nephritis syndrome, <i>etc.</i>
Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (38)	β-thalassemia major, severe aplastic anemia, sickle-cell disease, Fanconi's anemia, <i>etc.</i>
Other conditions causing POI or spermatogenic failure	Turner syndrome (7), Klinefelter's syndrome (40), fragile X syndrome (33), endometriosis (41), ovarian/testicular torsion, benign ovarian tumors, galactosemia (45), gonad injury (42), etc.
Transgender populations (43)	Not applicable

POI, premature ovarian insufficiency.

or therapy regimes (25, 47–51), which have provided useful guidance to current practice.

Available options for fertility preservation

Females

Oocyte cryopreservation

Embryo cryopreservation, as a long-established fertility preservation method, can guarantee the best outcomes for fertility preservation. However, oocyte cryopreservation is preferred since most adolescents are unlikely to have a permanent partner and using donor sperm is less desired and poses ethical issues (11, 17). Since 2012, oocyte cryopreservation is no longer considered an experimental method for fertility preservation (52). However, outcomes in adolescents are less clear.

Controlled ovarian stimulation is the most effective strategy to obtain mature oocytes (53). However, conducting ovarian stimulation on a basis of diagnosed disease requires modifications to conventional protocols to address potential restrictions, including limited time allowed, and temporary exposure to high estradiol levels (54). Advances in ovarian stimulation have allowed fertility specialists to finish ovarian stimulation and oocyte retrieval within two weeks (55, 56). In urgent situations, the gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) antagonist protocol is considered optimal for its short time and safety. Meanwhile, random and double stimulation are feasible alternatives (32, 57). In non-urgent situations, on the other hand, both GnRH antagonist protocol and long protocol are appropriate (32). Anti-estrogenic agents may be added to abolish estradiol reproduction in estradiol-sensitive diseases (53, 54). In addition, cryopreservation of in vitro maturated oocytes may be a feasible strategy when present with time constraints (58), which eliminates potential estrogen elevation and minimizes delay in treatment. Immature oocytes can be obtained at the time of ovarian tissue cryopreservation or oophorectomy as well (59). Various cryopreservation methods have been developed to freeze oocytes. If patients survive the original diseases and desire pregnancy in the future, these oocytes can be thawed and used for assisted reproductive techniques (Figure 1A). Recent advances in cryoprotectants, cryopreservation techniques (vitrification), and fertilization with intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) have significantly improved the clinical efficacy of cryopreserved oocytes (60-62). A series of studies which investigated the efficacy of different cryopreservation protocols concluded that vitrification outperforms slow freezing (63). The survival rate of vitrified oocytes ranges between 73.6% and 92.7%, significantly higher than that of slow freezing (58.0%-72.3%) (63-70). Vitrification is also superior regarding other outcomes like fertilization, implantation, clinical pregnancy, and live birth (63, 65, 71).

GnRH-agonist protection

The clinical efficacy of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone agonists (GnRH-a) during chemotherapy is controversial (54) and

current recommendations regarding its use remain conflicting (11, 32, 53). Some meta-analyses evaluated the protective effect of GnRH-a during chemotherapy in premenopausal patients with breast cancer or lymphoma. Lower risks of chemotherapyinduced POI/amenorrhea and a higher number of spontaneous pregnancies after GnRH-a withdrawal were observed in the study group (72-75). However, the evidence is relatively weak due to heterogeneous populations, varying chemotherapy regimens and study endpoints (72, 76, 77). More importantly, these studies were conducted in adult subjects with an already established HPO axis. Relevant studies among adolescent patients with cancer are scarce (78, 79). A prospective study found GnRH-a administration during chemotherapy protected ovarian function and preserved fertility in adolescent patients (78). Another retrospective study drew a similar conclusion, with normal ovarian function maintained at the clinical, laboratory, and ultrasonic levels in 27/36 patients after GnRH-a coadministration (79). Overall, well-designed, large, prospective, randomized, controlled trials are essential to determine the protective effect of GnRH-a in children and adolescent patients (80).

Ovarian tissue cryopreservation

Ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC) is perhaps the sole option for fertility preservation in prepubertal children and postpubertal adolescents who cannot delay the start of chemotherapy (11, 17, 32, 53, 81). Roughly 50% of the cortex from one ovary is surgically removed, dissected, and cryopreserved for future use (82, 83). The ovarian tissue is cryopreserved by either slow freezing (84– 86) or vitrification (87). When a patient intends to restore ovarian function and/or fertility, the cryopreserved tissue can be thawed and replaced (Figure 1B).

In 1994, Gosden et al. successfully restored ovarian function to several castrated sheep using frozen-thawed ovarian slices (88). Symbolically, this has resulted in several lambs and maintained long-term ovarian function for up to 2 years (89). After that, studies of cryopreserved human ovarian tissue reported normal follicular morphology after thawing (90), follicular survival (91), and growth of follicles to antral stages (92) when replaced to immunodeficient mice. Thereafter, follicular growth (93, 94), ovarian endocrine function restoration (94), and in vitro embryo formation (95) were reported after being transplanted to humans. The first live birth after autologous ovarian tissue transplantation (OTT) using cryopreserved ovarian tissue in humans was documented in 2004 (96) and the second in 2005 (97). Since the milestone event, ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation is gaining increasing attention in the field of fertility preservation. The cumulation of success has recently made it an accepted technique for fertility preservation (53).

Multiple transplantation strategies have been developed. The frozen ovarian tissue can be replaced either orthotopically (17) and/ or heterotopically (98). Orthotopic sites include the remaining ovary (96) and peritoneal pockets created on the broad ligament (99). The orthotopic graft provides the possibility of spontaneous pregnancy because of the proximity to the fallopian tube (98, 100–103). Notably, the first live birth was conceived spontaneously



FIGURE 1

Options for female fertility preservation. For pubertal patients, mature oocyte cryopreservation is the optimal strategy. Controlled ovarian hyperstimulation and oocyte retrieval can be completed within two weeks if the treatments can be delayed. Another method requiring less time for ovarian stimulation is cryopreservation of *in vitro* matured immature cumulus-oocyte-complex (COCs). Additionally, immature COCs can be obtained while harvesting ovarian tissue for cryopreservation. Thawed oocytes are utilized for *in vitro* fertilization with intracellular sperm injection **(A)**, resulting in live birth rates per transfer varying between 39% and 52%. If the patient is prepubertal or requires immediate treatments, ovarian tissue cryopreservation remains the only option. The ovarian cortex is surgically removed, dissected, and cryopreserved. While vitrification is ideal for the cryopreservation of oocytes, slow-freezing is currently preferred for the preservation of ovarian tissue. Thawed ovarian slices may be transplanted either orthotopically or heterotopically **(B)**. Transplantation to orthotopic sites (broad ligament and ovarian medulla) provides the chance for spontaneous conception, whereas transplanting to heterotopic sites necessitates assisted reproductive techniques. The overall live birth rates after OTT range from 18.2% to 43.3%.

without either ovarian stimulation or *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) (96). In some studies, more pregnancies and live births were obtained naturally (99, 101, 102, 104). Many women have been reported to conceive and deliver more than once (104), with 3 cases delivering three times (105, 106) and one case conceiving four times (107). Heterotopic sites include subcutaneous areas in the forearm (98), abdomen wall (95), chest wall (100), breast (108), rectus muscle (108), and subperitoneal tissue (109), where a favorable environment for follicular development such as optimal temperature, paracrine factors, and blood supply may not be provided (100, 108). Thus, the procedure is adopted less frequently (110). Heterotopic autografting eliminates the

possibility of conceiving naturally but not with the use of assisted reproductive techniques (ART). Clinical pregnancy (110) and live birth (111) following this procedure have been reported recently, partly removing its controversies. Meanwhile, the procedure also offers several potential advantages (100, 112), including, (1) less invasive surgery; (2) easier follicular monitoring and oocyte retrieval for IVF; (3) easier monitoring for cancer recurrence and removal of the graft, if necessary; and (4) more cost-effective options in case of repetitive transplantations. For some females who wish to restore ovarian function but do not desire pregnancy (98, 99), these advantages probably make heterotopic autograft a potentially preferred option.
Survival of grafted tissue and ovarian follicles depends on several factors, including the timing and location of transplantation, surgical techniques, and most importantly, the levels of revascularization soon after the procedure (113). Studies suggest that it takes 48 hours to revascularize after OTT in rodents (114, 115) but it may take up to 5 days in humans (115). In addition, research shows most follicles die before complete revascularization, with more than 70% of primordial follicles failing to survive the procedure in both humans (116) and sheep (89). There are challenges to further improving the survival of the graft and clinical outcomes (54, 113). On the other hand, cryopreserved ovarian tissue can be transplanted repeatedly in case of replantation failure (98). In a review including 318 women and 369 OTTs worldwide, Gellert et al. found that the average amount of transplanted tissue at the first OTT accounted for 46%, with 37% and 38% of the total amount of cryopreserved tissue being transplanted for the second and the third time, respectively (102). It seems a feasible strategy to extend the duration of ovarian function by repeating grafting procedures.

One of the leading concerns over the autograft of cryopreserved ovarian tissue is the risk of reintroducing malignant cells among malignancy survivors (100), which is considered high in hematological malignancies like leukemia and Burkitt lymphoma, and moderate in the case of Ewing sarcoma, advanced breast cancer, colon cancer, cervical adenocarcinoma (54, 112). In a recent systematic review, metastases were repeatedly detected in ovarian tissue obtained from patients with leukemia, but it was less common in other malignancies (117). Several methods have been applied to detect possible malignancy contamination before transplantation, such as histology (118), immunohistochemistry (119), and polymerase chain reaction (if specific markers are available) (117, 120). It has been proposed that ovarian tissue might be first xenografted to immunodeficient mice to assess the risk before grafted to humans (121). The recurrence rate after ovarian tissue graft in several large cohorts ranges between 3.9% and 7.0% (98, 99, 102), with a study comparing the relapse rate with those who did not accept transplantation and demonstrating similar recurrence rate (7%, 3/41 vs. 7%, 48/691) (99). None of these malignancy relapses was deemed related to OTT but dependent on the primary disease (98, 102), which has been endorsed by multiple studies (98, 102, 103, 107, 111, 122-126). Nonetheless, further studies are warranted to determine the safety of autograft of ovarian tissue among malignancy survivors (100, 102, 119, 121).

Males

Sperm cryopreservation

Sperm cryopreservation with masturbation is the easiest and most reliable method for fertility preservation for pubertal boys (11, 20, 33, 127, 128). Penile vibro-stimulation, as a noninvasive method, can be an alternative when having difficulties with masturbation (20). However, considering the invasiveness, electro-ejaculation and testicular sperm extraction (TESE) should be conducted only after weighing the benefits and harms (20, 129).

Cryopreservation of immature testicular tissue

Cryopreservation of immature testicular tissue (ITT) is the only fertility preservation option for prepubertal boys as spermatogenesis is absent (11). Small pieces of immature testicular tissue are surgically removed for cryopreservation. Yet still experimental, it is stressed that the procedure is provided exclusively for research purposes under ethical approval or novel technologies governance (20, 33, 76, 130). According to a survey, at least 1033 prepubertal boys aged between 3 months and 18 years have received the procedure (131). Multiple surveys reveal parents are willing to embrace the experimental technique (132–135), in hope that future advances in reproductive techniques will allow fertility restoration by the time their children have grown up (136). To date, however, comprehensive progress is still needed to make testicular tissue cryopreservation clinically applicable.

Testicular stem cells (TSC) can be stored in immature testicular tissue or a cell suspension. Detailed procedures of both strategies, including sample preparation, storage containers, cryoprotection, and cooling and warming process, have been elaborated elsewhere (137). Different cryopreservation strategies, including slow freezing and vitrification, have been attempted in human and animal models, leading to conflicting results (138–140). But slow freezing remains the most popular option for testicular tissue cryopreservation (130, 131), with both controlled (141–143) and uncontrolled (138) slow-freezing protocols under use.

The overall process of immature testicular tissue cryopreservation and fertility restoration procedures have been vividly described in a recent review (144). Potential methods for fertility restoration include autologous graft of immature testicular tissue (145), injection of testicular stem cells into the testis (146, 147), and in vitro maturation of TSCs (148, 149). The main advantage of ITT graft is the preservation of TSCs within their original niche (130). The maintenance of cell interaction and paracrine are preferable for tissue maturation, stem cell selfrenewal, and differentiation (50, 150, 151). However, several male pediatric cancers, including testicular cancer, leukemia, and lymphoma, are prone to metastasize to the testes (152), significantly increasing the risks of malignancy relapse after autograft (33, 142). In vitro maturation of TSCs and reinjection of a TSC suspension free of malignant cells into testes, by contrast, can avoid the risks of cancer reoccurrence (50). But the original supporting conditions for in vivo spermatogenesis are absent.

Clinical outcomes after fertility preservation

Oocyte cryopreservation

For female patients, embryo preservation, if available, is the best method for female fertility preservation. However, lack of a permanent partner and ethical concerns to use of donor sperm make oocyte cryopreservation adopted far more frequently in postpubertal adolescent patients (17). Poorer outcomes are seen compared to embryo cryopreservation due to oocyte degeneration after thawing (53), which is even greater when it comes to immature oocyte cryopreservation (153–155).

The clinical outcomes using cryopreserved mature oocytes have been steadily improving as freezing/thawing techniques evolve and ICSI is used for fertilization (63). Some randomized control trials compared the clinical outcomes between vitrified oocytes and fresh oocytes, which confirmed the non-inferiority of vitrified oocytes to fresh oocytes in terms of fertilization rate, embryo development, implantation rate, clinical pregnancy rate, and live birth rate (62, 156), with similar conclusions drawn in other publications (61, 66– 69, 157). The fertilization rates of oocytes with ICSI after thawing based on a large sample size ranged between 70.0% and 81.6% (61, 67, 158). The implantation rates fluctuated around 40% per embryo transferred (62, 67, 68). Notably, some studies found that the implantation rate using autologous vitrified oocytes was significantly lower than that of donor oocytes (63, 157). Current data suggests the clinical pregnancy rates per transfer can be as high as 50.7% to 62.6% (61, 63, 157, 159) whereas live birth rates per transfer range between 39% and 52% (61, 67, 157). A study found poor success rates among cancer patients than those who pursue elective oocyte preservation, but no statistically significant differences were observed after correction for age and controlled ovarian stimulation protocols (159). Current data collectively suggest that oocyte cryopreservation is an effective method for female fertility preservation. However, the efficiency of frozen/ thawed oocytes remains unknown, which is vital for appropriate consultation regarding the number of oocytes to freeze to obtain at least a live birth in the future (61). Preliminary investigations revealed the overall percentage of warmed mature oocytes resulting in a live birth ranged between 4.2% and 10.8% (9.3 to 23.8 vitrified/thawed oocytes can lead to a live birth) (61, 63, 66). Besides, most previous studies were based on adult women aged >30 years, concluding that advanced age was negatively correlated with reproductive outcomes (61, 160, 161) and warranting more studies to counsel adolescent patients on the ideal number of oocytes needed to achieve a live birth (162).

While evidence indicates that advanced paternal age is less associated with increased rates of human embryonic aneuploidy (163, 164), it is well known that maternal age is highly correlated with oocyte/embryo aneuploidy (165) and it is one of the strongest predictors of IVF success (166). Interestingly, a recent study revealed that aneuploidy is also common among very young women (167). Gruhn et al. investigated the oocyte aneuploidy rates in women aged 9 to 43 years and found that oocytes aneuploidy rates from young women aged under 20 were significantly higher than those from women in their 20s and early 30s, which exhibited a U-shape curve. In comparison to women in their 20s to early 30s, younger women are also reported to experience higher rates of embryonic aneuploidy (165) and miscarriage (168), which deserves attention when providing counselling to post-pubertal adolescent patients on the clinical outcomes of oocyte cryopreservation.

Oocyte cryopreservation is an effective method for female fertility preservation. However, the relationship between longterm freezing and clinical efficacy, or offspring safety requires ongoing study (169). A multicenter study assessed the outcomes of oocytes cryopreserved for up to 48 months, no apparent differences in post-thawing oocyte survival, fertilization, cleavage, implantation, and live birth were observed when compared with those preserved for shorter periods (170). A more recent study reported a woman whose oocyte was frozen for 14 years and resulted in a healthy baby after fertilization with ICSI (171). On the other hand, congenital malformations were reported at rates ranging from 0.005% to 5.6% in several large cohorts (172, 173), which is close to the incidence in the USA national birth record in 2019 (3%) (169). Nonetheless, long-term follow-up of these children based on large cohorts is still needed.

Ovarian tissue cryopreservation

Currently, ovarian tissue cryopreservation is already considered an accepted technique for female fertility preservation given its success in restoring ovarian function and fertility (53). Recent studies demonstrated that reimplantation of ovarian tissue in the pelvic cavity resulted in the restoration of ovarian function in 85% to 95% of adult recipients (101, 103, 113, 174), as evidenced by the return of menstruation (98, 113, 175) or pregnancy (102, 113). Researchers also examined the serum hormone profiles before and after ovarian tissue transplantations, demonstrating a gradual decline in both follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) levels and return to premenopausal levels 4 to 5 months after transplantation, which was accompanied by the resumption of menstrual cycles and the disappearance of menopausal symptoms (45, 99, 176, 177). However, restoration of ovarian endocrine function may not be reflected by AMH, which was almost undetectable in most cases (176, 178, 179), indicating a limited follicular population in the graft. According to Diaz-Garcia et al., the mean intervals between ovarian tissue transplantation and ovarian function resumption was 94.3 days (103), with most reported cases ranging between 3 and 6.5 months (98, 99, 104, 108, 123, 124, 176, 178, 180-182). The time frame of ovarian function resumption is consistent with that of folliculogenesis (183).

Duration of ovarian function after grafting can depend on the quantity of primordial follicles at the time of transplant and proportion that survive the grafting process (99). The mean duration is approximately 4 to 5 years in humans (174). However, in a study including 41 young women (aged 32.9 on average at the time of OTT), more than half of the transplantations resulted in a functional life span between 1 and 4 years, with some cases lasting for more than 10 years while several cases lasting less than one year (99). The longest duration of restored ovarian function recorded to date is 13.5 years by repeating the transplantation procedure (98). The heterogeneity indicates the necessity of improving and standardizing procedures for ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation.

Since the first live birth report after ovarian tissue autografting in 2004 (96) and the second in 2005 (97), the number of pregnancies and live birth have continued to climb steadily, showing an exponential trend (82). Live births after autografting

of ovarian tissue cryopreserved before (184, 185) and after (186, 187) menarche have been reported recently. The number of live births after ovarian tissue transplantation was estimated to exceed 200 in 2020 (188). However, the total number of transplantations worldwide (the denominator) is unknown, leading to the unavailability of accurate pregnancy rates and live birth rates. In an early study based on five centers worldwide including 111 patients, the pregnancy rate and live birth rate were 29% and 21%, respectively (105). These figures were subsequently confirmed by several case series and pooled analyses with larger sample sizes (98, 99, 101-104, 113, 182), yielding a clinical pregnancy rate between 27.3% and 65.6%, and a live birth rate between 18.2% and 43.3%, respectively. Nonetheless, these results have been confounded by both patient factors (i.e. age at OTC/OTT, exposure to gonadotoxic therapy, the number and size of ovarian slices replaced, and residual ovarian function, etc.) and technical factors (i.e. surgical techniques, application of proangiogenic agents, the assistance of artificial reproductive techniques, etc.) (100).

Currently, most studies focus on adult subjects with little attention to ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation from tissue taken from prepubertal children and post-pubertal adolescents. There are several large cohorts of young girls reporting ovarian tissue cryopreservation, but the return-to-use rates are extremely low (45, 189, 190), leaving limited data to evaluate the endocrinological and reproductive function after ovarian tissue replantation in this population. Table 2 includes some of the current reports on ovarian tissue transplantation that were cryopreserved at the age of \leq 20 years. In 2012, there were two cases of ovarian tissue transplantation in pre-pubertal girls to induce puberty (191, 192), resulting in gonadotropins decline and estradiol secretion. Although ovarian activity ceased about 2 years after the grafting, both patients established normal menstrual cycles and secondary sex characteristics shortly after the grafting, demonstrating proof of concept in inducing puberty. As the amount of tissue required for pregnancy and parenthood is unknown in any individual, concerns regarding use of OTT for pubertal induction remain (198, 199).

Another subject of study is the relationship between follicular density/quantity and the longevity of restored ovarian function. Several studies observed an association between younger age at the time of ovarian tissue cryopreservation and preferable clinical outcomes including the longevity of graft survival (200) and live birth rates (102, 103, 113, 196), though challenged by another study (99). The association may be, at least partly, explained by the greater number of follicles residing in the tissue upon harvest in the younger population. In fact, the primordial follicle pool in cryopreserved ovarian tissue retrieved from prepuberty adolescents is significantly larger than those from older patients (189, 201). However, in the report by Ernst et al. (191) and Poirot et al. (192), the ovarian tissue was cryopreserved at the age of 9 and 10 years, respectively. After the graft, however, the endocrinological function was maintained for merely 19 months and 2 years, respectively, much shorter than the average duration reported in adult subjects. These discrepancies mean much optimization is still needed to maximize the clinical outcomes.

Notably, some patients may undergo chemotherapy before ovarian tissue cryopreservation. The latest studies have demonstrated similar resumption in ovarian function and pregnancy rates per woman in patients who received low gonadotoxic risk chemotherapy compared to those who were chemo-naïve (98, 104, 182). Importantly, ovarian harvest in those who have achieved complete remission following chemotherapy may reduce the chance of malignant contamination among patients with leukemia (117–119). However, chemotherapy containing alkylating agents does adversely impact the clinical outcomes including both the pregnancy rate and live birth rate (98).

Sperm and testicular tissue cryopreservation

Sperm cryopreservation is the most successful method for male fertility preservation. While some studies suggested reduced sperm viability and motility after thawing (202, 203), cryopreserved sperm from patients with a previous malignancy has comparable potential to obtain a clinical pregnancy as ART evolves, especially with the use of ICSI for fertilization (204, 205).

The documented clinical pregnancy rates using thawed sperm collected before cancer therapy ranges from 18% to 57% (204, 206-210). Meanwhile, a higher success rate is observed in ICSI programs, followed by IVF, with intrauterine insemination (IUI) being the least successful (206-208, 210). According to an early study, it took a median of 3 cycles to get pregnant in ICSI, whereas 8 cycles were required in IVF (211). Similar pregnancy rates have been observed compared with non-cancer control or fresh sperm (205, 208). A large cohort involving 272 males with cancers reported a live birth rate of 62.1% per patient, comparable to the non-cancer infertile population (205). Specifically, the outcomes of couples using testicular sperm do not differ between fresh and frozen-thawed sperm among patients with Klinefelter syndrome (212, 213), obstructive azoospermia (214), and non-obstructive azoospermia (215, 216). But the cumulative live birth rate was lower than that of ejaculated sperm (216, 217).

Sperm can be stored for decades under ultra-low temperatures. The longest duration of sperm cryopreservation to date is 28 years, which successfully resulted in a healthy live birth with IUI (218). Unfortunately, it remains unknown whether the freezing-thawing process poses an adverse impact on the long-term development of children born with cryopreserved sperm.

For those patients who had their testicular tissue cryopreserved, the fertility restoration strategy includes autologous grafting of immature testicular tissue (145), injection of TSCs into the testis (146, 147) and *in vitro* maturation of TSCs (148, 149) and these options have been extensively discussed in a recent review (130). Due to its experimental nature, clinical outcomes on testicular tissue transplantation in human subjects are still unavailable regardless of great achievements obtained using animal models (20, 33, 50).

Transplantation of immature testicular tissue appears to be one of the most promising methods for male fertility preservation. Since the live birth of mice and rabbits after fresh and cryopreserved

Reference	Age at OTC	Age at OTT	Hormonal restoration	Interval between graft and restoration	Duration of ovarian function	Pregnancy	Live birth	Notes for results
Ernst et al. 2013 (191)	9	13.5	YES	4 Mon	19 Mon	NA	NA	NA
Matthews et al. 2018 (185)	9	23	NA	NA	NA	YES	YES	IVF
<i>Poirot</i> et al. 2012 (192)	10	13	YES	2 Mon	2 years	NA	NA	NA
Demeestere et al. 2015 (184)	14	24	YES	4.5 Mon	NA	YES	YES	NC
	14	21	NO	-	-	NO	NO	Graft failure
	19	27	YES	NA	4 Mon	NO	NO	IVF failure
Meirow et al. 2016 (107)	19	31	YES	NA	NA	YES	NO	Ongoing pregnancy
	19	37	YES	NA	NA	NO	NO	IVF failure
	17	24	YES	3.5 Mon	NA	YES	YES	NC
Donnez et al. 2011 (193)	20	23	YES	4 Mon	NA	YES	YES	NC
	20	NA	YES	3.5 Mon	>8 Mon	YES	YES	NC
Póvoa et al. 2016 (194)	18	28	YES	1 week	>6 Mon	NO	NO	Embryo cryopreserved
Donnez et al. 2012 (186)	18	28	YES	24 weeks	NA	YES	YES	IVF
Rosendahl et al. 2011 (122)	NA	19	YES	NA	>18 Mon	NA	NA	Embryo transfer
Revel et al. 2011 (187)	19	23	YES	NA	>9 Mon	YES	YES	IVF
Schmidt et al. 2011 (176)	19	NA	YES	16 weeks	>18 Mon	NO	NO	IVF failure
Roux et al. 2010 (195)	20	23	YES	9 weeks	NA	YES	YES	NC
	20	27	YES	NA	>1 year	YES	YES	NC
Van der Ven et al. 2016 (196)	20	29	YES	NA	>1 year	YES	NO	NC, Tubal pregnancy
Callejo et al. 2013 (197)	20	30	YES	4.5 Mon	NA	YES	YES	IVF

TABLE 2 Current information about ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation in prepubertal children and post-pubertal adolescents.

OTC, ovarian tissue cryopreservation; OTT ovarian tissue transplantation; NC, natural conception; IVF, in vitro fertilization

immature testicular tissue transplantation in 2002 (219). Achievements have been made on various animal models, with promise toward clinical use. In summary, functional spermatogenesis after testicular tissue graft has been made possible in mice (220), ferret (221), sheep (222), pigs (223), collared peccary (149), bison (224), buffalo (225), Coturnix japonica (226), and in non-human primates including marmoset (227), cynomolgus monkey (228), and rhesus macaques (145, 229). In some species, offspring using graft-derived sperm with ICSI have been reported (145, 223, 226, 228), proving its potential in fertility preservation and restoration in prepubertal males. The anatomy and physiology of the testis in non-human primates resemble humans the most and make them perfect preclinical models for ITT transplantation research (130). Most recently, fresh and

cryopreserved testicular tissues from prepubertal rhesus macaques were autologously transplanted under the back skin and scrotal skin after castration. Surprisingly, all grafts survived, grew, and restored testosterone reproduction as well as endogenous spermatogenesis. A healthy female baby was produced with graftoriginated sperm (145). This study marks the biggest milestone for testicular tissue cryopreservation and auto-transplantation toward clinical translation.

Reinjection of TSCs was first introduced in 1994 (146, 147). TSCs isolated from immature mice were injected into the testes of infertile hosts and successfully colonized the seminiferous tubules. The host mice restored natural spermatogenesis and produced offspring using sperm from donor tissue. From that onwards, the method has been proven successful in multiple animals. Offspring

were obtained by either natural mating or assisted reproductive techniques after fertility recovery in mice (230, 231), rats (232, 233), goats (234), sheep (235), chicken (236), and zebrafish (237). However, the overall success using primate models is limited. *In vivo* spermatogenesis was recovered (229, 238, 239), and in some cases, embryo formation was documented (238), but no offspring have been reported yet.

In vitro maturation of TSCs was also established on mice models which successfully resulted in offspring using round spermatids with ICSI (230). Researches focusing on rats (240), pigs (241), calf (242), and buffalo (243) has successfully induced post-miotic cells (haploid germ cells), and some studies progressed to the formation of preimplantation blastocysts (244). But healthy offspring was reported in mice exclusively (130). IVM of TSCs in non-human primates (245, 246) and humans (247–249) has led to similar results. Only post-meiotic cells were documented. Overall, this technique is still in its infancy.

Transgender population

Transgender individuals represent a special population who recognize internal gender as different from biological gender. The latest statistics estimated that there are 150,000 young and 1.4 million adult transgender women (transwomen, MtF) or transgender men (transmen, FtM) in the United States (250). In addition, there is a trend towards presentation at younger ages (251). To alleviate gender dysphoria, many of them choose gender-affirming therapy including gender-affirming hormone therapy (GAHT) and gender-affirming surgery (GAS) (43), rendering temporary subfertility or permanent sterility (252). Accordingly, gender-affirming therapy, both hormonal and surgical, is one of the indications for fertility preservation (43, 253).

A variety of studies suggest transgender individuals have a strong desire for parenthood. 62% to 82% of transgender individuals want to have children, biological or adopted (254–256). But the desire to have children declines throughout the GAHT process (257). Meanwhile, nearly half of the transgender adolescents noted that their desire to have their biological children may change when they grow up (258) whereas a proportion of them regretted not undergoing fertility preservation (259, 260). A recent survey revealed that almost all (94.6%, 387/409) transgender respondents agreed that fertility preservation should be offered to all transgender individuals (261).

Several scientific societies have issued guidelines navigating health care to the transgender population, recommending that all transgender individuals should receive a consultation about potential fertility risks of gender-affirming treatments and preservation options before transition (43, 253, 262). However, no guideline specifies the optimal time to initiate discussion and counseling, leading to some situations where patients have their first discussion about fertility preservation after the initiation of gender-affirming therapy (263, 264). Inadequate and belated information provision puts patients in a dilemma between fertility preservation and discontinuation/delay of gender-affirming therapy. Considering most transgender persons are reluctant to postpone or suspend gender-affirming therapy (254, 261), it appears even more important to start consultation as earlier as possible.

Fertility preservation for transmen

Oocyte cryopreservation, embryo preservation, and ovarian tissue cryopreservation are established methods for fertility preservation for transmen. While ovarian stimulation and the accompanying unpleasant experience of estradiol elevation, vaginal examination and oocyte retrieval are unavoidable for oocyte cryopreservation (265, 266), ovarian tissue can be obtained at the time of gender-affirming surgery. For transmen who have not started GAHT, ovarian stimulation protocols are the same as those used for infertility (251). GnRH antagonist protocol can be considered for its efficacy in oocyte yield (32), and the addition of letrozole can reduce estradiol levels and related symptoms (267).

Some transmen may have already started testosterone treatment before ovarian stimulation. It was previously deemed that testosterone induced polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) (268). But recent studies demonstrated testosterone exposure for more than a year did not disturb ovarian follicle distribution (269, 270). Some studies suggest temporary discontinuation of hormonal therapy before ovarian stimulation (251, 265). While some small studies demonstrated no differences in oocyte yield between transmen with continuous hormonal therapy and ciswomen (271–273).

In vitro maturation of immature oocytes from oophorectomy can be another source of oocytes (274). However, a recent study demonstrated the low feasibility of this strategy for fertility preservation (275). Almost 2,000 cumulus-oocyte-complex (COCs) were collected at the time of oophorectomy and merely 23.8% of them matured after *in vitro* culture. Of the 151 out of 208 mature oocytes that survived vitrification/thawing, 139 oocytes were fertilized with ICSI, leading to 48 normal fertilizations (34.5%) and 4 transferable blastocysts. Collectively, given the poor maturation rate (28% to 36%) and utilization efficacy after IVM (59, 276), as well as lower pregnancy rates and higher pregnancy loss rates (277–279), IVM should not be used as the only method for fertility preservation in transmen (280).

For prepuberty transmen and those who are unwilling to accept ovarian stimulation, ovarian tissue cryopreservation is the sole option for fertility preservation (253). Ovarian tissue can be obtained after oophorectomy without testosterone discontinuation (280). Auto-transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue has resulted in more than 200 live birth (188). But there is no report of ovarian tissue transplantation in transmen.

Fertility preservation for transwomen

Sperm cryopreservation is a reliable option for fertility preservation among transwomen (253). Sperm may be obtained by either masturbation, assisted ejaculation, or TESE (33, 129). Cryopreserved sperm could be used for IUI, alternatively, IVF/ICSI using oocytes from a donor or cisgender female partner (251). Cumulative live birth rate using frozen/thawed sperm before anticancer treatment can be as high as 62.1% with ART (205), but these results may not apply to the transgender population because gender-affirming therapy (280–282) and some behavioral factors (283, 284) pose reversible or irreversible threats on semen quality.

For prepubertal transgender girls, testicular tissue cryo preservation remains the only option for fertility preservation (251). Some transgender girls may have received puberty suppression and estrogen supplementation at different pubertal stages (43), leading to decreased testosterone levels. The deficiency of intratesticular testosterone results in severe spermatogenesis dysfunction (280). The effect of testosterone suppression on spermatogenesis in adults have been extensively investigated in cisgender male contraceptive research and is reversible after cessation of suppression therapy (285). But the effect on pubertal transgender girls remains partly unanswered. de Nie et al. investigated the histology of testes using orchiectomy samples under testosterone suppression and/or estrogen exposure (286). They found only immature germ cells (spermatocytes and spermatogonia) present in the seminiferous tubules when medical intervention started at Tanner stage 2-3, with additional mature sperm observed in 57% of subjects who initiated medical treatment at Tanner stage 4 or later. These findings indicate the potential of testicular tissue cryopreservation for fertility after the initiation of puberty suppression and estrogen therapy. However, testicular tissue cryopreservation is currently experimental (131). Future use depends on advances in IVM of testicular stem cells since the in vivo microenvironment for spermatogenesis is unobtainable after orchiectomy.

Fertility preservation program

Current challenges

Several scientific societies have issued clinical practice guidelines for fertility preservation in pediatric and adolescent cancer populations (11, 17, 32, 50, 76), but surveys indicate limited knowledge of guidelines and poor compliance with recommendations by medical professionals (12, 13, 287, 288). According to a survey in the United States, only 46% and 12% of oncologists routinely refer male and female pubertal patients to fertility preservation services before cancer treatment, respectively (289). Similar research among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors reveals that 80% and 68% of male patients can recall being offered information about potential fertility impairment and referral to fertility preservation service, but the figures for female patients are only 48% and 14%, respectively (290). Evidence suggests that most patients and their parents are dissatisfied with the content of information that healthcare professionals provided concerning fertility risk and available options to preserve it (17). Younger patients and their parents are concerned about fertility issues, but they find it difficult to extend discussions with their physicians (291-293). A major barrier hindering preferable fertility preservation practice is the lack of a structured and coordinated

fertility preservation program (12, 13). Meanwhile, some wellorganized fertility preservation programs have been proven very successful (294–297).

Education for health professionals

Clinicians' knowledge and attitudes toward fertility preservation significantly influences fertility preservation practice (12, 13, 288, 298). Physicians may be restrained by their limited understanding of the gonadotoxic nature of chemotherapy or radiotherapy, potential risks regarding future family planning patients may face, fertility preservation possibilities, and the highly time-sensitive nature of this intervention (12, 288, 299). While some physicians have realized the sensitivity and importance of fertility issues, oncologists tend to provide treatments that maximize the chance of survival and regard fertility issues as a non-priority (12, 76). However, based on the increasing proportion of children and adolescents who survive malignancies (1-3), it is crucial to focus on patients' quality of life (294, 300) and incorporate fertility preservation into cancer care (76, 301). Accomplishing the objectives should start with educating healthcare professionals (12, 76, 295), possibly including pediatric oncologists, radiation oncologists, gynecologists, urologists, hematologists, surgeons, nurses (11, 32, 127, 302). The clinical team is supposed to have sound knowledge about infertility risk assessment and fertility preservation consultation (11, 12, 17, 32, 76) as fertility risk assessment of specific agents or therapy regimes has been extensively discussed in previous guidelines (25, 47-50). Some of the most common gonadotoxic agents are presented in Table 3. To better facilitate fertility preservation, it is suggested to be incorporated into general education of oncology (76, 294, 302). According to a recent study, a simple fertility training program can considerably increase oncologists' knowledge of infertility risk assessment and fertility preservation strategies (303).

Informed consent

Discussion about potential fertility risks and methods to preserve it must begin at the time of diagnosis (mostly at the time of cancer diagnosis) (11, 76). It may be necessary to assume that

TABLE 3	Estimated	risk of	chemotherapy	for	gonadal	function	(46).
---------	-----------	---------	--------------	-----	---------	----------	-------

High risk	Medium risk	Low risk
Cyclophosphamide	Cisplatin	Vincristine
Ifosfamide	Carboplatin	Methotrexate
Chlormethine	Doxorubicin	Dactinomycin
Busulfan		Bleomycin
Melphalan		Mercaptopurine
Procarbazine		Vinblastine
Chlorambucil		

10.3389/fendo.2023.1147898

every young patient diagnosed with a disease that requires gonadotoxic therapy is concerned with fertility issues (127). One approach to promote fertility preservation practice would be to make it the clinicians' (pediatricians and oncologists in particular) regular responsibility to evaluate potential fertility risks and initiate discussions about fertility preservation including options, benefits, risks, and costs with patients (53, 294). It is proposed that the clinical team assign a knowledgeable team member to offer a comprehensive and in-depth consultation, providing detailed information concerning potential risks of fertility loss with proposed treatment regimes, current options for fertility preservation, possible risks of delaying treatment, the overall prognosis of cancer, and location of local or regional fertility preservation service, and be ready to answer questions that patients are interested (294).

A formal and separate discussion about fertility issues is advocated to ensure patients' full comprehension of potential fertility risks and fertility preservation options (136, 294). Importantly, considering the sensitive nature of the age group and topics, patients should be offered a chance to speak freely without the presence of their parents (136, 294). In addition, institutions can design printed or online education materials for interested patients and the ordinary public to facilitate information provision (32). Notably, both formal conversation and supplementary materials should be organized in lay languages and avoid professional terms to ensure that recipients can comprehend the information (127, 294). The provision of relevant medical information should be documented in the patient's medical record and patients who decide to seek fertility preservation must provide written informed consent (32, 294).

Referral

The establishment of a standardized intra-institutional or interinstitutional referral pathway between the clinical team and fertility preservation team is strongly suggested (32, 53). In addition, a coordinator between both teams would play a crucial role in navigating the fertility preservation process (32, 127). This institutional arrangement has several advantages.

Firstly, it facilitates fertility preservation consultation (32, 294, 304). Concerns by oncologists about lack of efficacy can hinder referral of patients to fertility preservation services (12), thus, collaboration with fertility specialists allows the chance to eliminate their doubts and update them on the latest fertility preservation technologies (76). Furthermore, fertility preservation specialists can contribute to fertility education provided to oncologists as described above.

Secondly, it facilitates referral (32, 294). Another barrier hindering oncologists' raising fertility discussion is that they are not aware of local or regional fertility services (12, 302). A direct link between the clinical team and the fertility preservation team would greatly facilitate referral. For instance, a male patient who

wishes to bank sperm can make first contact with the sperm bank (294, 296, 304). This would not only save patients time and costs upon the life-changing event (cancer) but also reduce their psychological stress.

Thirdly, it enables optimal decision-making (76). The fertility team is proficient in fertility preservation techniques. But they must cooperate with the clinical team to decide whether it is medically feasible to perform fertility preservation procedures and determine the optimal timing and strategy (53, 76, 304).

Finally, it reduces repetitive work and improve efficiency. As described above, a fertility specialist can engage in both patient counseling and proposing a feasible fertility preservation plan with the clinical team, saving their time and energy. A fertility specialist can focus on other affairs concerning fertility preservation, such as logistics of the procedure, cryopreservation of relevant materials, and future use. Considering the highly time-sensitive nature of fertility preservation, any improvement in efficiency would benefit patients significantly.

Effectiveness and efficiency

Based on previous literature, there are two identified key factors in establishing an effective and efficient fertility preservation program, namely sensitive faculties (294, 297, 304, 305) and a rapid referral pathway (294, 295, 304). Those patients who require fertility preservation do not generally visit a reproductive clinic. Instead, most of these patients are identified in a pediatric or an oncological clinic. The optimal strategy would be educating pediatricians, oncologists, and relevant nurses to raise their sensitivity to fertility issues (32). More importantly, they should be familiar with common gonadotoxic therapy so that they can assess fertility risks and decide whether to refer a patient or not and fertility preservation can be moved forward quickly. Moreover, a rapid referral approach would substantially increase patients' awareness and accessibility to fertility preservation services. Patients and their families tend to feel overwhelmed upon the diagnosis, sparing them limited time and energy to access information concerning fertility risks and ways to preserve it (294). As mentioned previously, even some medical professionals lack the necessary knowledge about the potential fertility risks of chemotherapy and radiotherapy and available local or regional fertility preservation services (12, 13, 302). It is reasonable to assume most patients and their families are ignorant of these risks and relevant services. A rapid referral pathway significantly reduces the time and costs patients need to access fertility preservation services. The role of the fertility preservation team is relatively dependent on referral since patients do not generally visit them. However, once engaged, they can work with the clinical team and propose an optimal fertility preservation scheme as soon as possible. Given the urgency of both cancer therapy and fertility preservation, any delay in the process would potentially harm patients' interests.

Future directions

Although different communities have made great achievements in fertility preservation, there are still some restrictions in clinical practice. For instance, unlike embryo or gamete cryopreservation, transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue generally leads to variable outcomes between patients and institutions, warranting optimization and standardization of this technique. Currently, the greatest challenge is the massive follicle atresia after transplantation, with more than 70% of primordial follicles failing to survive (116). Future studies should focus on promoting follicular survival by enhancing revascularization and reducing ischemia-reperfusion injury soon after the transplantation (54). Potential strategies include transplanting ovarian tissue with biocompatible decellularized extracellular matrix scaffold (306), and the utilization of antioxidants, anti-apoptotic agents (307, 308), or proangiogenic factors (309, 310). In addition, artificial ovary (311) and complete in vitro development of follicles (312) are potential strategies for female fertility restoration. Recent advances in testicular tissue autograft from prepubertal rhesus macaques are encouraging (145), highlighting its promise in male fertility restoration but more similar studies are required to move it towards open clinical trials. Meanwhile, additional efforts are required to address the risks of malignancy reintroducing and investigate the long-term health of children born through fertility preservation programs. Finally, disciplines must collaborate to set up an effective and efficient fertility preservation program that enhances awareness among medical professionals and patients and removes the barriers to fertility preservation services.

Conclusions

In conclusion, fertility preservation is an increasingly important issue in pediatric and adolescent healthcare as most malignant diseases are curable with contemporary means. Mature gamete cryopreservation is the most reliable and successful strategy for fertility preservation when embryo freezing is not practicable. In addition, ovarian tissue cryopreservation is an effective option for female fertility preservation though there is room for improvement in its efficacy. Autograft of immature testicular tissue is currently the most promising method for prepubertal patients, but additional efforts are required to gather data on animal models and in clinical trials.

Author contributions

LC, ZD and XC: Substantial contribution to the conception and design of the work. LC: Participation in the acquisition of literature. LC and XC: Manuscript drafting and revision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by Shenzhen Key Medical Discipline Construction Fund (Grant No. SZXK028), Shenzhen Science and Technology Program (Grant No. JCYJ20210324141403009, RCYX20210609104608036) and Natural Science Funding of China (Grant No. 82201851).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Mertens AC, Yong J, Dietz AC, Kreiter E, Yasui Y, Bleyer A, et al. Conditional survival in pediatric malignancies: analysis of data from the childhood cancer survivor study and the surveillance, epidemiology, and end results program. *Cancer* (2015) 121 (7):1108–17. doi: 10.1002/cncr.29170

2. Phillips SM, Padgett LS, Leisenring WM, Stratton KK, Bishop K, Krull KR, et al. Survivors of childhood cancer in the united states: prevalence and burden of morbidity. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2015) 24(4):653–63. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-1418

3. Hudson MM, Link MP, Simone JV. Milestones in the curability of pediatric cancers. J Clin Oncol (2014) 32(23):2391–7. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.55.6571

4. Spears N, Lopes F, Stefansdottir A, Rossi V, De Felici M, Anderson RA, et al. Ovarian damage from chemotherapy and current approaches to its protection. *Hum Reprod Update* (2019) 25(6):673–93. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz027

5. Anderson RA, Mitchell RT, Kelsey TW, Spears N, Telfer EE, Wallace WH. Cancer treatment and gonadal function: experimental and established strategies for

fertility preservation in children and young adults. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2015) 3 (7):556–67. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00039-X

6. Fernández-Juárez G, Rojas-Rivera J, Logt AV, Justino J, Sevillano A, Caravaca-Fontán F, et al. The STARMEN trial indicates that alternating treatment with corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide is superior to sequential treatment with tacrolimus and rituximab in primary membranous nephropathy. *Kidney Int* (2021) 99(4):986–98. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.10.014

7. Oktay K, Bedoschi G, Berkowitz K, Bronson R, Kashani B, McGovern P, et al. Fertility preservation in women with turner syndrome: a comprehensive review and practical guidelines. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* (2016) 29(5):409–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2015.10.011

8. Andreoli L, Bertsias GK, Agmon-Levin N, Brown S, Cervera R, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, et al. EULAR recommendations for women's health and the management of family planning, assisted reproduction, pregnancy and menopause in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and/or antiphospholipid syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2017) 76(3):476-85. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209770 9. Stein DM, Victorson DE, Choy JT, Waimey KE, Pearman TP, Smith K, et al. Fertility preservation preferences and perspectives among adult Male survivors of pediatric cancer and their parents. *J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol* (2014) 3(2):75–82. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2014.0007

10. Nahata L, Caltabellotta NM, Yeager ND, Lehmann V, Whiteside SL, O'Brien SH, et al. Fertility perspectives and priorities among male adolescents and young adults in cancer survivorship. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2018) 65(7):e27019. doi: 10.1002/pbc.27019

11. Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Taylor HS, et al. Fertility preservation in patients with cancer: ASCO clinical practice guideline update. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(19):1994–2001. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.1914

12. Covelli A, Facey M, Kennedy E, Brezden-Masley C, Gupta AA, Greenblatt E, et al. Clinicians' perspectives on barriers to discussing infertility and fertility preservation with young women with cancer. *JAMA Netw Open* (2019) 2(11): e1914511. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.14511

13. van den Berg M, Baysal Ö, Nelen W, Braat DDM, Beerendonk CCM, Hermens R. Professionals' barriers in female oncofertility care and strategies for improvement. *Hum Reprod* (2019) 34(6):1074–82. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez062

14. Magrath I, Steliarova-Foucher E, Epelman S, Ribeiro RC, Harif M, Li CK, et al. Paediatric cancer in low-income and middle-income countries. *Lancet Oncol* (2013) 14 (3):e104–16. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70008-1

15. Ni X, Li Z, Li X, Zhang X, Bai G, Liu Y, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in cancer incidence and access to health services among children and adolescents in China: a cross-sectional study. *Lancet* (2022) 400(10357):1020–32. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01541-0

16. Meistrich ML. Effects of chemotherapy and radiotherapy on spermatogenesis in humans. *Fertil Steril* (2013) 100(5):1180–6. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.08.010

17. Mulder RL, Font-Gonzalez A, Hudson MM, van Santen HM, Loeffen EAH, Burns KC, et al. Fertility preservation for female patients with childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer: recommendations from the PanCareLIFE consortium and the international late effects of childhood cancer guideline harmonization group. *Lancet Oncol* (2021) 22(2):e45–56. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30594-5

18. van Dorp W, Mulder RL, Kremer LC, Hudson MM, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, van den Berg MH, et al. Recommendations for premature ovarian insufficiency surveillance for female survivors of childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer: a report from the international late effects of childhood cancer guideline harmonization group in collaboration with the PanCareSurFup consortium. *J Clin Oncol* (2016) 34 (28):3440–50. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.64.3288

19. Castillo LA, Craft AW, Kernahan J, Evans RG, Aynsley-Green A. Gonadal function after 12-gy testicular irradiation in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Med Pediatr Oncol* (1990) 18(3):185–9. doi: 10.1002/mpo.2950180304

20. Mulder RL, Font-Gonzalez A, Green DM, Loeffen EAH, Hudson MM, Loonen J, et al. Fertility preservation for male patients with childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer: recommendations from the PanCareLIFE consortium and the international late effects of childhood cancer guideline harmonization group. *Lancet Oncol* (2021) 22(2):e57–67. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30582-9

21. Thomas-Teinturier C, Allodji RS, Svetlova E, Frey MA, Oberlin O, Millischer AE, et al. Ovarian reserve after treatment with alkylating agents during childhood. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(6):1437–46. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev060

22. van den Berg MH, Overbeek A, Lambalk CB, Kaspers GJL, Bresters D, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, et al. Long-term effects of childhood cancer treatment on hormonal and ultrasound markers of ovarian reserve. *Hum Reprod* (2018) 33 (8):1474–88. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey229

23. Anderson RA, Cameron D, Clatot F, Demeestere I, Lambertini M, Nelson SM, et al. Anti-müllerian hormone as a marker of ovarian reserve and premature ovarian insufficiency in children and women with cancer: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2022) 28(3):417–34. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmac004

24. Green DM, Kawashima T, Stovall M, Leisenring W, Sklar CA, Mertens AC, et al. Fertility of female survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27(16):2677–85. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.1541

25. Schüring AN, Fehm T, Behringer K, Goeckenjan M, Wimberger P, Henes M, et al. Practical recommendations for fertility preservation in women by the FertiPROTEKT network. part I: indications for fertility preservation. *Arch Gynecol Obstet* (2018) 297(1):241–55. doi: 10.1007/s00404-017-4594-3

26. Green DM, Sklar CA, Boice JDJr., Mulvihill JJ, Whitton JA, Stovall M, et al. Ovarian failure and reproductive outcomes after childhood cancer treatment: results from the childhood cancer survivor study. *J Clin Oncol* (2009) 27(14):2374–81. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.21.1839

27. Charpentier AM, Chong AL, Gingras-Hill G, Ahmed S, Cigsar C, Gupta AA, et al. Anti-müllerian hormone screening to assess ovarian reserve among female survivors of childhood cancer. *J Cancer Surviv* (2014) 8(4):548–54. doi: 10.1007/s11764-014-0364-4

28. Wang K, Tepper JE. Radiation therapy-associated toxicity: etiology, management, and prevention. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(5):437-54. doi: 10.3322/ caac.21689

29. Green DM, Liu W, Kutteh WH, Ke RW, Shelton KC, Sklar CA, et al. Cumulative alkylating agent exposure and semen parameters in adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the St Jude lifetime cohort study. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15(11):1215–23. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70408-5

30. Okada K, Fujisawa M. Recovery of spermatogenesis following cancer treatment with cytotoxic chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *World J Mens Health* (2019) 37 (2):166–74. doi: 10.5534/wjmh.180043

31. Howell SJ, Shalet SM. Spermatogenesis after cancer treatment: damage and recovery. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr (2005) (34):12–7. doi: 10.1093/jncimonographs/ lgi003

32. Anderson RA, Amant F, Braat D, D'Angelo A, Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM, Demeestere I, et al. ESHRE guideline: female fertility preservation. *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020(4):hoaa052. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoaa052

33. Martinez F. Update on fertility preservation from the Barcelona international society for fertility preservation-ESHRE-ASRM 2015 expert meeting: indications, results and future perspectives. *Fertil Steril* (2017) 108(3):407–15.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.05.024

34. Fanouriakis A, Tziolos N, Bertsias G, Boumpas DT. Update on the diagnosis and management of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2021) 80(1):14–25. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-218272

35. Ono M, Matsumoto K, Boku N, Fujii N, Tsuchida Y, Furui T, et al. Indications for fertility preservation not included in the 2017 Japan society of clinical oncology guideline for fertility preservation in pediatric, adolescent, and young adult patients treated with gonadal toxicity, including benign diseases. *Int J Clin Oncol* (2022) 27 (2):301–9. doi: 10.1007/s10147-021-02082-9

36. Wang J, Wang B, Sun Z, Xue K. Therapeutic effects of rituximab combined with cyclophosphamide on refractory idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Exp Ther Med* (2019) 17(3):2137–42. doi: 10.3892/etm.2019.7196

37. Yasmin E, Balachandren N, Davies MC, Jones GL, Lane S, Mathur R, et al. Fertility preservation for medical reasons in girls and women: British fertility society policy and practice guideline. *Hum Fertil (Camb)* (2018) 21(1):3–26. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2017.1422297

38. Joshi S, Savani BN, Chow EJ, Gilleece MH, Halter J, Jacobsohn DA, et al. Clinical guide to fertility preservation in hematopoietic cell transplant recipients. *Bone Marrow Transpl* (2014) 49(4):477–84. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2013.211

39. Oktay K, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Sahin G. Fertility preservation by ovarian stimulation and oocyte cryopreservation in a 14-year-old adolescent with turner syndrome mosaicism and impending premature ovarian failure. *Fertil Steril* (2010) 94(2):753.e15–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.01.044

40. De Sanctis V, Ciccone S. Fertility preservation in adolescents with klinefelter's syndrome. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev* (2010) 8 Suppl 1:178–81.

41. Elizur SE, Chian RC, Holzer HE, Gidoni Y, Tulandi T, Tan SL. Cryopreservation of oocytes in a young woman with severe and symptomatic endometriosis: a new indication for fertility preservation. *Fertil Steril* (2009) 91(1):293.e1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.06.040

42. Stahl PJ, Stember DS, Hsiao W, Schlegel PN. Indications and strategies for fertility preservation in men. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* (2010) 53(4):815–27. doi: 10.1097/GRF.0b013e3181f980b3

43. Hembree WC, Cohen-Kettenis PT, Gooren L, Hannema SE, Meyer WJ, Murad MH, et al. Endocrine treatment of gender-Dysphoric/Gender-Incongruent persons: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 102 (11):3869–903. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-01658

44. Sammaritano LR, Bermas BL, Chakravarty EE, Chambers C, Clowse MEB, Lockshin MD, et al. 2020 American College of rheumatology guideline for the management of reproductive health in rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases. *Arthritis Rheumatol* (2020) 72(4):529–56. doi: 10.1002/art.41191

45. Jadoul P, Guilmain A, Squifflet J, Luyckx M, Votino R, Wyns C, et al. Efficacy of ovarian tissue cryopreservation for fertility preservation: lessons learned from 545 cases. *Hum Reprod* (2017) 32(5):1046–54. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dex040

46. Wallace WH, Anderson RA, Irvine DS. Fertility preservation for young patients with cancer: who is at risk and what can be offered? *Lancet Oncol* (2005) 6(4):209–18. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(05)70092-9

47. Lambertini M, Peccatori FA, Demeestere I, Amant F, Wyns C, Stukenborg JB, et al. Fertility preservation and post-treatment pregnancies in post-pubertal cancer patients: ESMO clinical practice guidelines(†). *Ann Oncol* (2020) 31(12):1664–78. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.09.006

48. Trottmann M, Becker AJ, Stadler T, Straub J, Soljanik I, Schlenker B, et al. Semen quality in men with malignant diseases before and after therapy and the role of cryopreservation. *Eur Urol* (2007) 52(2):355–67. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2007.03.085

49. Lambertini M, Del Mastro L, Pescio MC, Andersen CY, Azim HAJr., Peccatori FA, et al. Cancer and fertility preservation: international recommendations from an expert meeting. *BMC Med* (2016) 14:1. doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0545-7

50. Tournaye H, Dohle GR, Barratt CL. Fertility preservation in men with cancer. *Lancet* (2014) 384(9950):1295–301. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60495-5

51. Lee SJ, Schover LR, Partridge AH, Patrizio P, Wallace WH, Hagerty K, et al. American Society of clinical oncology recommendations on fertility preservation in cancer patients. *J Clin Oncol* (2006) 24(18):2917–31. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.06.5888

52. Amato P, Brzyski R, Benward J, Stein A, Steinbock B, Wilder B, et al. Fertility preservation and reproduction in patients facing gonadotoxic therapies: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril* (2013) 100(5):1224–31. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.08.041

53. Penzias A, Bendikson K, Falcone T, Gitlin S, Gracia C, Hansen K, et al. Fertility preservation in patients undergoing gonadotoxic therapy or gonadectomy: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril* (2019) 112(6):1022–33. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.09.013

54. Fisch B, Abir R. Female fertility preservation: past, present and future. Reproduction (2018) 156(1):F11-f27. doi: 10.1530/REP-17-0483

55. Druckenmiller S, Goldman KN, Labella PA, Fino ME, Bazzocchi A, Noyes N. Successful oocyte cryopreservation in reproductive-aged cancer survivors. *Obstet Gynecol* (2016) 127(3):474–80. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000001248

56. Peddie VL, Maheshwari A. Successful controlled ovarian stimulation and vitrification of oocytes in an adolescent diagnosed with myelodysplastic/premalignant clone with monosomy 7. *Hum Fertil (Camb)* (2018) 21(1):39–44. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2017.1347288

57. Bosch E, Broer S, Griesinger G, Grynberg M, Humaidan P, Kolibianakis E, et al. ESHRE guideline: ovarian stimulation for IVF/ICSI(†). *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020 (2):hoaa009. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoaa009

58. Huang JY, Chian RC, Gilbert L, Fleiszer D, Holzer H, Dermitas E, et al. Retrieval of immature oocytes from unstimulated ovaries followed by *in vitro* maturation and vitrification: a novel strategy of fertility preservation for breast cancer patients. *Am J Surg* (2010) 200(1):177–83. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2009.04.004

59. Fasano G, Dechène J, Antonacci R, Biramane J, Vannin AS, Van Langendonckt A, et al. Outcomes of immature oocytes collected from ovarian tissue for cryopreservation in adult and prepubertal patients. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2017) 34 (6):575–82. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2017.03.007

60. Cobo A, García-Velasco JA, Coello A, Domingo J, Pellicer A, Remohí J. Oocyte vitrification as an efficient option for elective fertility preservation. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 105(3):755–64.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.11.027

61. Doyle JO, Richter KS, Lim J, Stillman RJ, Graham JR, Tucker MJ. Successful elective and medically indicated oocyte vitrification and warming for autologous *in vitro* fertilization, with predicted birth probabilities for fertility preservation according to number of cryopreserved oocytes and age at retrieval. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 105(2):459–66.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.10.026

62. Cobo A, Meseguer M, Remohí J, Pellicer A. Use of cryo-banked oocytes in an ovum donation programme: a prospective, randomized, controlled, clinical trial. *Hum Reprod* (2010) 25(9):2239–46. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deq146

63. Nagy ZP, Anderson RE, Feinberg EC, Hayward B, Mahony MC. The human oocyte preservation experience (HOPE) registry: evaluation of cryopreservation techniques and oocyte source on outcomes. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2017) 15(1):10. doi: 10.1186/s12958-017-0228-7

64. Sciorio R, Antonini E, Engl B. Live birth and clinical outcome of vitrificationwarming donor oocyte programme: an experience of a single IVF unit. *Zygote* (2021) 29 (5):410–6. doi: 10.1017/S0967199421000204

65. Jia QP, Sun WQ. PERSPECTIVE: cryopreservation of human oocytes and the 'Carryover' effect on early embryo development. *Cryo Lett* (2021) 42(3):120–8.

66. Seshadri S, Saab W, Exeter H, Drew E, Petrie A, Davies M, et al. Clinical outcomes of a vitrified donor oocyte programme: a single UK centre experience. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2018) 225:136–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2018.04.017

67. Papatheodorou A, Vanderzwalmen P, Panagiotidis Y, Petousis S, Gullo G, Kasapi E, et al. How does closed system vitrification of human oocytes affect the clinical outcome? a prospective, observational, cohort, noninferiority trial in an oocyte donation program. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106(6):1348–55. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.07.1066

68. García JI, Noriega-Portella L, Noriega-Hoces L. Efficacy of oocyte vitrification combined with blastocyst stage transfer in an egg donation program. *Hum Reprod* (2011) 26(4):782–90. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der008

69. Grifo JA, Noyes N. Delivery rate using cryopreserved oocytes is comparable to conventional *in vitro* fertilization using fresh oocytes: potential fertility preservation for female cancer patients. *Fertil Steril* (2010) 93(2):391–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2009.02.067

70. Rienzi L, Gracia C, Maggiulli R, LaBarbera AR, Kaser DJ, Ubaldi FM, et al. Oocyte, embryo and blastocyst cryopreservation in ART: systematic review and metaanalysis comparing slow-freezing versus vitrification to produce evidence for the development of global guidance. *Hum Reprod Update* (2017) 23(2):139–55. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmw038

71. Glujovsky D, Riestra B, Sueldo C, Fiszbajn G, Repping S, Nodar F, et al. Vitrification versus slow freezing for women undergoing oocyte cryopreservation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2014) (9):Cd010047. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010047.pub2

72. Senra JC, Roque M, Talim MCT, Reis FM, Tavares RLC. Gonadotropinreleasing hormone agonists for ovarian protection during cancer chemotherapy: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* (2018) 51(1):77–86. doi: 10.1002/uog.18934

73. Li ZY, Dong YL, Cao XZ, Ren SS, Zhang Z. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists for ovarian protection during breast cancer chemotherapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Menopause* (2022) 29(9):1093–100. doi: 10.1097/GME.000000000002019

74. Lambertini M, Moore HCF, Leonard RCF, Loibl S, Munster P, Bruzzone M, et al. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists during chemotherapy for preservation of ovarian function and fertility in premenopausal patients with early breast cancer: a

systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient-level data. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(19):1981–90. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.0858

75. Lambertini M, Ceppi M, Poggio F, Peccatori FA, Azim HAJr., Ugolini D, et al. Ovarian suppression using luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone agonists during chemotherapy to preserve ovarian function and fertility of breast cancer patients: a meta-analysis of randomized studies. *Ann Oncol* (2015) 26(12):2408–19. doi: 10.1093/ annonc/mdv374

76. Daar J, Benward J, Collins L, Davis J, Francis L, Gates E, et al. Fertility preservation and reproduction in patients facing gonadotoxic therapies: an Ethics Committee opinion. *Fertil Steril* (2018) 110(3):380-6. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.05.034

77. Oktay K, Sönmezer M. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogs in fertility preservation-lack of biological basis? *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 4(9):488–9. doi: 10.1038/ncpendmet0892

78. Pereyra Pacheco B, Méndez Ribas JM, Milone G, Fernández I, Kvicala R, Mila T, et al. Use of GnRH analogs for functional protection of the ovary and preservation of fertility during cancer treatment in adolescents: a preliminary report. *Gynecol Oncol* (2001) 81(3):391–7. doi: 10.1006/gyno.2001.6181

79. Meli M, Caruso-Nicoletti M, La Spina M, Nigro LL, Samperi P, D'Amico S, et al. Triptorelin for fertility preservation in adolescents treated with chemotherapy for cancer. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol (2018) 40(4):269-76. doi: 10.1097/MPH.00000000001144

80. Roness H, Kalich-Philosoph L, Meirow D. Prevention of chemotherapy-induced ovarian damage: possible roles for hormonal and non-hormonal attenuating agents. *Hum Reprod Update* (2014) 20(5):759–74. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmu019

81. Mertes H. Let's not forget that many prepubertal girls do have other options besides ovarian tissue cryopreservation. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(9):2011–3. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev176

82. Donnez J, Dolmans MM. Fertility preservation in women. N Engl J Med (2017) 377(17):1657–65. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1614676

83. von Wolff M, Germeyer A, Liebenthron J, Korell M, Nawroth F. Practical recommendations for fertility preservation in women by the FertiPROTEKT network. *Part II: Fertil Preservation Techniques Arch Gynecol Obstet* (2018) 297(1):257–67. doi: 10.1007/s00404-017-4595-2

84. Gudlevičienė Ž, Žilinskas K, Kundrotas G, Grubliauskaitė M, Baltriukienė D, Bukelskienė V. Slow-freezing cryopreservation ensures high ovarian tissue quality followed by *In Vivo* and *In Vitro* methods and is safe for fertility preservation. *Medicina* (*Kaunas*) (2020) 56(10). doi: 10.3390/medicina56100547

85. Fabbri R, Vicenti R, Macciocca M, Martino NA, Dell'Aquila ME, Pasquinelli G, et al. Morphological, ultrastructural and functional imaging of frozen/thawed and vitrified/warmed human ovarian tissue retrieved from oncological patients. *Hum Reprod* (2016) 31(8):1838–49. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew134

86. Dalman A, Deheshkar Gooneh Farahani NS, Totonchi M, Pirjani R, Ebrahimi B, Rezazadeh Valojerdi M. Slow freezing versus vitrification technique for human ovarian tissue cryopreservation: an evaluation of histological changes, WNT signaling pathway and apoptotic genes expression. *Cryobiology* (2017) 79:29–36. doi: 10.1016/j.cryobiol.2017.09.007

87. Shi Q, Xie Y, Wang Y, Li S. Vitrification versus slow freezing for human ovarian tissue cryopreservation: a systematic review and meta-anlaysis. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7 (1):8538. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09005-7

88. Gosden RG, Baird DT, Wade JC, Webb R. Restoration of fertility to oophorectomized sheep by ovarian autografts stored at -196 degrees c. *Hum Reprod* (1994) 9(4):597–603. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a138556

89. Baird DT, Webb R, Campbell BK, Harkness LM, Gosden RG. Long-term ovarian function in sheep after ovariectomy and transplantation of autografts stored at -196 c. *Endocrinology* (1999) 140(1):462–71. doi: 10.1210/endo.140.1.6453

90. Hovatta O, Silye R, Krausz T, Abir R, Margara R, Trew G, et al. Cryopreservation of human ovarian tissue using dimethylsulphoxide and propanediol-sucrose as cryoprotectants. *Hum Reprod* (1996) 11(6):1268-72. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a019370

91. Newton H, Aubard Y, Rutherford A, Sharma V, Gosden R. Low temperature storage and grafting of human ovarian tissue. *Hum Reprod* (1996) 11(7):1487–91. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a019423

92. Oktay K, Newton H, Mullan J, Gosden RG. Development of human primordial follicles to antral stages in SCID/hpg mice stimulated with follicle stimulating hormone. *Hum Reprod* (1998) 13(5):1133–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/13.5.1133

93. Oktay K, Karlikaya G. Ovarian function after transplantation of frozen, banked autologous ovarian tissue. *N Engl J Med* (2000) 342(25):1919. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM200006223422516

94. Oktay K, Economos K, Kan M, Rucinski J, Veeck L, Rosenwaks Z. Endocrine function and oocyte retrieval after autologous transplantation of ovarian cortical strips to the forearm. *Jama* (2001) 286(12):1490–3. doi: 10.1001/jama.286.12.1490

95. Oktay K, Buyuk E, Veeck L, Zaninovic N, Xu K, Takeuchi T, et al. Embryo development after heterotopic transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue. *Lancet* (2004) 363(9412):837–40. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)15728-0

96. Donnez J, Dolmans MM, Demylle D, Jadoul P, Pirard C, Squifflet J, et al. Livebirth after orthotopic transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue. *Lancet* (2004) 364(9443):1405–10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17222-X

97. Meirow D, Levron J, Eldar-Geva T, Hardan I, Fridman E, Zalel Y, et al. Pregnancy after transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in a patient with ovarian failure after chemotherapy. *N Engl J Med* (2005) 353(3):318–21. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc055237

98. Dolmans MM, von Wolff M, Poirot C, Diaz-Garcia C, Cacciottola L, Boissel N, et al. Transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in a series of 285 women: a review of five leading European centers. *Fertil Steril* (2021) 115(5):1102–15. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2021.03.008

99. Jensen AK, Kristensen SG, Macklon KT, Jeppesen JV, Fedder J, Ernst E, et al. Outcomes of transplantations of cryopreserved ovarian tissue to 41 women in Denmark. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(12):2838–45. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev230

100. Pfeifer S, Goldberg J, Lobo R, Pisarska M, Thomas M, Widra E, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril* (2014) 101(5):1237–43. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.02.052

101. Liebenthron J, Montag M, Reinsberg J, Köster M, Isachenko V, van der Ven K, et al. Overnight ovarian tissue transportation for centralized cryobanking: a feasible option. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2019) 38(5):740–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2019.01.006

102. Gellert SE, Pors SE, Kristensen SG, Bay-Bjørn AM, Ernst E, Yding Andersen C. Transplantation of frozen-thawed ovarian tissue: an update on worldwide activity published in peer-reviewed papers and on the Danish cohort. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2018) 35(4):561–70. doi: 10.1007/s10815-018-1144-2

103. Diaz-Garcia C, Domingo J, Garcia-Velasco JA, Herraiz S, Mirabet V, Iniesta I, et al. Oocyte vitrification versus ovarian cortex transplantation in fertility preservation for adult women undergoing gonadotoxic treatments: a prospective cohort study. *Fertil Steril* (2018) 109(3):478–85.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.11.018

104. Shapira M, Dolmans MM, Silber S, Meirow D. Evaluation of ovarian tissue transplantation: results from three clinical centers. *Fertil Steril* (2020) 114(2):388–97. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.03.037

105. Donnez J, Dolmans MM, Diaz C, Pellicer A. Ovarian cortex transplantation: time to move on from experimental studies to open clinical application. *Fertil Steril* (2015) 104(5):1097–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.08.005

106. Andersen CY, Silber SJ, Bergholdt SH, Jorgensen JS, Ernst E. Long-term duration of function of ovarian tissue transplants: case reports. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2012) 25(2):128–32. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2012.03.014

107. Meirow D, Ra'anani H, Shapira M, Brenghausen M, Derech Chaim S, Aviel-Ronen S, et al. Transplantations of frozen-thawed ovarian tissue demonstrate high reproductive performance and the need to revise restrictive criteria. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106(2):467–74. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.04.031

108. Kim SS, Hwang IT, Lee HC. Heterotopic autotransplantation of cryobanked human ovarian tissue as a strategy to restore ovarian function. *Fertil Steril* (2004) 82 (4):930–2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.02.137

109. Rosendahl M, Loft A, Byskov AG, Ziebe S, Schmidt KT, Andersen AN, et al. Biochemical pregnancy after fertilization of an oocyte aspirated from a heterotopic autotransplant of cryopreserved ovarian tissue: case report. *Hum Reprod* (2006) 21 (8):2006–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del140

110. Stern CJ, Gook D, Hale LG, Agresta F, Oldham J, Rozen G, et al. First reported clinical pregnancy following heterotopic grafting of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in a woman after a bilateral oophorectomy. *Hum Reprod* (2013) 28(11):2996–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det360

111. Stern CJ, Gook D, Hale LG, Agresta F, Oldham J, Rozen G, et al. Delivery of twins following heterotopic grafting of frozen-thawed ovarian tissue. *Hum Reprod* (2014) 29(8):1828. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu119

112. Dolmans MM, Donnez J. Fertility preservation in women for medical and social reasons: oocytes vs ovarian tissue. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* (2021) 70:63–80. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2020.06.011

113. Pacheco F, Oktay K. Current success and efficiency of autologous ovarian transplantation: a meta-analysis. *Reprod Sci* (2017) 24(8):1111–20. doi: 10.1177/1933719117702251

114. Dissen GA, Lara HE, Fahrenbach WH, Costa ME, Ojeda SR. Immature rat ovaries become revascularized rapidly after autotransplantation and show a gonadotropin-dependent increase in angiogenic factor gene expression. *Endocrinology* (1994) 134(3):1146–54. doi: 10.1210/endo.134.3.8119153

115. Van Eyck AS, Bouzin C, Feron O, Romeu L, Van Langendonckt A, Donnez J, et al. Both host and graft vessels contribute to revascularization of xenografted human ovarian tissue in a murine model. *Fertil Steril* (2010) 93(5):1676–85. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.04.048

116. Gosden RG. Low temperature storage and grafting of human ovarian tissue. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2000) 163(1-2):125–9. doi: 10.1016/S0303-7207(99)00248-8

117. Bastings L, Beerendonk CC, Westphal JR, Massuger LF, Kaal SE, van Leeuwen FE, et al. Autotransplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in cancer survivors and the risk of reintroducing malignancy: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2013) 19(5):483–506. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmt020

118. Shapira M, Raanani H, Barshack I, Amariglio N, Derech-Haim S, Marciano MN, et al. First delivery in a leukemia survivor after transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue, evaluated for leukemia cells contamination. *Fertil Steril* (2018) 109 (1):48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.09.001

119. Greve T, Clasen-Linde E, Andersen MT, Andersen MK, Sørensen SD, Rosendahl M, et al. Cryopreserved ovarian cortex from patients with leukemia in

complete remission contains no apparent viable malignant cells. *Blood* (2012) 120 (22):4311-6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-01-403022

120. Dolmans MM, Luyckx V, Donnez J, Andersen CY, Greve T. Risk of transferring malignant cells with transplanted frozen-thawed ovarian tissue. *Fertil Steril* (2013) 99(6):1514–22. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.03.027

121. Dolmans MM, Marinescu C, Saussoy P, Van Langendonckt A, Amorim C, Donnez J. Reimplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue from patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia is potentially unsafe. *Blood* (2010) 116(16):2908–14. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-265751

122. Rosendahl M, Schmidt KT, Ernst E, Rasmussen PE, Loft A, Byskov AG, et al. Cryopreservation of ovarian tissue for a decade in Denmark: a view of the technique. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2011) 22(2):162–71. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2010.10.015

123. Ernst EH, Offersen BV, Andersen CY, Ernst E. Legal termination of a pregnancy resulting from transplanted cryopreserved ovarian tissue due to cancer recurrence. J Assist Reprod Genet (2013) 30(7):975–8. doi: 10.1007/s10815-013-0026-x

124. Dittrich R, Hackl J, Lotz L, Hoffmann I, Beckmann MW. Pregnancies and live births after 20 transplantations of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in a single center. *Fertil Steril* (2015) 103(2):462–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.10.045

125. Yding Andersen C, Ernst E, Bærentzen S, Birkebæk NH, Clausen N. No malignancy detected in surplus ovarian tissue from a former Ewing sarcoma patient who experienced relapse four years after being grafted with frozen/thawed ovarian tissue. J Assist Reprod Genet (2014) 31(11):1567–8. doi: 10.1007/s10815-014-0357-2

126. Greve T, Wielenga VT, Grauslund M, Sørensen N, Christiansen DB, Rosendahl M, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreserved for fertility preservation from patients with Ewing or other sarcomas appear to have no tumour cell contamination. *Eur J Cancer* (2013) 49(8):1932–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2013.01.032

127. Halpern JA, Hill R, Brannigan RE. Guideline based approach to male fertility preservation. Urol Oncol (2020) 38(1):31–5. doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2019.02.009

128. Fernbach A, Lockart B, Armus CL, Bashore LM, Levine J, Kroon L, et al. Evidence-based recommendations for fertility preservation options for inclusion in treatment protocols for pediatric and adolescent patients diagnosed with cancer. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs (2014) 31(4):211–22. doi: 10.1177/1043454214532025

129. Jensen CFS, Dong L, Gul M, Fode M, Hildorf S, Thorup J, et al. Fertility preservation in boys facing gonadotoxic cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Urol* (2022) 19(2):71–83. doi: 10.1038/s41585-021-00523-8

130. Wyns C, Kanbar M, Giudice MG, Poels J. Fertility preservation for prepubertal boys: lessons learned from the past and update on remaining challenges towards clinical translation. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 27(3):433–59. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa050

131. Goossens E, Jahnukainen K, Mitchell RT, van Pelt A, Pennings G, Rives N, et al. Fertility preservation in boys: recent developments and new insights (†). *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020(3):hoaa016. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoaa016

132. van den Berg H, Repping S, van der Veen F. Parental desire and acceptability of spermatogonial stem cell cryopreservation in boys with cancer. *Hum Reprod* (2007) 22 (2):594–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del375

133. Ginsberg JP, Li Y, Carlson CA, Gracia CR, Hobbie WL, Miller VA, et al. Testicular tissue cryopreservation in prepubertal male children: an analysis of parental decision-making. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2014) 61(9):1673–8. doi: 10.1002/pbc.25078

134. Ginsberg JP, Carlson CA, Lin K, Hobbie WL, Wigo E, Wu X, et al. An experimental protocol for fertility preservation in prepubertal boys recently diagnosed with cancer: a report of acceptability and safety. *Hum Reprod* (2010) 25(1):37–41. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dep371

135. Wyns C, Curaba M, Petit S, Vanabelle B, Laurent P, Wese JF, et al. Management of fertility preservation in prepubertal patients: 5 years' experience at the Catholic university of louvain. *Hum Reprod* (2011) 26(4):737-47. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deq387

136. Katz DJ, Kolon TF, Feldman DR, Mulhall JP. Fertility preservation strategies for male patients with cancer. *Nat Rev Urol* (2013) 10(8):463–72. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2013.145

137. Onofre J, Baert Y, Faes K, Goossens E. Cryopreservation of testicular tissue or testicular cell suspensions: a pivotal step in fertility preservation. *Hum Reprod Update* (2016) 22(6):744–61. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmw029

138. Baert Y, Van Saen D, Haentjens P, In't Veld P, Tournaye H, Goossens E. What is the best cryopreservation protocol for human testicular tissue banking? *Hum Reprod* (2013) 28(7):1816–26. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det100

139. Dumont L, Chalmel F, Oblette A, Berby B, Rives A, Duchesne V, et al. Evaluation of apoptotic- and autophagic-related protein expressions before and after IVM of fresh, slow-frozen and vitrified pre-pubertal mouse testicular tissue. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2017) 23(11):738–54. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gax054

140. Baert Y, Goossens E, van Saen D, Ning L, in't Veld P, Tournaye H. Orthotopic grafting of cryopreserved prepubertal testicular tissue: in search of a simple yet effective cryopreservation protocol. *Fertil Steril* (2012) 97(5):1152–7.e1-2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.02.010

141. Baert Y, Onofre J, Van Saen D, Goossens E. Cryopreservation of human testicular tissue by isopropyl-controlled slow freezing. *Methods Mol Biol* (2018) 1748:287-94. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7698-0_20

142. Goossens E, Van Saen D, Tournaye H. Spermatogonial stem cell preservation and transplantation: from research to clinic. *Hum Reprod* (2013) 28(4):897–907. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det039

143. Portela JMD, de Winter-Korver CM, van Daalen SKM, Meißner A, de Melker AA, Repping S, et al. Assessment of fresh and cryopreserved testicular tissues from (pre)pubertal boys during organ culture as a strategy for *in vitro* spermatogenesis. *Hum Reprod* (2019) 34(12):2443–55. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez180

144. Kanbar M, Delwiche G, Wyns C. Fertility preservation for prepubertal boys: are we ready for autologous grafting of cryopreserved immature testicular tissue? *Ann Endocrinol (Paris)* (2022) 83(3):210–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ando.2022.04.006

145. Fayomi AP, Peters K, Sukhwani M, Valli-Pulaski H, Shetty G, Meistrich ML, et al. Autologous grafting of cryopreserved prepubertal rhesus testis produces sperm and offspring. *Science* (2019) 363(6433):1314–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aav2914

146. Brinster RL, Zimmermann JW. Spermatogenesis following male germ-cell transplantation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91(24):11298–302. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.24.11298

147. Brinster RL, Avarbock MR. Germline transmission of donor haplotype following spermatogonial transplantation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1994) 91 (24):11303–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.24.11303

148. AbuMadighem A, Shuchat S, Lunenfeld E, Yossifon G, Huleihel M. Testis on a chip-a microfluidic three-dimensional culture system for the development of spermatogenesis *in vitro*. *Biofabrication* (2022) 14(3). doi: 10.1088/1758-5090/ac6126

149. Campos-Junior PH, Costa GM, Avelar GF, Lacerda SM, da Costa NN, Ohashi OM, et al. Derivation of sperm from xenografted testis cells and tissues of the peccary (Tayassu tajacu). *Reproduction* (2014) 147(3):291–9. doi: 10.1530/REP-13-0581

150. Picton HM, Wyns C, Anderson RA, Goossens E, Jahnukainen K, Kliesch S, et al. A European perspective on testicular tissue cryopreservation for fertility preservation in prepubertal and adolescent boys. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(11):2463–75. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev190

151. Kanbar M, de Michele F, Wyns C. ryostorage of testicular tissue and retransplantation of spermatogonial stem cells in the infertile male. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2019) 33(1):103–15. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2018.10.003

152. Akhtar M, Ali MA, Burgess A, Aur RJ. Fine-needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) diagnosis of testicular involvement in acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children. *Diagn Cytopathol* (1991) 7(5):504–7. doi: 10.1002/dc.2840070512

153. Cao YX, Chian RC. Fertility preservation with immature and *in vitro* matured oocytes. *Semin Reprod Med* (2009) 27(6):456–64. doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1241055

154. Khalili MA, Shahedi A, Ashourzadeh S, Nottola SA, Macchiarelli G, Palmerini MG. Vitrification of human immature oocytes before and after *in vitro* maturation: a review. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2017) 34(11):1413–26. doi: 10.1007/s10815-017-1005-4

155. Lee JA, Barritt J, Moschini RM, Slifkin RE, Copperman AB. Optimizing human oocyte cryopreservation for fertility preservation patients: should we mature then freeze or freeze then mature? *Fertil Steril* (2013) 99(5):1356–62. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.11.042

156. Rienzi L, Romano S, Albricci L, Maggiulli R, Capalbo A, Baroni E, et al. Embryo development of fresh 'versus' vitrified metaphase II oocytes after ICSI: a prospective randomized sibling-oocyte study. *Hum Reprod* (2010) 25(1):66–73. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/dep346

157. Crawford S, Boulet SL, Kawwass JF, Jamieson DJ, Kissin DM. Cryopreserved oocyte versus fresh oocyte assisted reproductive technology cycles, united states, 2013. *Fertil Steril* (2017) 107(1):110–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.10.002

158. Solé M, Santaló J, Boada M, Clua E, Rodríguez I, Martínez F, et al. How does vitrification affect oocyte viability in oocyte donation cycles? a prospective study to compare outcomes achieved with fresh versus vitrified sibling oocytes. *Hum Reprod* (2013) 28(8):2087–92. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det242

159. Cobo A, García-Velasco J, Domingo J, Pellicer A, Remohí J. Elective and oncofertility preservation: factors related to IVF outcomes. *Hum Reprod* (2018) 33 (12):2222–31. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey321

160. Goldman RH, Racowsky C, Farland LV, Munné S, Ribustello L, Fox JH. Predicting the likelihood of live birth for elective oocyte cryopreservation: a counseling tool for physicians and patients. *Hum Reprod* (2017) 32(4):853–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dex008

161. Maslow BL, Guarnaccia MM, Ramirez L, Klein JU. Likelihood of achieving a 50%, 60%, or 70% estimated live birth rate threshold with 1 or 2 cycles of planned oocyte cryopreservation. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2020) 37(7):1637–43. doi: 10.1007/s10815-020-01791-w

162. Penzias A, Azziz R, Bendikson K, Falcone T, Goldstein J, Hansen K, et al. Evidence-based outcomes after oocyte cryopreservation for donor oocyte *in vitro* fertilization and planned oocyte cryopreservation: a guideline. *Fertil Steril* (2021) 116 (1):36–47. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.02.024

163. Dviri M, Madjunkova S, Koziarz A, Madjunkov M, Mashiach J, Nekolaichuk E, et al. Is there an association between paternal age and aneuploidy? evidence from young donor oocyte-derived embryos: a systematic review and individual patient data metaanalysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 27(3):486–500. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa052

164. Dviri M, Madjunkova S, Koziarz A, Antes R, Abramov R, Mashiach J, et al. Is there a correlation between paternal age and aneuploidy rate? an analysis of 3,118 embryos derived from young egg donors. *Fertil Steril* (2020) 114(2):293–300. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.03.034

165. Franasiak JM, Forman EJ, Hong KH, Werner MD, Upham KM, Treff NR, et al. The nature of aneuploidy with increasing age of the female partner: a review of 15,169 consecutive trophectoderm biopsies evaluated with comprehensive chromosomal screening. *Fertil Steril* (2014) 101(3):656–63.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.11.004

166. Nelson SM, Lawlor DA. Predicting live birth, preterm delivery, and low birth weight in infants born from *in vitro* fertilisation: a prospective study of 144,018 treatment cycles. *PloS Med* (2011) 8(1):e1000386. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000386

167. Gruhn JR, Zielinska AP, Shukla V, Blanshard R, Capalbo A, Cimadomo D, et al. Chromosome errors in human eggs shape natural fertility over reproductive life span. *Science* (2019) 365(6460):1466–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aav7321

168. Magnus MC, Wilcox AJ, Morken NH, Weinberg CR, Håberg SE. Role of maternal age and pregnancy history in risk of miscarriage: prospective register based study. *Bmj* (2019) 364:l869. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l869

169. Da Luz CM, Caetano MA, Berteli TS, Vireque AA, Navarro PA. The impact of oocyte vitrification on offspring: a systematic review. *Reprod Sci* (2022) 29(11):3222–34. doi: 10.1007/s43032-022-00868-4

170. Parmegiani L, Garello C, Granella F, Guidetti D, Bernardi S, Cognigni GE, et al. Long-term cryostorage does not adversely affect the outcome of oocyte thawing cycles. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2009) 19(3):374–9. doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60171-X

171. Urquiza MF, Carretero I, Cano Carabajal PR, Pasqualini RA, Felici MM, Pasqualini RS, et al. Successful live birth from oocytes after more than 14 years of cryopreservation. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2014) 31(11):1553–5. doi: 10.1007/s10815-014-0318-9

172. Levi-Setti PE, Borini A, Patrizio P, Bolli S, Vigiliano V, De Luca R, et al. ART results with frozen oocytes: data from the Italian ART registry (2005-2013). J Assist Reprod Genet (2016) 33(1):123-8. doi: 10.1007/s10815-015-0629-5

173. Van Reckem M, Blockeel C, Bonduelle M, Buysse A, Roelants M, Verheyen G, et al. Health of 2-year-old children born after vitrified oocyte donation in comparison with peers born after fresh oocyte donation. *Hum Reprod Open* (2021) 2021(1): hoab002. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoab013

174. Donnez J, Dolmans MM. Ovarian cortex transplantation: 60 reported live births brings the success and worldwide expansion of the technique towards routine clinical practice. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2015) 32(8):1167–70. doi: 10.1007/s10815-015-0544-9

175. Schmidt KL, Andersen CY, Loft A, Byskov AG, Ernst E, Andersen AN. Followup of ovarian function post-chemotherapy following ovarian cryopreservation and transplantation. *Hum Reprod* (2005) 20(12):3539–46. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dei250

176. Schmidt KT, Rosendahl M, Ernst E, Loft A, Andersen AN, Dueholm M, et al. Autotransplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in 12 women with chemotherapyinduced premature ovarian failure: the Danish experience. *Fertil Steril* (2011) 95 (2):695–701. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.07.1080

177. Fabbri R, Pasquinelli G, Magnani V, Macciocca M, Vicenti R, Parazza I, et al. Autotransplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in oncological patients: recovery of ovarian function. *Future Oncol* (2014) 10(4):549–61. doi: 10.2217/fon.13.234

178. Janse F, Donnez J, Anckaert E, de Jong FH, Fauser BC, Dolmans MM. Limited value of ovarian function markers following orthotopic transplantation of ovarian tissue after gonadotoxic treatment. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96(4):1136–44. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2188

179. Greve T, Schmidt KT, Kristensen SG, Ernst E, Andersen CY. Evaluation of the ovarian reserve in women transplanted with frozen and thawed ovarian cortical tissue. *Fertil Steril* (2012) 97(6):1394–8.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.02.036

180. Kim SS. Assessment of long term endocrine function after transplantation of frozen-thawed human ovarian tissue to the heterotopic site: 10 year longitudinal follow-up study. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2012) 29(6):489–93. doi: 10.1007/s10815-012-9757-3

181. Ruan X, Du J, Korell M, Kong W, Lu D, Jin F, et al. Case report of the first successful cryopreserved ovarian tissue retransplantation in China. *Climacteric* (2018) 21(6):613–6. doi: 10.1080/13697137.2018.1514005

182. Poirot C, Fortin A, Dhédin N, Brice P, Socié G, Lacorte JM, et al. Posttransplant outcome of ovarian tissue cryopreserved after chemotherapy in hematologic malignancies. *Haematologica* (2019) 104(8):e360-e3. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2018.211094

183. Hao X, Anastácio A, Liu K, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA. Ovarian follicle depletion induced by chemotherapy and the investigational stages of potential fertility-protective treatments-a review. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(19). doi: 10.3390/ijms20194720

184. Demeestere I, Simon P, Dedeken L, Moffa F, Tsépélidis S, Brachet C, et al. Live birth after autograft of ovarian tissue cryopreserved during childhood. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(9):2107–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev128

185. Matthews SJ, Picton H, Ernst E, Andersen CY. Successful pregnancy in a woman previously suffering from β -thalassemia following transplantation of ovarian tissue cryopreserved before puberty. *Minerva Ginecol* (2018) 70(4):432–5. doi: 10.23736/S0026-4784.18.04240-5

186. Donnez J, Jadoul P, Pirard C, Hutchings G, Demylle D, Squifflet J, et al. Live birth after transplantation of frozen-thawed ovarian tissue after bilateral oophorectomy for benign disease. *Fertil Steril* (2012) 98(3):720–5. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.05.017

187. Revel A, Laufer N, Ben Meir A, Lebovich M, Mitrani E. Micro-organ ovarian transplantation enables pregnancy: a case report. *Hum Reprod* (2011) 26(5):1097–103. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der063

188. Dolmans MM, Falcone T, Patrizio P. Importance of patient selection to analyze *in vitro* fertilization outcome with transplanted cryopreserved ovarian tissue. *Fertil Steril* (2020) 114(2):279–80. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.04.050

189. Fabbri R, Vicenti R, Magnani V, Paradisi R, Lima M, De Meis L, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation: 20 years experience in Bologna university. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:1035109. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1035109

190. Poirot C, Brugieres L, Yakouben K, Prades-Borio M, Marzouk F, de Lambert G, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation for fertility preservation in 418 girls and adolescents up to 15 years of age facing highly gonadotoxic treatment. Twenty years of experience at a single center. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2019) 98(5):630–7. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13616

191. Ernst E, Kjærsgaard M, Birkebæk NH, Clausen N, Andersen CY. Case report: stimulation of puberty in a girl with chemo- and radiation therapy induced ovarian failure by transplantation of a small part of her frozen/thawed ovarian tissue. *Eur J Cancer* (2013) 49(4):911–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2012.09.028

192. Poirot C, Abirached F, Prades M, Coussieu C, Bernaudin F, Piver P. Induction of puberty by autograft of cryopreserved ovarian tissue. *Lancet* (2012) 379(9815):588. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61781-9

193. Donnez J, Silber S, Andersen CY, Demeestere I, Piver P, Meirow D, et al. Children born after autotransplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue. a review of 13 live births. *Ann Med* (2011) 43(6):437–50. doi: 10.3109/07853890.2010.546807

194. Póvoa A, Xavier P, Calejo L, Soares S, Sousa M, Silva J, et al. First transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in Portugal, stored for 10 years: an unexpected indication. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2016) 32(3):334–6. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2015.12.002

195. Roux C, Amiot C, Agnani G, Aubard Y, Rohrlich PS, Piver P. Live birth after ovarian tissue autograft in a patient with sickle cell disease treated by allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Fertil Steril* (2010) 93(7):2413.e15–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.12.022

196. Van der Ven H, Liebenthron J, Beckmann M, Toth B, Korell M, Krüssel J, et al. Ninety-five orthotopic transplantations in 74 women of ovarian tissue after cytotoxic treatment in a fertility preservation network: tissue activity, pregnancy and delivery rates. *Hum Reprod* (2016) 31(9):2031–41. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew165

197. Callejo J, Salvador C, González-Nuñez S, Almeida L, Rodriguez L, Marqués L, et al. Live birth in a woman without ovaries after autograft of frozen-thawed ovarian tissue combined with growth factors. *J Ovarian Res* (2013) 6(1):33. doi: 10.1186/1757-2215-6-33

198. von Wolff M, Stute P, Flück C. Autologous transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue to induce puberty-the endocrinologists' view. *Eur J Pediatr* (2016) 175 (12):2007–10. doi: 10.1007/s00431-016-2771-1

199. Anderson RA, Hindmarsh PC, Wallace WH. Induction of puberty by autograft of cryopreserved ovarian tissue in a patient previously treated for Ewing sarcoma. *Eur J Cancer* (2013) 49(13):2960–1. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2013.04.031

200. Silber S. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation: scientific implications. J Assist Reprod Genet (2016) 33(12):1595–603. doi: 10.1007/s10815-016-0814-1

201. Ruan X, Cheng J, Du J, Jin F, Gu M, Li Y, et al. Analysis of fertility preservation by ovarian tissue cryopreservation in pediatric children in China. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:930786. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.930786

202. Punyatanasakchai P, Sophonsritsuk A, Weerakiet S, Wansumrit S, Chompurat D. Comparison of cryopreserved human sperm in vapor and liquid phases of liquid nitrogen: effect on motility parameters, morphology, and sperm function. *Fertil Steril* (2008) 90(5):1978–82. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.09.066

203. Degl'Innocenti S, Filimberti E, Magini A, Krausz C, Lombardi G, Fino MG, et al. Semen cryopreservation for men banking for oligospermia, cancers, and other pathologies: prediction of post-thaw outcome using basal semen quality. *Fertil Steril* (2013) 100(6):1555–63.e1-3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.08.005

204. Hourvitz A, Goldschlag DE, Davis OK, Gosden LV, Palermo GD, Rosenwaks Z. Intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) using cryopreserved sperm from men with malignant neoplasm yields high pregnancy rates. *Fertil Steril* (2008) 90(3):557–63. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.03.002

205. García A, Herrero MB, Holzer H, Tulandi T, Chan P. Assisted reproductive outcomes of male cancer survivors. *J Cancer Surviv* (2015) 9(2):208–14. doi: 10.1007/s11764-014-0398-7

206. van Casteren NJ, van Santbrink EJ, van Inzen W, Romijn JC, Dohle GR. Use rate and assisted reproduction technologies outcome of cryopreserved semen from 629 cancer patients. *Fertil Steril* (2008) 90(6):2245–50. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.10.055

207. Agarwal A, Ranganathan P, Kattal N, Pasqualotto F, Hallak J, Khayal S, et al. Fertility after cancer: a prospective review of assisted reproductive outcome with banked semen specimens. *Fertil Steril* (2004) 81(2):342–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2003.07.021

208. Schmidt KL, Larsen E, Bangsbøll S, Meinertz H, Carlsen E, Andersen AN. Assisted reproduction in male cancer survivors: fertility treatment and outcome in 67 couples. *Hum Reprod* (2004) 19(12):2806–10. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh518

209. Crha I, Ventruba P, Zakova J, Huser M, Kubesova B, Hudecek R, et al. Survival and infertility treatment in male cancer patients after sperm banking. *Fertil Steril* (2009) 91(6):2344–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.03.053

210. Freour T, Mirallie S, Jean M, Barriere P. Sperm banking and assisted reproductive outcome in men with cancer: a 10 years' experience. *Int J Clin Oncol* (2012) 17(6):598-603. doi: 10.1007/s10147-011-0330-3

211. Kelleher S, Wishart SM, Liu PY, Turner L, Di Pierro I, Conway AJ, et al. Longterm outcomes of elective human sperm cryostorage. *Hum Reprod* (2001) 16(12):2632– 9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/16.12.2632

212. Corona G, Pizzocaro A, Lanfranco F, Garolla A, Pelliccione F, Vignozzi L, et al. Sperm recovery and ICSI outcomes in klinefelter syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2017) 23(3):265–75. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmx008

213. Vicdan K, Akarsu C, Sözen E, Buluç B, Vicdan A, Yılmaz Y, et al. Outcome of intracytoplasmic sperm injection using fresh and cryopreserved-thawed testicular spermatozoa in 83 azoospermic men with klinefelter syndrome. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res* (2016) 42(11):1558–66. doi: 10.1111/jog.13090

214. Wu S, Zhao J, Wu Y, Hu Y, Fang L, Chen W. Comparison of pregnancy and neonatal outcomes of intracytoplasmic sperm injection performed with frozen versus fresh testicular sperm. *Transl Androl Urol* (2022) 11(4):472–9. doi: 10.21037/tau-22-125

215. Corona G, Minhas S, Giwercman A, Bettocchi C, Dinkelman-Smit M, Dohle G, et al. Sperm recovery and ICSI outcomes in men with non-obstructive azoospermia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2019) 25(6):733–57. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz028

216. Karacan M, Alwaeely F, Erkan S, Çebi Z, Berberoğlugil M, Batukan M, et al. Outcome of intracytoplasmic sperm injection cycles with fresh testicular spermatozoa obtained on the day of or the day before oocyte collection and with cryopreserved testicular sperm in patients with azoospermia. *Fertil Steril* (2013) 100(4):975–80. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.06.031

217. Aizer A, Dratviman-Storobinsky O, Noach-Hirsh M, Konopnicki S, Lazarovich A, Raviv G, et al. Testicular sperm retrieval: what should we expect from the fresh and subsequent cryopreserved sperm injection? *Andrologia* (2021) 53(1):e13849. doi: 10.1111/and.13849

218. Feldschuh J, Brassel J, Durso N, Levine A. Successful sperm storage for 28 years. Fertil Steril (2005) 84(4):1017. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2005.05.015

219. Shinohara T, Inoue K, Ogonuki N, Kanatsu-Shinohara M, Miki H, Nakata K, et al. Birth of offspring following transplantation of cryopreserved immature testicular pieces and *in-vitro* microinsemination. *Hum Reprod* (2002) 17(12):3039–45. doi: 10.1093/humrep/17.12.3039

220. Yildiz C, Mullen B, Jarvi K, McKerlie C, Lo KC. Effect of different cryoprotectant agents on spermatogenesis efficiency in cryopreserved and grafted neonatal mouse testicular tissue. *Cryobiology* (2013) 67(1):70-5. doi: 10.1016/j.cryobiol.2013.05.004

221. Gourdon JC, Travis AJ. Spermatogenesis in ferret testis xenografts: a new model. Comp Med (2011) 61(2):145-9.

222. Pukazhenthi BS, Nagashima J, Travis AJ, Costa GM, Escobar EN, França LR, et al. Slow freezing, but not vitrification supports complete spermatogenesis in cryopreserved, neonatal sheep testicular xenografts. *PloS One* (2015) 10(4):e0123957. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123957

223. Nakai M, Kaneko H, Somfai T, Maedomari N, Ozawa M, Noguchi J, et al. Production of viable piglets for the first time using sperm derived from ectopic testicular xenografts. *Reproduction* (2010) 139(2):331–5. doi: 10.1530/REP-09-0509

224. Abbasi S, Honaramooz A. Xenografting of testis tissue from bison calf donors into recipient mice as a strategy for salvaging genetic material. *Theriogenology* (2011) 76 (4):607–14. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2011.03.011

225. Reddy N, Mahla RS, Thathi R, Suman SK, Jose J, Goel S. Gonadal status of male recipient mice influences germ cell development in immature buffalo testis tissue xenograft. *Reproduction* (2012) 143(1):59–69. doi: 10.1530/REP-11-0286

226. Liu J, Cheng KM, Silversides FG. Production of live offspring from testicular tissue cryopreserved by vitrification procedures in Japanese quail (Coturnix japonica). *Biol Reprod* (2013) 88(5):124. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.113.108951

227. Ntemou E, Kadam P, Van Saen D, Wistuba J, Mitchell RT, Schlatt S, et al. Complete spermatogenesis in intratesticular testis tissue xenotransplants from immature non-human primate. *Hum Reprod* (2019) 34(3):403–13. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey373

228. Liu Z, Nie YH, Zhang CC, Cai YJ, Wang Y, Lu HP, et al. Generation of macaques with sperm derived from juvenile monkey testicular xenografts. *Cell Res* (2016) 26(1):139-42. doi: 10.1038/cr.2015.112

229. Jahnukainen K, Ehmcke J, Nurmio M, Schlatt S. Autologous ectopic grafting of cryopreserved testicular tissue preserves the fertility of prepubescent monkeys that receive sterilizing cytotoxic therapy. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(20):5174–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1317

230. Sato T, Katagiri K, Gohbara A, Inoue K, Ogonuki N, Ogura A, et al. *In vitro* Production of functional sperm in cultured neonatal mouse testes. *Nature* (2011) 471 (7339):504–7. doi: 10.1038/nature09850

231. Goossens E, De Rycke M, Haentjens P, Tournaye H. DNA Methylation patterns of spermatozoa and two generations of offspring obtained after murine spermatogonial stem cell transplantation. *Hum Reprod* (2009) 24(9):2255–63. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dep213

232. Kanatsu-Shinohara M, Kato M, Takehashi M, Morimoto H, Takashima S, Chuma S, et al. Production of transgenic rats via lentiviral transduction and xenogeneic transplantation of spermatogonial stem cells. *Biol Reprod* (2008) 79(6):1121–8. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.071159

233. Richardson TE, Chapman KM, Tenenhaus Dann C, Hammer RE, Hamra FK. Sterile testis complementation with spermatogonial lines restores fertility to DAZL-deficient rats and maximizes donor germline transmission. *PloS One* (2009) 4(7):e6308. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006308

234. Honaramooz A, Behboodi E, Megee SO, Overton SA, Galantino-Homer H, Echelard Y, et al. Fertility and germline transmission of donor haplotype following germ cell transplantation in immunocompetent goats. *Biol Reprod* (2003) 69(4):1260–4. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.103.018788

235. Herrid M, Olejnik J, Jackson M, Suchowerska N, Stockwell S, Davey R, et al. Irradiation enhances the efficiency of testicular germ cell transplantation in sheep. *Biol Reprod* (2009) 81(5):898–905. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.109.078279

236. Trefil P, Micáková A, Mucksová J, Hejnar J, Poplstein M, Bakst MR, et al. Restoration of spermatogenesis and male fertility by transplantation of dispersed testicular cells in the chicken. *Biol Reprod* (2006) 75(4):575–81. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.105.050278

237. Kawasaki T, Saito K, Sakai C, Shinya M, Sakai N. Production of zebrafish offspring from cultured spermatogonial stem cells. *Genes Cells* (2012) 17(4):316–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2443.2012.01589.x

238. Hermann BP, Sukhwani M, Winkler F, Pascarella JN, Peters KA, Sheng Y, et al. Spermatogonial stem cell transplantation into rhesus testes regenerates spermatogenesis producing functional sperm. *Cell Stem Cell* (2012) 11(5):715–26. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.07.017

239. Shetty G, Mitchell JM, Lam TNA, Wu Z, Zhang J, Hill L, et al. Donor spermatogenesis in *de novo* formed seminiferous tubules from transplanted testicular cells in rhesus monkey testis. *Hum Reprod* (2018) 33(12):2249–55. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey316

240. Perrard MH, Sereni N, Schluth-Bolard C, Blondet A, SG DE, Plotton I, et al. Complete human and rat *ex vivo* spermatogenesis from fresh or frozen testicular tissue. *Biol Reprod* (2016) 95(4):89. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.116.142802

241. Zhao HM, Yang H, Luo FH, Li MX, Zhang S, Yang XG, et al. Isolation, proliferation, and induction of bama mini-pig spermatogonial stem cells *in vitro*. *Genet Mol Res* (2016) 15(3). doi: 10.4238/gmr.15038602

242. Zheng P, Zhao XW, Zheng XM, Khalid A, Zhao Q, Zhang GX. *In vitro* Differentiation of sperm from male germline stem cell. *Genet Mol Res* (2015) 14 (2):2964–9. doi: 10.4238/2015.April.10.5

243. Xie B, Qin Z, Huang B, Xie T, Yao H, Wei Y, et al. *In vitro* Culture and differentiation of buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) spermatogonia. *Reprod Domest Anim* (2010) 45(2):275–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2008.01281.x

244. Yu K, Zhang Y, Zhang BL, Wu HY, Jiang WQ, Wang ST, et al. *In-vitro* Differentiation of early pig spermatogenic cells to haploid germ cells. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2019) 25(9):507–18. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gaz043

245. Huleihel M, Nourashrafeddin S, Plant TM. Application of three-dimensional culture systems to study mammalian spermatogenesis, with an emphasis on the rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta). *Asian J Androl* (2015) 17(6):972–80. doi: 10.4103/1008-682X.154994

246. Heckmann L, Langenstroth-Röwer D, Wistuba J, Portela JMD, van Pelt AMM, Redmann K, et al. The initial maturation status of marmoset testicular tissues has an impact on germ cell maintenance and somatic cell response in tissue fragment culture. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2020) 26(6):374–88. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gaaa024

247. Abofoul-Azab M, AbuMadighem A, Lunenfeld E, Kapelushnik J, Shi Q, Pinkas H, et al. Development of postmeiotic cells *In Vitro* from spermatogonial cells of prepubertal cancer patients. *Stem Cells Dev* (2018) 27(15):1007–20. doi: 10.1089/scd.2017.0301

248. de Michele F, Poels J, Vermeulen M, Ambroise J, Gruson D, Guiot Y, et al. Haploid germ cells generated in organotypic culture of testicular tissue from prepubertal boys. *Front Physiol* (2018) 9:1413. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01413

249. Mohaqiq M, Movahedin M, Mazaheri Z, Amirjannati N. In vitro Transplantation of spermatogonial stem cells isolated from human frozen-thawed testis tissue can induce spermatogenesis under 3-dimensional tissue culture conditions. Biol Res (2019) 52(1):16. doi: 10.1186/s40659-019-0223-x

250. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Committee on Gynecologic Practice and American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Committee on Health Care for Underserved Women. Health care for transgender and gender diverse individuals: ACOG committee opinion, number 823. *Obstet Gynecol* (2021) 137(3):e75–88. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000004294

251. Ainsworth AJ, Allyse M, Khan Z. Fertility preservation for transgender individuals: a review. *Mayo Clin Proc* (2020) 95(4):784–92. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.10.040

252. Barrett J. Fertility preservation for transgender individuals. *Reprod Fertil* (2022) 3(2):C11–c3. doi: 10.1530/RAF-21-0090

253. Ethics Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Access to fertility services by transgender and nonbinary persons: an ethics committee opinion. *Fertil Steril* (2021) 115(4):874–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.01.049

254. Chiniara LN, Viner C, Palmert M, Bonifacio H. Perspectives on fertility preservation and parenthood among transgender youth and their parents. *Arch Dis Child* (2019) 104(8):739–44. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2018-316080

255. Mattelin E, Strandell A, Bryman I. Fertility preservation and fertility treatment in transgender adolescents and adults in a Swedish region, 2013-2018. *Hum Reprod Open* (2022) 2022(2):hoac008. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoac008

256. Alpern S, Yaish I, Wagner-Kolasko G, Greenman Y, Sofer Y, Paltiel Lifshitz D, et al. Why fertility preservation rates of transgender men are much lower than those of transgender women. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2022) 44(5):943–50. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2022.01.003

257. Auer MK, Fuss J, Nieder TO, Briken P, Biedermann SV, Stalla GK, et al. Desire to have children among transgender people in Germany: a cross-sectional multi-center study. *J Sex Med* (2018) 15(5):757–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jsxm.2018.03.083

258. Strang JF, Jarin J, Call D, Clark B, Wallace GL, Anthony LG, et al. Transgender youth fertility attitudes questionnaire: measure development in nonautistic and autistic transgender youth and their parents. *J Adolesc Health* (2018) 62(2):128–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.07.022

259. Wiepjes CM, Nota NM, de Blok CJM, Klaver M, de Vries ALC, Wensing-Kruger SA, et al. The Amsterdam cohort of gender dysphoria study (1972-2015): trends in prevalence, treatment, and regrets. *J Sex Med* (2018) 15(4):582–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.jsxm.2018.01.016

260. Durcan E, Turan S, Bircan BE, Yaylamaz S, Okur I, Demir AN, et al. Fertility desire and motivation among individuals with gender dysphoria: a comparative study. *J Sex Marital Ther* (2022) 48(8):789–803. doi: 10.1080/0092623X.2022.2053617

261. Riggs DW, Bartholomaeus C. Fertility preservation decision making amongst Australian transgender and non-binary adults. *Reprod Health* (2018) 15(1):181. doi: 10.1186/s12978-018-0627-z

262. Committee opinion no. 685: care for transgender adolescents. Obstet Gynecol (2017) 129(1):e11-e6. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000001861

263. Douglas CR, Phillips D, Sokalska A, Aghajanova L. Fertility preservation for transgender males: counseling and timing of treatment. *Obstet Gynecol* (2022) 139 (6):1012–7. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000004751

264. Komorowski AS, Fisher AR, Jungheim ES, Lewis CS, Omurtag KR. Fertility preservation discussions, referral and follow-up in male-to-female and female-to-male adolescent transgender patients. *Hum Fertil (Camb)* (2021), 1–5. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2021.2015804

265. Armuand G, Dhejne C, Olofsson JI, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA. Transgender men's experiences of fertility preservation: a qualitative study. *Hum Reprod* (2017) 32 (2):383–90. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew323

266. Chen D, Kyweluk MA, Sajwani A, Gordon EJ, Johnson EK, Finlayson CA, et al. Factors affecting fertility decision-making among transgender adolescents and young adults. *LGBT Health* (2019) 6(3):107–15. doi: 10.1089/lgbt.2018.0250

267. Martin CE, Lewis C, Omurtag K. Successful oocyte cryopreservation using letrozole as an adjunct to stimulation in a transgender adolescent after GnRH agonist suppression. *Fertil Steril* (2021) 116(2):522–7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.02.025

268. Spinder T, Spijkstra JJ, van den Tweel JG, Burger CW, van Kessel H, Hompes PG, et al. The effects of long term testosterone administration on pulsatile luteinizing hormone secretion and on ovarian histology in eugonadal female to male transsexual subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1989) 69(1):151–7. doi: 10.1210/jcem-69-1-151

269. De Roo C, Lierman S, Tilleman K, Peynshaert K, Braeckmans K, Caanen M, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation in female-to-male transgender people: insights into ovarian histology and physiology after prolonged androgen treatment. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2017) 34(6):557–66. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2017.03.008

270. Ikeda K, Baba T, Noguchi H, Nagasawa K, Endo T, Kiya T, et al. Excessive androgen exposure in female-to-male transsexual persons of reproductive age induces hyperplasia of the ovarian cortex and stroma but not polycystic ovary morphology. *Hum Reprod* (2013) 28(2):453–61. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des385

271. Amir H, Oren A, Klochendler Frishman E, Sapir O, Shufaro Y, Segev Becker A, et al. Oocyte retrieval outcomes among adolescent transgender males. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2020) 37(7):1737–44. doi: 10.1007/s10815-020-01815-5

272. Adeleye AJ, Cedars MI, Smith J, Mok-Lin E. Ovarian stimulation for fertility preservation or family building in a cohort of transgender men. J Assist Reprod Genet (2019) 36(10):2155–61. doi: 10.1007/s10815-019-01558-y

273. Leung A, Sakkas D, Pang S, Thornton K, Resetkova N. Assisted reproductive technology outcomes in female-to-male transgender patients compared with cisgender patients: a new frontier in reproductive medicine. *Fertil Steril* (2019) 112(5):858–65. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.07.014

274. Lierman S, Tilleman K, Braeckmans K, Peynshaert K, Weyers S, T'Sjoen G, et al. Fertility preservation for trans men: frozen-thawed *in vitro* matured oocytes collected at the time of ovarian tissue processing exhibit normal meiotic spindles. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2017) 34(11):1449–56. doi: 10.1007/s10815-017-0976-5

275. Lierman S, Tolpe A, De Croo I, De Gheselle S, Defreyne J, Baetens M, et al. Low feasibility of *in vitro* matured oocytes originating from cumulus complexes found during ovarian tissue preparation at the moment of gender confirmation surgery and during testosterone treatment for fertility preservation in transgender men. *Fertil Steril* (2021) 116(4):1068-76. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.03.009

276. Segers I, Mateizel I, Van Moer E, Smitz J, Tournaye H, Verheyen G, et al. *In vitro* Maturation (IVM) of oocytes recovered from ovariectomy specimens in the laboratory: a promising "*ex vivo*" method of oocyte cryopreservation resulting in the first report of an ongoing pregnancy in Europe. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2015) 32 (8):1221–31. doi: 10.1007/s10815-015-0528-9

277. Das M, Son WY, Buckett W, Tulandi T, Holzer H. *In-vitro* Maturation versus IVF with GnRH antagonist for women with polycystic ovary syndrome: treatment outcome and rates of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2014) 29(5):545–51. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2014.07.019

278. Smitz JE, Thompson JG, Gilchrist RB. The promise of *in vitro* maturation in assisted reproduction and fertility preservation. *Semin Reprod Med* (2011) 29(1):24–37. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1268701

279. Practice Committees of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine, the Society of Reproductive Biologists and Technologists, and the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology. *In vitro* Maturation: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril* (2021) 115(2):298–304. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.11.018

280. Mattawanon N, Spencer JB, Schirmer DA3rd, Tangpricha V. Fertility preservation options in transgender people: a review. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2018) 19(3):231-42. doi: 10.1007/s11154-018-9462-3

281. Adeleye AJ, Reid G, Kao CN, Mok-Lin E, Smith JF. Semen parameters among transgender women with a history of hormonal treatment. *Urology* (2019) 124:136–41. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2018.10.005

282. Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Häljestig J, Arver S, Johansson ALV, Lundberg FE. Sperm quality in transgender women before or after gender affirming hormone therapy-a prospective cohort study. *Andrology* (2021) 9(6):1773–80. doi: 10.1111/ andr.12999

283. Amir H, Perl L, Barda S, Lantsberg D, Becker AS, Israeli G, et al. Adolescent transgender females present impaired semen quality that is suitable for intracytoplasmic sperm injection even before initiating gender-affirming hormone treatment. *Reprod Sci* (2022) 29(1):260–9. doi: 10.1007/s43032-021-00561-y

284. Marsh C, McCracken M, Gray M, Nangia A, Gay J, Roby KF. Low total motile sperm in transgender women seeking hormone therapy. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2019) 36 (8):1639–48. doi: 10.1007/s10815-019-01504-y

285. Liu PY, Swerdloff RS, Christenson PD, Handelsman DJ, Wang C. Rate, extent, and modifiers of spermatogenic recovery after hormonal male contraception: an integrated analysis. *Lancet* (2006) 367(9520):1412–20. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06) 68614-5

286. de Nie I, Mulder CL, Meißner A, Schut Y, Holleman EM, van der Sluis WB, et al. Histological study on the influence of puberty suppression and hormonal treatment on developing germ cells in transgender women. *Hum Reprod* (2022) 37 (2):297–308. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab240

287. Campbell JE, Assanasen C, Robinson RD, Knudtson JF. Fertility preservation counseling for pediatric and adolescent cancer patients. *J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol* (2016) 5(1):58–63. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2015.0040

288. Tholeti P, Uppangala S, Bhat V, Udupa KS, Kumar V, Patted S, et al. Oncofertility: knowledge, attitudes, and barriers among Indian oncologists and gynecologists. *J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol* (2021) 10(1):71-7. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2020.0034

289. Köhler TS, Kondapalli LA, Shah A, Chan S, Woodruff TK, Brannigan RE. Results from the survey for preservation of adolescent reproduction (SPARE) study: gender disparity in delivery of fertility preservation message to adolescents with cancer. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2011) 28(3):269–77. doi: 10.1007/s10815-010-9504-6

290. Armuand GM, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Wettergren L, Ahlgren J, Enblad G, Höglund M, et al. Sex differences in fertility-related information received by young adult cancer survivors. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30(17):2147–53. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2011.40.6470

291. Armuand GM, Wettergren L, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Lampic C. Women more vulnerable than men when facing risk for treatment-induced infertility: a qualitative study of young adults newly diagnosed with cancer. *Acta Oncol* (2015) 54 (2):243–52. doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2014.948573

292. Quinn GP, Vadaparampil ST. Fertility preservation and adolescent/young adult cancer patients: physician communication challenges. J Adolesc Health (2009) 44(4):394–400. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2008.08.014

293. Wyns C, Collienne C, Shenfield F, Robert A, Laurent P, Roegiers L, et al. Fertility preservation in the male pediatric population: factors influencing the decision of parents and children. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(9):2022–30. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ dev161

294. Johnson RH, Kroon L. Optimizing fertility preservation practices for adolescent and young adult cancer patients. *J Natl Compr Canc Netw* (2013) 11 (1):71–7. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2013.0010

295. Behl S, Joshi VB, Hussein RS, Walker DL, Lampat KL, Krenik AG, et al. Consult and procedure incidence outcomes following establishment of a fertility preservation program for children with cancer. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2021) 38 (2):495–501. doi: 10.1007/s10815-020-02042-8

296. Lopategui DM, Ibrahim E, Aballa TC, Brackett NL, Yechieli R, Barredo JC, et al. Effect of a formal oncofertility program on fertility preservation rates-first year experience. *Transl Androl Urol* (2018) 7(Suppl 3):S271-s5. doi: 10.21037/tau.2018.04.24

297. Sheth KR, Sharma V, Helfand BT, Cashy J, Smith K, Hedges JC, et al. Improved fertility preservation care for male patients with cancer after establishment of formalized oncofertility program. *J Urol* (2012) 187(3):979–86. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2011.10.154

298. Frederick NN, Klosky JL, Meacham LR, Quinn GP, Kelvin JF, Cherven B, et al. Infrastructure of fertility preservation services for pediatric cancer patients: a report from the children's oncology group. *JCO Oncol Pract* (2022) 18(3):e325–e33. doi: 10.1200/OP.21.00275

299. Robbins HL, Zahoor A, Jones K. Fertility preservation in young cancer patients-too little, too late? *Support Care Cancer* (2015) 23(12):3395-7. doi: 10.1007/s00520-015-2890-7

300. Letourneau JM, Ebbel EE, Katz PP, Katz A, Ai WZ, Chien AJ, et al. Pretreatment fertility counseling and fertility preservation improve quality of life in reproductive age women with cancer. *Cancer* (2012) 118(6):1710–7. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26459

301. Redig AJ, Brannigan R, Stryker SJ, Woodruff TK, Jeruss JS. Incorporating fertility preservation into the care of young oncology patients. *Cancer* (2011) 117(1):4–10. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25398

302. Lampic C, Wettergren L. Oncologists' and pediatric oncologists' perspectives and challenges for fertility preservation. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2019) 98(5):598–603. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13551

303. Kaneva K, Erickson L, Rowell E, Badawy SM. Fertility preservation education for pediatric hematology-oncology fellows, faculty and advanced practice providers: a pilot study. *Pediatr Hematol Oncol* (2022) 39(1):68–73. doi: 10.1080/08880018.2021.1928348

304. Joshi VB, Behl S, Pittock ST, Arndt CAS, Zhao Y, Khan Z, et al. Establishment of a pediatric ovarian and testicular cryopreservation program for malignant and non-malignant conditions: the Mayo clinic experience. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* (2021) 34 (5):673–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2021.04.006

305. Carlson CA, Kolon TF, Mattei P, Hobbie W, Gracia CR, Ogle S, et al. Developing a hospital-wide fertility preservation service for pediatric and young adult patients. *J Adolesc Health* (2017) 61(5):571-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.07.008

306. Oktay K, Bedoschi G, Pacheco F, Turan V, Emirdar V. First pregnancies, live birth, and *in vitro* fertilization outcomes after transplantation of frozen-banked ovarian tissue with a human extracellular matrix scaffold using robot-assisted minimally invasive surgery. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2016) 214(1):94.e1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.10.001

307. Kim EJ, Lee HJ, Lee J, Youm HW, Lee JR, Suh CS, et al. The beneficial effects of polyethylene glycol-superoxide dismutase on ovarian tissue culture and transplantation. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2015) 32(10):1561–9. doi: 10.1007/s10815-015-0537-8

308. Hemadi M, Shokri S, Pourmatroud E, Moramezi F, Khodadai A. Follicular dynamic and immunoreactions of the vitrified ovarian graft after host treatment with variable regimens of melatonin. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2012) 67(5):401–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2011.01087.x

309. Soleimani R, Heytens E, Oktay K. Enhancement of neoangiogenesis and follicle survival by sphingosine-1-phosphate in human ovarian tissue xenotransplants. *PloS One* (2011) 6(4):e19475. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019475

310. Mahmoodi M, Soleimani Mehranjani M, Shariatzadeh SM, Eimani H, Shahverdi A. Effects of erythropoietin on ischemia, follicular survival, and ovarian function in ovarian grafts. *Reproduction* (2014) 147(5):733–41. doi: 10.1530/REP-13-0379

311. Dolmans MM, Donnez J, Cacciottola L. Fertility preservation: the challenge of freezing and transplanting ovarian tissue. *Trends Mol Med* (2021) 27(8):777–91. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2020.11.003

312. Takae S, Suzuki N. Current state and future possibilities of ovarian tissue transplantation. *Reprod Med Biol* (2019) 18(3):217–24. doi: 10.1002/rmb2.12268

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rodolfo A. Rey, Hospital de Niños Ricardo Gutiérrez, Argentina

REVIEWED BY Dana Kimelman, Centro de Esterilidad Montevideo, Uruguay Mindy S. Christianson, Johns Hopkins University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Mahmoud Salama Salamam2@msu.edu

RECEIVED 19 January 2023 ACCEPTED 12 April 2023 PUBLISHED 08 May 2023

CITATION

Ozimek N, Salama M and Woodruff TK (2023) National oncofertility registries around the globe: a pilot survey. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1148314. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1148314

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ozimek, Salama and Woodruff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

National oncofertility registries around the globe: a pilot survey

Noelle Ozimek¹, Mahmoud Salama^{2*} and Teresa K. Woodruff²

¹Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ²Oncofertility Consortium, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, United States

Purpose: Oncofertility is an emerging discipline which aims to preserve fertility of young cancer patients. As fertility preservation services have become increasingly available to cancer patients in many countries around the globe, it is crucial to establish a foundation of collaborative reporting to continuously monitor and assess oncofertility practices. This survey study investigates the current global landscape of official national oncofertility registries, a vital tool which allows for surveillance of the field.

Methods: An online pilot survey was conducted to give the opportunity to report official national oncofertility registries available in 2022. Survey questions covered the availability of official national registries for oncofertility as well as the official national registries for cancer and assisted reproductive technologies. Participation in the survey was voluntary, anonymous and for free.

Results: According to our online pilot survey, responses were collected from 20 countries including Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Egypt, Germany, Greece, India, Japan, Kenya, Philippines, Romania, South Africa, Thailand, Tunisia, UK, USA & Uruguay. Only 3 out of the 20 surveyed countries have well-established official national oncofertility registries; and include Australia, Germany & Japan. The Australian official national oncofertility registry is part of Australasian Oncofertility Registry that also includes New Zealand. The German official national oncofertility registry is part of FertiPROTEKT Network Registry for German speaking countries that also includes Austria & Switzerland. The Japanese official national oncofertility registry includes Japan only and called Japan Oncofertility Registry (JOFR). A supplementary internet search confirmed the aforementioned results. Therefore, the final list of countries around the globe that have official national oncofertility registries includes Australia, Austria, Germany, Japan, New Zealand, and Switzerland. Some other countries such as the USA and Denmark are on their way to establish official national registries for oncofertility care.

Conclusion: Although oncofertility services are expanding globally, very few countries have well-established official national oncofertility registries. By reviewing such a global landscape, we highlight the urgent need for having a well-established official national oncofertility registry in each country to monitor oncofertility services in a way that best serves patients.

KEYWORDS

oncofertility, registry, database, fertility preservation, cancer

1 Introduction

Advancements in medicine have led to an increase in the survival rates of pediatric and adolescent cancers over the past decades (1). While these patients are recovering and living longer, common cancer treatments such as alkylating chemotherapy and ionizing radiation are highly gonadotoxic, resulting in fertility loss and a low chance of genetic parenthood for many survivors. The risk of cancer therapyinduced gonadotoxicity and fertility loss depends on the type and dose of cancer therapy, type and stage of the disease, as well as the age of the patient and the status of reproductive functions at the time of treatment (2). Therefore, there is a growing need to develop novel techniques which allow for the preservation and protection of fertility for pediatric, adolescent, and young adult cancer survivors. First coined in 2006, "Oncofertility" is an interdisciplinary field that bridges oncology and reproductive medicine with the goal of preserving the reproductive future of cancer survivors (3). The increasing availability of new oncofertility services such as ovarian and testicular tissue cryopreservation, in addition to the traditional sperm, egg and embryo cryobanking has generated a need to monitor these services across institutions and clinics.

Registries crucially provide an unparalleled opportunity for the surveillance of medical practices at all levels- local, regional, national, multinational, and globally. When registries are thorough, and data is complete and accurate, the information contained has the potential to shed light on epidemiological trends, highlight areas for improvement, and inform public health stakeholders. In any field, well-established national registries create opportunities for the surveillance and comparison of treatments on a large scale, allowing for the evaluation of novel approaches, and the continued safety monitoring of traditional approaches across the country. Ultimately, the information contained within a well-established national registry has the potential to guide informed decision making for both patient and provider, improve patient experience and reduce the burden of disease (4, 5).

Some of the most well-established registries are in the field of oncology (5). Such registries hold information on cancer prevalence, subtypes and treatment efficacy which have guided standards of care (6). For example, a study on registry data reported a marked disparity in mortality from cancer between developed and developing countries, with 57% of new cases and 65% of deaths in 2012 occurring in developing countries, painting a global picture that would have otherwise been more difficult to obtain (7). CONCORD, an established global surveillance program for cancer survival trends across 71 countries collected data from over 37.5 million cases in a 15-year period, which was used to inform on the global status of cancer and guide healthcare policy, speaking to the clear benefit of medical registries (8–10).

Compared to cancer registries, the degree to which Assisted Reproductive Technologies (ART) registries are established is more varied. The European IVF monitoring consortium is one such registry used to track the success of multiple reproductive technologies performed at over 1000 institutions from 43 countries (11). Nearly annual reports on this registry have uncovered a trend towards marginal improvement in efficacy of these services, among other findings (12–15). The quantity of data collected in this registry increases the impact of its studies and further highlights the importance of ART registries.

While some ART registries may include specialized oncofertility services, there is a general lack of recording this data in many countries around the globe. The main purpose of this study is to investigate the global existence of national oncofertility registries in relation to national cancer and ART registries.

2 Methods

2.1 Data collection

In order to identify cancer, ART and oncofertility official national registries, we conducted an online pilot survey in 2022, asking participants to report the registries available in their countries by answering the survey questions as shown in Figure 1.

The survey study was designed and conducted by the Oncofertility Consortium team at Michigan State University (MSU), USA. The Institutional Review Board (IRB) at MSU determined that this survey study did not constitute research that involves human subjects; therefore, additional IRB review and approval was not required.

The survey was available online on MSU Qualtrics from January 2022 to September 2022. Furthermore, a link to the online survey https://msu.col.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_brTwsVJ3vVsLqdw was shared at the 14th Annual Conference of the Oncofertility Consortium, May 2-4, 2022, Pittsburgh, PA, and in the Oncofertility Consortium e-newsletters that may appeal to oncofertility care providers, such as those sent by related professional societies and academic departments.

Participation in this online survey was voluntary, anonymous and for free. Responses were confidential and no identifying information such as personal names, email addresses or IP addresses was collected. All data was stored in a password protected electronic format for scholarly purposes only.

2.2 Data analysis

Upon closing the survey period, we conducted a thorough internet search to authenticate each response and check whether each national registry officially exists. In the cases where survey participants from the same county reported different information about registries, all responses were reviewed to determine the accuracy of the data. Responses found to be inaccurate were discarded. After data cleaning, descriptive statistics were used to analyze the final dataset.

3 Results

Responses from 20 countries were collected via the online survey including Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile,

2	What is your profession related to Oncofertility?	Select one, write in if "other"
2.		
	Advanced Practice Provider (Physician Assistant, N	Nurse Practitioner)
	Patient Navigator	
	Researcher	
	Lab Specialist Other (please specify)	
3.	Is there an official national registry for cancer in your cou Yes	ntry? Select one, write in if "yes"
	No	
	I do not know	
	Ly If yes, please mention the registry website	
4.	Is there an official national registry for Assisted Reproduct your country?	Select one, write in if "yes"
	Yes	beleet one, write in it yes
	□ No □ I do not know	
	→If yes, please mention the registry website	
5.	Is there an official national registry for oncofertility in you	ur country?
	Yes	Select one, write in if "yes"
	□ No □ I do not know	
	→ If yes, please mention the registry website	

China, Egypt, Germany, Greece, India, Japan, Kenya, Philippines, Romania, South Africa, Thailand, Tunisia, UK, USA & Uruguay. Twelve countries (60%) have official national cancer registries including Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Germany, India, Japan, South Africa, Thailand, UK, USA & Uruguay. Thirteen countries (65%) have official national ART registries including Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Germany, Greece, Japan, Romania, South Africa, Thailand, UK, USA & Uruguay. Only 3 countries (15%) have official national oncofertility registries including Australia, Germany & Japan (Table 1).

4 Discussion

According to our online pilot survey, responses from 20 countries were collected and showed that only 3 countries (Australia, Germany & Japan) have well-established official national oncofertility registries. The Australian official national oncofertility registry is part of Australasian Oncofertility Registry (AOFR) that also includes New Zealand (http://www.futurefertility.com.au/registry/). The German official national oncofertility registry is part of FertiPROTEKT Network Registry for German speaking countries that also includes Austria & Switzerland (https://fertiprotekt.com/en/patients/). The Japanese official national oncofertility registry includes Japan only and called Japan Oncofertility Registry (JOFR) (http://www.j-sfp.org/ about/registry.html).

To supplement this pilot survey, we conducted a separate internet search to identify further official national oncofertility registries around the globe. Keywords were searched on both PubMed and Google alongside the countries' names and "registries" (ex: "USA oncofertility registries"). Key terms included: oncofertility, cancer, oncology, assisted reproductive

Countries involved in the online pilot survey	Countries with an official national cancer registry	Countries with an official national ART registry	Countries with an official national oncofertility registry
N = 20 (100%)	N = 12 (60%)	N = 13 (65%)	N = 3 (15%)
 Argentina Australia Brazil Canada Chile China Egypt Germany Greece India Japan Kenya Philippines Romania South Africa Thailand Tunisia UK USA Uruguay 	 Argentina Australia Brazil Canada Germany India Japan South Africa Thailand UK USA Uruguay 	 Argentina Australia Brazil Canada Germany Greece Japan Romania South Africa Thailand UK USA Uruguay 	1. Australia 2. Germany 3. Japan

TABLE 1 Results of the online pilot survey.

technologies, ART, IVF, sperm cryopreservation, embryo cryopreservation, oocyte cryopreservation, ovarian tissue cryopreservation, and testicular tissue cryopreservation. If providers were able to access one or more national, or multinational registry, they were considered to have a registry available to them. Hospital level registries, local registries or regional registries were not recognized by this internet search, as we aimed to review registries available to larger populations on the national level. No additional national oncofertility registries were identified through this internet search. Therefore, the final list of countries around the globe that have official national oncofertility registries includes Australia, Austria, Germany, Japan, New Zealand, and Switzerland (Table 2). Some other countries such as the USA and Denmark are on their way to establish official national registries for oncofertility care. By reviewing such a global landscape, we highlight the urgent need for having a well-established official national oncofertility registry in each country to monitor oncofertility services in a way that best serves patients.

Establishing a national oncofertility registry is a very challenging process. A 2019 report by the leaders of *Ferti*PROTEKT, the Oncofertility Consortium and the Danish Fertility Preservation

Network discussed the logistical considerations when initiating oncofertility networks, many of which should also be considered when establishing oncofertility registries (16). In the early stages of network development, it is crucial to consider structural details such as whether the oncofertility registry will be centralized or a collaborative effort of smaller networks with shared goals and responsibilities operating under the same guidelines. Governments, institutions and cryobanks may serve as the host and primary site of the oncofertility registry, depending on the intended size and structure of the collaborative effort. Estimates of population size and local differences which could influence care logistics (insurance, cultural differences, language, etc.) should be weighed when considering the inclusion of countries or regions. FertiPROTEKT, for example, is available to all German-speaking countries (Germany, Austria & Switzerland) (16). Consideration should also be given to selecting a list of data to be collected. Current oncofertility registries often include demographics such as age and gender, as well as health information such as the type and stage of the cancer diagnosed, type of fertility preservation services attempted, as well as measures of success (e.g.: cancer and fertility preservation outcomes, quantity of samples collected for cryopreservation, pregnancy rate, and live birth

	TABLE 2	Countries around	the globe that h	nave official national	oncofertility registries.
--	---------	------------------	------------------	------------------------	---------------------------

Country	Official National Oncofertility Registry	Website
Australia	Australasian Oncofertility Registry (AOFR)	http://www.futurefertility.com.au/registry/
Austria	FertiPROTEKT Network Registry	https://fertiprotekt.com/en/patients/
Germany	FertiPROTEKT Network Registry	https://fertiprotekt.com/en/patients/
Japan	Japan Oncofertility Registry (JOFR)	http://www.j-sfp.org/about/registry.html
New Zealand	Australasian Oncofertility Registry (AOFR)	http://www.futurefertility.com.au/registr/
Switzerland	FertiPROTEKT Network Registry	https://fertiprotekt.com/en/patients/

rate). Among current registries, there is variation in whether members are required to fill out all information, or if some of the information is voluntary- this too is a consideration (4). Providers may be concerned about finding time to input data. Therefore, it is recommended to keep required information to a minimum and enlist the support of other professionals such as patient navigators when completing such tasks.

Startup cost can be anticipated to be an early logistical concern. Various sources of funding may be considered, including research grants, government agencies, as well as private groups and societies. Located in Australia and New Zealand, the multisite Australasian Oncofertility Registry was established by The FUTuRE Fertility research team as part of a study. The registry includes information regarding referrals, uptakes, complications, and outcomes of oncofertility services (17). The group plans to compare data to other healthcare datasets to carry out additional studies and expand the clinical picture. Collectively, this data will inform evidencebased guidelines and resources. Other considerable startup costs include cost of website creation, establishing standard operating procedures for the recruitment of centers and standardization of data collection and deposition. In 2018, the Japan Society for Fertility Preservation (JSFP) launched the Japan Oncofertility Registry (JOFR). A recent article on JOFR showed that as of January 2022, over 7000 cases from more than 100 fertility centers have been registered in Japan. JOFR aims to keep disseminating information on cancer prognoses, pregnancy rates, and other oncofertility outcomes to help monitor and improve oncofertility services in Japan (18).

A known challenge in oncofertility is its multidisciplinary nature, as success requires close coordination between reproductive medicine specialists, reproductive biologists, and oncologists in various disciplines. One report suggests that approximately 20% of patients seeking oncofertility services sought advice independently, without the recommendation of their oncologist, highlighting the need for the encouragement of collaborative care (19). When determining leadership, representation from multiple specialties may be important in forming a foundation of cooperation that is necessary for longterm sustainability.

While this paper highlights the deficit of official national oncofertility registries around the globe, some limitations should be noted. While we evaluated the availability of registries, some registries are still under development and hence excluded from our analysis. Several registries are structured differently from each other, and we are yet to understand how such variability affects the success of these registries. Utilization and adherence to registration are necessary to consider when attempting to understand the success of registries, but this data was unavailable. Challenges in obtaining this data included language barriers, lack of publicly available data, and in some cases, obstructed ability to access information when viewed from outside of the host country.

5 Conclusion

According to our online pilot survey, responses from 20 countries were collected and showed that only 3 countries (Australia, Germany & Japan) have well-established official national oncofertility registries. The Australian official national oncofertility registry is part of Australasian Oncofertility Registry that also includes New Zealand. The German official national oncofertility registry is part of FertiPROTEKT Network Registry for German speaking countries that also includes Austria & Switzerland. The Japanese official national oncofertility registry includes Japan only and called Japan Oncofertility Registry (JOFR). A supplementary internet search confirmed the aforementioned results. Therefore, the final list of countries around the globe that have official national oncofertility registries includes Australia, Austria, Germany, Japan, New Zealand, and Switzerland. Some other countries such as the USA and Denmark are on their way to establish official national registries for oncofertility care.

Although oncofertility services are expanding globally, very few countries have well-established official national oncofertility registries. By reviewing such a global landscape, we highlight the urgent need for having a well-established official national oncofertility registry in each country to monitor oncofertility services in a way that best serves patients. We call for the creation of such registries, with consideration to the practical challenges in doing so especially the logistical and financial challenges.

Author contributions

All authors contributed equally in conceptualization, methodology, data collection and analysis, manuscript writing, reviewing & final editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10.3389/fendo.2023.1148314

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs H, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin (2021) 71:7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21654

2. Gracia C, Woodruff T. Oncofertility medical practice. New York, NY: Springer (2012) p. 3–14.

3. Woodruff TK. The emergence of a new interdiscipline: oncofertility. Oncofertility Fertility Preservation Cancer Survivors (2007) 138:3–11. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-72293-1_1

4. Pop B, Fetica B, Blaga ML, Trifa AP, Achimas-Cadariu P, Vlad CI, et al. The role of medical registries, potential applications and limitations. *Med Pharm Rep* (2019) 92 (1):7–14. doi: 10.15386/cjmed-1015

5. Ryerson AB, Eheman C, Styles T, Rycroft R, Snyder C. Connecting the dots: linking the national program of cancer registries and the needs of survivors and clinicians. *Am J Prev Med* (2015) 49(6):S528–35. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2015.08.026

6. Bouchardy C, Rapiti E, Benhamou S. Cancer registries can provide evidencebased data to improve quality of care and prevent cancer deaths. *Ecancermedicalscience* (2014) 8(413):1–8. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2014.413

7. Torre L, Bray F, Siegel R, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin (2015) 65(2):87–108. doi: 10.3322/caac.21262

8. Allemani C, Matsuda T, Di Carlo V, Harewood R, Matz M, Nikšić M, et al. Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival 2000–14 (CONCORD-3): analysis of individual records for 37 513 025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries. *Lancet* (2018) 391(10125):1023–75. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(17)3326-3

9. Allemani C, Coleman M. Public health surveillance of cancer survival in the united states and worldwide: the contribution of the CONCORD programme. *Cancer* (2017) 123:4977-81. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30854

10. Allemani C. The importance of global surveillance of cancer survival for cancer control: the concord programme, in: *Cancer control*. Available at: http://www.cancercontrol.info/2017-3/the-importance-of-global-surveillance-of-cancer-survival-for-cancer-control-the-concord-programme/ (Accessed August 27, 2021).

11. Eshre.eu. *Participating countries*. Available at: https://www.eshre.eu/Data-collectionand-research/Consortia/EIM/Participating-countries (Accessed August 27, 2021). 12. De Geyter C, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka M, Wyns C, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, et al. ART in Europe, 2014: results generated from European registries by ESHRE: the European IVF monitoring consortium (EIM) for the European society of human reproduction and embryology (ESHRE). *Hum Reprod* (2018) 33(9):1586–601. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey242

13. De Geyter C, Calhaz-Jorge C, Kupka M, Wyns C, Mocanu E, Motrenko T, et al. ART in Europe, 2015: results generated from European registries by ESHRE : the European IVF-monitoring consortium (EIM) for the European society of human reproduction and embryology (ESHRE). *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020(1):1586–601. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoz038

14. De Geyter C, Wyns C, Calhaz-Jorge C, de Mouzon J, Ferraretti AP, Kupka M, et al. 20 years of the European IVF-monitoring consortium registry: what have we learned? a comparison with registries from two other regions. *Hum Reprod* (2020) 35 (12):2832–49. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deaa250

15. European Society of human reproduction and embryology. Available at: https:// www.eshre.eu/Data-collection-and-research/Consortia/EIM/Publications.aspx (Accessed August 27, 2021).

16. von Wolff M, Andersen C, Woodruff T, Nawroth F. FertiPROTEKT, oncofertility consortium and the Danish fertility-preservation networks – what can we learn from their experiences? *Clin Med Insights: Reprod Health* (2019) 13. doi: 10.1177/1179558119845865. 1179558119845866.

17. Anazodo A, Stern C, McLachlan R, Gerstl B, Agresta F, Cohn J, et al. A study protocol for the Australasian oncofertility registry: monitoring referral patterns and the uptake, quality, and complications of fertility preservation strategies in Australia and new Zealand. *J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol* (2016) 5(3):215–25. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2015.0062

18. Shigematsu K, Shimizu C, Furui T, Kataoka S, Kawai K, Kishida T, et al. Current status and issues of the Japan oncofertility registry. *J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol* (2022). doi: 10.1089/jayao.2022.0110

19. Shoham G, Levy-Toledano R, Leong M, Weissman A, Yaron Y, Shoham Z. Oncofertility: insights from IVF specialists-a worldwide web-based survey analysis. J Assist Reprod Genet (2019) 36(5):1013–21. doi: 10.1007/s10815-019-01419-8

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yasmin Jayasinghe, The University of Melbourne, Australia

REVIEWED BY Laura Melado, ART Fertility Clinics LLC, United Arab Emirates

*CORRESPONDENCE Dunja M. Baston-Büst dunja.baston-buest@med.uniduesseldorf.de

RECEIVED 24 March 2023 ACCEPTED 10 May 2023 PUBLISHED 25 May 2023

CITATION

Baston-Büst DM, Scheliga I and Bielfeld AP (2023) Setup of a cryobank for ovarian tissue in a university-based setting. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1193178. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1193178

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Baston-Büst, Scheliga and Bielfeld. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Setup of a cryobank for ovarian tissue in a universitybased setting

Dunja M. Baston-Büst*, Iwona Scheliga and Alexandra P. Bielfeld

Department of OB/GYN and Reproductive Endocrinology and Infertility (REI), UniKiD/UniCareD, Medical Hospital University of Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

Establishing and maintaining a newly set-up cryobank for ovarian tissue in a university setting requires at least 1 year's notice to start financial, spatial, lab equipment, and employee acquisition planning. Right before and after the start of the cryobank, the newly founded team should introduce itself to the hospitals and local and national health systems *via* mail, print flyers, and symposia in order to share the possibilities and the knowledge. Potential referrers should be provided with standard operating procedures and advice on getting used to the new system. Especially in the first year after the establishment, all procedures should be internally audited in order to avoid possible difficulties.

KEYWORDS

cryopreservation, freezing, gonadotoxic, children, female, infertility

Introduction

Establishing a cryobank for ovarian tissue (OT) that is technically state-of-the-art in terms of both personnel and equipment is the basic prerequisite for establishing a new medical unit at a German university hospital. This certainly requires good planning and a certain amount of lead time in order to fulfill the aforementioned prerequisites. Once these conditions have been met, however, the real work begins, because now the newly installed cryobank team must ensure that a wide variety of target groups are informed that there is now a cryobank at this location and what specific services are available for patients and medical staff.

Planning of the setup of a centralized cryobank and financial aspects

Because of the few existing cryobanks for fertility preservation (FP) in Germany at the moment and the unproblematic dispatch of the cryomaterial, it is indispensable to engage with and become known to groups far beyond the normal catchment area. Prior to the start of a cryobank, there were many meetings with the head of the department of OB/GYN, the

10.3389/fendo.2023.1193178

dean of the medical faculty, and the legal and the financial departments, which dealt with spatial possibilities, financial aspects, the design of the contracts, the scientific foci of the university hospital, and obviously the staff needed. Either new or existing staff with experience in the in vitro fertilization (IVF) lab or newly employed experts in the field were qualified for this position. In our case, meetings with the financial department were more fruitful as an IVF unit has been established before. Furthermore, next to the lab and storage space for the cryobank, an area for consultations should be offered within the center in the IVF unit, representing specialists in reproductive medicine (Supplementary Figure 1). The minimal equipment of a cryobank should be a laminar flow for the different steps during freezing and thawing, a fridge and a refrigerator for the transport and cryopreservation medium, a printer for the cryobonds, a slow freezing unit with access to liquid nitrogen, and a storage tank. As part of the public health system, the financial benefit could be more nonprofit than established as a private cryobank. A private cryobank for ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC) in Germany would need about 350,000€/year for its establishment and maintenance, which is more expensive than that estimated by Kyono et al. (1). In our unit, the cryobank started on the same campus in the GCP unit, focusing on blood stem cells and cord blood. In order to offer national support, numerous transport boxes and cooling elements have been bought, and a contract with a parcel service has been signed (Figures 1A, B). Regarding the number of staff needed on site, a minimum of two specialists should be educated to freeze and thaw OT, supported by a patient manager who responds to the patient's questions and concerns and organizes the logistics of the boxes and the data management. About 400 patients a year perform OTC, according to the Fertiprotekt data collection and data from Japan (1, 2). The patient's burden to pay for FP, including OTC, will

be covered by the medical insurance in Germany soon. Since 2021, the costs of freezing mature oocytes for FP are covered by the insurance companies as long as the patient is over 18 years old and, in the case of breast cancer, hormone receptor negative.

Information on referrers and potential patients

A distinction must be made here as to who the information is intended for. On the one hand, there are affected patients of reproductive age or even children with a malignant disease who will be treated with chemotherapy and/or radiation and who may be at risk of moderate to complete loss of fertility, depending on the treatment regimen (3, 4). In addition, there are patients with benign diseases, e.g., thalassämia, who are also going to receive a gonadotoxic treatment (5). Patients with genetic predisposition or severe endometriosis disease may also be considered for fertility preservation (5). All patients, especially those with an oncological disease, are already focused on treatment and survival. Due to the absence or limited possibilities for biological parenthood after successful therapy and remission for those receiving high-risk therapy, they should nevertheless be given the opportunity to consider the topic of FP. Here, the attending physician or specialist is certainly the one to provide the patient with information about FP or the address and/or contact of a specialized counseling unit. In Germany, the documentation of the patient's education concerning FP is part of the certification prerequisites for cancer centers.

Moreover, gaining information through an Internet search is also becoming increasingly important nowadays. Here, patients inform themselves independently, so it is important to initiate the



media presence at the same time during the establishment of a cryobank. An informative and easy-to-navigate website with information about the existing options, information on contact (in addition to phone contact, electronic contact is increasingly favored because this is independent of the opening hours of the center and is therefore considered a very low-threshold offer), and, in the case of the OTC and or gametes, also information on the costs and associated legally regulated requirements for cost coverage by statutory health insurance, plays an immense role. Closely related to web performance is good accessibility. This requires specially trained personnel on the phone and, if possible, an individual phone and/or mobile number that is used only for matters of fertility-preserving needs to guarantee short-term help.

Also, foundations (Deutsche Stiftung für junge Erwachsene mit Krebs, Stiftung Lebensblicke), associations, and self-help groups (Jung und Krebs e.V., Krebs-Selbsthilfe, Deutsche Krebshilfe, Frauenselbsthilfe Krebs-Bundesverband e.V., BRCA-Netzwerk e.V.-Hilfe bei familiären Krebserkrankungen, Rheuma-Liga, Endometriose Vereinigung) are playing an important role in which emotional support is offered as well as knowledge about a disease, treatment strategies, and often also information around support, applications, etc. Therefore, it makes sense for the cryobank team to introduce itself to the local foundations/selfhelp groups, as well as to national ones, so that they are precisely informed about the technical possibilities and options. Members of the foundations or self-help groups can then pass this knowledge safely, quickly, and objectively to those affected. It also makes sense to keep on giving presentations at patient information days (e.g., breast cancer day), at the citizens' university, or at meetings of selfhelp groups and associations, as information can also be lost there due to personnel changes.

A very current approach, which is also desirable in the area of FP, is represented by the project of the so-called professional patients or patient coaches, which has been initiated at our university hospital with a special focus on oncological patients. Here, formerly ill patients act as on-site advisors for those currently seeking help and navigate them not only physically through the often jungle-like wounded localities in the clinics but also in terms of content. The information and detailed education of these patient coaches are also good multipliers for the flow of information to the patient.

In addition to patient-oriented information and the right information tools and flow for them, the training of medical professional groups is important (Supplementary Figure 1). Here, it must not be forgotten that not only medical personnel who care for patients with malignant diseases but also those who care for patients with benign diseases such as immune diseases and endometriosis, as well as those with genetic predispositions such as Turner syndrome, receive differentiated and, if possible, regular information through lectures, mails, and events on the topic from colleagues on site or in the area of the cryobank. Especially when a cryobank is newly established at a location, it often takes longer for this information to get around, so it is good to organize information events even before and during the cryobank's opening to report on this increase in possibilities. From our own experience, we can state that the sole information available through clinic news, letters, and emails is not sufficient to raise an awareness of the new situation, but the personal approach has a much higher value. Especially because the field of FP is very fast developing and therefore changing, personal and regular information of all involved specialties provides a solid counseling offer according to the current S2k guideline (6). In order to meet the needs of the healthcare providers and to gain an update on the routine of cryobanks, several questionnaires have been created in the last decade emphasizing the need for specialists and best care for all patients independent from financial burdens or social impacts (7-10).

The daily routine of a cryobank, including thawing and transplantation service

Surgery and freezing of OTC

Immediately prior to the start of therapy, OT can be obtained by laparoscopy within 1-2 days after counseling or even the diagnosis of a malignant or benign disease (Figures 1A-C). All follicles are located in the OT cortex, which is dissected into at least 10 equalsized pieces of tissue and then cooled in a controlled manner using a computer-controlled program until it is completely frozen to -140° C (11, 12) (Figures 1C-J). The frozen samples are then transferred directly to the cryostorage container, where they can be stored indefinitely in the nitrogen vapor phase. In our cryobank, the initial storage period according to the contract with the patient, is 1 year, which is then extended annually. In Germany, there are only three centralized cryobank and three to five smaller centers offering processing, cryopreservation, and permanent storage of OT. Only the centralized cryobanks offer overnight shipping of OT nationwide (13). Only the centralized facilities have the special equipment and trained personnel to ensure a standardized good quality, which is needed in terms of transplantation after the patient's recovery from the disease and the wish to conceive (14, 15).

The cryobank and the clinic where the laparoscopy takes place have signed a cooperation contract and a delimitation of responsibility agreement containing the responsibilities for processing, cryopreservation and storage, and presurgery, surgery, and postsurgery measures. The goal is always to provide the patient with the best possible care and service. A close exchange between the cryobank and the patient's clinic is very important, including the registration of a patient during or after counseling and the coordination of the shipment of the boxes for transport (13, 16, 17) (Figure 1B). Essential for the information of the staff on-site as well as in external clinics is a standardized procedure, which is defined in a standard operating procedure (SOP) (Supplementary Figure 1). This then applies to all employees of the collection clinic, the cryobank, as well as the gynecological outpatient clinic/ward, patient management as well as the OR, and consequently all persons involved in the OT collection, preparation, and storage. The persons responsible for the various tasks should be named in the SOPs with their contact data and should receive regular training.

Annual random internal audits are required. A physician is responsible for the initial interview with the potential patient, including the patient's history, which is also possible via e-consult in terms of a pandemic, for example (10). The patient must be informed and advised about the expected gonadotoxicity of the therapy and the different options for FP (Supplementary Figure 1). Basic gynecological sonography, blood sampling for AMH, and serology for possible infectious diseases must be performed before the laparoscopy is scheduled. The cryobank provides the collection clinic with all relevant documents, such as patient information on cryopreservation, a contract, and the cost agreement (Supplementary Figure 1). The referring external clinics receive a checklist from the cryobank (Supplementary Figure 1). During the counseling about the partial/complete OT removal by laparoscopy, a possible transposition of the ovaries and potential contraindications, as well as a combination with port access, must be clarified. Important for the processing and storage of the OT in the cryobank are negative results concerning the infection parameters that need to be present 7 days before surgery. According to the German Medicinal Product Act, the Tissue Act, and the Pharmaceuticals and Active Agent Manufacturing and Distribution Ordinance, this includes anti-HIV ½ p24 antigen, HBs-Ag, anti-HBc (in case of positivity: HBV-PCR), anti-HCV-IgG, TPHA, and in case of stay in the ZIKA area in the last 6 months, the ZikaV-IgG and ZikaV-IgM. On the day of the surgery, it is the responsibility of the clinic to check the records for completeness. The cryobank checks the consent form for cryopreservation and cost coverage on the day of arrival. On the day of the surgery, a special transport box is provided by the cryobank with appropriate transport medium and nonfrozen refrigeration units (Figure 1B). The transport temperature should be between 4° and 8°C, and the transport time should not be more than 24 h (13). The surgeon must be trained to avoid an ovary with an active corpus luteum. If no corpus luteum is present, partial or complete removal of the ovary is preferred on the left side in Germany, preferably in one piece (Figure 1C) (15, 18). Any additional slicing of the ovary should be avoided, as should coagulation. Follicles are extremely temperature-sensitive to higher temperatures than 37°C. Therefore, coagulation will destroy several millimeters of the OT cortex, resulting in the loss of the embedded follicles. The removed ovary is placed directly into the cooled transport medium. Custodiol ® (Dr.Franz Köhler Chemie GmbH, Bensheim, Germany) is used as our medium of choice. This organ perfusion medium is pH-stable and prevents ischemic processes in the tissue, even after 24 h at 4°C. Furthermore, a biopsy of the ovary must be sent to the pathology department of the clinic. The cryobank collects information about the surgery and, later, the results from the pathologist. Once the ovary is removed and embedded in Custodiol®, the temperature should remain between 4°C and 8°C, including the processing of the tissue (Figures 1C-F). The preparation of the ovary is performed under sterile conditions under laminar flow. It is important to avoid contamination of the OT during storage and later transplantation. The ovary section is processed in fresh Custodiol® with sterile forceps, scalpels, and biopsy punch under laminar flow in a 100mm dish on a cooling plate (Figure 1D). The stroma of the ovary is removed by scratching with a scalpel (Figure 1D). The goal of the dissection is to expose the cortex as isolated as possible, without portions of blood vessels, corpus luteum, or other tissues (11). Rectangular pieces $5-10 \times 3-6$ mm in length are cut from the cortex (Figure 1E). After completion of the dissection, all pieces are equilibrated in a sterile vessel with 10 ml of cryomedium. Currently, cryomedium is not commercially available. The formulation we use for the freezing process of the OT corresponds to the composition of Roger Gosden's medium. In order to assess the vitality of the tissue before freezing and after subsequent thawing before transplantation, 3×2 -mm biopsies are obtained by punching from different regions of the cortex (Figures 1E, Supplementary Figure 2). The so-called vitality test is performed after digestion with collagenase and subsequent incubation with calcein (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Meerbusch, Germany). The vital follicles can be examined by fluorescence microscopy (19) (Supplementary Figure 2). The entire freezing process with a slow freezing method and automatically induced seeding takes about 2.5 h and is recorded (Figures 1G-J). Samples are first progressively cooled to -40°C and then to -140°C before being transferred to liquid nitrogen for long-term storage. In an electronic management system for the cryopreserved materials, an overview of all incoming and outgoing samples can be obtained.

Thawing service

At our location, we have also established the offer of the socalled mobile thawing service for OT, so that the respective clinic, which has removed a tissue, can transplant it later (17). Nevertheless, most transplant patients are cared for in a few specialized clinics with well-trained surgeons. The date of the OT is organized by the respective clinic, the patient, with the oncologist's informed consent, and the cryobank. A sterile hood for the thawing process should be available within a 10-min walk from the surgery theater. The well-trained staff of the cryobank and the frozen patients' tissues move to the respective clinic. The thawing process takes about 60 min. All media and technical devices are transported as well. Before slicing the peritoneal pocket, the fallopian tubes are checked for perturbation to enable spontaneous pregnancy. The transplantation in a peritoneal pocket and the thawing procedure are coordinated in a timely manner (Figures 2A-D) so that the ovarian grafts are transplanted as soon as possible after thawing. Previously, the grafts were orientated with the outer cortex toward the tube. Recently, Kristensen et al. reported that revascularization does not need this orientation, which reduces the time of the surgery as well (20).

Discussion

For the establishment of a cryobank for OT in a university setting, some prerequisites need to be fulfilled: lead time, welleducated and dedicated staff, on-site space, and a financial plan covering the costs of the establishment and the possible outlay for the first 5 years. A major strength of the Faculty of Medicine at the



FIGURE 2

Transplantation in a peritoneal pocket by laparoscopy (A–D) after chromopertubation. The pieces should be transplanted on the right side if this is possible to simplify ovum pick-up if the patient needs an ART treatment.

UKD lies in the interest in and the priority research field of oncology and the establishment of state-of-the-art treatment options. Since 2013, the University Tumor Center (UTZ) has been certified as an Oncology Center of the German Cancer Society (Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft (DKG)), and from 2014, oncology at the university hospital was funded as a top center of the German Cancer Aid (Deutsche Krebshilfe). Furthermore, the Düsseldorf School of Oncology (DSO) supports clinical education and translational research in different disciplines, e.g., hematology and oncology, pediatrics, urology, and gynecology. Within the framework of the Centre for Integrated Oncology (CIO^{ABCD}-Aachen, Bonn, Cologne, and Düsseldorf), the four sites collaborate intensively to improve patient care using combined and personalized approaches, e.g., molecular tumor boards. In order to advance treatment success and care for the future, FP for patients of reproductive age as well as children is part of the quality assessment of the DKG. We aim to cross interdisciplinary and regional boundaries through education and knowledge exchange in order to improve patient care. We would like to strengthen and extend innovative, interdisciplinary clinical and scientific training structures and platforms to facilitate a novel holistic view of FP concepts, including more than oncologic disciplines, e.g., ethics, psychosomatics, public health, and law.

A culture of staff working to their full potential and treating patients with compassion and understanding is very important during this stressful time for the patients and their relatives. Due to the recurring ethical and legal complexities of diverse aspects of FP (e.g., reproductive autonomy, trans/nonbinary person, cost coverage), there has also been close cooperation with the institutes of ethics and the law school for many years. Concerning quality assessment, it might be an option to design a survey for the patients who cryopreserved and stored their tissue in our cryobank (21). Furthermore, referrals can be actively surveyed, e.g., every 2 years, in order to optimize the service of the cryobank. Possible foci might be the availability *via* mail or phone, the costs, and the design of the flyers.

Conclusion

The development of a corporate professional identity is an essential instrument in the healthcare environment in order to create a positive and unique impression on the patient and the referring professionals. Nowadays, the patient has a wide range of options in outpatient care available to them compared to former times when the first baby was born after freezing and thawing of OT (22). This has also changed the role of the physician in society. The physician now has to develop organizational and business abilities in addition to providing advice, care, and healing for the patient. Hence, the importance of translation and transfer from basic research to clinical application and comprehensive healthcare will continue to increase and should improve patient care worldwide.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

DB-B directed the project; DB-B, IS, and AB wrote the article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Kyono K, Hashimoto T, Toya M, Koizumi M, Sasaki C, Shibasaki S, et al. A transportation network for human ovarian tissue is indispensable to success for fertility preservation. J Assist Reprod Genet (2017) 34(11):1469–74. doi: 10.1007/s10815-017-1022-3

2. DIR Jahrbuch 2021 *J Für reproduktionsmedizin und endokrinol* (2022). Available at: https://www.deutsches-ivf-register.de/perch/resources/dir-jahrbuch-2021-deutsch-1.pdf.

3. Dolmans MM, Hossay C, Nguyen TYT, Poirot C. Fertility preservation: how to preserve ovarian function in children, adolescents and adults. *J Clin Med* (2021) 10 (22):5247. doi: 10.3390/jcm10225247

4. Dolmans M-M, Manavella DD. Recent advances in fertility preservation. J Obstet Gynaecol Res (2019) 45(2):266–79. doi: 10.1111/jog.13818

5. Dolmans M-M, Donnez J. Fertility preservation in women for medical and social reasons: oocytes vs ovarian tissue. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* (2021) 70:63–80. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2020.06.011

6. Dittrich R, Kliesch S, Schüring A, Balcerek M, Baston-Büst DM, Beck R, et al. Fertility preservation for patients with malignant disease. guideline of the DGGG, DGU and DGRM (S2k-level, AWMF registry No.015/082, November 2017) recommendations and statements for girls and women. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd* (2018) 78(6):567–84. doi: 10.1055/a-0611-5549

7. Armuand G, Wettergren L, Nilsson J, Rodriguez-Wallberg K, Lampic C. Threatened fertility: a longitudinal study exploring experiences of fertility and having children after cancer treatment. *Eur J Cancer Care* (2018) 27(2):e12798. doi: 10.1111/ecc.12798

8. Salama M, Lambertini M, Christianson MS, Jayasinghe Y, Anazodo A, De Vos M, et al. Installing oncofertility programs for breast cancer in limited versus optimum resource settings: empirical data from 39 surveyed centers in repro-Can-OPEN study part I & II. J Assist Reprod Genet (2022) 39(2):505–16. doi: 10.1007/s10815-022-02394-3

9. Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Tanbo T, Tinkanen H, Thurin-Kjellberg A, Nedstrand E, Kitlinski ML, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation among alternatives for fertility preservation in the Nordic countries - compilation of 20 years of multicenter experience. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2016) 95(9):1015–26. doi: 10.1111/aogs.12934

10. Salama M, Ataman-Millhouse L, Braham M, Berjeb K, Khrouf M, Rodrigues JK, et al. Installing oncofertility programs for common cancers in limited resource settings (Repro-Can-OPEN study): an extrapolation during the global crisis of coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. J Assist Reprod Genet (2020) 37(7):1567–77. doi: 10.1007/ s10815-020-01821-7

11. Liebenthron J, Montag M. Cryopreservation and thawing of human ovarian cortex tissue slices. *Methods Mol Biol* (2021) 2180:485–99. doi: 10.1007/978-1-0716-0783-1_23

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2023. 1193178/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

A friendly environment and a sufficient timeslot in the schedule should be offered for counseling.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

Vitality testing using immunofluorescence staining with calcein (A, B). (C-E) Images of follicles with different sizes (primary to secondary follicles). The shallow green dots represent already atretic follicles in the biopsy.

12. Kristensen SG, Pors SE, Poulsen L la C, Andersen ST, Wakimoto Y, Yding Andersen C. Time from referral to ovarian tissue cryopreservation in a cohort of Danish women. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2019) 98(5):616–24. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13575

13. Liebenthron J, Montag M, Reinsberg J, Köster M, Isachenko V, van der Ven K, et al. Overnight ovarian tissue transportation for centralized cryobanking: a feasible option. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2019) 38(5):740–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2019.01.006

14. Lotz L, Bender-Liebenthron J, Dittrich R, Häberle L, Beckmann MW, Germeyer A, et al. Determinants of transplantation success with cryopreserved ovarian tissue: data from 196 women of the FertiPROTEKT network. *Hum Reprod* (2022) 37 (12):2787–96. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deac225

15. Lotz L, Dittrich R, Hoffmann I, Beckmann MW. Ovarian tissue transplantation: experience from Germany and worldwide efficacy. *Clin Med Insights Reprod Heal* (2019) 13:1179558119867357. doi: 10.1177/1179558119867357

16. Liebenthron J, Montag M. Chapter 15 development of a nationwide network for ovarian tissue cryopreservation. *Methods Mol Biol* (2017) 1568:205–20. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-6828-2_15

17. Van der Ven H, Liebenthron J, Beckmann M, Toth B, Korell M, Krüssel J, et al. Ninety-five orthotopic transplantations in 74 women of ovarian tissue after cytotoxic treatment in a fertility preservation network: tissue activity, pregnancy and delivery rates. *Hum Reprod* (2016) 31(9):2031–41. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew165

18. Beckmann MW, Dittrich R, Findeklee S, Lotz L. Surgical aspects of ovarian tissue removal and ovarian tissue transplantation for fertility preservation. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd* (2016) 76(10):1057–64. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-115017

19. Liebenthron J, Reinsberg J, van der Ven K, Saenger N, Kruessel J-S, von Wolff M. Serum anti-müllerian hormone concentration and follicle density throughout reproductive life and in different diseases-implications in fertility preservation. *Hum Reprod* (2019) 34(12):2513–22. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez215

20. Kristensen SG, Olesen HØ, Zeuthen MC, Pors SE, Andersen CY, Mamsen LS. Revascularization of human ovarian grafts is equally efficient from both sides of the cortex tissue. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2022) 44(6):991-4. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2022.02.009

 Sutton EJ, Pacyna JE, Hathcock M, McCormick JB, Nowakowski K, Olson JE, et al. Managing the unimaginable: biobank participant views on reconsent for whole genome sequencing of stored biospecimens. *Biopreserv Biobank* (2019) 17(4):296–302. doi: 10.1089/bio.2018.0077

22. Donnez J, Dolmans MM, Demylle D, Jadoul P, Pirard C, Squifflet J, et al. Livebirth after orthotopic transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue. *Lancet* (*London England*) (2004) 364(9443):1405–10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17222-X

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Brenda Kohn New York University, United States

REVIEWED BY Giuliano Marchetti Bedoschi, University of Sao Paulo, Brazil Marie-Madeleine Dolmans, Université Catholique de Louvain, Belgium

*CORRESPONDENCE Marnie Slonim marnie.slonim@trainee.ranzcog.edu.au

RECEIVED 17 January 2023 ACCEPTED 15 May 2023 PUBLISHED 19 June 2023

CITATION

Slonim M, Peate M, Merigan K, Lantsberg D, Anderson RA, Stern K, Gook D and Jayasinghe Y (2023) Ovarian stimulation and oocyte cryopreservation in females and transgender males aged 18 years or less: a systematic review. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1146476. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1146476

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Slonim, Peate, Merigan, Lantsberg, Anderson, Stern, Gook and Jayasinghe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ovarian stimulation and oocyte cryopreservation in females and transgender males aged 18 years or less: a systematic review

Marnie Slonim^{1*}, Michelle Peate², Kira Merigan³, Daniel Lantsberg⁴, Richard A. Anderson⁵, Kate Stern^{3,4}, Debra Gook^{2,4} and Yasmin Jayasinghe^{1,2}

¹Oncofertility Program and Department of Gynaecology, Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Royal Women's Hospital, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Royal Women's Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁴Melbourne IVF, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁵MRC Centre for Reproductive Health, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom

Background: Fertility preservation is an important healthcare focus in the paediatric and adolescent population when gonadotoxic treatments are required. Ovarian stimulation (OS) resulting in oocyte cryopreservation is a well-established fertility preservation option in the adult population. It's utility, however, is little known in young patients. The purpose of this review was to synthesise the available literature on OS in patients \leq 18 years old, to identify gaps in current research and provide suggestions for future research directions.

Methods: Using PRISMA guidelines, a systematic review of the literature was performed for all relevant full-text articles published in English in Medline, Embase, the Cochrane Library and Google Scholar databases. The search strategy used a combination of subject headings and generic terms related to the study topic and population. Two reviewers independently screened studies for eligibility, extracted data and assessed the risk of bias. Characteristics of the studies, objectives and key findings were extracted and summarised in a narrative synthesis.

Results: Database search and manual review identified 922 studies, 899 were eliminated based on defined exclusion criteria. Twenty-three studies were included and comprised 468 participants aged \leq 18 years who underwent OS (median 15.2, range 7-18 years old). Only three patients were premenarchal, and four patients were on treatment to suppress puberty. Patients had OS for a broad range of indications including oncology treatment, transgender care and Turner syndrome. A total of 488 cycles of OS were completed, with all but 18 of these cycles (96.3%) successfully resulting in cryopreserved mature oocytes (median 10 oocytes, range 0-35). Fifty-three cycles (9.8%) were cancelled. Complications were rare (<1%). One pregnancy was reported from a female who had OS aged 17 years old.

Conclusion: This systematic review demonstrates that OS and oocyte cryopreservation is achievable in young females however there are only a few cases in the literature describing OS in premenarcheal children or those who have suppressed puberty. There is little proof that OS can lead to pregnancy in adolescents, and no proof that this can be achieved in premenarchal girls. Therefore it should be regarded as an innovative procedure for adolescents and experimental for premenarcheal girls.

Systematic review registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?RecordID=265705, identifier CRD42021265705.

KEYWORDS

oocyte cryopreservation, fertility preservation, ovarian hyperstimulation, ovarian stimulation (OS), paediatric and adolescent gynaecology, oocyteretrieval, oncofertility, paediatric oncofertility

1 Introduction

Fertility preservation is now an important component of healthcare in the paediatric and adolescent population where treatment involves risk to future fertility, most commonly because of administration of gonadotoxic agents (1). Therapies for cancer, rheumatological or haematological diseases, and for gender dysphoria, may be detrimental to the ovary at any age (2). Similarly, a range of genetic conditions, most prominently Turner syndrome (TS), may result in premature ovarian insufficiency at an early age. Future infertility is a significant source of concern and anxiety for both a young patient and their family members in these circumstances (1).

Oncofertility services are developing rapidly around the globe to support those at risk of treatment-related infertility and assist with fertility preservation in a timely manner (3). Therapies to protect or restore fertility are well established in the adult female population (2, 4, 5); however, data and options are limited in the paediatric and adolescent population. Clinicians may find it challenging to discuss and offer invasive fertility preservation treatments to young people with little data on proven long-term benefit (6, 7).

For many years clinicians have used ovarian shielding, transposition away from the radiation field, and GnRH analogues in an attempt to protect fertility, which have conflicting or scarce evidence of benefit, particularly in minors (8, 9). More modern fertility preservation options include ovarian tissue cryopreservation (OTC), *in vitro* maturation (IVM) and ovarian stimulation (OS) for oocyte cryopreservation (2, 10).

Until very recently ovarian tissue cryopreservation has been the only assisted reproduction technology (ART) offered for prepubertal girls and post-pubertal females where there is limited time before cancer treatment (11). It is considered an established procedure in adult women with around 200 births reported to date, but so far, there have been only 2 live births from premenarcheal tissue (12, 13). IVM involves retrieval of immature oocytes from ovaries after minimal or no gonadotrophin stimulation and their subsequent maturation in the laboratory. In the context of fertility preservation, collection of immature oocytes from adult ovarian tissue and IVM is experimental and very few livebirths have been reported (14). OS resulting in oocyte or embryo cryopreservation is the most successful form of fertility preservation for biological females (15), however, it has been studied mainly in adult populations (16). Additionally, there are questions around oocyte quality in very young women, as studies of follicle morphology have demonstrated an increase in abnormal types in the young (17). Embryo cryopreservation poses ethical issues in the young and may prove limiting in the event of partner change (18).

Given that many patients will only have one opportunity to preserve fertility prior to commencing gonadotoxic treatment, it is important that they are offered preservation options that will give them the greatest chance to achieve future parenthood. There are reasons why oocyte cryopreservation may be considered an addition to, or preferred to OTC in selected populations. A single stimulation cycle followed by a minimally invasive oocyte retrieval, compared with laparoscopy and its associated recovery for OTC, may make the procedure more acceptable to some patients (19). The possibility of reintroducing malignant cells in patients diagnosed with haematological cancers (3, 20) means that reimplantation of untreated ovarian tissue may not be considered safe in some cases. In patients with genetic conditions with increased risk of premature ovarian insufficiency where the pathology is intrinsic to the ovary, such as TS, the accelerated germ cell loss with thawing and ovarian transplantation has led to uncertainty about the likely success of ovarian tissue reimplantation (21).

The aim of this systematic review is to evaluate oocyte cryopreservation, by means of OS in the paediatric and adolescent population. We compare age, diagnosis and pubertal and menarchal status and comment on success rates, adverse outcomes, and psychological morbidity. Additionally, we identify future research directions that may support the successful adoption of these therapies around the world.

2 Methods

2.1 Search strategy

In accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines, a systematic search of the literature was performed for all relevant full-text articles published in English in Medline, Embase, the Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar databases (PROSPERO registration number CRD42021265705).

The following search terms were used in different combinations: "ovarian stimulation", "oocyte cryopreservation", "*in vitro* fertilization (IVF)", "fertility preservation" (see Supplementary Material for all the search terms and search strategy). A final search was conducted on 14/ 08/2022 to ensure inclusion of all relevant studies.

2.2 Study selection

Articles were included if they reported on any clinical outcomes of oocyte cryopreservation in the paediatric and adolescent (\leq 18 years old) population. Studies that included patients with other fertility preservation procedures were included if data for the individual subtypes of fertility preservation procedures were reported separately. Studies that only described alternative fertility preservation options or reported on outcomes in those >18 years old were excluded.

Case series, prospective and retrospective comparative cohorts, controlled (non-randomised) and randomised controlled trials,

review articles, cross-sectional studies, and case reports were included. Guidelines, commentaries, conference abstracts, and pilot study data that were also reported in a published study already included in the review were excluded.

References (n=922) were imported into a Covidence database where duplicates were removed. The remaining abstracts (n = 730) were subsequently reviewed independently by two authors (MS, KM) and all those describing outcomes of COS or oocyte cryopreservation in females 18 years or younger underwent full text review. Based on title and abstract screening, 663 articles were excluded, 67 full text articles were assessed for eligibility and as 5 articles were not accessible, 62 were eligible for review (Figure 1).

2.3 Data extraction and analysis

Data from articles were extracted into a pre-designed database. Year of publication, country of study, study objectives, study design, sample size, patient characteristics, intervention, outcome measures, and findings were documented. No relevant outcomes were found for 32 articles and 7 articles did not discuss the relevant population and were therefore excluded. The remaining 23 studies were included for systematic review. No discrepancies were found, therefore a third reviewer was not required for definitive decisions on the data extraction.

The two independent reviewers performed methodological quality assessment for each study. Due to the range of study designs being analysed, Qualsyst (Appendices 1, 2) was used to



facilitate the assessment of risk of bias for each study. Each study received a percentage score. Any discrepancy was resolved through discussion.

results in

detailed

more

see Supplementary Material for

eserved

and

and oocytes retrieved

reserve testing,

ovarian

diagnosis

status,

menarchal

and

pubertal

age,

examining

studies

õ

Description

TABLE 1

We attempted to correspond with some study investigators to resolve data queries and request additional data as required regarding undocumented pubertal or menarchal status, side effects to treatments, or sub analysis of age groups, and included relevant additional information provided.

3 Results

3.1 Study characteristics

The 23 papers reviewed were from USA (n=16), UK (n=3), Israel (n=2), Sweden (n=1), and China (n=1). They include case reports (n=10), case series (n=6), retrospective cohort studies (n=4), prospective cohort studies (n=2), and a letter to the editor describing a case report (n=1) (Table 1) (10, 19, 23–43).

The studies included 468 participants who underwent OS (median age 15.2 years, range 7-18) with a total of 488 cycles of OS completed. All but 18 of these cycles (96.3%) successfully resulted in mature oocyte cryopreservation.

3.2 Outcomes according to age

The four large cohort studies in this review (30, 41-43) described a total of 404 participants ≤ 18 years as grouped data, and did not provide a breakdown of outcomes in relation to age category or Tanner stage. Across the remaining 19 studies, 64 participants with a median age of 15 years (range 7-18) were described (Table 1).

There were three case reports of OS in premenarcheal children, one of whom was prepubertal (10). The prepubertal patient was a 7year-old with mosaic TS (45,X[37]/47,XXX[15]) who initially underwent OS with gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist (GnRHa) trigger which failed to yield oocytes. The second cycle with hCG trigger was successful, resulting in the retrieval of six oocytes and cryopreservation of all six mature oocytes. Martel et al. (39) described a 14-year-old premenarchal patient with TS who froze two oocytes over one cycle, using an hCG trigger. Her pubertal status was unknown. Reichman et al. (31) described a 13 year old premenarchal peri-pubertal (Tanner 3 breast and Tanner 1 pubic hair development) with myelodysplastic syndrome. An hCG trigger was used for this patient, and 18 mature oocytes were cryopreserved in one cycle, before gonadotoxic treatment commenced.

Another notably young patient ≤ 12 years-old (their exact age was not specified) was a transgender male who had 9 mature oocytes cryopreserved over 2 cycles (29). A further 31 patients aged 13-15 years old (10, 19, 26–29, 31, 32, 35, 36, 38–40) cryopreserved a median of 9.5 oocytes (range 0-22) and 31 patients aged 16-18 years old (19, 23–25, 27–29, 33, 34, 37, 39) cryopreserved a median of 14 oocytes (range 0-35).

A multi-center cohort study that assessed OS in oncology and non-oncology populations, compared outcomes in those aged 13 to

	_					(par
	Oocytes cryopreserved, median (range) [◊]		17	4	35	(Continued)
	Oocytes retrieved, median (range) ²		21	ъ	39	
	Controlled ovarian stimulation protocol, trigger		Antagonist cycle	GnRHa (never ceased), rFSH + hCG, -, hCG trigger	rFSH + hMG, antagonist, GnRHa and hCG trigger	
	Ovarian reserve testing: median (range) [#]	FSH AFC mIU/mL (n=25) (n=33)		0.89	5.7 40	
	Ovarian reserve median (range)#	AMH ng/mL (n=52)			3.5	
	Pubertal status		PM	Pubertal suppression (GnRHa at 14 years, Tanner II)	PM	
	Age (years) median (range)		17	16	17	
	Study design		Case Report	Case Report	Case Report	
	Diagnosis		TG male	TG male	TG male	
table format).	Author, Country		Maxwell et al, USA (23)	Rothenberg et al, USA (24)	Wallace et al, USA (25)	

Author, Country	Diagnosis	Study design	Age (years) median (range)	Pubertal status	Ovarian reserve testing: median (range) [#]		ting:	Controlled ovarian stimulation protocol, trigger	Oocytes retrieved, median (range) ²	Oocytes cryopreserved, median (range) ⁰
					AMH ng/mL (n=52)	FSH mIU/mL (n=33)	AFC (n=25)			
Martin et al, USA (26)	TG males	Case Report	15	Pubertal suppression (GnRHa at 10 years, Tanner II)	2.62	3.6	25	GnRHa, letrozole. rFSH + HMG, antagonist, hCG trigger	36	22
Insogna et al, USA (27)	TG males	Case Series (n=3)	15 (15-17)	PM (case 1 used GnRHa at 12)	3.1 (0.9- 5.29)			hMG, hCG trigger/rFSH + hMG, antagonist, GnRHa trigger/rFSH + hMG, antagonist, HcG or GnRHa trigger	20 (15-31)	12 (10-18)
Chen et al, USA (<mark>28</mark>)	TG males	Case Series (n=5)	16 (14-18)	РМ	5.9 (3.6- 6.5)			rFSH ± hMG, antagonist, hCG trigger	19 (11-28)	13 (8-25)
Barrett et al, USA (29)	TG males	Case Series (n=17)	- (12-18)	-(case 2 - Pubertal suppression with GnRHa)	3.18 (0.44- 12.87)	5.65 (1.7- 9.5)		rFHS, hMG or both, GnRH antagonist protocol or low-dose down-regulation protocol with GnRHa, hCG or GnRHa trigger	22 (5-43)	14.5 (3-26)
Amir et al, Israel (30)	(i)TG males; (ii) Females with cancer	Retrospective Study (n=48)	- (13-18)	РМ		TG male: mean 5.4 ± 1.7 Female: -	TG male: mean 19.8 ± 5.6	rFSH, antagonist, GnRHa or hCG or dual triggers	TG male: mean 30.6 ± 12.8 female: mean 22 ± 13.2	TG male: mean 25.6 ± 12.9 female: mean 18.8 ± 11.2
Reichman et al, USA (31)	MDS	Case Report	13	Peripubertal, Premenarcheal	0.95	5.0	9	hMG, antagonist. hCG trigger	20	18
Peddie et al, UK (<mark>32</mark>)	MDS	Case Report	14	РМ		7.1	17	rFSH + hMG, antagonist, hCG trigger	13	12
Cai, H et al, China (<mark>33</mark>)	MDS	Case Report	17	РМ		3.27	7	rFSH, GnRHa trigger.	17	13
Tsampras et al, UK (<mark>34</mark>)	Aplastic anaemia, MDS	Prospective Study (n=2)	17, 17	-	7.34,8.01^		20,19	Gonadotropins, antagonist, hCG trigger. DuoStim	2 cycles: 21 (20- 22)	2 cycles: 17 (13-21)
Garg et al, USA (35)	Hodgkin's Lymphoma	Case Report	14	РМ	0.4		11	rFSH + hMG, antagonist, hCG trigger	13	11
Kutteh et al, USA (<mark>36</mark>)	Medulloblastoma	Case Series (n=3)	14 (13-15)	РМ	3.61 (1.96- 3.83) [^]		25 (15-31)	hMG, antagonist, GnRHa trigger	25 (18-26)	17 (12-23)
Kim at al, USA (37)	Pulmonary Hypertension	Case Report	17	-				Long agonist protocol rFSH and hMG	14	14

(Continued)

10.3389/fendo.2023.1146476

Author, Country	Diagnosis	Study design	Age (years) median (range)	Pubertal status	Ovarian reserve testing: median (range) [#]		ting:	Controlled ovarian stimulation protocol, trigger	Oocytes retrieved, median (range) ²	Oocytes cryopreserved, median (range) [◊]
					AMH ng/mL (n=52)	FSH mIU/mL (n=33)	AFC (n=25)			
Lavery et al, UK (19)	Sickle Cell Disease	Case Series (n=8)	16 (14-18)	РМ	10.6 (7.1- 10.7) [^] n=5 missing	4.25 (1.2- 7.6)	16 (6-20)	rFSH. Combination of agonist and antagonist protocols. HCG or GnRHa trigger	10.5 (5-31)	9 (1-30)
Oktay et al, USA (<mark>38</mark>)	TS mosaicism	Case Report	14	РМ	0.9, 1.7	5.3		rFSH, antagonist, GnRHa trigger/rFSH + hMG, antagonist, GnRHa trigger	2 cycles: 9 (7-11)	2 cycles: 6 (4-8)
Azem et al, Israel (10)	TS mosaicism	Case Report	7	Prepubertal	1.13	5.2	5, 3	rFSH & rLH. GnRHa trigger/rFSH + rLH. HCG trigger	2 cycles: 3 (0-6)	2 cycles: 3 (0-6)
Martel et al, USA (39)	TS or TS mosaicism, 47 XXX	Case Series (n=11)	15 (13-18)	Variation	1.04 (< 0.003- 2.99) n=4 missing	36.65 (5.2- 74) n= 7 missing		"gonadotropins", antagonist, hCG ± GnRHa	1 cycle: 14 (0-21) 2 cycles: 0 (0-22) 3 cycles: 9.5 (0-19) 9 cycles: 3	1 cycle: 12 (0-16) 2 cycles: 0 (0-16) 3 cycles: 4 (0-8) 9 cycles: 0
Oktay et al, USA (<mark>40</mark>)	TS mosaicism, malignancy	Retrospective Study (n=4) ⁺	13.5 (13- 15)	РМ	1.3 (0.76- 1.6)	5.65 (5.6- 7.8)	6 (5-11)	rFSH/hFSH + hMG or rLH. Antagonist, rHCG/ hHCG/GnRHa triggers.	17.5 (8-21)	8 (4-10)
Hipp et al, USA (41)	Variety of diagnoses*	Retrospective Study (n=306)	- (≤18)	РМ				In all age groups the most common stimulation protocol was antagonist		
Rodriguez- Wallberg et al, Sweden (42)	Variety of diagnoses**	Prospective Study (n=24)	16 (14-17)	РМ				Not described	-	
Manuel, et al, USA (43)	Variety of diagnoses***	Retrospective Study (n=26)	16.5 (13- 18)	-	2.72 (0.25- 6.50)			rFSH +/- hMG, antagonist, hCG trigger.	13 (4-31)	10 (0-25)
Totals			15.2 (7-18)		2.9 (0.003- 12.9)	4.5 (<0.1- 20.5)	16 (5-35).		17 (0-43)	10 (0-35)

PM, post menarcheal; FSH, follicle stimulating hormone; AMH, anti mullerian hormone; AFC, antral follicle count; TG, transgender; MDS, myelodysplastic syndrome; rFSH, recombinant human follicle-stimulating hormone; GnRHa, gonadotropin releasing hormone agonist; rHCG, recombinant human chorionic gonadotropin; hMG, human menopausal gonadotropin; HCG, human chorionic gonadotropin; rLH, recombinant LH.

- = not described.

frontiersin.org

[#]Denominator changes due to missing data.

 $^{\diamond}$ 1 cycle unless otherwise specified.

^ AMH was converted to ng/mL for consistency.

⁺ One case was duplicate, described in Oktay, et al. (38).

* cancer, aplastic anaemia, sickle cell disease, autoimmune disease, gender dysphoria, unexplained infertility, TS, mosaic TS, diminished ovarian reserve, medical reasons not otherwise specified.

** cancer, TS, gender dysphoria, galactosemia, impending ovarian failure, benign ovarian, autoimmune disease, benign haematological, neurological disease.

*** cancer, beta thalasaemia, aplastic anaemia, paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria, gender dysphoria, TS, panhypopituitarism, NMDA autoimmune encephalitis, multiple sclerosis, benign dermoid cyst.

17 years with those aged 18 to 21 years (43). They reported that younger participants required higher doses of gonadotropins [median 2325IU FSH (range 0-3375) versus 2038IU (range 525-5850)] and froze fewer oocytes [median 11 (range 1-24) versus 13 (2-27)]. These differences were not, however, statistically significant. A retrospective study demonstrated that younger cohorts were also more likely to have cycles cancelled because of poor response (10% in those under 20-years, compared to 4.9%, 4.7% and 7.4% in the 20-29 year, 30-34 years and \geq 35 year age groups respectively) (41). For those that proceeded, however, it was concluded that OS cycles in adolescent women were similar with regard to stimulation characteristics and oocyte yield to those in other age groups.

3.3 Outcomes according to clinical diagnosis

The four large cohort studies provided grouped data on diagnoses, which included cancer, haemoglobinopathies, aplastic anaemia, paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria, gender dysphoria, TS, panhypopituitarism, N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) autoimmune encephalitis, multiple sclerosis, benign dermoid cyst, galactosemia and unspecified (30, 41–43) (Table 1). For the remaining 19 studies with 64 participants, there were 29 patients who were transgender (23–29), 15 patients with a sex chromosome disorder (10, 38, 39), 10 patients with a cancer diagnosis (31–36, 40), one patient with aplastic anaemia (34), one patient with pulmonary hypertension (37) and one patient with sickle cell disease (19).

Those with TS or TS mosaicism cryopreserved a mean of 3.4 mature oocytes (range 0-16) (10, 38–40), compared with a mean of 12.3 mature oocytes (range 1-23) in all extractable cancer diagnoses (30–36) and 14.7 mature oocytes (range 3-35) in transgender males (24–30). One study described eight patients with Sickle Cell Disease who had a median of nine oocytes cryopreserved (range 1-30) (19) and another study described one patient with pulmonary hypertension who had 14 oocytes cryopreserved (37). Across all studies, five patients were not successful in retrieving any oocytes, over a total of 17 cycles (39). All these patients were diagnosed with either TS or mosaic TS.

Four transgender (TG) males described in four different case studies had treatment with GnRHa to suppress puberty prior to fertility preservation. In three of these patients the mean duration of GnRHa use was 3 years (range 2-5), and in the other patient the duration of use was not described. One study described a 16-yearold who commenced GnRHa therapy at 14 years of age, at Tanner stage 2 but menarcheal status not described, who continued this throughout the period in which the oocytes were obtained and cryopreserved: four mature oocytes were cryopreserved (24). Another case report (26) described a 15-year-old who had been on treatment to suppress puberty since the age of 10. This patient had their GnRHa implant removed prior to OS and an aromatase inhibitor was used to maintain low oestrogen concentrations during OS. Despite this, 22 mature oocytes were cryopreserved from one OS cycle. In another study a 15 year-old, who had puberty suppressed since 12 years old, continued GnRHa throughout the

stimulation and retrieval, and had 12 oocytes cryopreserved from one cycle (27). One patient in a recent case series used GnRHa to suppress puberty and successfully cryopreserved 25 oocytes after one OS cycle (29). It is not clear in this study if this patient continued with the GnRHa suppression throughout the OS and at what pubertal stage this was commenced.

The only study directly comparing two cohorts with different diagnoses compared nine adolescent transgender males who had not used GnRHa, with 39 adolescent females with a cancer diagnosis. There was no significant difference in the mean age between the two groups (16.4 vs 15.5 years, respectively, P = 0.064). There was no difference in the mean number of days of FSH stimulation between them, however the amount of FSH used was significantly lower and the peak oestradiol levels were significantly higher among the transgender males, compared with the females (3073 pg/ml vs 1269 pg/ml respectively P = 0.018). Despite this, there was no significant differences in the number of retrieved oocytes (30.6 ± 12.8 vs 22 ± 13.2, P=0.091), the number of mature oocytes (25.6 ± 12.9 vs 18.8 ± 11.2, P=0.134) and the maturity rates (81.5 ± 10.0% vs 85.4 ± 14.6%, P=0.261) of oocytes between the two groups respectively (30).

3.4 Outcomes according to ovarian reserve testing

Some form of ovarian reserve testing was performed prior to commencing ovarian stimulation in 19 studies, and these values were analysed where possible (Table 1), however, reporting of these results was incomplete. Out of 468 participants, anti-mullerian hormone (AMH, ng/mL) was described in 52 participants (10, 19, 25–29, 31, 34–36, 38–40, 43), follicular stimulating hormone (FSH, mIU/mL) in 33 participants (10, 19, 24–26, 29–33, 38–40) and antral follicle count (AFC) in 25 participants (10, 19, 25, 26, 31–36, 40). Median AMH was 2.9ng/mL (range 0.003-12.9), median FSH was 4.5mIU/L (range <0.1-20.5) and median AFC was 16 (range 5-35).

There were some ovarian reserve testing results that were outside of standard expected ranges. Four patients described in one study (39) had FSH < 1mIU/mL. These patients aged 14-18 years old, all had a diagnosis of TS or TS mosaicism and had a median of 9.5 (0-19) oocytes retrieved and a median of 5 (0-15) oocytes cryopreserved. One further case report demonstrated FSH < 1mIU/mL in a TG male on GnRHa for puberty suppression (24). This patient had five oocytes retrieved, of which four were cryopreserved in one OS cycle. There was only one patient described with FSH > 10mIU/mL (39). This 14-year-old with TS had FSH of 20.6mIU/mL and AMH 0.03ng/mL and no oocytes were retrieved over three cycles. A further 11 patients of varying ages with diagnoses including transgender males, cancer and TS or TS mosaicism, had AMH <1.1ng/mL. The median number of oocytes retrieved was 12.8 (0-33), and cryopreserved was 8.7 (0-21). Four patients aged 7-15 years old with either TS or TS mosaicism had AFC < 7 indicating low functional ovarian reserve (10, 19, 40). These patients had a mean number of 9.2 (range 0-19) oocytes retrieved, and 5.2 (range 0-9) oocytes cryopreserved over five cycles.

A low AFC (<7) was observed in one 14-year-old with leukaemia however 21 oocytes were retrieved, and 10 were cryopreserved over one OS cycle (40).

Outcomes for ovarian reserve testing outside of expected ranges were correlated with oocytes retrieved and cryopreserved (Table 2).

3.5 Outcomes according to stimulation protocol

All protocols except those described in five studies were random start antagonist cycles that used recombinant FSH +/human menopausal gonadotrophin for ovarian stimulation (Table 1) (10, 19, 24, 33, 37). One study described the failure of a GnRHa trigger to produce oocytes in a prepubertal child with TS, with subsequent success with hCG trigger in a second cycle (10). All other studies with premenarchal patients or those using GnRHa for pubertal suppression had successful oocyte retrieval following an hCG trigger (24, 26, 27, 31, 39). The remaining post pubertal patients, not on treatment to suppress puberty, had a combination of hCG and GnRHa trigger (19, 23, 25, 27-30, 32, 33, 35, 36, 38, 43). A 15-year-old transgender male (26) also commenced aromatase inhibitor (letrozole) during OS to maintain low oestrogen concentrations. Medication doses varied depending on individual protocols and patient characteristics and were therefore not comparable.

Two female patients \leq 18 years old underwent a double ovarian stimulation (DuoStim) protocol for fertility preservation in one study (34). In these, a 17 year old with aplastic anaemia had nine oocytes cryopreserved in the first cycle and a further 12 oocytes cryopreserved in the second cycle with a five day interval between cycles. The other, a 17 year old with myelodysplasia had one oocyte cryopreserved in the first cycle, and a further 12 oocytes

cryopreserved in the second cycle after a seven day interval. Treatment as planned prior to OS was not delayed and there were no reports of OHSS in either of these patients. In four studies (10, 29, 38, 39), more than one cycle was completed, which were either in transgender patients (2) or those who had a sex chromosome disorder (8).

Both transabdominal and transvaginal ultrasound were utilised throughout the studies to monitor follicular growth and maturation during stimulation. In one seven year old patient, transabdominal oocyte retrieval was performed, in which six oocytes were successfully retrieved (10). In 133 patients transvaginal retrieval was described (19, 26, 36, 38–40, 43), and in the remaining 334 participants retrieval method was not specified (23–25, 37, 41, 42).

3.6 Adverse outcomes

In all combined studies, complications were rare (<1%). The largest study was reported by Hipp et al. (41) which included 449 patients (of whom 306 were \leq 18 years). Data on adverse outcomes was reported as group data, (comparing ages <20 years old with 20-29 years, 30-34 year and \geq 35 years) and a more detailed subanalysis in those \leq 18 years was not available. They reported that there was a significantly increased risk of OHSS in those younger than 20 years of age (0.9%) compared to older women (0.4%). Other complications were also rare (<1%). In this study, in women <20 years, three women (0.67%) were either hospitalized or developed an infection. A further two patients described in two different studies (19, 29) experienced mild to moderate OHSS with one of these patients requiring three days of hospital admission for supportive treatment. In both these patients hCG was used to trigger oocyte maturation.

TABLE 2 Description of studies with ovarian reserve testing results outside of expected range.

Study	Age and diagnosis	AMH (ng/mL)	FSH (mlU/mL)	AFC	Oocytes retrieved, cryopreserved
Rothenberg et al, USA (24)	16, TG male	-	0.89	-	5,4
Barrett et al, USA (29)	13-15, TG male 16-18, TG male 16-18, TG male	0.73 0.44 0.59	-	-	5,5/15,8 (2 cycles) 9,8 33,21
Reichman et al, USA (31)	13, myelodysplastic syndrome	0.95	5.0	9	20,18
Garg et al, USA (35)	14, Hodgkin's Lymphoma	0.4	-	11	13,11
Lavery et al, UK (19)	15, Sickle Cell Anaemia	-	4.8	6	5,4
Oktay et al, USA (38)	14, TS mosaicism	0.9	5.3	-	11,8
Azem et al, Israel (10)	7, TS mosaicism	1.1	5.2	5/3 (2 cycles)	0,0/6,6 (2 cycles)
Martel et al, USA (39)	14, TS 14, TS 15, TS mosaicism 15, TS 16, TS mosaicism 18, TS mosaicism	<0.16 0.03 <0.003 Unknown 1.63 Unknown	0.4 20.6 1.8 0.2 0.5 <0.1	-	4,2 0,0 15,15 19,8 0,0
Oktay et al, USA (40)	13, TS mosaicism 13, TS 14, Leukemia	1.59 0.76 0.8	5.7 5.6 7.8	6 6 5	19,9 16,7 21,10

The mental burden due to treatment-related dysphoria in transgender males undergoing OS was also described in a 16year-old transgender male who had vaginal bleeding for 7 days after oocyte retrieval and breast development. The patient reported depressed mood and brief passive suicidal thoughts in response to these symptoms (24), which regressed within 3 months.

No study commented on delays to cancer treatment or other therapy as a result of OS.

3.7 Pregnancy using cryopreserved oocytes

Only one study reported a pregnancy resulting in a live birth after long-term cryopreservation of oocytes, from a 17 year old female requiring gonadotoxic treatment for Pulmonary Hypertension (37). The oocytes were warmed after 5 years of storage and 2 embryos were transferred into a surrogate, due to the maternal medical condition, resulting in a healthy baby boy, delivered at term weighing 3,600g. No other patients have been reported to have utilised their frozen oocytes to create a pregnancy.

4 Discussion

Fertility preservation is very important to those requiring gonadotoxic treatments or those with medical conditions that impact future fertility, and as such is a rapidly expanding field. With advancements in cryopreservation methods over the past decade in the adult population, success rates with oocyte cryopreservation have improved significantly (44) but this approach remains poorly studied and understood in the paediatric and adolescent population.

This review included 468 participants who underwent a total of 488 OS cycles, with successful mature oocyte cryopreservation in all but 18 of these cycles (96.3%). An additional 53 cycles were cancelled for poor response (9.8%) however cancellation rates should be interpreted with caution due to the retrospective nature of the studies. This systematic review therefore demonstrates that OS and oocyte cryopreservation is achievable in the young although numbers remain small and long-term outcomes unknown. Of note, three studies broadly comparing the adolescent population with the adult population (41-43) reassuringly displayed no significant different number of oocyte cryopreserved between the different age cohorts. Outside of the larger cohort studies in this review, there was a trend to higher numbers of cryopreserved oocytes in the older age ranges [median 4.5 (range 0-6) in \leq 12 years old, median 9.5 (range 0-22) in 13-15 year-olds, median 14 (range 0-35) in 16-18 year-olds]. The number of patients are however small.

Until recently, OS has only been described in post pubertal patients. There was only one patient in this study who was prepubertal and was successful in cryopreserving six oocytes. Another premenarchal patient with TS had a low yield of two mature oocytes. However, the third premenarchal patient, with a diagnosis of myelodysplastic syndrome, had 18 mature oocytes successfully cryopreserved in one cycle. This does challenge the traditional thinking that oocyte collection can only be considered in those who are physically and emotionally mature. But questions around the number and quality of such oocytes required to achieve parenthood remain unanswered. TS or TS mosaicism had a much lower rate of successful OS and oocyte retrieval with a mean of 3.4 mature oocytes frozen (range 0-16), compared with 12.3 (range 1-23) in all extractable cancer diagnoses and 14.7 (range 3-35) in transgender males. Patients with TS are known to have a greatly increased rate of oocyte depletion resulting in low or absent ovarian reserve (2, 10) and even where follicles are present, many of these follicles may show abnormalities that are likely to limit their potential to support fertility (45).

The data from this review show that the patients who had the greatest number of oocytes frozen per cycle were the transgender patients (25, 27, 29) and this included the four transgender males who had commenced GnRHa to suppress puberty prior to fertility preservation. All four of these patients were successful in cryopreserving mature oocytes although the number of oocytes varied from 4 to 25 and their pubertal and menarchal status were not always clear or available. Although these initial data are promising, more research is required to assess the impact of initiation of GnRHa for suppression of puberty, as well as ongoing gender-affirming hormone treatment, prior to and during OS cycles.

Regardless of diagnoses, there is a paucity of data regarding utility and pregnancy outcomes from oocyte cryopreservation in young patients and there is evidence that the prepubertal ovary contains significant numbers of follicles with abnormal morphology that seem to be lost during adolescence (17). Additionally, higher rates of fetal aneuploidy have been, higher rates of fetal aneuploidy have been described in adolescent pregnancy, when compared with women in their twenties (46). Therefore, the future ability to attain a viable pregnancy and live birth is uncertain, especially in the prepubertal cohort. Only a single case report of a 17 year old female who cryopreserved oocytes resulting in a successful pregnancy and livebirth (37) is described in the literature. Future studies should focus on prospective follow-up on long term reproductive outcomes, as well as assessing additional risk or long-term implications of stimulation of an immature Hypothalamic Pituitary Ovarian (HPO) axis.

The use of standard markers of ovarian reserve such as AMH and AFC in predicting response to OS in adolescents remains unclear (47). There is a discrepancy between unfavourable test results of ovarian reserve and the associated number of oocytes cryopreserved in some cases in this study. This is thought to be multifactorial in origin and could reflect differences in the stages of ovarian development at extremes of youth (19, 35). Reassuringly there were no examples of patients with normal ovarian reserve as indicated from testing, who then responded poorly to OS. In addition to markers of ovarian reserve, standardized monitoring and stimulation protocols in the paediatric and adolescent population are not well established and the variation in stimulation protocols amongst studies created challenges when comparing data. The only study in this review to use a DuoStim protocol (34) showed promising results with an increased number of oocytes retrieved in the second cycle, increasing the number of oocytes stored. Larger studies are required to establish appropriate
assessment of ovarian reserve as well as designing optimum OS protocols in this population.

As the transvaginal ultrasound approach is often considered unacceptable in a young cohort, transabdominal ultrasound of the ovaries was frequently utilised for monitoring ovarian response to OS in the studies included in this review. Additionally, one study has described successful transabdominal oocyte retrieval in a prepubertal girl (10). The transabdominal approach of monitoring and retrieval is more technically challenging and superior visualization is generally achieved with a transvaginal probe in mature adults. It is therefore an important area of future research to assess the level of accuracy when monitoring ovarian reserve and successfully retrieving oocytes via a transabdominal approach.

It is essential to minimise the risk of harm from OS in the paediatric and adolescent population and consider the risks and benefits of this approach compared to ovarian tissue preservation (Table 3). This review demonstrates that the risk of OHSS exists, but appears to be no greater than in the adult, where the incidence of moderate and severe OHSS have been estimated to be 3-6% and 0.1-2% respectively (51). The absence of immediate embryo transfer contributes to this (52). Despite this, in the pre or peripubertal population with immature HPO axis, or the transgender populations where HCG trigger is often preferred, there is the potential for a higher risk of OHSS (53). In both cases of OHSS described in this review, where data about stimulation protocol were available, hCG was used as trigger (19, 29). Although the risks of OS and oocyte retrieval are not considered to be higher in those with TS, risk of death during pregnancy is increased by as much as 100-fold (54). Therefore, any patient who is deemed to have increased medical risk associated with carrying a pregnancy should be counselled about the option of surrogacy (55). Other medical conditions, such a sickle cell disease or cancer have a known predisposition to thrombosis and vasoocclusive events (56)

underlying comorbidities which may affect safety during ovarian stimulation and ovarian response must be considered when assessing the value and mitigating risks of OS. Furthermore, it is known that the process of OS may be physically and emotionally demanding in an adult population, however the psychological impact in a young population is unknown. The risk of mental burden due to dysphoric triggers in transgender males undergoing OS is an important consideration as the process increases endogenous oestrogen production, may involve discontinuing or reducing the dose of testosterone or other gender affirming hormonal treatments, and the resumption of menses before beginning the process (57, 58).

In those utilising OS for oocyte cryopreservation prior to cancer related therapies, current evidence does not suggest differences in survival and recurrence of cancer rates in adult patients who underwent OS prior to gonadotoxic cancer treatments compared with those who did not (59, 60) although this has yet to be studied in those 18 and younger. Furthermore OS is not considered a viable option in those in poor general condition who need to commence cancer treatment straight away, resulting in reportingc bias.

There were limitations in evaluating this review that may have impacted the analysis of outcomes. The description of ovarian reserve markers as well as baseline patient characteristics including BMI, Tanner stage and menstrual history was described in varying detail and often lacking amongst the studies. This could affect the comparison between patients and as such, results in this study should be interpreted with caution. Furthermore, discrepancies in monitoring and stimulation protocols amongst studies could impact the ability to compare overall outcomes.

The purpose in each study varied, with some studies comparing different diagnoses in their analysis and others comparing differing ages. Other studies reported broad outcomes for cohorts that included all ages from childhood to adulthood and encompassed

TABLE 3 Pros and Cons of ovarian tissue cryopreservation compared to Oocyte Cryopreservation in those < 18 years.

Ovarian tissue cryopreservation	Oocyte cryopreservation
Two reported pregnancies from prepubertal tissue, innovative procedure, now transitioned into standard practice (12, 13)	One pregnancy from post-pubertal oocyte collection. Consider experimental in prepubertal patients, innovative in post-pubertal patients under 18 years (37)
No delays to cancer therapy	Two-week delay to treatment, cannot be offered to those who require urgent cancer treatment
Can be done at any age	The youngest case report is 7 years of age (10)
No lengthy monitoring required for tissue harvest	Requires hormone treatment, monitoring with blood tests and scans which may cause morbidity in gender diverse and other populations
Requires careful selection to minimise morbidity	Requires careful selection to minimise morbidity
Minimally invasive surgery, low-risk procedure with careful patient selection (48)	Risks ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome <1%, and other complications<1%
May be undertaken as interval procedure after start of gonadotoxic therapy	Cannot be undertaken for at least 6 months after gonadotoxic therapy due to mutagenic risk (49)
Provides very high follicle density numbers: adult data suggests 25% chance of livebirth, success rates in the young are unknown (50)	Provides a finite number of oocytes: adult data suggests cumulative live births per patient 33.9-35.2% for women under 35 years, but success rates in the young are unknown (15)
Autotransplantation in gender diverse populations may not be tolerable to them. Carries a risk of malignant reseeding in some populations (3, 20)	Does not require auto-transplantation of tissue
Oocytes with abnormal morphology likely to undergo atresia	May theoretically increase yield of oocytes with abnormal morphology (17)

a variety of diagnoses. Many of the larger studies in this review were not able to provide a breakdown of age in their description of results. The range of diagnoses and ages throughout the studies in this review may have significant impacts on the likelihood of success of COS making the results not necessarily applicable to alternate populations.

5 Conclusion

OS and oocyte cryopreservation is novel in the paediatric and adolescent population, but it offers hope to younger people and more diverse patient populations for the possibility of future biological parenthood. While it is considered standard practice in adults, long term outcomes are largely unknown in the young and the procedure should be considered experimental in prepubertal and premenarchal patients.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

Conception and design: MS, MP, KM, DL, RA, KS, DG, YJ. Data Acquisition, Analysis: MS, KM. Data interpretation: MS, MP, KM,

References

1. Nilsson J, Jervaeus A, Lampic C, Eriksson LE, Widmark C, Armuand GM, et al. 'Will I be able to have a baby?' results from online focus group discussions with childhood cancer survivors in Sweden. *Hum Reprod* (2014) 29(12):2704–11. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu280

2. Anderson RA, Amant F, Braat D, D'Angelo A, Chuva de Sousa Lopes SM, Demeestere I, et al. ESHRE guideline: female fertility preservation†. *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020(4):1–17. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoaa052

3. Li N JY, Kermertzis MA, Moore P, Peate M. Fertility preservation in pediatric and adolescent oncology patients: the decision-making process of parents. *J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol* (2016) 00(00):213–22. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2016.0061

4. Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Taylor HS, et al. Fertility preservation in patients with cancer: ASCO clinical practice guideline update. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(19):1994–2001. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.1914

5. Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Fertility preservation in patients undergoing gonadotoxic therapy or gonadectomy: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril* (2019) 112(6):1022–33. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.09.013

6. McDougall RJ GL, Delany C, Jayasinghe Y. Ethics of fertility preservation for prepubertal children: should clinicians offer procedures where efficacy is largely unproven? *J Med Ethics* (2017) 0:1–5. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2016-104042

7. Anderson RA, Weddell A, Spoudeas HA, Douglas C, Shalet SM, Levitt G, et al. Do doctors discuss fertility issues before they treat young patients with cancer? *Hum Reprod* (2008) 23(10):2246–51. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den252

8. Sonmezer M, Oktay K. Fertility preservation in female patients. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2004) 10(3):251–66. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmh021

9. Jayasinghe Y WW, Anderson RA. Ovarian function, fertility and reproductive lifespan in cancer patients. *Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 13(3):125-36. doi: 10.1080/17446651.2018.1455498

10. Azem F, Brener A, Malinger G, Reches A, Many A, Yogev Y, et al. Bypassing physiological puberty, a novel procedure of oocyte cryopreservation at age 7: a case report and review of the literature. *Fertility sterility.* (2020) 114(2):374–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.03.009

DL, RA, KS, DG, YJ. Critically reviewing drafts: MS, MP, KM, DL, RA, KS, DG, YJ. Critical review and approval of final draft: MS, MP, KM, DL, RA, KS, DG, YJ. Resources and supervision: MS, MP, YJ. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2023.1146476/ full#supplementary-material

11. Dinikina Y, Belogurova M, Zaritskey A, Govorov I, Tsibizova V, Gamzatova Z, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation in prepubertal patients with oncological diseases: multidisciplinary approach and outcomes. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* (2021) 34 (14):2391–8. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2019.1666364

12. Demeestere I, Simon P, Dedeken L, Moffa F, Tsépélidis S, Brachet C, et al. Live birth after autograft of ovarian tissue cryopreserved during childhood. *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30(9):2107–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev128

13. Matthews SJ, Picton H, Ernst E, Andersen CY. Successful pregnancy in a woman previously suffering from β -thalassemia following transplantation of ovarian tissue cryopreserved before puberty. *Minerva ginecologica*. (2018) 70(4):432–5. doi: 10.23736/S0026-4784.18.04240-5

14. Hartigan L, Glover LE, Wingfield M. Fertility on ice: an overview of fertility preservation for children and adolescents with cancer. *Obstetrician Gynaecologist.* (2021) 23(3):170–6. doi: 10.1111/tog.12753

15. Cobo A, Garcia-Velasco JA, Coello A, Domingo J, Pellicer A, Remohi J. Oocyte vitrification as an efficient option for elective fertility preservation. *Fertil Steril.* (2016) 105(3):755–64 e8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.11.027

16. Anderson RA MR, Kelsey TW, Spears N, Telfer EE, Wallace HB. Cancer treatment and gonadal function: experimental and established strategies for fertility preservation in children and young adults. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2015) 3:556–67. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00039-X

17. Anderson RA, McLaughlin M, Wallace WH, Albertini DF, Telfer EE. The immature human ovary shows loss of abnormal follicles and increasing follicle developmental competence through childhood and adolescence. *Hum Reprod* (2014) 29(1):97–106. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det388

18. Noyes N, Knopman JM, Melzer K, Fino ME, Friedman B, Westphal LM. Oocyte cryopreservation as a fertility preservation measure for cancer patients. *Reprod BioMedicine Online*. (2011) 23(3):323–33. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2010.11.011

19. Lavery SA, Islam R, Hunt J, Carby A, Anderson RA. The medical and ethical challenges of fertility preservation in teenage girls: a case series of sickle cell anaemia

patients prior to bone marrow transplant. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)*. (2016) 31 (7):1501–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew084

20. Kim SS, Donnez J, Barri P, Pellicer A, Patrizio P, Rosenwaks Z, et al. Recommendations for fertility preservation in patients with lymphoma, leukemia, and breast cancer. J Assist Reprod Genet (2012) 29(6):465–8. doi: 10.1007/s10815-012-9786-y

21. Lau NM, Huang JY, MacDonald S, Elizur S, Gidoni Y, Holzer H, et al. Feasibility of fertility preservation in young females with turner syndrome. *Reprod BioMed Online*. (2009) 18(2):290–5. doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60268-4

22. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* (2021) n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

23. Maxwell S, Noyes N, Keefe D, Berkeley AS, Goldman KN. Pregnancy outcomes after fertility preservation in transgender men. *Obstetrics gynecology*. (2017) 129 (6):1031–4. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000002036

24. Rothenberg SS, Witchel SF, Menke MN. Oocyte cryopreservation in a transgender Male adolescent. *New Engl J Med* (2019) 380(9):886–7. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc1813275

 Wallace SA, Blough KL, Kondapalli LA. Fertility preservation in the transgender patient: expanding oncofertility care beyond cancer. *Gynecological Endocrinol Off J Int Soc Gynecological Endocrinology*. (2014) 30(12):868–71. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2014.920005

26. Martin CE, Lewis C, Omurtag K. Successful oocyte cryopreservation using letrozole as an adjunct to stimulation in a transgender adolescent after GnRH agonist suppression. *Fertility sterility.* (2021) 116(2):522–7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2021.02.025

27. Insogna IG, Ginsburg E, Srouji S. Fertility preservation for adolescent transgender Male patients: a case series. J Adolesc Health Off Publ Soc Adolesc Med (2020) 66(6):750-3. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2019.12.004

28. Chen D, Bernardi LA, Pavone ME, Feinberg EC, Moravek MB. Oocyte cryopreservation among transmasculine youth: a case series. *J assisted Reprod Genet* (2018) 35(11):2057–61. doi: 10.1007/s10815-018-1292-4

29. Barrett F, Shaw J, Blakemore JK, Fino ME. Fertility preservation for adolescent and young adult transmen: a case series and insights on oocyte cryopreservation. *Front endocrinology.* (2022) 13:873508. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.873508

30. Amir H, Oren A, Klochendler Frishman E, Sapir O, Shufaro Y, Segev Becker A, et al. Oocyte retrieval outcomes among adolescent transgender males. *J assisted Reprod Genet* (2020) 37(7):1737–44. doi: 10.1007/s10815-020-01815-5

31. Reichman DE, Davis OK, Zaninovic N, Rosenwaks Z, Goldschlag DE. Fertility preservation using controlled ovarian hyperstimulation and oocyte cryopreservation in a premenarcheal female with myelodysplastic syndrome. *Fertility sterility.* (2012) 98 (5):1225–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.07.1056

32. Peddie VL, Maheshwari A. Successful controlled ovarian stimulation and vitrification of oocytes in an adolescent diagnosed with myelodysplastic/premalignant clone with monosomy 7. *Hum fertility (Cambridge England).* (2018) 21 (1):39–44. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2017.1347288

33. Cai H, Shen H. Random-start controlled ovarian stimulation for emergency fertility preservation in a patient with myelodysplastic syndrome: a case report. *Braz J Med Biol Res = Rev Bras pesquisas medicas e biologicas.* (2016) 49(6):e5227. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20165227

34. Tsampras NG, Della F, Cheryl T. Double ovarian stimulation (DuoStim) protocol for fertility preservation in female oncology patients. *Hum fertility* (*Cambridge England*). (2017) 20(4):248–53. doi: 10.1080/14647273.2017.1287433

35. Garg D, Johnstone EB, Fair DB, Carrell DT, Berga S, Letourneau JM. Oncofertility conundrum: discrepancy between anti-mullerian hormone and mature oocyte yield in a peripubertal girl with Hodgkin lymphoma. *J assisted Reprod Genet* (2019) 36(8):1753–6. doi: 10.1007/s10815-019-01516-8

36. Kutteh WH, Klosky JL, Green DM, Sparrow CK, Kutteh MA, Robinson GW, et al. Ovulation induction and oocyte retrieval for fertility preservation in young adolescents newly diagnosed with medulloblastoma: a case series. *J obstetrics gynaecology J Institute Obstetrics Gynaecology*. (2018) 38(6):878–9. doi: 10.1080/01443615.2017.1398222

37. Kim TJ, Hong SW. Successful live birth from vitrified oocytes after 5 years of cryopreservation. J Assisted Reprod Genet (2011) 28(1):73–6. doi: 10.1007/s10815-010-9487-3

38. Oktay K, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Sahin G. Fertility preservation by ovarian stimulation and oocyte cryopreservation in a 14-year-old adolescent with turner syndrome mosaicism and impending premature ovarian failure. *Fertility sterility.* (2010) 94(2):e15–9:753. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.01.044

39. Martel RA, Blakemore JK, Fino ME. The use of oocyte cryopreservation for fertility preservation in patients with sex chromosome disorders: a case series describing outcomes. J assisted Reprod Genet (2022) 39(5):1143–53. doi: 10.1007/ s10815-022-02469-1

40. Oktay K, Bedoschi G. Oocyte cryopreservation for fertility preservation in postpubertal female children at risk for premature ovarian failure due to accelerated

follicle loss in turner syndrome or cancer treatments. J Pediatr Adolesc gynecology. (2014) 27(6):342-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2014.01.003

41. Hipp HS, Shandley LM, Schirmer DA, McKenzie L, Kawwass JF. Oocyte cryopreservation in adolescent women. *J Pediatr Adolesc gynecology.* (2019) 32 (4):377–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2019.03.001

42. Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Marklund A, Lundberg F, Wikander I, Milenkovic M, Anastacio A, et al. A prospective study of women and girls undergoing fertility preservation due to oncologic and non-oncologic indications in Sweden-trends in patients' choices and benefit of the chosen methods after long-term follow up. *Acta obstetricia gynecologica Scandinavica*. (2019) 98(5):604–15. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13559

43. Manuel SL, Moravek MB, Confino R, Smith KN, Lawson AK, Klock SC, et al. Ovarian stimulation is a safe and effective fertility preservation option in the adolescent and young adult population. *J assisted Reprod Genet* (2020) 37(3):699–708. doi: 10.1007/s10815-019-01639-y

44. The Practice Committees of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine and the Society for Assisted Reproductive Technology. Mature occyte cryopreservation: a guideline. *Fertil Steril* (2013) 99(1):37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.09.028

45. Mamsen LS, Charkiewicz K, Anderson RA, Telfer EE, McLaughlin M, Kelsey TW, et al. Characterization of follicles in girls and young women with turner syndrome who underwent ovarian tissue cryopreservation. *Fertil Steril.* (2019) 111(6):1217–25.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.02.003

46. Franasiak JM, Forman EJ, Hong KH, Werner MD, Upham KM, Treff NR, et al. The nature of aneuploidy with increasing age of the female partner: a review of 15,169 consecutive trophectoderm biopsies evaluated with comprehensive chromosomal screening. *Fertil Steril.* (2014) 101(3):656–63.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.11.004

47. Anderson RA, Cameron D, Clatot F, Demeestere I, Lambertini M, Nelson SM, et al. Anti-müllerian hormone as a marker of ovarian reserve and premature ovarian insufficiency in children and women with cancer: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2022) 28(3):417–34. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmac004

48. Corkum KS, Lautz TB, Rhee DS, Wafford QE, Demeestere I, Dasgupta R, et al. Fertility and hormone preservation and restoration for female children and adolescents receiving gonadotoxic cancer treatments: a systematic review. *J Pediatr Surgery*. (2019) 54(11):2200–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2018.12.021

49. Sonigo C, Beau I, Binart N, Grynberg M. The impact of chemotherapy on the ovaries: molecular aspects and the prevention of ovarian damage. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(21). doi: 10.3390/ijms20215342

50. Kieu V, Stern C, Harris J, Jayasinghe Y, Bradford N, Cui W, et al. Australian Fertility preservation guidelines for people with cancer 2022: review and recommendations. *Med J Aust* (2022) 217(11):564–9. doi: 10.5694/mja2.51751

51. Delvigne A, Rozenberg S. Epidemiology and prevention of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS): a review. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2002) 8 (6):559-77. doi: 10.1093/humupd/8.6.559

52. Mathur RS, Tan BK. British Fertility society policy and practice committee: prevention of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. *Hum Fertil (Camb).* (2014) 17 (4):257–68. doi: 10.3109/14647273.2014.961745

53. Casper RF. Reducing the risk of OHSS by GnRH agonist triggering. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(12):4396–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-3676

54. The Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Increased maternal cardiovascular mortality associated with pregnancy in women with turner syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2005) 83(4):1074–5. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.11.049

55. Falsey E, Cirino AL, Snyder E, Steeves M, Lin AE. Parenthood among individuals with turner syndrome: results of an online survey of attitudes towards pregnancy, adoption, and surrogacy. *J Community Genet* (2022) 13(3):263–70. doi: 10.1007/s12687-022-00588-x

56. Dovey S, Krishnamurti L, Sanfilippo J, Gunawardena S, McLendon P, Campbell M, et al. Oocyte cryopreservation in a patient with sickle cell disease prior to hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: first report. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2012) 29 (3):265–9. doi: 10.1007/s10815-011-9698-2

57. Blakemore JK, Quinn GP, Fino ME. A discussion of options, outcomes, and future recommendations for fertility preservation for transmasculine individuals. *Urol Clin North Am* (2019) 46(4):495–503. doi: 10.1016/j.ucl.2019.07.014

58. Armuand G, Dhejne C, Olofsson JI, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA. Transgender men's experiences of fertility preservation: a qualitative study. *Hum Reprod* (2017) 32 (2):383–90. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew323

59. Azim AA, Costantini-Ferrando M, Oktay K. Safety of fertility preservation by ovarian stimulation with letrozole and gonadotropins in patients with breast cancer: a prospective controlled study. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26(16):2630–5. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.14.8700

60. Marklund A, Lekberg T, Hedayati E, Liljegren A, Bergh J, Lundberg FE, et al. Relapse rates and disease-specific mortality following procedures for fertility preservation at time of breast cancer diagnosis. *JAMA Oncol* (2022) 8(10):1438–46. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2022.3677

\triangleright
σ
σ
D
Q
<u> </u>
H

 TABLE 1 Checklist for assessing the quality of quantitative studies.

14	13	12	11	10	9	×	71	6	U	4	ω	2	1	Criteria
Conclusions supported by the results?	Results reported in sufficient detail?	Controlled for confounding?	Some estimate of variance is reported for the main results?	Analytic methods described/justified and appropriate?	Sample size appropriate?	Outcome and (if applicable) exposure measure(s) well defined and robust to measurement / misclassification bias? Means of assessment reported?	If interventional and blinding of subjects was possible, was it reported?	If interventional and blinding of investigators was possible, was it reported?	If interventional and random allocation was possible, was it described?	Subject (and comparison group, if applicable) characteristics sufficiently described?	Method of subject/ comparison group selection or source of information/input variables described and appropriate?	Study design evident and appropriate?	Question / objective sufficiently described?	
														YES (2)
														PARTIAL (1)
														(0) NO
														۶Ę

TABLE 2 Risk of bias assessment.

Author	1. Objective	2. Design	3. Subject selection	4. Subject characteristics	5. Random allocation	6. Blinding investigators	7. Blinding subjects	8. Outcomes	9. Sample size	10. Analysis	11. Estimate of variance	12. Cofounding	13. Results	14. Conclusion	Total Score (%)
Maxwell et al. (23)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	No (0)	Partial (1)	Yes (2)	54%
Rothenberg et al. (24)	No (0)	Partial (1)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	No (0)	45%
Wallace et al. (25)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	73%
Martin et al. (26)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	77%
Insogna et al. (27)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	64%
Chen et al. (28)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	64%
Barrett et al. (29)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	82%
Amir et al. (30)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	91%

TABLE 2 Continued

Author	1. Objective	2. Design	3. Subject selection	4. Subject characteristics	5. Random allocation	6. Blinding investigators	7. Blinding subjects	8. Outcomes	9. Sample size	10. Analysis	11. Estimate of variance	12. Cofounding	13. Results	14. Conclusion	Total Score (%)
Reichman et al. (31)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	73%
Peddie et al. (32)	Partial (1)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	78%
Cai, H et al. (33)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	68%
Tsampras et al. (34)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	64%
Garg et al. (35)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	64%
Kutteh et al. (36)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	64%
Kim at al (37)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	68%
Lavery et al. (19)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	82%
Oktay et al. (38)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	73%
Azem et al. (10)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	82%
Martel et al. (39)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	82%
Oktay et al. (40)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	82%
Hipp et al. (41)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	86%
Rodriguez- Wallberg et al. (42)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	78%
Manuel, et al. (43)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Partial (1)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	No (0)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	Yes (2)	86%

Slonim et al.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Yasmin Jayasinghe, The University of Melbourne, Australia

REVIEWED BY Alberto Ferlin, University of Padua, Italy Ryoma Yoneda, Saitama Medical University, Japan

*CORRESPONDENCE Ingrid Plotton ingrid.plotton@chu-lyon.fr

RECEIVED 22 February 2023 ACCEPTED 26 May 2023 PUBLISHED 20 June 2023

CITATION

Teoli J, Mallet D, Renault L, Gay C-L, Labrune E, Bretones P, Giscard D'Estaing S, Cuzin B, Dijoud F, Roucher-Boulez F and Plotton I (2023) Case Report: Longitudinal follow-up and testicular sperm extraction in a patient with a pathogenic *NR5A1* (SF-1) frameshift variant: p.(Phe70Serfs*5). *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1171822. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1171822

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Teoli, Mallet, Renault, Gay, Labrune, Bretones, Giscard D'Estaing, Cuzin, Dijoud, Roucher-Boulez and Plotton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case Report: Longitudinal follow-up and testicular sperm extraction in a patient with a pathogenic *NR5A1* (SF-1) frameshift variant: p.(Phe70Serfs*5)

Jordan Teoli^{1,2,3}, Delphine Mallet^{1,4}, Lucie Renault⁵, Claire-Lise Gay^{4,6}, Elsa Labrune^{3,5,7}, Patricia Bretones^{4,8}, Sandrine Giscard D'Estaing^{3,5,7}, Béatrice Cuzin⁹, Frédérique Dijoud^{3,7,10}, Florence Roucher-Boulez^{1,4,7,11} and Ingrid Plotton^{1,3,4,5,7*}

¹Service de Biochimie et Biologie Moléculaire, Unité Médicale de Biologie Endocrinienne, Centre de Biologie et Pathologie Est, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Bron, France, ²Département des sciences biomédicales B, Institut des sciences pharmaceutiques et biologiques, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Lyon, France, ³Institut Cellule Souche et Cerveau (SBRI), Unité de Institut national de la recherche médicale (INSERM) 1208, Centre de Recherche INSERM, Bron, France, ⁴Centre de Réference Maladies Rares du Développement Génital: du Fœtus à l'Adulte, Filière Maladies Rares Endocriniennes, Bron, France, ^sService de médecine de la reproduction, Hôpital Femme-Mère-Enfant, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Bron, France, ⁶Service d'endocrinologie pédiatrique, Institut Saint-Pierre, Palavas-Les-Flots, France, ⁷Faculté de médecine, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Lyon, France, ⁹Chirurgie Urologique, Centre de Biologie et de Pathologie Est, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Bron, France, d'Urologie Bellecour, Lyon, France, ¹⁰Service d'Anatomie Pathologique, Centre de Biologie et de Pathologie Est, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Bron, France, ⁶Derone ficiReD), Centre national de la recherche de Silvis de Lyon, Bron, France, ⁶Chirurgie Urologique, Centre de Pathologie Est, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Bron, France, ⁹Chirurgie Urologique, Centre de Biologie et de Pathologie Est, Hospices Civils de Lyon, Bron, France, ¹¹Institut Génétique, Reproduction & Développement (iGReD), Centre national de la recherche scientifique (CNRS), INSERM, Université Clermont Auvergne, Clermont–Ferrand, France

Background: Steroidogenic factor 1 (SF-1), encoded by the nuclear receptor subfamily 5 group A member 1 (*NR5A1*) gene, is a transcriptional factor crucial for adrenal and gonadal organogenesis. Pathogenic variants of *NR5A1* are responsible for a wide spectrum of phenotypes with autosomal dominant inheritance including disorders of sex development and oligospermia–azoospermia in 46,XY adults. Preservation of fertility remains challenging in these patients.

Objective: The aim was to offer fertility preservation at the end of puberty in an *NR5A1* mutated patient.

Case report: The patient was born of non-consanguineous parents, with a disorder of sex development, a small genital bud, perineal hypospadias, and gonads in the left labioscrotal fold and the right inguinal region. Neither uterus nor vagina was detected. The karyotype was 46,XY. Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) and testosterone levels were low, indicating testicular dysgenesis. The child was raised as a boy. At 9 years old, he presented with precocious puberty treated by triptorelin. At puberty, follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinising hormone (LH), and testosterone levels increased, whereas AMH, inhibin B, and

testicular volume were low, suggesting an impaired Sertoli cell function and a partially preserved Leydig cell function. A genetic study performed at almost 15 years old identified the new frameshift variant NM_004959.5: c.207del p.(Phe70Serfs*5) at a heterozygous state. He was thus addressed for fertility preservation. No sperm cells could be retrieved from three semen collections between the ages of 16 years 4 months and 16 years 10 months. A conventional bilateral testicular biopsy and testicular sperm extraction were performed at 17 years 10 months of age, but no sperm cells were found. Histological analysis revealed an aspect of mosaicism with seminiferous tubules that were either atrophic, with Sertoli cells only, or presenting an arrest of spermatogenesis at the spermatocyte stage.

Conclusion: We report a case with a new *NR5A1* variant. The fertility preservation protocol proposed at the end of puberty did not allow any sperm retrieval for future parenthood.

KEYWORDS

testicular sperm extraction, gonadal dysgenesis, spermatogenesis, male infertility, congenital, disorder of sex development, hypospadias, azoospermia

1 Introduction

Steroidogenic factor 1 (SF-1) is a transcription factor crucial for adrenal and testis organogenesis as well as steroidogenesis regulation with a dose-dependent effect (1–3).

SF-1 protein is encoded by the nuclear receptor subfamily 5 group A member 1 (NR5A1) gene located in chromosome 9 and composed of seven exons. SF-1 protein is characterised by a DNAbinding domain (DBD) in the amino-terminal region and by a ligand-binding domain (LBD) in the carboxy-terminal region separated by a hinge region, which can host post-translational changes (2, 4, 5).

To date, more than 180 putative pathogenic variants have been reported in NR5A1 coding regions and splice sites, spanning the whole gene and including missense variants (58% of variants), frameshift variants (18.6%), non-sense variants (12.3%), and splice variants (3.3%) in a heterozygous and isolated state in almost all cases. Variants were *de novo* in almost half of the cases and autosomal dominant inheritance in the others (4).

Pathogenic variants in *NR5A1* are responsible for almost 20% of 46,XY differences or disorders of sex development (DSDs) (4). 46, XY DSD related to mutated *NR5A1* is characterised by a wide spectrum of phenotypes, from male to female external genitalia and

including partial or complete dysgenesis, genital ambiguity, micropenis, hypospadias, cryptorchidism, and asplenia with no clear genotype-phenotype correlation. Adrenal insufficiency is rarely associated with the picture (4, 6).

Severe oligospermia or azoospermia can be found in 46,XY patients carrying *NR5A1* pathogenic variants; sometimes, these are the only symptoms (7, 8). Fertility care in 46,XY patients presenting azoospermia and carrying *NR5A1* pathogenic variants has rarely been studied. Among these patients, only four cases who underwent testicular sperm extraction (TESE) have been reported, with inconsistent results (Table 1), underlining that preservation of fertility in such cases is challenging.

Here, we report a longitudinal follow-up from birth to adulthood of a patient carrying a novel frameshift variant of *NR5A1*. We focused our follow-up on the physical and hormonal evaluations particularly during the puberty period, and also on testicular histology and semen collections.

2 Case report

The patient was born to non-consanguineous parents at 37 weeks of amenorrhea with a tetralogy of Fallot and a DSD. Longitudinal morphological and laboratory data are summarised in Table 2.

At birth, the patient had a small genital bud (6 mm long) with perineal hypospadias. A gonad of 9×6 mm was palpated in the left labioscrotal fold, and the right gonad was in the high inguinal region. The genitography did not show any uterus or vagina. Karyotype and fluorescence *in situ* hybridisation showed a normal 46,XY formula. Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) levels were low on the first day of life (64 pmol/L) and at the

Abbreviations: ACMG, American College of Medical Genetics and genomics; AMH, anti-Müllerian hormone; DBD, DNA-binding domain; DSD, disorder of sex development; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; GnRH, gonadotropinreleasing hormone; hCG, human chorionic gonadotropin; ICSI, intracytoplasmic sperm injection; LH, luteinising hormone; LBD, ligandbinding domain; NMD, non-sense-mediated mRNA decay; NR5A1, nuclear receptor subfamily 5 group A member 1; SF-1, steroidogenic factor 1; TESE, testicular sperm extraction.

Patient	<i>NR5A1</i> variant (NM_004959.5, GRCh37/hg19)	Clinical description at birth	Hormonal description (closest to TESE)	Gonadal description	TESE procedure and results (age)	Reference
1	c.118A>C p.(Thr40Pro) Heterozygous	Ambiguous genitalia, palpable gonads in labioscrotal folds, no Müllerian remnant at birth	FSH ∕ LH ∕ Testosterone subN Inhibin B ∖	Hypoplastic testis, neonatal testicular appearance on histology at birth Low TV (L and R: 4- 6 ml) at 15.8 y-o	TESE: no sperm cells (18 y-o)	(9)
2	c.39C>A p.(Cys13*) Heterozygous	Bilateral cryptorchidism treated by orchidopexy	FSH ≯ LH N Testosterone N	Low TV (L: 6.6 ml, R: 10.1 ml) at adult age	Micro-TESE after 3 months of vitamin E and clomiphene citrate: few sperm cells, but the number was not specified (20 y-o)	(10)
3	c.730A>G p.(1le244Val) Heterozygous	Not available	FSH N LH N Testosterone N	Normal TV (L: 13.4 ml, R: 14.1 ml) at adult age	Micro-TESE after 3 months of vitamin E and clomiphene citrate: few sperm cells, but the number was not specified (35 y-o)	(10)
4	c.244+1G>A Heterozygous	Not available	FSH 🗡 LH 🗡 Testosterone subN	Low TV (L: 4.1 ml, R: 5.4 ml), normal spermatogenic function on histology at adult age	Micro-TESE: sufficient sperm cells for ICSI (31 y-o)	(10)

TABLE 1 Fertility preservation in mutated NR5A1 46,XY men presenting azoospermia.

FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; ICSI, intracytoplasmic sperm injection; L, left; LH, luteinising hormone; N, normal; R, right; subN, subnormal; TESE, testicular sperm extraction; TV, testicular volume; y-o, years old; 🔪 or 🦯, decreased or increased, respectively.

minipuberty (92.5 pmol/L). Testosterone level was also low at the 12th hour of life (0.90 nmol/L) and was stimulated to 10.85 nmol/L after a human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) test (seven injections of 1,500 IU every 2 days). On the 14th day of life, follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinising hormone (LH) levels were high (9.5 and 9.2 IU/L, respectively).

The patient received four injections of heptylate testosterone (two doses of 20 mg and then two doses of 25 mg, 15 days apart) and was declared male at 3 months of age. Several surgical treatments were performed, first for his hypospadias at 1 year of age, then for the undescended testis at 2 years 6 months, and finally for the correction of the penis curvature at 9 years. At 9 years, precocious puberty was suspected due to an increase in testicular volume (TV), and a gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) test confirmed a central origin. Magnetic resonance imaging of the hypothalamo-pituitary region was normal. GnRH analog treatment (triptorelin: one injection every 4 weeks and then every 3 weeks due to insufficient effectiveness) was introduced from 9 years 10 months to 11 years 4 months of age. From the age of 13 years 6 months to 14 years 10 months, testosterone enanthate (50 to 125 mg, one injection every 3 weeks) was undertaken since LH was high and to improve penis size prognosis but was interrupted because of its poor effectiveness. At 14 years old, a varicocele on the left side was observed and highlighted by testicular echography.

At 16 years 4 months of age, he was addressed for fertility preservation. TV was diminished (6 ml on both sides), and AMH and inhibin B levels were low. Three semen collections performed according to the 2010 World Health Organization criteria (15) between the ages of 16 years 4 months and 16 years 10 months retrieved no sperm cells. The varicocele on the left side was treated

by embolisation at the age of 17 years 2 months. The patient was eligible for a testicular biopsy with testicular sperm extraction (conventional TESE) since no sperm cells were found in at least two sperm samples 3 months apart. TESE was practiced according to the procedure described previously (16) when the patient was 17 years 10 months old. Only one sperm cell was found on a right testis fraction, but this was insufficient for cryopreservation.

The histological analysis of biopsy fragments revealed a severely impaired spermatogenesis with an aspect of histological mosaicism using Johnsen score (17): the seminiferous tubules, of overall reduced diameter and lined by a thick basal membrane, were either atrophic, with Sertoli cells only, or with spermatogenesis arrest at the spermatocyte stage. The interstitial tissue was fibroedematous with hyperplastic Leydig cells. No signs of malignancy or dysplasia were noticed (Figure 1).

At 14 years 10 months of age, after his parents provide signed informed written consent for genetic testing, a molecular analysis of *NR5A1* gene (Sanger sequencing on DNA extracted from whole blood) revealed the unreported heterozygous frameshift variant NM_004959.5: c.207del p.(Phe70Serfs*5) (GRCh37/hg19) (Figure 2). His parents and his sibling were not sequenced for *NR5A1*. According to the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG) criteria (18), this variant is classified as pathogenic. This variant had never been reported in Gnomad_v2, ClinVar, and dbSNP databases or in any literature to date. It is in the third exon of *NR5A1* gene encoding the DBD of the SF-1 protein. Since it induces a frameshift with the manifestation of a premature stop codon, it should lead to either an inactive truncated protein (truncated DBD, absence of the hinge region and the LBD) or the absence of protein by the non-sense-mediated mRNA decay (NMD) mechanism (19). The coding regions of the androgen receptor (AR) gene were also studied; no pathogenic variant was found.

Otherwise, the patient had some periods of overweight during childhood and early adulthood because of a lack of physical activity and overeating. The patient never presented with an adrenal crisis and the exploration of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis was normal (cortisol and adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH)).

3 Discussion

We describe a 46,XY male patient carrying a new *NR5A1* pathogenic variant with medical monitoring from birth to adulthood, at the beginning of which a testicular biopsy with TESE was performed.

The novel variant NM 004959.5: c.207del p.(Phe70Serfs*5) found here was classified as pathogenic according to the ACMG criteria. Certain frameshift variants inducing a premature stop codon in the same position as those observed herein have been reported to lead to a protein with the same missing parts (truncated DBD, absence of the hinge region, and the LBD) if one is produced. The variant NM_004959.5: c.18del p.(Asp6Glufs*69) was found in a 46,XY patient born with ambiguous external genitalia and raised as female. At 27 years old, she had clitorimegaly, a blind-ended vagina with no uterus, severely hypoplastic inguinal testis, primary hypogonadism with high gonadotropin levels and low baseline testosterone level non-responsive to hCG stimulation, and no adrenal dysfunction (20). Another variant, NM_004959.5: c.70del p.(His24Thrfs*51), was found in a 46,XY patient with ambiguous external genitalia at birth. The patient presented with an absence of Müllerian ducts and no palpated gonads and was initially raised as female until 18 years old. The patient had high gonadotropin levels, normal testosterone concentration, and normal adrenal function at 18 years of age, and the patient's testes were considered dysgenetics at 19 years old (21). The last variant, NM_004959.5: c.151del p.(Glu51Argfs*24), was found in a 46,XY adolescent patient raised as female and who presented with clitorimegaly, primary amenorrhea, and inguinal testes (22). The p.(Asp6Glufs*69) and p.(His24Thrfs*51) variants were explored by functional studies that showed a reduction in the transactivation capacity of SF-1 on the promoters of some genes coding for steroidogenic enzymes. Nevertheless, Western blotting performed on transfected cells could not detect any protein, due to either NMD or the nonability of the technique to detect small peptides (20, 21). The p.(Phe70Serfs*5) variant identified herein should have similar consequences on the transactivation capacity of SF-1 than the p.(Asp6Glufs*69) and p.(His24Thrfs*51) variants.

The clinical and hormonal data recorded in the present patient could be integrated into the wide spectrum of phenotypes of mutated *NR5A1* patients (reviewed in (4, 23)).

At the patient's birth, AMH levels were low for a 46,XY newborn but too high for a 46,XX newborn, and total testosterone level was subnormal but increased properly after hCG stimulation in early childhood. These two parameters indicated the presence of dysgenetic testicular tissue with an

Ong	Ongoing treat- ment	Height, weight, BMI	Penis length (mm)	Testicular volume	FSH (IU/L)	L) (IU/	Total testosterone (nmol/ Inhibin B L) (ng/L)	Inhibin B (ng/L)	AMH (pmol/ L)	Bioavailable testosterone (nmol/L)	Other examinations
	-	46 cm, 2.320 kg	9	9 × 6 mm (L) Not palpated (R)	~	~	∕ 06:0		64.0 🔪	-	~
	1		_	/		-	<0.10 (N)	/	-	~	_
	~	1	~	/	9.5 /	9.2 /	3.02 (subN)	/	~	~	_
After	After 7 injections of hCG		16	/	~	~	10.85 (with parallel increase in dihydrotestosterone) (N)	/	92.5 🗸	,	`
After of to	After 11 injections of testosterone	~	32	/	~	~	1	1	~	,	Tanner P2
	-		~	35 × 18 mm (L and R)	-	~	9.00 (1 for age)	<30 \si	18.7 (\sc)	~	Bone age: 11y6m
T	Triptorelin	BMI at 97e percentile	45	/	1	-	1	/	/	-	/
Ĥ	Triptorelin		_	/	-	-	_	/	/	-	Bone age: 13y

variant

frameshift

(SF-1)

data in a patient with a pathogenic NR5A1

laboratory

and

morphological

follow-up

Birth and

с Ц

TABL

TABLE 2 Continued

Age	Ongoing treat- ment	Height, weight, BMI	Penis length (mm)	Testicular volume	FSH (IU/L)	LH (IU/ L)	Total testosterone (nmol/ L)	Inhibin B (ng/L)	AMH (pmol/ L)	Bioavailable testosterone (nmol/L)	Other examinations
12y7m	1		50	33 × 16 mm (L) 32 × 15 mm (R)	22.7 🎢	10.6 /	/	6 🔨	1.3 🔪	/	Tanner P4
13y6m	1	160.5 cm, 60.5 kg BMI: 23.5 (>97e percentile)	55	25 × 20 mm (L) 28 × 20 mm (R)	36 🖊	18.5 ⁄	13.63 N	/	/	/	Tanner P4 Bone age: 13y6m
14y10m	Testosterone	163 cm	55-60	8 ml (L) 6 ml (R)	/	/	/	< 5 🔪	0.8 🔪	/	Bone age: 15y– 16y
15y1m	1	/	/	/	29.5 🎢	25.0	9.46 \	/	/	1	/
16y4m	1	/	/	6 ml (L) 6 ml (R)	33.2 🗡	19.8 /	6.50 📐	9.0 🔪	2.6 🔪	2.10 (subN)	SBP: 10 nmol/L
16y8m	/	165 cm, 65 kg BMI: 23.9 (around 90e percentile)	/	/	32.8 🗡	20.1	9.40 🔪	6.0 🔪	2.5 🔪	2.71 (subN)	SBP: 16 nmol/L
16y10m	1	/	/	/	29.4 🗡	19.0 /	13.06 N	7.0 🔪	2.5 🔪	4.38 (N)	SBP: 17 nmol/L
20y	1	172 cm (for a genetic target at 174 cm), 82 kg BMI = 27.7	1	1	/	/	/	/	/	1	/

AMH, anti-Müllerian hormone; D, day; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; H, hour; hCG, human chorionic gonadotropin; L, left; LH, luteinising hormone; m, month; N, normal; R, right; SBP, sex-binding protein; subN, subnormal; y, year; BMI, body mass index; \ or \, decreased or increased, respectively, according to reference range for age and sex when it exists or personal interpretation (in parentheses) when it does not.

Plasma FSH and LH were assessed by radioimmunoassay (newborn data) or by an automated chemiluminescence immunometric assay on Architect i2000SR (Abbott, Chicago, IL, USA). Reference ranges for FSH: 0.05 to 1 IU/L in prepubescent boys between 10 and 30 months, 1.1 to 7.2 IU/L in men with normal testicular function. Reference ranges for LH: 0.02 to 0.80 IU/L in prepubescent boys between 10 and 30 months, 1.3 to 5.8 IU/L in men with normal testicular function.

Plasma total testosterone was assessed by in-house radioimmunoassay after solvent extraction and chromatography or by in-house liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry after extraction. Reference ranges for boys: $9.36 \pm 5.31 \text{ mmol/L}$ at D1, $0.97 \pm 0.38 \text{ mmol/L}$ at D5, $5.37 \pm 2.64 \text{ mmol/L}$ between D11 and D15, $8.68 \pm 2.77 \text{ mmol/L}$ between 1 and 3 months, $0.28 \pm 0.01 \text{ mmol/L}$ (mean \pm standard deviation) in prepubescent boys between 1 and 10 years old, 10.40 to 26.00 mmol/L in young men.

Serum inhibin B was assessed by enzyme immunoassay using the Inhibin B Gen II ELISA kit (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA). Reference range: 35 to 167 ng/L in boys between 6 and 10 years old, 74 to 470 ng/L in boys between 12 and 17 years old, 92 to 316 ng/L in normozoospermic men (11, 12).

Serum AMH was assessed by enzyme immunoassay (newborn data) or by an automated electrochemiluminescence assay on Cobas e601 (Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland). Reference ranges for boys: 395 to 2,321 pmol/L between D13 and D20, 505 to 3,213 pmol/L between 2.8 and 5.1 months, 705 to 4,280 pmol/L between 8.5 and 9.8 months, 441 to 2,352 pmol/L at 4 years old, 16.4 to 90.3 pmol/L in men with normal spermatogenesis (13, 14).

Plasma bioavailable testosterone was assessed by in-house radioimmunoassay after solvent extraction and chromatography. Reference range: 2.25 to 10.70 nmol/L in men between 20 and 40 years old.

SBP was assessed by radioimmunoassay with the SHBG RIACT Cisbio Kit (Cisbio Bioassays, Codolet, France). Reference range: 17 to 45 nmol/L in men.



FIGURE 1

Testicular biopsy shows severely impaired spermatogenesis with an aspect of histological mosaicism. The seminiferous tubules were of overall reduced diameter (decreased by approximately 30%-50% compared to physiological adult pubertal seminiferous tubules of 150-250 µm in diameter) and lined by a thickened basal membrane. The seminiferous tubules were either atrophic (*), with Sertoli cells only (**), or presenting spermatogenesis arrest at the spermatocyte stage (•). The interstitial tissue was fibro-edematous with numerous Leydig cells (‡) (hematoxylin-eosinsaffron). Thick black arrow indicates Sertoli cells, thin black arrow indicates spermatocyte, and solid black triangle indicates spermatogonia. Biopsy fragments were fixed in alcohol, formalin, and acetic acid (AFA) and paraffin-embedded. Sections of 3 µm were stained by hematoxylin-phloxinsaffron. Slide evaluation was performed on a Leica DM2500 microscope. Two different scales: 300 µm (A) and 200 µm (B).

impaired function more marked on Sertoli cells than on Leydig cells. However, the absence of the uterus indicated a sufficient secretion of AMH during the in utero life. As suggested elsewhere, foetal Sertoli cell function was thus sufficient to induce the regression of the Müllerian ducts but decreased after birth (23-25). The incompletely virilised external genitalia reported herein suggests that testosterone and dihydrotestosterone were probably insufficiently secreted during the in utero window of masculinisation to induce the complete development of external genitalia (26). Testosterone levels (basal or stimulated) vary greatly among 46,XY NR5A1 mutated patients (23).

At puberty, the patient showed an insufficient increase in TV, low AMH and inhibin B levels, and elevated FSH levels that indicated a severe primary Sertoli cell injury. The normal or subnormal testosterone levels with elevated LH levels suggested a compensated primary hypofunction of Leydig cells and explained the virilisation signs observed in the patient at puberty. This description is in line with that of Mönig et al., who studied 10 NR5A1 mutated patients during adolescence and puberty (24). Other authors also showed an impaired Sertoli cell function with a normal or subnormal Leydig cell function conserved at least until puberty (23, 25, 27).



Identification of the NR5A1 variant using Sanger sequencing. Variation was identified using reference NM_004959.5 for NR5A1 transcript on GRCh37/hg19 human genome assembly, NP_004950.2 for SF-1 protein. The screenshot comes from SeqScape 3 software. The nucleotide reference sequence is highlighted in blue. This variant was classified as pathogenic according to the ACMG criteria (PVS1, PM1, and PM2). The polymorphism NM_004959.5: c.437G>C p.(Gly146Ala) was not found. In ACMG criteria: PM, pathogenic moderate; PVS, pathogenic very strong. "PVS1: null variant (non-sense, frameshift, canonical ±1 or 2 splice sites, initiation codon, single or multi-exon deletion) in a gene where loss of function is a known mechanism of disease." "PM1: located in a mutational hot spot and/or critical and well-established functional domain (e.g. active site of an enzyme) without benign variation." "PM2: absent from controls (or at extremely low frequency if recessive) in Exome Sequencing Project, 1000 Genomes or ExAC."

Interestingly, the precocious increase in TV and testosterone levels herein suggested precocious puberty confirmed by a GnRH test. The occurrence of precocious puberty was surprising because SF-1 is expressed in pituitary cells in humans and is implicated in the formation of the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus in mice (28) and because some mutated *NR5A1* patients encountered difficulties when entering puberty spontaneously (29). However, Mönig et al. reported an early pubertal development with an early increase in testosterone levels in three out of 10 cases (24).

Amazingly, the spontaneous increase in testosterone levels and virilisation at puberty contrasted with the subnormal testosterone levels and incompletely virilised external genitalia at birth reported herein and elsewhere (23, 24). As demonstrated in mice, there is evidence in humans that testosterone synthesis during foetal life imply a coordinated action of foetal Sertoli cells and foetal Leydig cells (30). Therefore, a Sertoli cell dysfunction during foetal life may impair testosterone production by the foetal testis and lead to a lack of virilisation of the external genitalia at birth.

Furthermore, progressive degradation of testicular function with age was suggested in the literature based on several physical and hormonal observations. First, AMH was secreted during *in utero* life, but its levels were low at birth and in the neonatal period as discussed above (23–25), indicating gonadal dysgenesis. Herein, AMH levels were already low at birth. Then, a decrease in TV can occur during or after puberty (24); it was not significant herein perhaps because TV was initially too low. Finally, a progressive increase in the FSH and LH levels and a progressive decrease in testosterone and inhibin B levels with age were reported (9, 24, 25, 31). This pattern was observed herein mainly for FSH and LH levels but not inhibin B levels since the first value (at 12 years 7 months) was already too low. At 16 years 10 months, testosterone level was normal, but further degradation may not be excluded.

As expected given the low TV and low AMH and inhibin B levels, no sperm cells were retrieved in semen samples. Azoospermia was previously reported in *NR5A1* mutated patients (7), but varicocele could aggravate the spermiological phenotype in this case (32). Spermatogenesis could be improved 3 to 6 months after varicocele treatment (32).

Interestingly, some sperm cells were collected in the semen of some 46,XY mutated NR5A1 patients (7, 8), and certain patients even fathered children naturally (25, 33-35). Among the latter, one patient had two children even though he carried an NR5A1 pathogenic variant in a mosaic state in DNA extracted from blood leukocytes (25). One had two children at 30 and 33 years old but refused further investigations (35). One fathered five children before the age of 32 years and presented with increased FSH levels and undetectable AMH and inhibin B levels at 57 years old. However, no hormonal data were available when he was 32, and no sperm data were available for him or his boys (33). From the perspective of progressive hormonal function alteration, some authors suggested a progressive degradation of spermatogenesis with age that allows paternity in young men before spermatogenesis collapses (7, 23, 25, 31). However, this hypothesis remains to be confirmed by longitudinal sperm counts in NR5A1 mutated 46,XY patients in whom spermatogenesis is preserved. Consequently, men carrying NR5A1 pathogenic variants should be addressed for fertility

preservation as early as possible after puberty; if mature sperm cells are retrieved, cryopreservation can thus be performed to ensure a timely medically assisted reproduction. A TESE was proposed to the patient herein when he was 17 years 10 months. Although it was performed sufficiently long enough after varicocele treatment to allow for the potential restoration of spermatogenesis, only one sperm cell was retrieved, thus preventing cryopreservation and intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) to be performed. In the literature (Table 1), one team failed to retrieve sperm cells in an 18year-old man using TESE (9), while another retrieved sperm cells in three men (20, 31, and 35 years old) using micro-TESE after 3 months of vitamin E and clomiphene citrate for two of them (10). This discrepancy in TESE outcomes could be explained by different situations. First, based on the hypothesis of progressive spermatogenesis degradation, the age when TESE was performed may have impacted the outcomes. However, TESE retrieved sperm cells in the three older patients but failed in the youngest. Second, the TESE procedure performed: micro-TESE did not show better results for retrieving sperm cells than conventional TESE in men with nonobstructive azoospermia in a recent meta-analysis (36). Third, the wide spectrum of the disease without a clear phenotype-genotype relation likely impacts TESE outcomes. The fact that the same NR5A1 pathogenic variant can cause different phenotypes in patients belonging to the same family (9, 33, 35, 37, 38) may suggest a possible polygenic inheritance or the intervention of additional epigenetic or environmental factors in the phenotype severity. In the case of polygenic inheritance, whole genome sequencing would be of great interest to find another mutated gene and to understand the spectrum of NR5A1-related diseases. Finally, features correlated with spermatogenesis function (39-41) like hormonal markers (FSH, LH, testosterone, and inhibin B), TV, and history of cryptorchidism are likely to affect TESE outcomes here: one patient in whom TESE retrieved sperm cells had a normal hormonal profile and normal TV. Unfortunately, we did not have access to the clinical description at birth or the follow-up of inhibin B levels since adolescence in all patients who underwent TESE to be able to suggest a relationship between the severity of the DSD and the TESE outcomes (9, 10).

The hormonal anomalies, sperm sampling, and TESE outcomes herein were consistent with the results of the pathological analysis of the biopsied testicular fragments. The pathological aspect observed herein was also consistent with the wide spectrum of testicular biopsy descriptions found elsewhere in 46,XY *NR5A1* mutated adults (8, 23, 42). The possible degradation of testicular function in terms of hormonal and sperm parameters with aging discussed above might parallel a progressive degradation of testis structure observable on the testicular biopsy, as suggested by Camats et al. (21). Nevertheless, if testicular biopsy finds germ cells and functional seminiferous tubules, future techniques of fertility preservation, such as the emerging *in vitro* spermatogenesis technology (43, 44), would be of great interest in *NR5A1* mutated patients with azoospermia.

Although overweight in NR5A1 mutated patients has already been described (20, 45, 46), this feature was not found in all patients (46). Interestingly, the homozygous deletion of NR5A1 in an SF-1 knock-out mouse model induced obesity (47). In line with this finding, some authors suggested the intervention of SF-1 in the development of the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus, a central player in appetite regulation in humans (20, 46).

Finally, the presence of tetralogy of Fallot is surprising and was not reported elsewhere in association with a mutated SF-1. However, we could not exclude an additional genetic anomaly in other genes associated with DSD and/or tetralogy of Fallot, *GATA4* and *ZFPM2/FOG2* genes, for example (48, 49).

4 Conclusion

We report a case with a new NR5A1 pathogenic variant addressed for fertility care. The physical, hormonal, and histological description of the testis could be integrated into the wide spectrum of 46,XY DSD related to mutated NR5A1. The patient presented with azoospermia since the first semen analysis when he was 16 years 4 months. A conventional TESE was performed at 17 years 10 months, but this procedure did not retrieve sufficient sperm cells for cryopreservation to perform an ICSI for future parenthood. These data extend the knowledge regarding fertility in NR5A1 mutated patients. Further investigations in NR5A1 mutated patients would help define a fertility care protocol in order to increase their chances of fertility.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics committee of Lyon University Hospital. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the

References

1. El-Khairi R, Achermann J. Steroidogenic factor-1 and human disease. Semin Reprod Med (2012) 30:374-81. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1324720

2. Hoivik EA, Lewis AE, Aumo L, Bakke M. Molecular aspects of steroidogenic factor 1 (SF-1). Mol Cell Endocrinol (2010) 315:27–39. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2009.07.003

3. Lala DS, Rice DA, Parker KL. Steroidogenic factor I, a key regulator of steroidogenic enzyme expression, is the mouse homolog of fushi tarazu-factor I. *Mol Endocrinol* (1992) 6:1249–58. doi: 10.1210/mend.6.8.1406703

4. Fabbri-Scallet H, Sousa LM, Maciel-Guerra AT, Guerra-Júnior G, Mello MP. Mutation update for the *NR5A1* gene involved in DSD and infertility. *Hum Mutat* (2020) 41:58–68. doi: 10.1002/humu.23916

5. Wong M, Ramayya MS, Chrousos GP, Driggers PH, Parker KL. Cloning and sequence analysis of the human gene encoding steroidogenic factor 1. *J Mol Endocrinol* (1996) 17:139–47. doi: 10.1677/jme.0.0170139

6. Achermann JC, Ito M, Ito M, Hindmarsh PC, Jameson JL. A mutation in the gene encoding steroidogenic factor-1 causes XY sex reversal and adrenal failure in humans. *Nat Genet* (1999) 22:125–6. doi: 10.1038/9629

7. Bashamboo A, Ferraz-de-Souza B, Lourenço D, Lin L, Sebire NJ, Montjean D, et al. Human Male infertility associated with mutations in *NR5A1* encoding steroidogenic factor 1. *Am J Hum Genet* (2010) 87:505–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.09.009 participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the participant/patient(s) for the publication of this case report.

Author contributions

JT wrote the manuscript. IP, DM, FD, and FR-B supervised the laboratory procedures. JT, DM, LR, FD, FR-B, and IP interpreted the data. Patient care was performed by CG, EL, PB, SGD'E, BC, and IP. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

We thank the technicians of our unit, who participated in the generation of the results, and Véréna Landel (DRS, Hospices Civils de Lyon) for reading the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Röpke A, Tewes A-C, Gromoll J, Kliesch S, Wieacker P, Tüttelmann F. Comprehensive sequence analysis of the NR5A1 gene encoding steroidogenic factor 1 in a large group of infertile males. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2013) 21:1012–5. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2012.290

9. Werner R, Mönig I, Lünstedt R, Wünsch L, Thorns C, Reiz B, et al. New NR5A1 mutations and phenotypic variations of gonadal dysgenesis. *PloS One* (2017) 12: e0176720. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176720

10. An M, Liu Y, Zhang M, Hu K, Jin Y, Xu S, et al. Targeted next-generation sequencing panel screening of 668 Chinese patients with non-obstructive azoospermia. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2021) 38:1997–2005. doi: 10.1007/s10815-021-02154-9

11. Barbotin A-L, Ballot C, Sigala J, Ramdane N, Duhamel A, Marcelli F, et al. The serum inhibin b concentration and reference ranges in normozoospermia. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2015) 172:669–76. doi: 10.1530/EJE-14-0932

12. Crofton PM, Evans AEM, Groome NP, Taylor MRH, Holland CV, Kelnar CJH. Inhibin b in boys from birth to adulthood: relationship with age, pubertal stage, FSH and testosterone. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2002) 56:215–21. doi: 10.1046/j.0300-0664.2001.01448.x

13. Benderradji H, Barbotin A-L, Leroy-Billiard M, Prasivoravong J, Marcelli F, Decanter C, et al. Defining reference ranges for serum anti-müllerian hormone on a Large cohort of normozoospermic adult men highlights new potential physiological

functions of AMH on FSH secretion and sperm motility. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2022) 107:1878–87. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgac218

14. Plotton I, Raverot V, Roche E, Jean Marc L, Morel Y. Évaluation de la trousse AMH (anti-mullerienne hormone) de roche[®] dans les indications pédiatriques: détermination des valeurs de références chez le garçon. *Annales d'Endocrinologie* (2015) 76:367-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ando.2015.07.214

15. World Health Organization. WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen FIFTH EDITION (2010). Available at: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/reproductive-health/srhr-documents/infertility/examination-and-processing-of-human-semen-5ed-eng.pdf (Accessed December 16, 2021).

16. Plotton I, Giscard d'Estaing S, Cuzin B, Brosse A, Benchaib M, Lornage J, et al. Preliminary results of a prospective study of testicular sperm extraction in young versus adult patients with nonmosaic 47,XXY klinefelter syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100:961–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-3083

17. Johnsen SG. Testicular biopsy score count - a method for registration of spermatogenesis in human testes: normal values and results in 335 hypogonadal males. *Hormones* (1970) 1:2–25. doi: 10.1159/000178170

18. Richards S, Aziz N, Bale S, Bick D, Das S, Gastier-Foster J, et al. Standards and guidelines for the interpretation of sequence variants: a joint consensus recommendation of the American college of medical genetics and genomics and the association for molecular pathology. *Genet Med* (2015) 17:405–24. doi: 10.1038/gim.2015.30

19. Frischmeyer PA. Nonsense-mediated mRNA decay in health and disease. *Hum Mol Genet* (1999) 8:1893–900. doi: 10.1093/hmg/8.10.1893

20. Hasegawa T, Fukami M, Sato N, Katsumata N, Sasaki G, Fukutani K, et al. Testicular dysgenesis without adrenal insufficiency in a 46,XY patient with a heterozygous inactive mutation of steroidogenic factor-1. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89:5930–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0935

21. Camats N, Pandey AV, Fernández-Cancio M, Andaluz P, Janner M, Torán N, et al. Ten novel mutations in the *NR5A1* gene cause disordered sex development in 46, XY and ovarian insufficiency in 46,XX individuals. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 97: E1294–306. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-3169

22. Philibert P, Leprieur E, Zenaty D, Thibaud E, Polak M, Frances A-M, et al. Steroidogenic factor-1 (SF-1) gene mutation as a frequent cause of primary amenorrhea in 46,XY female adolescents with low testosterone concentration. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2010) 8:28. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-8-28

23. Pedace L, Laino L, Preziosi N, Valentini MS, Scommegna S, Rapone AM, et al. Longitudinal hormonal evaluation in a patient with disorder of sexual development, 46, XY karyotype and one *NR5A1* mutation. *Am J Med Genet* (2014) 164:2938–46. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.36729

24. Mönig I, Schneidewind J, Johannsen TH, Juul A, Werner R, Lünstedt R, et al. Pubertal development in 46,XY patients with *NR5A1* mutations. *Endocrine* (2022) 75:601–13. doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02883-y

25. Philibert P, Polak M, Colmenares A, Lortat-Jacob S, Audran F, Poulat F, et al. Predominant sertoli cell deficiency in a 46,XY disorders of sex development patient with a new NR5A1/SF-1 mutation transmitted by his unaffected father. *Fertility Sterility* (2011) 95:1788.e5–1788.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.11.035

26. Grinspon RP, Bergadá I, Rey RA. Male Hypogonadism and disorders of sex development. *Front Endocrinol* (2020) 11:211. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00211

27. Faienza MF, Chiarito M, Baldinotti F, Canale D, Savino C, Paradies G, et al. *NR5A1* gene variants: variable phenotypes, new variants, different outcomes. *Sex Dev* (2019) 13:258–63. doi: 10.1159/000507411

28. Ikeda Y, Luo X, Abbud R, Nilson JH, Parker KL. The nuclear receptor steroidogenic factor 1 is essential for the formation of the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus. *Mol Endocrinol* (1995) 9:478-86. doi: 10.1210/mend.9.4.7659091

29. Lin L, Philibert P, Ferraz-de-Souza B, Kelberman D, Homfray T, Albanese A, et al. Heterozygous missense mutations in steroidogenic factor 1 (SF1/Ad4BP, NR5A1) are associated with 46,XY disorders of sex development with normal adrenal function. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 92:991–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1672

30. O'Donnell L, Whiley PAF, Loveland KL. Activin a and sertoli cells: key to fetal testis steroidogenesis. *Front Endocrinol* (2022) 13:898876. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2022.898876

31. Tantawy S, Lin L, Akkurt I, Borck G, Klingmuller D, Hauffa BP, et al. Testosterone production during puberty in two 46,XY patients with disorders of sex

development and novel NR5A1 (SF-1) mutations. Eur J Endocrinol (2012) 167:125–30. doi: 10.1530/EJE-11-0944

32. Chiba K, Fujisawa M. Clinical outcomes of varicocele repair in infertile men: a review. *World J Mens Health* (2016) 34:101. doi: 10.5534/wjmh.2016.34.2.101

33. Ciaccio M, Costanzo M, Guercio G, De Dona V, Marino R, Ramirez PC, et al. Preserved fertility in a patient with a 46,XY disorder of sex development due to a new heterozygous mutation in the *NR5A1/SF-1* gene: evidence of 46,XY and 46,XX gonadal dysgenesis phenotype variability in multiple members of an affected kindred. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2012) 78:119–26. doi: 10.1159/000338346

34. Rocca MS, Ortolano R, Menabò S, Baronio F, Cassio A, Russo G, et al. Mutational and functional studies on *NR5A1* gene in 46,XY disorders of sex development: identification of six novel loss of function mutations. *Fertility Sterility* (2018) 109:1105–13. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.02.123

35. Yagi H, Takagi M, Kon M, Igarashi M, Fukami M, Hasegawa Y. Fertility preservation in a family with a novel *NR5A1* mutation. *Endocr J* (2015) 62:289–95. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ14-0340

36. Corona G, Minhas S, Giwercman A, Bettocchi C, Dinkelman-Smit M, Dohle G, et al. Sperm recovery and ICSI outcomes in men with non-obstructive azoospermia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2019) 25:733–57. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz028

37. Hattori A, Zukeran H, Igarashi M, Toguchi S, Toubaru Y, Inoue T, et al. A novel c-terminal truncating *NR5A1* mutation in dizygotic twins. *Hum Genome Var* (2017) 4:17008. doi: 10.1038/hgv.2017.8

38. Warman DM, Costanzo M, Marino R, Berensztein E, Galeano J, Ramirez PC, et al. Three new SF-1 (*NR5A1*) gene mutations in two unrelated families with multiple affected members: within-family variability in 46,XY subjects and low ovarian reserve in fertile 46,XX subjects. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2011) 75:70–7. doi: 10.1159/000320029

39. Jensen TK, Andersson A-M, Hjollund NHI, Scheike T, Kolstad H, Giwercman A, et al. Inhibin b as a serum marker of spermatogenesis: correlation to differences in sperm concentration and follicle-stimulating hormone levels. a study of 349 Danish men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1997) 82:4059–63. doi: 10.1210/jcem.82.12.4456

40. Kumanov P, Nandipati K, Tomova A, Agarwal A. Inhibin b is a better marker of spermatogenesis than other hormones in the evaluation of male factor infertility. *Fertility Sterility* (2006) 86:332–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2006.01.022

41. Rey R. Regulation of spermatogenesis. Endocr Dev (2003) 5:38–55. doi: 10.1159/ 000069300

42. Ferlin A, Rocca MS, Vinanzi C, Ghezzi M, Di Nisio A, Foresta C. Mutational screening of *NR5A1* gene encoding steroidogenic factor 1 in cryptorchildism and male factor infertility and functional analysis of seven undescribed mutations. *Fertility Sterility* (2015) 104:163–169.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.04.017

43. Kanbar M, de Michele F, Poels J, Van Loo S, Giudice MG, Gilet T, et al. Microfluidic and static organotypic culture systems to support ex vivo spermatogenesis from prepubertal porcine testicular tissue: a comparative study. *Front Physiol* (2022) 13:884122. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.884122

44. Perrard M-H, Sereni N, Schluth-Bolard C, Blondet A, d'Estaing SG, Plotton I, et al. Complete human and rat ex vivo spermatogenesis from fresh or frozen testicular tissue. *Biol Reprod* (2016) 95:89–9. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.116.142802

45. Laan M, Kasak L, Timinskas K, Grigorova M, Venclovas Č, Renaux A, et al. *NR5A1* c.991-1G > c splice-site variant causes familial 46,XY partial gonadal dysgenesis with incomplete penetrance. *Clin Endocrinol* (2021) 94:656–66. doi: 10.1111/cen.14381

46. Malikova J, Camats N, Fernández-Cancio M, Heath K, González I, Caimarí M, et al. Human NRSA1/SF-1 mutations show decreased activity on BDNF (Brain-derived neurotrophic factor), an important regulator of energy balance: testing impact of novel SF-1 mutations beyond steroidogenesis. *PloS One* (2014) 9:e104838. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104838

47. Majdic G, Young M, Gomez-Sanchez E, Anderson P, Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins RL, et al. Knockout mice lacking steroidogenic factor 1 are a novel genetic model of hypothalamic obesity. *Endocrinology* (2002) 143:607–14. doi: 10.1210/endo.143.2.8652

48. Bashamboo A, Brauner R, Bignon-Topalovic J, Lortat-Jacob S, Karageorgou V, Lourenco D, et al. Mutations in the FOG2/ZFPM2 gene are associated with anomalies of human testis determination. *Hum Mol Genet* (2014) 23:3657–65. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu074

49. Shichiri Y, Kato Y, Inagaki H, Kato T, Ishihara N, Miyata M, et al. A case of 46, XY disorders of sex development with congenital heart disease caused by a *GATA4* variant. *Congenital Anomalies* (2022) 62:203–7. doi: 10.1111/cga.12482

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mahmoud Salama, Michigan State University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Claus Yding Andersen, University of Copenhagen, Denmark Yasmin Jayasinghe, The University of Melbourne, Australia Christine Wyns, Université Catholique de Louvain, Belgium Volodimir Isachenko, University of Cologne, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Kyle E. Orwig Sorwigke@upmc.edu

RECEIVED 18 June 2023 ACCEPTED 07 August 2023 PUBLISHED 28 August 2023

CITATION

Younis N, Caldeira-Brant AL, Chu T, Abdalla S and Orwig KE (2023) Human immature testicular tissue organ culture: a step towards fertility preservation and restoration. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1242263. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1242263

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Younis, Caldeira-Brant, Chu, Abdalla and Orwig. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Human immature testicular tissue organ culture: a step towards fertility preservation and restoration

Nagham Younis^{1,2}, Andre L. Caldeira-Brant¹, Tianjiao Chu¹, Shtaywy Abdalla² and Kyle E. Orwig ^{1*}

¹Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences, Magee-Womens Research Institute, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA, United States, ²Department of Biological Sciences, School of Science, University of Jordan, Amman, Jordan

Background: Cryopreservation of immature testicular tissue (ITT) is currently the only option to preserve fertility of prepubertal patients. Autologous transplantation of ITT may not be safe or appropriate for all patients. Therefore, methods to mature ITT *ex vivo* are needed.

Objectives: Aim to investigate the feasibility of inducing *in vitro* spermatogenesis from ITT cryopreserved for pediatric patients prior to initiation of gonadotoxic therapy.

Materials and methods: Cryopreserved-thawed ITT from prepubertal and peripubertal patients were cultured for 7, 16, and 32 days in medium with no hormones or supplemented with 5 IU/L FSH, 1 IU/L hCG, or 5IU/L FSH+1 IU/L hCG. Samples were evaluated histologically to assess tissue integrity, and immunofluorescence staining was performed to identify VASA (DDX4)+ germ cells, UCHL1+ spermatogonia, SYCP3+ spermatocytes, CREM+ spermatids, SOX9+ Sertoli cells. Proliferation (KI67) and apoptosis (CASPASE3) of germ cells and Sertoli cells were also analyzed. Sertoli and Leydig cell maturation was evaluated by AR and INSL3 expression as well as expression of the blood testis barrier protein, CLAUDIN11, and testosterone secretion in the culture medium.

Results: Integrity of seminiferous tubules, VASA+ germ cells and SOX9+ Sertoli cells were maintained up to 32 days. The number of VASA+ germ cells was consistently higher in the peripubertal groups. UCHL1+ undifferentiated spermatogonia and SOX9+ Sertoli cell proliferation was confirmed in most samples. SYCP3+ primary spermatocytes began to appear by day 16 in both age groups. Sertoli cell maturation was demonstrated by AR expression but the expression of CLAUDIN11 was disorganized. Presence of mature and functional Leydig cells was verified by INSL3 expression and secretion of testosterone. Gonadotropin treatments did not consistently impact the number or proliferation of germ cells or somatic cells, but FSH was necessary to increase testosterone secretion over time in prepubertal samples.

Conclusion: ITT were maintained in organotypic culture for up to 32 days and spermatogonia differentiated to produce primary spermatocytes in both preand peripubertal age groups. However, complete spermatogenesis was not observed in either group.

KEYWORDS

in vitro spermatogenesis, male fertility preservation, testicular tissue cryopreservation, immature testicular tissue, gonadotoxic therapy, cancer survivorship

Introduction

Treatments for childhood cancers are improving with posttherapy survival rates of 88% in 2021 (1), which means most young patients can look forward to a full and productive life after cure, including the possibility of having children. However, an unfortunate side effect of cancer therapy is the loss of fertility, since treatments target not only the rapidly dividing cancer cells, but also the proliferating germ cells in the gonads of those patients (2, 3). Infertility rates among childhood cancer survivors can range from 42-66% (4). Young adult survivors of childhood cancers experience distress about the potential for infertility (5-7), and desire to have offspring from their own cells, especially those with the religious restrictions of using donated sperm in some cultures (8). Therefore, the American Society for Clinical Oncology (9), the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (10) and the International Society for Fertility Preservation (11) recommend that all patients are counseled about the reproductive side effects associated with treatment of their primary disease as well as options to preserve fertility. Adult patients have the option to cryopreserve oocytes or sperm prior to treatment that can be thawed in the future and used to achieve pregnancy with established assisted reproductive technologies (12-14). The only fertility preservation options available to prepubertal children who are not yet producing mature oocytes or sperm are ovarian tissue or testicular tissue cryobanking (15, 16).

Although immature testicular tissue (ITT) from prepubertal boys do not produce sperm, they do contain spermatogonial stem cells (SSCs) that have the potential to produce sperm using one of several methods that are in the research pipeline (15). Autologous spermatogonial stem cell transplantation and testicular tissue grafting are mature technologies that have been replicated in numerous mammalian species (reviewed in (15)), and may be ready for translation to the human clinic. However, these autologous transplantation approaches may not be safe for patients with leukemia, testicular cancer or metastasizing disease due to concerns about reintroducing malignant cells back into patient survivors. Autologous transplantation may also be undesirable to transgender patients who do not want to be exposed to elevated testosterone levels that may be necessary to mature their tissues and produce sperm inside their bodies. Therefore, methods are needed to mature ITT outside the patient's body and produce sperm. Xenografting ITT into an animal host such as mice, pigs or primates, to mature and produce sperm is a promising option (17) but raises concerns about the potential risk of exposing patients to xenobiotic diseases (18). Furthermore, exposure of ITT to porcine or bovine hosts will not be acceptable in some religions (19, 20). Methods are needed to mature ITT outside the patient's body.

Sato and colleagues pioneered the method of ITT organotypic culture in 2011 in mice. Immature testicular tissue was cultured at the air/liquid interface on an island of agar that was half soaked in culture medium and matured over 30-40 days to produce sperm and live offspring (21). Over the past decade, the same group has continually optimized the approach using microfluidic devices to maintain tissues viable with continuous sperm production over several months (22-24). Critical features of the culture that supported long-term spermatogenesis in mouse organotypic culture were the replacement of FBS with knockout serum replacement (KSR) or Albumax, a lipid rich subfraction of KSR (23, 25, 26). Others have replicated the Ogawa testicular tissue organ culture methods with production of spermatids or sperm (27, 28) but production of offspring has not been replicated by any other research group in mice and translation to other species, including humans, remains a work in progress (see below).

Several groups have replicated the air/liquid interface culture with human ITT and reported variable results. Medrano and coworkers tested KSR versus FSH, 37°C versus 34°C, and with or without follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) (Menopur 75, Ferring) and reported that cultures maintained at 34°C with KSR exhibited the best survival of spermatogonia and Sertoli cells. The addition of LH and FSH improved Sertoli cell survival and promoted the maturation of germ cells up to the initiation of meiosis (SYCP3+ cells) but not beyond (29). Portela and colleagues used media supplemented with retinoic acid and melatonin, with or without FSH/LH. Spermatogonia survived and proliferated but the overall number of spermatogonia decreased over five weeks in culture and spermatogenesis was not initiated. Sertoli cells exhibited transient proliferation but did not mature to express the androgen receptor (AR). Culture outcomes were not impacted by cryopreservation or the addition of LH/FSH (30). Wang and colleagues used media supplemented with an extensive cocktail of growth factors, with or without retinoic acid (RA) (31). BOL+ spermatocytes were observed in the condition with RA on day 60 of culture, but those results were not quantified.

De Michele and colleagues used a variation of testis organotypic culture in which ITT was maintained in transwells at 34°C in an enriched DMEM-F12 medium supplemented with 10% KSR and 5 IU/L FSH. Viability and integrity of seminiferous tubules was maintained for 139 days, including the production of meiotic and post-meiotic cells. Spermatogonial proliferation and numbers decreased over time in culture. Sertoli cell numbers remained constant, but proliferation decreased over time in culture, which is typical of mature Sertoli cells, but AR expression did not change during culture. Leydig cell maturation was demonstrated by increased STAR expression and secretion of testosterone, which declined over time in culture. Supplementation of the culture medium with a cocktail of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), glial cell derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), vitamin A and C, hydroxycholesterol, and triiodothyronine (T3) did not improve outcomes (32).

In summary, methods and results of organotypic culture with human immature testicular tissues are inconsistent and robust development of a complete seminiferous epithelium has not yet been achieved. Maturation of the testicular niche is likely critical to supporting complete spermatogenesis. LH and FSH are important for the maturation of Leydig cells and LH stimulates testosterone production, which is required for spermatogenesis. FSH supports the maturation of Sertoli cells that nurture every stage of spermatogenic lineage development and mediate the effects of testosterone (33–36). The studies described above included FSH and/or LH (or human chorionic gonadotropin, hCG) in some or all of their cultures but did not individually test the importance of these gonadotropins. The De Michele study reported the most advanced germ cell development with sporadic progression through meiosis and production of haploid cells. Therefore, we will attempt to replicate the De Michele approach (32, 37) and test the importance of FSH and LH, individually and in combination. Finally, we tested the hypothesis that Sertoli cells and Leydig cells in tissues from peripubertal patients are already mature and may be poised to support development of a spermatogenic epithelium.

Materials and methods

Human tissues

The UPMC Fertility Preservation Program (https:// fertilitypreservationpittsburgh.org/) has cryopreserved >700 ITT since 2011 for patients who were at risk of infertility due to their diseases or medical treatments. Briefly, testicular tissues were obtained by a wedge biopsy comprising about 20% of one testis. Testicular parenchyma was dissected from any adhering tunica and cut into small pieces measuring 2-5 mm in diameter. Tissues are allocated 75% for the patient's future reproductive use and 25% to research; and cryopreserved in modified human tubal fluid containing 5% DMSO and 5% serum substitute supplement (SSS) (38). Research tissues were deidentified and transported to the research laboratory for cryostorage and experimentation (Figures 1A-C). All human subjects research was reviewed and approved by the University of Pittsburgh Institutional review board (IRB, STUDY19020220 and STUDY19110083) and registered with clinicaltrials.gov (NCT02972801).



FIGURE 1

Experimental scheme. (A) ITT was collected by biopsy from patients before the initiation of gonadotoxic therapy and (B) cryopreserved by computer controlled slow rate freezing for (C) long term cryostorage in liquid nitrogen. Each patient donates 25% of their tissue to research. (D). For this study, ITTs were thawed from three prepubertal patients (1-3 y/o) and three peripubertal patients (9-12 y/o). (E) ITT was cultured in DMEM/F12 media supplemented with 10% KSR and one of four *in vitro* treatments (none, FSH, hCG and FSH + hCG). (F) Cultured ITT was harvested on days 7, 16 and 32 of culture. (G) Culture media was assayed for testosterone. (H) Tissues were fixed for histology (hematoxylin and eosin) and (I) immunofluorescence.

Study design

For the current study ITT from six patients was thawed as previously described (39) and allocated to prepubertal (ages 1, 2 and 3) and peripubertal (ages 9, 11 and 12) groups (Table 1). We excluded any patients who had previous gonadotoxic therapy, patients with potential malignant cells in their ITT (e.g., testicular cancer, leukemia) and patients with differences in sexual development (Table 1). Selected cryopreserved ITT samples were removed from liquid nitrogen dewars and thawed rapidly in a 37°C water bath, as described previously (39) (Figures 1C, D). Thawed testicular tissue for each patient was divided into five small fragments (~1 mm³) when possible (see explanation for missing data in Supplementary Table 1). One ITT fragment was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) overnight and labeled as post-thaw sample and four fragments were placed in organotypic culture at the air-liquid interface as previously described by De Michele and colleagues (32). Briefly, ITTs were placed in 12 mm diameter/0.4 µm polycarbonate membrane Transwell[®] inserts (Corning[®] Incorporated) and cultured in a 5% CO2 humidified incubator at 34°C for 7, 16 or 32 days. The culture medium, CTSTM KnockOutTM DMEM/F-12 culture medium (Cat. No. A1370801, Thermofisher Scientific) supplemented with 10% CTS Knockout SR xenofree medium (KSR, Cat. No. 12618012, Thermofisher Scientific) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (Cat. No. 15140122, Thermofisher, Gibco), was refreshed every 48 hours. ITT fragments of each patient were cultured under four conditions: 1) no gonadotropins, 2) 5 IU/L FSH (Gonal-F 75 IU, Merck Serono), 3) 1 IU/L hCG (Cat. No. CG5-1VL, lyophilized powder, vial of ~5,000 IU, Sigma-Aldrich) or 4) 5 IU/L FSH + 1 IU/L hCG, starting from day 2 (Figures 1D, E). Tissues from an individual patient were divided among the four gonadotropin treatment groups (no gonadotropins, FSH, hCG, FSH + hCG). There was not enough tissue from individual patients to also spread across the three culture timepoints. Therefore, one prepubertal sample (1 y/o) and one peripubertal sample (9 y/o) were analyzed on culture day 7; a second prepubertal (2 y/o) and second peripubertal (11 y/o) sample were analyzed on culture day 16 and a third prepubertal (3 y/o) and third peripubertal (12 y/o) sample were analyzed on culture day 32. Tissues from both pre- and peripubertal groups and each gonadotropin treatment group were collected on days 7, 16 and 32 of culture; fixed in 4% PFA overnight and paraffin embedded for histology and immunofluorescence staining (Figures 1F, H, I). Spent media was collected on days 4, 8 and 12 of culture and assayed for testosterone (Figure 1G). The testosterone experiment required additional samples because the d8 and d12 timepoints could not be collected from the cultures that were terminated on day 7 (Supplementary Table 2).

Histological analysis and immunofluorescence staining

Cultured testicular samples were harvested at each designated time point and fixed in 4% PFA overnight at 4C. The tissues were washed three times with D-PBS, embedded in paraffin and cut into 5 μ m sections. Each tissue fragment was serially sectioned. A minimum of three non-consecutive sections (separated by 50 um or more) were analyzed for each experiment. Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining was performed to assess tissue integrity under light microscopy. Integrity of seminiferous tubules was evaluated and divided into four scores as previously described (32, 39) (Figures 2A–D), where score 4 has the best tubular integrity and score 1 has the worst.

For immunofluorescence (IF) staining, the slides were warmed at 60°C and deparaffinized with 2X xylene, 5 minutes each. Sections were rehydrated in graded ethanol series: 2X 100% EtOH, 10 min; 95% EtOH, 5 min; 80% EtOH, 5 min; 70% EtOH, 5 min; 50% EtOH, 5 min; 25% EtOH, 5 min; PBS, 3 min. Antigen retreivel was performed in a 97°C water bath for 30 minutes using either sodium citrate (pH 6) or Tris (pH 10) buffers. Sections were blocked with 5% donkey serum for at least one hour and incubated with primary antibodies overnight. Different antibodies were used to characterize different stages and activities of germ and somatic cells. Goat anti-human DDX4 (VASA, 1:100, AF2030 Thermo Scientific) was used as a broad germ cell marker, goat or mouse anti-human UCHL1 (1:200, LS-B16043-50 or 7863-1004 Bio-Rad) for undifferentiated spermatogonia, rabbit anti-human SYCP3 (1:300, NB300-232SS Novus Biologicals) for primary spermatocytes, rabbit anti-human CREM (1:100, LS-B13702-50) for early spermatids, mouse anti-human KI67 (1:50 550609 BD Biosciences) for proliferation, rabbit anti-human cleaved CASPASE 3 (1:300, 96615 Cell Signaling Technology) for apoptosis, rabbit or goat anti-human SOX9 (1:400 Ab5535, Fisher Scientific or 1:100 AF3075 R&D) for Sertoli cells, rabbit anti-human AR (1:100 Ab271891 Abcam) for mature Sertoli cell, rabbit anti-human

TABLE 1	Patient	groups	for	histology	and	IHC	studies.	
---------	---------	--------	-----	-----------	-----	-----	----------	--

Pubertal category	Patient	Age (years)	Diagnosis	Previous treatment
Prepubertal	P1	1	Mucopolysaccharidosis (MPS)1	None
	P2	2	Chronic granulomatous disease	None
	Р3	3	X linked chronic granulomatous disease	None
Peripubertal	P4	9	Rhabdomyosarcoma (prostate)	None
	Р5	11	Chronic granulomatous disease	None
	P6	12	Ewing's sarcoma of fibula	None



Scoring seminiterous tubule histological integrity. (A-D) scoring system was used to classify the testicular samples as having poorly preserved (A), score 1), fair (B), score 2), good (C), score 3) or best preserved (D), score 4) histology. Black, green, and red arrowheads indicate spermatogonia, Seroli cell, and pycnotic/apoptotic nuclei, respectively. Scale bars: 50 µm. (E-N) Hematoxylin and eosin-stained photomicrographs of immature testicular tissue from prepubertal and peripubertal patients at different time points: pre-freezing (E, F), post-thaw (G, H), and days 7 (I, 3), 16 (K, L) and 32 (M, N) *in vitro*. Scale bars: 100 µm. (O-T) Seminiferous tubules integrity classification based on scoring system from prepubertal (O-Q) and peripubertal patients (R-T) of pre- freezing, post-thaw, and four *in vitro* conditions (none, FSH, hCG and FSH + hCG), at different time points (day 7, 16 and 32).

CLAUDIN 11 (1:100 36-4500 Invitrogen) for tight junctions of blood-testis barrier and rabbit anti-human INSL3 (1:1500, HPA028615 Sigma) for mature Leydig cells. After 24 hours of incubation with primary antibodies, the slides were rinsed with Phosphate-buffered saline-Tween 20 (PBST) twice for 5 minutes each. Then the sections were incubated with secondary antibodies using Alexa Fluor[®] secondary antibodies conjugates 488, 568 or 647, (1:200, Invitrogen) for 45 minutes at room temperature. All

seminiferous tubules with a clearly demarcated basement membrane were included in the analyses without bias. An average 60 of cross-sections or longitudinal sections of seminiferous cords/ tubules were measured, totaling an area of 947,000 +/- 496,000 μ m2 per patient. Negative controls were stained with isotype control antibodies. Positive controls used adult human testicular tissues that contain complete spermatogenesis (Supplementary Figure 3). All slides were mounted with mounting medium containing DAPI (H-2000-10, Vector labs).

Testosterone assay

The supernatants of spent culture media were collected from 12 patients from both age groups at three time points: day 4, day 8 and day 12 and stored at -20C. Testosterone level was measured at the University of Virginia Center for Research in Reproduction Ligand Assay and Analysis Core (https://med.virginia.edu/research-in-reproduction/ligand-assay-analysis-core/), using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (IBL-America).

Statistical analysis

For statistical analyses, all data are log2 transformed. For count data where 0 entries are present, 1 is added to all counts before the log2 transformation. All comparisons were based on linear regression models. When multiple comparisons were performed simultaneously, Tukey's *post hoc* tests were applied to control the familywise error rates.

Results

ITT histological evaluation

Seminiferous tubules from prepubertal and peripubertal groups showed a disorganized pattern post-thawing, with several pyknotic cells, indicated by lower integrity scores of 1-2 (compare prefreezing in Figures 2E, F to post-thaw in Figures 2G, H). After 7 days of culture, germ and somatic cell organization and adherence to the basement membrane improved (Figures 2I-N), and high scores were assigned for all ITT fragments from 7-32 days *in vitro* (Figures 2O–T). We did not observe any obvious differences in the histology score of prepubertal versus peripubertal group during culture. Gonadotropin treatments did not appear to impact the histology score in the prepubertal or peripubertal groups during culture (Figures 2O–T).

Number of germ cells

Immunofluorescence staining confirmed the presence of VASA + germ cells in both prepubertal (Figure 3A) and peripubertal (Figure 3B) groups and that germ cells were maintained up to 32

days (Figures 3C-F). The number of germ cells in peripubertal tissue was significantly greater than in samples from prepubertal patients in almost every treatment group and at each culture timepoint (Figures 3C-F). Individual values for VASA+ cells in each treatment group at each culture timepoint, including post-thaw day 0 are in Supplementary Table 3. No consistent effect of gonadotropin treatment was observed in either group. There was a trend of decreasing germ cell numbers during the 32-day culture period, which was statistically significant in most culture conditions (Supplementary Figure 1).

Undifferentiated spermatogonia number, proliferation and apoptosis

UCHL1+ undifferentiated spermatogonia were observed in prepubertal and peripubertal tissues (Figures 4A-D) and their numbers were not consistently impacted by treatment or time in culture (Figures 4E-H). Proliferation (KI67+) and apoptosis (CASPASE 3+) of undifferentiated spermatogonia (UCHL1+) were assessed by immunofluorescent co-staining (Figure 5A). Proliferating spermatogonia (UCHL1+/KI67+) were observed in both age groups and all treatment conditions representing 0.5-30% of total UCHL1+ spermatogonia. Individual values for UCHL1+ cells in each treatment group at each culture timepoint, including post-thaw day 0 are in Supplementary Table 3. Gonadotropin treatments did not have a consistent effect on spermatogonial proliferation in either age group (p>0.05, Figures 5B-E). Caspase3 + apoptotic spermatogonia were rarely observed in in any culture condition or in either age group (data not shown).

Spermatogonial differentiation

Spermatogonial differentiation and initiation of meiosis was indicated by the appearance of SYCP3+ cells in most samples on day 16 and day 32 in both prepubertal and peripubertal ITT cultures (Figure 6). No SYCP3+ cells were observed in the preculture (post-thaw, Figure 6C) or day 7 culture samples (Figures 6E-H) in either age group. Individual values for SYCP3+/VASA+ cells in each treatment group at each culture timepoint, including postthaw day 0 are in Supplementary Table 3. Gonadotropin treatment did not impact the appearance of SYCP3+ cells. We did not observe CREM+ early spermatids in either age group or any culture condition.

Sertoli cell number, proliferation and apoptosis

SOX9+ Sertoli cells were observed throughout the culture period and their numbers were not consistently impacted by age, gonadotropin treatment or time in culture (Figure 7). Individual values for SOX9+ cells in each treatment group at each culture timepoint, including post-thaw day 0 are in Supplementary Table 3.



Quantification of germ cells. (A, B) Immunofluorescence staining for pan-germ cell marker, VASA in prepubertal (A) and peripubertal (B) age groups. Scale bars: 50 µm. Dashed white line: basal lamina. (C-F) Number of VASA+ germ cells per mm² of seminiferous tubule in prepubertal and peripubertal patients on day 7, 16 and 32 in four in vitro hormonal conditions, none (C), FSH (D), hCG (E) and FSH+ hCG (F). Statistically significant differences are indicated (*p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.01, ****, p \leq 0.0001). Raw data VASA+ germ cell numbers for post-thaw day 0 as well as days 7, 16 and 32 of culture are shown in Supplementary Table 3.

Gonadotropin treatments did appear to impact the number of SOX9+ cells, but the direction of impact was inconsistent within and between groups (Figures 6E-H), suggesting that changes may be due to individual variation among patient tissues. Proliferation

(KI67+) and apoptosis (CASPASE3+) of Sertoli cells (SOX9+) were evaluated by immunofluorescence co-staining (Figures 8A, B). While the 1-year-old sample had a higher proportion of proliferating Sertoli cells in all treatment groups, there was no



Quantification of undifferentiated spermatogonia. (A–D) Immunofluorescence staining for UCHL1+ undifferentiated spermatogonia in pre cultured (A, C) and post-cultured (B, D) ITTs in prepubertal (A, B) and peripubertal (C, D) groups. Dashed white line: basal lamina. Scale bars: 50 μ m. (E-H) Number of UCHL1+ spermatogonial cells per mm² of seminiferous tubule in prepubertal and peripubertal patients on day 7, 16 and 32 of culture in four *in vitro* conditions, none (E), FSH (F), hCG (G) and FSH + hCG (H). Statistically significant differences are indicated (***p ≤ 0.001, ****p ≤ 0.0001). Raw data UCHL1+ germ cell numbers for post-thaw day 0 as well as days 7, 16 and 32 of culture are shown in Supplementary Table 3.

consistent impact of gonadotropin treatment on the proportion of proliferating Sertoli cells (Figures 8C-F). The proportion of proliferating Sertoli cells decreased from day 7 to day 32 in both age groups and in all conditions (Figures 4B-H, Supplementary Figure 2). The number of CASPASE3+ apoptotic Sertoli cells was low in all culture conditions and both groups (data not shown).

Sertoli cell maturation

Sertoli cell maturation was assessed by immunofluorescence costaining for SOX9 and androgen receptor (AR). There were fewer AR+ Sertoli cells in the prepubertal samples (Figure 9A) than peripubertal samples (Figure 9C) prior to culture. The number



(Figures 9B, D) and fluorescence intensity (Figures 9E-J) of AR+ cells increased significantly during culture in both age groups. Gonadotropin treatments did not consistently impact Sertoli cell AR expression intensity (Figures 9E-J).

Tight junction protein expression

CLAUDIN11 immunofluorescence was used to mark Sertoli cell tight junctions and the blood-testis barrier (BTB). CLAUDIN11 clearly delineated the BTB in adult tubules, separating the basal from the adluminal compartment of the seminiferous tubules (Figure 10A). In contrast, CLAUDIN11 was diffuse and did not delineate a BTB in the seminiferous tubules of ITT in either age groups, before (Figures 10B, D) or after (Figures 10C, E) culture.

Leydig cell maturation and functionality

INSL3+ Leydig cells were virtually absent in prepubertal, preculture tissues (Figure 11A), but appeared by day 32 in culture (Figure 11B). INSL3+ Leydig cells were present in peripubertal, preculture tissues (Figure 11C) as well as all culture days (Figure 11D). We also investigated Leydig cell functionality by measuring testosterone secretion into the media on days 4, 8 and 12 of culture. Testosterone levels in culture medium from both age



FIGURE 6

Spermatogonial differentiation. (A, B) Hematoxylin and eosin staining of cultured immature testicular tissue showing the presence of primary spermatocytes. Scale bars: 50 μ m (C, D) Immunofluorescence of SYCP3+ primary spermatocytes and VASA+ germ cells of post thaw ITT (C) and post cultured ITT (D). Dashed white line: basal lamina. Scale bars: 50 μ m. (E–H) Percentage of SYCP3+ primary spermatocytes per total number of VASA+ germ cells in prepubertal and peripubertal patients on day 7, 16 and 32 in four *in vitro* conditions, none (E), FSH (F), hCG (G) and FSH + hCG (H). Raw data VASA+/SYCP3+ germ cell numbers for post-thaw day 0 as well as days 7, 16 and 32 of culture are shown in Supplementary Table 3.

groups and in most treatment, conditions were higher on days 8 and 12 of culture than in pre-culture, day 0 or culture day 4 media (Figures 11E-L). The FSH treatment group had significantly higher levels of testosterone on days 8 and 12 than day 4 of culture. The hCG treatment group had higher testosterone levels on days 8 and

12 than day 4 in the peripubertal groups, but not the prepubertal group. The combination FSH + hCG group had higher testosterone levels on day 12 than day 4. There was no difference in testosterone levels between the two age groups in all conditions (data not shown).



FIGURE 7

Quantification of Sertoli cells. (A–D) Immunofluorescence staining of SOX9+ Sertoli cells in post-thawed (A, C) and post-cultured (B, D) ITTs in prepubertal (A, B) and peripubertal (C, D) groups. Dashed white line: basal lamina. Scale bars: 50 μ m. (E–H) Number of SOX9+ Sertoli cells per mm² of seminiferous tubule in prepubertal and peripubertal patients on day 7, 16 and 32 in four *in vitro* conditions, none (E), FSH (F), hCG (G) and FSH + hCG (H). Statistically significant differences are indicated (*p ≤ 0.05, **p ≤ 0.01, ***p ≤ 0.001, ****p ≤ 0.0001). Raw data SOX9+ germ cell numbers for post-thaw day 0 as well as days 7, 16 and 32 of culture are shown in Supplementary Table 3.

Discussion

Immature testicular tissue has been cryopreserved for thousands of patients worldwide, dating back to 2005 (40). Our center has cryopreserved testicular tissue for >700 patients since 2011 and some of those patients are returning to use their tissue for reproduction. Autologous spermatogonial stem cell transplantation and testicular tissue grafting are mature technologies that may be ready for the clinic (15), but those technologies will not be safe or appropriate for all patients. Organotypic culture is an *ex vivo* approach to mature ITT and produce sperm. The proof in principle for this approach in mice was initially published by Sato



condition are shown in Figure 7.

and colleagues in 2011 with the production of sperm and offspring (21). Several labs have attempted to replicate those results with human ITT, but progress has been limited. Human ITT can remain viable for times ranging from 7-139 days in culture. Spermatogonia survive and sporadically differentiate to produce spermatocytes or spermatids, but robust regeneration of a complete seminiferous epithelium has not been described (29–32). Previous studies of human ITT organotypic culture included FSH and/or LH in some

or all of their culture conditions but did not independently and exclusively test the impact of those two gonadotropins.

The pubertal surge of gonadotropins is necessary to mature testicular somatic cells and create an environment that supports the initiation of spermatogenesis (33, 34, 41, 42). Similarly, we hypothesize that LH (hCG) and/or FSH are necessary to mature somatic cells in ITT and support spermatogenesis. Surprisingly, it does not appear that these gonadotropins have been independently



FIGURE 9

Sertoli cell maturation (AR expression). (A–D) Immunofluorescence co-staining of AR and SOX9+ Sertoli cells in pre-cultured (A, C) and postcultured (B, D) ITTs in prepubertal (A, B) and peripubertal (C, D) groups. Dashed white line: basal lamina. Scale bars: 50 μ m. (E–J) AR fluorescence intensity in prepubertal (E–G), F is missing data, See Supplementary Table 1 for explanation) and peripubertal (H–J) patients in four *in vitro* conditions, none, FSH, hCG and FSH + hCG at days 7 (E, H), 16 (F, I) and 32 (G, J) of culture. Different red letters above the bars indicate statistically significant differences between groups (p ≤ 0.05).



CLAUDIN 11 expression, a marker of Sertoli cell tight junctions and the blood-testis barrier. (A–E) Immunofluorescence staining for CLAUDIN11 and SOX9 in adult testicular tissue (A), prepubertal (B, C) and peripubertal (D, E) ITTs before (B, D) and after (C, E) culture. Dashed white line: basal lamina. Scale bars: 50 µm.

99

tested in organotypic culture of human ITT in the absence of other hormones or growth factors. We replicated the transwell ITT culture system described by de Michele and colleagues because that system was the only one to report the appearance of haploid cells (32); and tested four hormonal conditions (no hormones, 5 IU/ L FSH, 1 IU/L hCG, and 5IU FSH + 1 IU/L hCG). These are the gonadotropin doses used by de Michele and colleagues. We also compared culture outcomes from prepubertal versus peripubertal testicular tissues to test the hypothesis that testicular somatic cells may already be partially matured in the peripubertal testis.

Upon thawing of cryopreserved ITT, we found that integrity of seminiferous tubules was disrupted compared to the precryopreservation histology. However, tubular integrity quickly improved in culture, with tubular integrity scores resembling the pre-cryopreservation tissues at all culture times and treatment groups. Tubular integrity was maintained for up to 32 days in culture (the longest time tested in this study). As expected, VASA+ germ cells were present in higher numbers in peripubertal tissues than prepubertal tissues. VASA+ cells in both age groups were maintained throughout the culture period but their numbers declined over time in culture, as reported by others (29-32). However, gonadotropin treatments in any combination increased the number of germ cells remaining in peripubertal patient samples compared to the no treatment group, except for the 9-year-old patient, who had a higher number of germ cells in all treatment conditions. Gonadotropin treatment did not impact the number of VASA+ germ cells in prepubertal samples, perhaps suggesting that

prepubertal somatic cells were not yet competent to respond to gonadotropins. Prepubertal samples tested in this study were from 1, 2 and 3 year old patients. Future studies should test older prepubertal stages (e.g., 4-8) to learn when prepubertal testicular somatic cells acquire the competence to respond to gonadotropins and dissect the molecular mechanisms that regulate that transition. Similar to VASA+ cells, UCHL1+ undifferentiated spermatogonia were present and proliferating throughout the 32 day culture period, which again, is consistent with previous reports (30, 32). Gonadotropin treatments did not appear to impact the number or proportion of proliferating spermatogonia in either age group. This is in contrast to the observations of Medrano and colleagues, who found that supplementation with gonadotropins (FSH and LH) increased the number of UTF1+ undifferentiated spermatogonia (29). Those differences may be attributed to the fact that UTF1 is a more restricted marker of undifferentiated spermatogonia, while UCHL1 has a broader expression profile that also includes some differentiating spermatogonia (43).

SYCP3 and CREM were used to assess spermatogonial differentiation to spermatocytes and spermatids, respectively. Neither marker was present in pre-culture tissues or day 7 cultures from either age group. SYCP3+ spermatocytes began to appear in both age groups on days 16 and 32 of culture, which is consistent with previous reports, *in vivo* and *in vitro* (32, 44, 45). There was no consistent effect of gonadotropin treatments on the appearance of SYCP3+ cells. We did not observe CREM+ spermatids in either age group, at any time of culture in any of



Leydig cell maturation and testosterone secretion. (A-D) Immunofluorescence staining for INSL3 and VASA in prepubertal (A, B) and peripubertal (C, D) patients before (A, C) and after (B, D) culture. Dashed white line: basal lamina. Scale bars: 50 μ m. (E-L) Testosterone levels (ng/dL) in prepubertal (E-H) and peripubertal (I-L) patients in four *in vitro* conditions, none (E, I), FSH (F, J), hCG (G, K) and FSH + hCG (H, L) and on days 4, 8 and 12 of culture. Different red letters above the bars indicate statistically significant differences between groups ($p \le 0.05$).

the culture conditions. Perhaps that is not surprising, since the process of spermatogenesis from spermatogonia to sperm takes 74 days in humans (46) and we did not extend our cultures to 74 days. Extended culture periods may allow sufficient time for progression through meiosis and production of haploid cells. We note, however, that de Michele and colleagues (32), using the same culture system, observed haploid cells by chromatin *in situ* hybridization on days 16, 32, 64 and 139 of ITT organotypic culture. The authors noted,

however, that ACE+ spermatids were observed by immunohistochemistry only in one out of 40 sections in a 64-day culture from one patient and expression of late spermatid markers TP1 and PRM2 were not observed (32). While some studies indicated that spermatogenesis occurs on schedule in rodent organotypic culture (21, 47, 48), others have suggested that *in vitro* spermatogenesis may occur at an accelerated pace in mouse and humans (48, 49).

10.3389/fendo.2023.1242263

Sertoli cells are the testicular somatic cells of the seminiferous tubules that switch from immature and proliferative cells to mature and non-proliferative status around the time of puberty under the control of FSH and testosterone (34). They are considered the nurse cells of the adjacent germ cells since they orchestrate every stage of germ cell development from the most undifferentiated spermatogonia to the most differentiated spermatozoa. Sertoli cells also mediate many of the effects of testosterone on germ cell development (36). We found that SOX9+ Sertoli cell numbers, normalized to area of seminiferous tubule, were present in similar numbers in prepubertal and peripubertal samples and maintained throughout the 32 day culture period. Sertoli cell numbers were not impacted by gonadotropin treatment. This is consistent with the results of de Michele and colleagues who found that Sertoli cell numbers were maintained in long-term culture in the presence of FSH or FSH + hCG and other factors (32); but differs from the results of Medrano and colleagues, who found that Sertoli cell numbers decreased by 70 days in culture in the presence of FSH and hCG. While Sertoli cell number remained relatively constant throughout the culture period in our study, Sertoli cell proliferation decreased over time in both age groups, which may be an indicator of Sertoli cell differentiation. Sertoli cell differentiation was also indicated by increased AR expression during culture, consistent with previous reports (31, 32), and this occurred in a gonadotropin independent manner. Portela and colleagues did not observe induction of AR expression in ITT organotypic culture. Moreover, maturation of Sertoli cells in our study was likely incomplete because CLAUDIN11 proteins did not organize to delineate a BTB as shown in the adult control (Figure 10A). A functional BTB is necessary for the maintenance of spermatogenesis, in vivo (50). Others have also reported expression of BTB proteins (ZO-1, CLAUDIN11, CONNIXIN43) in ITT organotypic culture. Medrano and colleagues reported that ZO-1 expression pattern was chaotic (29). de Michele and colleagues reported that CLAUDIN 11 expression was constant for all patients at all culture times while CONNEXIN 43 expression was observed from day 16 onwards (51). in vitro

INSL3 is a constitutive marker of Leydig cell differentiation (52). As expected, we found that INSL3 expression was absent in prepubertal testis tissues, but present in peripubertal testis tissues prior to culture. INSL3 expression was observed in the testicular interstitium of both prepubertal and peripubertal tissues by 32 days in culture and this was not gonadotropin dependent (not shown). The number of INSL3+ cells was not quantified in this study but appeared fewer in number in the cultured samples than in the positive control (Supplementary Figure 3), perhaps indicating that Leydig cell differentiation was incomplete. Nonetheless, all tissues in all treatment conditions secreted testosterone into the culture medium, which increased over time in culture in most samples. The exceptions were untreated and hCG treated prepubertal tissues that did not exhibit increased testosterone secretion over time. This may indicate that FSH was needed to mature the Leydig cells and enhance responsiveness to hCG. This interpretation is consistent with a previous report of Kerr and Sharpe (35), who reported that FSH and not LH was required to mature Leydig cells and enhance hCG stimulated testosterone production in whole testes or dispersed Leydig cells.

Conclusion

We found that cryopreserved ITT from patients could be maintained in organotypic culture for up to 32 days. Testicular germ cells and somatic cells remained viable throughout the culture period. We observed sporadic differentiation of spermatogonia to produce SYCP3+ spermatocytes but did not observe differentiation to CREM+ meiotic or post-meiotic cells and did not observe the establishment of a complete seminiferous epithelium. Our study revealed differences in prepubertal and peripubertal tissues in terms of somatic differentiation and responsiveness to gonadotropins (testosterone production), but these differences did not impact the extent of spermatogenesis achieved in culture. Higher doses of gonadotropins and/or longer culture periods may support more complete spermatogenic lineage development in future studies. Somatic differentiation, especially of prepubertal tissues, occurred during culture (increased AR and INSL3 expression), but differentiation of Sertoli cells and Leydig cells may have been incomplete, which may have impacted the extent of spermatogenesis achieved in this study. The main limitations in this study were the low number of patients and the tiny size of each ITT fragment available to research. This made it impossible to spread the tissue from a single patient across all treatment groups and all culture timepoints. Each timepoint within each treatment group is represented by only one patient. Therefore, some of the observed differences were due to variations among individual patients, which may have obscured treatment effects. Nonetheless, our results were consistent with previous reports indicating that ITT can be maintained in culture while highlighting limitations that will be the focus of ongoing studies to achieve complete and robust spermatogenesis in cultured human testicular tissues.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin. The animal study was approved by University of Pittsburgh Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. The study was conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

NY, SA and KO designed the experiments. NY conducted the experiments and wrote the manuscript. NY, AC-B, SA and KO analyzed and interpreted the results. TC conducted statistical analysis. NY, AC-B, SA and KO revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was funded by the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute of Child Health and Human Development grant HD100197, and an anonymous donor.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the contribution of the University of Virginia Center for Research in Reproduction Ligand Assay and Analysis Core that is supported by the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* NICHD/NIH Grant R24HD102061, and Histology Core at Magee-Womens Research Institute. Finally, we are grateful to all the patients who inspire the work we do and donate their testicular tissues to support our research. This work would not be possible without them.

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA: Cancer J Clin (2021) 71(1):7-33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21654

2. Whitehead E, Shalet SM, Jones PH, Beardwell CG, Deakin DP. Gonadal function after combination chemotherapy for Hodgkin's disease in childhood. *Arch Dis Child* (1982) 57(4):287–91. doi: 10.1136/adc.57.4.287

3. Delessard M, Saulnier J, Rives A, Dumont L, Rondanino C, Rives N. Exposure to chemotherapy during childhood or adulthood and consequences on spermatogenesis and male fertility. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(4):1454. doi: 10.3390/ijms21041454

4. Chemaitilly W, Cohen LE. Diagnosis Of Endocrine Disease: Endocrine lateeffects of childhood cancer and its treatments. *Eur J Endocrinology* (2017) 176(4):R183– 203. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0054

5. Cherven B, Lewis RW, Pruett M, Meacham L, Klosky JL. Interest in fertility status assessment among young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Cancer Med* (2023) 12 (1):674–83. doi: 10.1002/cam4.4887

 Schover LR. Patient attitudes toward fertility preservation. *Pediatr Blood cancer* (2009) 53(2):281–4. doi: 10.1002/pbc.22001

7. Lee SJ, Schover LR, Partridge AH, Patrizio P, Wallace WH, Hagerty K, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology recommendations on fertility preservation in cancer patients. *J Clin Oncol* (2006) 24(18):2917–31. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.06.5888

8. Sallam HN, Sallam NH. Religious aspects of assisted reproduction. *Facts Views Vis Obgyn* (2016) 8(1):33-48.

9. Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Taylor HS, et al. Fertility preservation in patients with cancer: ASCO clinical practice guideline update. *J Clin Oncol* (2018) 36(19):1994–2001. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.1914

10. Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Fertility preservation in patients undergoing gonadotoxic therapy or gonadectomy: a committee opinion. *Fertility Sterility* (2019) 112(6):1022-33. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.09.013

11. Martinez F. Update on fertility preservation from the Barcelona International Society for Fertility Preservation-ESHRE-ASRM 2015 expert meeting: indications, results and future perspectives. *Fertil Steril* (2017) 108(3):407–15 e11. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.05.024

12. Agarwal A, Allamaneni SR. Artificial insemination. In: Falcone T, Hurd W, editors. *Clinical Reproductive Medicine and Surgery*. Philadelphia: Elsevier (2007). p. 539–48.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2023.1242263/full#supplementary-material

13. Steptoe PC, Edwards RG. Birth after the reimplantation of a human embryo. Lancet (1978) 2(8085):366. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(78)92957-4

14. Palermo G, Joris H, Devroey P, Van Steirteghem AC. Pregnancies after intracytoplasmic injection of single spermatozoon into an oocyte. *Lancet* (1992) 340 (8810):17–8. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(92)92425-F

 Tran KTD, Valli-Pulaski H, Colvin A, Orwig KE. Male fertility preservation and restoration strategies for patients undergoing gonadotoxic therapies. *Biol Reprod* (2022) 107(2):382–405. doi: 10.1093/biolre/ioac072

16. Goossens E, Jahnukainen K, Mitchell RT, van Pelt A, Pennings G, Rives N, et al. Fertility preservation in boys: recent developments and new insights. *Hum Reprod Open* (2020) 2020(3):hoaa016. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoaa016

17. Arregui L, Dobrinski I. Xenografting of testicular tissue pieces: 12 years of an in vivo spermatogenesis system. *Reproduction*. (2014) 148(5):R71–84. doi: 10.1530/REP-14-0249

18. Kimsa MC, Strzalka-Mrozik B, Kimsa MW, Gola J, Nicholson P, Lopata K, et al. Porcine endogenous retroviruses in xenotransplantation–molecular aspects. *Viruses*. (2014) 6(5):2062–83. doi: 10.3390/v6052062

19. Gungormus Z, Gungormus M. Effect of religious belief on selecting of graft materials used in oral and maxillofacial surgery. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg* (2017) 75 (11):2347–53. doi: 10.1016/j.joms.2017.07.160

 Ibtisham F, Honaramooz A. SpermaTogonial stem cells for in vitro spermatogenesis and *in Vivo* restoration of fertility. *Cells* (2020) 9(3):745. doi: 10.3390/cells9030745

21. Sato T, Katagiri K, Gohbara A, Inoue K, Ogonuki N, Ogura A, et al. *In vitro* production of functional sperm in cultured neonatal mouse testes. *Nature*. (2011) 471 (7339):504–7. doi: 10.1038/nature09850

22. Komeya M, Hayashi K, Nakamura H, Yamanaka H, Sanjo H, Kojima K, et al. Pumpless microfluidic system driven by hydrostatic pressure induces and maintains mouse spermatogenesis in vitro. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):15459. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15799-3

23. Komeya M, Kimura H, Nakamura H, Yokonishi T, Sato T, Kojima K, et al. Long-term ex vivo maintenance of testis tissues producing fertile sperm in a microfluidic device. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:21472. doi: 10.1038/srep21472

24. Yamanaka H, Komeya M, Nakamura H, Sanjo H, Sato T, Yao M, et al. A monolayer microfluidic device supporting mouse spermatogenesis with improved visibility. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2018) 500(4):885–91. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.04.180

25. Nakamura N, Merry GE, Inselman AL, Sloper DT, Del Valle PL, Sato T, et al. Evaluation of culture time and media in an *in vitro* testis organ culture system. *Birth Defects Res* (2017) 109(7):465–74. doi: 10.1002/bdr2.1002

26. Sanjo H, Yao T, Katagiri K, Sato T, Matsumura T, Komeya M, et al. Antioxidant vitamins and lysophospholipids are critical for inducing mouse spermatogenesis under organ culture conditions. *FASEB J* (2020) 34(7):9480–97. doi: 10.1096/fj.202000245R

27. Arkoun B, Dumont L, Milazzo JP, Way A, Bironneau A, Wils J, et al. Retinol improves in *vitro* differentiation of pre-pubertal mouse spermaTogonial stem cells into sperm during the first wave of spermatogenesis. *PloS One* (2015) 10(2):e0116660. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116660

28. Dumont L, Oblette A, Rondanino C, Jumeau F, Bironneau A, Liot D, et al. Vitamin A prevents round spermatid nuclear damage and promotes the production of motile sperm during in *vitro* maturation of vitrified pre-pubertal mouse testicular tissue. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2016) 22(12):819–32. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gaw063

29. Medrano JV, Vilanova-Pérez T, Fornés-Ferrer V, Navarro-Gomezlechon A, Martínez-Triguero ML, García S, et al. Influence of temperature, serum, and gonadotropin supplementation in short- and long-term organotypic culture of human immature testicular tissue. *Fertility Sterility* (2018) 110(6):1045–57.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.07.018

30. Portela JMD, de Winter-Korver CM, van Daalen SKM, Meißner A, de Melker AA, Repping S, et al. Assessment of fresh and cryopreserved testicular tissues from (pre)pubertal boys during organ culture as a strategy for in *vitro* spermatogenesis. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2019) 34(12):2443–55. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez180

31. Wang D, Hildorf S, Ntemou E, Mamsen LS, Dong L, Pors SE, et al. Organotypic culture of testicular tissue from infant boys with cryptorchidism. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23 (14):7975. doi: 10.3390/ijms23147975

32. de Michele F, Poels J, Vermeulen M, Ambroise J, Gruson D, Guiot Y, et al. Haploid germ cells generated in organotypic culture of testicular tissue from prepubertal boys. *Front Physiol* (2018) 9. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01413

33. Griswold MD. The central role of Sertoli cells in spermatogenesis. Semin Cell Dev Biol (1998) 9(4):411-6. doi: 10.1006/scdb.1998.0203

34. Oduwole OO, Peltoketo H, Huhtaniemi IT. Role of follicle-stimulating hormone in spermatogenesis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2018) 9:763. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00763

35. Kerr JB, Sharpe RM. Follicle-stimulating hormone induction of leydig cell maturation. *Endocrinology*. (1985) 116(6):2592–604. doi: 10.1210/endo-116-6-2592

36. Walker WH. Testosterone signaling and the regulation of spermatogenesis. Spermatogenesis. (2011) 1(2):116–20. doi: 10.4161/spmg.1.2.16956

37. de Michele F, Poels J, Weerens L, Petit C, Evrard Z, Ambroise J, et al. Preserved seminiferous tubule integrity with spermaTogonial survival and induction of Sertoli and Leydig cell maturation after long-term organotypic culture of prepubertal human testicular tissue. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2017) 32(1):32–45. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew300

38. Keros V, Hultenby K, Borgstrom B, Fridstrom M, Jahnukainen K, Hovatta O. Methods of cryopreservation of testicular tissue with viable spermaTogonia in prepubertal boys undergoing gonadotoxic cancer treatment. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2007) 22(5):1384–95. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del508 39. Keros V, R Br, Hultenby K, Aghajanova L, Levkov L, Hovatta O. Optimizing cryopreservation of human testicular tissue: comparison of protocols with glycerol, propanediol and dimethylsulphoxide as cryprotectants. *Hum Reproduction* (2005) 20 (6):1676–87. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh797

40. Wyns C, Curaba M, Petit S, Vanabelle B, Laurent P, Wese JF, et al. Management of fertility preservation in prepubertal patients: 5 years' experience at the Catholic University of Louvain. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2011) 26(4):737–47. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deq387

41. Bhattacharya I, Sen Sharma S, Majumdar SS. Pubertal orchestration of hormones and testis in primates. *Mol Reprod Dev* (2019) 86(11):1505-30. doi: 10.1002/mrd.23246

42. Masliukaite I, Hagen JM, Jahnukainen K, Stukenborg JB, Repping S, van der Veen F, et al. Establishing reference values for age-related spermaTogonial quantity in prepubertal human testes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106(7):1652–7 e2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.09.002

43. Valli H, Sukhwani M, Dovey SL, Peters KA, Donohue J, Castro CA, et al. Fluorescence- and magnetic-activated cell sorting strategies to isolate and enrich human spermaTogonial stem cells. *Fertil Steril* (2014) 102(2):566–80. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2014.04.036

44. Heller CG, Clermont Y. Spermatogenesis in man: an estimate of its duration. *Science.* (1963) 140:184–6. doi: 10.1126/science.140.3563.184

45. Amann RP. The cycle of the seminiferous epithelium in humans: a need to revisit? *J andrology* (2008) 29(5):469-87. doi: 10.2164/jandrol.107.004655

46. Neto FTL, Bach PV, Najari BB, Li PS, Goldstein M. Spermatogenesis in humans and its affecting factors. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2016) 59:10–26. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.04.009

47. Matsumura T, Sato T, Abe T, Sanjo H, Katagiri K, Kimura H, et al. Rat in *vitro* spermatogenesis promoted by chemical supplementations and oxygen-tension control. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11(1):3458. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-82792-2

48. Perrard M-H, Sereni N, Schluth-Bolard C, Blondet A, d'Estaing SG, Plotton I, et al. Complete human and rat ex Vivo spermatogenesis from fresh or frozen testicular tissue. *Biol Reprod* (2016) 95(4):89, 1–10. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.116.142802

49. Suzuki S, Sato K. The fertilising ability of spermatogenic cells derived from cultured mouse immature testicular tissue. *Zygote.* (2003) 11(4):307–16. doi: 10.1017/S0967199403002363

50. França LR, Hess RA, Dufour JM, Hofmann MC, Griswold MD. The Sertoli cell: one hundred fifty years of beauty and plasticity. *Andrology* 4:189–212. doi: 10.1111/andr.12165

51. de Michele F, Poels J, Giudice MG, De Smedt F, Ambroise J, Vermeulen M, et al. *In vitro* formation of the blood-testis barrier during long-term organotypic culture of human prepubertal tissue: comparison with a large cohort of pre/peripubertal boys. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2018) 24(5):271–82. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gay012

52. Ivell R, Wade JD, Anand-Ivell R. INSL3 as a biomarker of Leydig cell functionality. *Biol Reprod* (2013) 88(6):147. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.113.108969

Frontiers in Endocrinology

Explores the endocrine system to find new therapies for key health issues

The second most-cited endocrinology and metabolism journal, which advances our understanding of the endocrine system. It uncovers new therapies for prevalent health issues such as obesity, diabetes, reproduction, and aging.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



